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Key Figures

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

2023 20221 %
Volume Data? in thousands
Deliveries to customers (units) 9,240 8,263 +11.8
Vehicle sales (units) 9,362 8,481 +10.4
Production (units) 9,309 8,717 +6.8
Employees at Dec. 31 684.0 675.8 +1.2
Financial Data (IFRSs), € million
Sales revenue 322,284 279,050 +15.5
Operating result before special items 22,576 22,509 +0.3
Operating return on sales before special items (%) 7.0 8.1
Special items 0 -399 X
Operating result 22,576 22,109 +2.1
Operating return on sales (%) 7.0 7.9
Earnings before tax 23,194 22,070 +5.1
Return on sales before tax (%) 7.2 7.9
Earnings after tax 17,928 15,852 +13.1
Automotive Division?
Total research and development costs 21,779 18,908 +15.2
R&D ratio (%) 8.1 8.1
Cash flows from operating activities 37,851 29,865 +26.7
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities* 27,153 25,058 +8.4
of which: capex 14,371 12,731 +12.9
ratio of capex to sales revenue (%) 5.4 5.5
Net cash flow 10,698 4,807 X
Net liquidity at Dec. 31 40,289 43,015 -6.3
Return on investment (ROI) in % 12.3 12.0
Financial Services Division
Return on equity before tax® (%) 8.8 141
VOLKSWAGEN AG
2023 20221 %
Volume Data in thousands
Employees at Dec. 31 116.1 116.7 -0.5
Financial Data (HGB), € million
Sales 92,413 79,491 +16.3
Net income for the fiscal year 6,243 12,477 -50.0
Dividends (€)
per ordinary share 9.00 8.70
per preferred share 9.06 8.76
1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
2 The figures also include the equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures. Prior-year deliveries have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends.
3 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.
4 Excluding acquisition and disposal of equity investments: €25,038 (22,061) million.
5 Earnings before tax as a percentage of average equity.

This document is an English translation of the original annual report written in German. In case of discrepancies, the German version shall take precedence. All figures shown in the report
are rounded, so minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts. The figures from the previous fiscal year are shown in parentheses directly after the figures for the current
reporting year. Specified vehicle ranges correspond to results obtained through the Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehicles Test Procedure (WLTP) on the chassis dynamometer. WLTP value
ranges for series-produced vehicles may vary depending on the equipment. The actual range will deviate in practice depending on various other factors.
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This annual report was published on the occasion of the Annual Media Conference on March 13, 2024.

This annual report contains forward-looking statements on the business development of the VVolkswagen Group.
These statements are based on assumptions relating to the development of the economic, political and legal environment
in individual countries, economic regions and markets, and in particular for the automotive industry, which we have
made on the basis of the information available to us and which we consider to be realistic at the time of going to press.
The estimates given entail a degree of risk, and actual developments may differ from those forecast. Any changes

in significant parameters relating to our key sales markets, or any significant shifts in exchange rates, energy and

other commodities or the supply of parts relevant to the Volkswagen Group will have a corresponding effect on the
development of our business. In addition, there may be departures from our expected business development if the
assessments of the factors influencing sustainable value enhancement and of risks and opportunities presented in this
annual report develop in a way other than we are currently expecting, or if additional risks and opportunities or other
factors emerge that affect the development of our business.



To our Shareholders

04 Letter to our Shareholders
(0}] The Board of Management of Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft
10 Report of the Supervisory Board



To our Shareholders Letter to our Shareholders

Letter to our Shareholders
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Growth that enhances value for years to come: that is the Volkswagen Group's objective. For our investors, for our
customers, for our employees and for society as a whole.

Amidst a demanding environment, we delivered robust results in fiscal year 2023. We increased deliveries to
customers by 12% to 9.24 million vehicles, with all regions contributing to this growth. In China, the Group's largest
single market, we expanded by 1.6% despite a very challenging market environment. At the same time, the
Volkswagen Group successfully continued its transformation, delivering 771,100 all-electric vehicles, up 34.7%
compared with the previous year. In Europe, we further consolidated our strong market position in this segment.

Our robust financial performance reflects our customers' satisfaction in our products. With sales revenue of
€322.3 billion, an operating result of €22.6 billion and a resulting operating return on sales of 7%, we have
demonstrated the resilience of our business model. These results were achieved despite substantial headwinds
from the measurement of commodity derivatives, which had had a beneficial effect on the operating result in the
previous year. Another successful outcome of our endeavors was that we generated convincing net cash flow in
the Automotive Division on the back of earnings of €10.7 billion. What's more, the Automotive Division's net
liquidity of €40.3 billion at the end of 2023 puts us in a very solid position.

The Volkswagen Group delivers. Again and again. And it does so reliably, even in a market environment charac-
terized by uncertainty. We are proud of our strong performance, and it is important to us that our shareholders also
participate in this result. The Board of Management and Supervisory Board therefore propose a dividend of €9.00
per ordinary share and €9.06 per preferred share.

Our focus is on electrification. At the same time, we are seeing that the ramp-up of e-mobility in some regions,
such as North America and Europe, is progressing at a slower rate than previously assumed. Other countries, such
as China, continue to impress with the speed of their transformation. This is why the VVolkswagen Group is pursuing
powertrain flexibility and financial robustness. Our unique portfolio provides the right products for customers.
While we are investing extensively in the ramp-up of e-mobility, we continue to offer highly competitive, efficient
and attractive combustion-engine models. By including both these models and our hybrid and electric vehicles in
our portfolio, we ensure maximum flexibility without losing sight of our goal - the transition to e-mobility is our
priority.
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The Top 10 program again guided the success of our operational and strategic actions in the past year. We set
priorities, and in doing so follow a clear and transparent logic: specific milestones, clear responsibilities and
regular progress reviews. One of the key points of the program is to align our company with the capital market.
The development of virtual equity stories for all Volkswagen Group brands was an important element in this pursuit.
To us, investors are more than an important source of impetus: as shareholders, they are part of our company.
Generating added value for them, together with all other stakeholders, is a key component of how we see our
corporate governance role. This was one of the motivations for the Group Board of Management to seek intensive
dialog with the capital market; as part of personal discussions at investor conferences in the world's most impor-
tant financial centers or at our Capital Markets Day held at the Hockenheimring in June 2023.

2023 was a year of realignment and restructuring for the VVolkswagen Group. In many areas, we made faster prog-
ress than originally planned and expected. A lot of streamlining has been completed, and we are forging ahead
with other tasks. We are transforming ourselves. The ground has been prepared: we are turning from renovator to
architect and builder all in one. We have a plan and a clear view of the strengths and potential of the Volkswagen
Group. We know where we are heading. We know the way. Our focus is on implementation. We are moving ahead,
step by step and day by day, making visible, measurable progress.

The Group's strength lies in the strength of its brands. No other company offers such a compelling, strong and
unique product portfolio. We cater to our customers' wishes in all segments and across all vehicle categories. We
set high standards for the quality and design of our vehicles. In the past, we did not always meet these standards
- ourown and those of our customers - to the fullest extent. Last year, we established ambitious quality and design
programs across all brands, drawing on synergies and lessons learned from all players in the Volkswagen Group
team. Initial results have shown that we are on the right track. 2024 will be a record year for new models. The
launch of our first vehicles on the all-electric premium PPE platform, the Audi Q6 e-tron and the Porsche Macan,
is an important milestone. They mark the establishment of a new generation of powerful, attractive models.

We have lived up to our responsibility in the interest of generations, for generations. Our brands and our products
must be viable for the future. To achieve this, we have to make a strong investment in the future. We have to be in
a position to finance this goal, which is why we have agreed clear targets with all brands and launched effective
performance programs. These programs are not just to make cost savings: they are a unique opportunity to shape
things. We want to prepare the brands for future success, which includes new sources of revenue. It's about
sustainably increasing our profitability.

Living up to our responsibility also means that we think of sustainability holistically, mindful of the natural environ-
ment, people, society and value-creating entrepreneurship. We have launched ambitious, structured programs in
the Volkswagen Group and in all the brands. Meeting the targets set in these programs is the personal respon-
sibility of the managers. An important element of our sustainability strategy is our commitment to decarbonization.
Production is one of the key levers in this regard: by 2030, we aim to cut production-related CO2 emissions from
passenger cars and light commercial vehicles by 50% compared with the base year 2018. The prestigious Science
Based Targets initiative (SBTi) has confirmed that, by setting this target for the production phase (Scope 1 and
Scope 2), our company will meet the requirements for contributing to limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius.
The target to reduce CO2 emissions during the use phase (Scope 3) by 30% has been confirmed by the SBTi as
compliant with limiting global warming to 2 degrees Celsius. These confirmations are an incentive for us.
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The Volkswagen Group team stands for a new leadership mindset. Together, we have committed ourselves to a
clear stance: one of entrepreneurship and individual responsibility, a winning stance. Volkswagen - our joint enter-
prise. Those are our tasks. And it is for us to solve them.

In 2023, we homed in on one of our key skills, technology leadership, which is an integral part of Volkswagen's
DNA. The customers of our strong and captivating brands benefit from an intelligent platform strategy. This is also
the key to creating greater efficiency, using synergies and building economic resilience in challenging and fiercely
competitive times. In this process, we think from the customer’s perspective and are able to offer attractive vehi-
cles with attractive solutions at an attractive price. With the realignment of our architectures, the establishment
of technology profiles, progress in implementing the battery strategy and the expansion of high-performance
charging networks, we have already achieved important milestones. The realignment of our software activities
also is a powerful lever in the revision of our technology strategy. We focus on our core competencies, and also
collaborate with a strong network of high-performing partners.

The Volkswagen Group thinks global and acts local. We want to remain strong in Europe and China and take
advantage of our growth opportunities in North America. We do so with products tailored to the various require-
ments of our customers in different regions. Our strategy for the largest single market is entitled “In China for
China", and our actions have reflected the meaning of these words. In Hefei, we established Volkswagen China
Technology Company last year. Today, more than 2,000 technology experts are already working here on the future
of Chinese automaking. We aim to cut the development time for new products and technology by around 30%
compared to the status quo to be in line with “"China speed”. We are also making our product substance in China
more Chinese. Our cooperations with strong partners such as XPeng, Thundersoft and Horizon Robotics are
helping to make this possible: we will continue to work on the development of vehicles that are fully aligned with
the needs of Chinese customers. In the North America region, we have taken significant steps forward by making
fundamental strategy decisions such as on increasingly localized production, the construction of a battery cell
plant in Ontario, Canada, and the revival and electrification of the traditional Scout brand. Here we will make
increased use of product synergies to leverage our growth potential with local production. Beyond the markets in
China, North America and Europe, we also apply regional strategies in the growth markets of South America and India.

We established a new steering model in 2023, which signifies less head office and more entrepreneurial respon-
sibility and greater creative freedom for the brands and their decision makers. We pursue intelligent capital allo-
cation and set clear guidelines.

Growth that enhances value for years to come, with our transformation, ladies and gentlemen, we are making
systematic progress toward realizing this objective. Step by step. After a year of reorganizing and streamlining our
structures and focusing on the fundamental alignment of the VVolkswagen Group, we are heading into a year of
stabilizing and shaping our business. The path is clear. We are working toward the vision of a sustainably profitable
group. A group with the most attractive products, the best team and the clear promise: sustainable mobility for
generations to come.

Sincerely,

(5 .

Oliver Blume
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We have lived up to our responsibility
in the interest of generations, for generations.
Our brands and our products must be viable
for the future. To achieve this, we have to
make a strong investment in the future.

- Oliver Blume -
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Report of the Supervisory Board

(in accordance with section 171(2) of the AktG)

Ladies and gentlemen,

In fiscal year 2023, the work of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG and its committees focused on the
Volkswagen Group's strategic alignment, with the spotlight on the China strategy and the transformation. The
Supervisory Board regularly deliberated on the Company’s position and development in the reporting year. We
supervised and supported the Board of Management in its running of the business and advised it on issues
relating to the management of the Company, and particularly on sustainability issues, in accordance with our
duties under the law, the Articles of Association and the rules of procedure. The Supervisory Board was directly
involved in all decisions of fundamental importance to the Group. Additionally, we discussed strategic con-
siderations with the Board of Management at regular intervals.

The Board of Management complied with its disclosure obligations, which are set out in the information
policy adopted by the Supervisory Board. The Board of Management provided us with information regularly,
promptly and comprehensively both in writing and orally, particularly on all matters of relevance to the Company
relating to its strategy, business development and the Company's planning and position. This also included the
risk situation and risk management. In this respect, the Board of Management also informed the Supervisory
Board of further improvements to the internal control system and the risk and compliance management system.
In addition, the Supervisory Board received information about compliance and other topical issues from the
Board of Management on an ongoing basis. We received the documents relevant to our decisions in good time
for our meetings. At regular intervals, we also received a detailed report from the Board of Management on the
current business position and the forecast for the current year. Any deviations in performance from the plans and
targets previously drawn up were explained in detail by the Board of Management, either in person or in writing.
Together with the Board of Management we analyzed the reasons for the deviations and determined corre-
sponding countermeasures. In addition, the Board of Management continued to report on the situation related to
the Russia-Ukraine conflict and discussed corresponding action with the Supervisory Board.

Furthermore, the Chair of the Supervisory Board consulted with the Chair of the Board of Management at regular
intervals between meetings to discuss important current issues. These included the Group's strategy and plan-
ning, its business development, and the risk situation and risk management, including integrity and compliance
issues in the Volkswagen Group. The Chair of the Supervisory Board regularly discussed Supervisory Board-
specific topics with investors and, in consultation with the Board of Management, also non-Supervisory Board-
specific topics. One of the focuses of debate was corporate governance and ESG issues. The Chair of the Super-
visory Board informed the Supervisory Board of such discussions after they had taken place.

The Supervisory Board held a total of eight meetings in fiscal year 2023. Six of the meetings were held face to
face and two as video or conference calls. The attendance rate (calculated for all meetings held during the fiscal
year and for all Supervisory Board members in office) was 92%. Supervisory Board members who did not attend a
meeting for reasons other than a possible conflict of interests were able to engage with the meeting topics using

10
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the preparatory documents and could participate in the resolutions by means of a written vote. Particularly urgent
matters were decided in writing or using electronic means of communication.

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES

In order to discharge the duties entrusted to it, the Supervisory Board has established four committees: the Exec-
utive Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Mediation Committee established in accordance with section
27(3) of the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG - German Codetermination Act) and the Audit Committee. The
Executive Committee is comprised of four shareholder representatives and four employee representatives. The
shareholder representatives on the Executive Committee make up the Nomination Committee. The Mediation
Committee is comprised of two shareholder representatives and two employee representatives, while the Audit
Committee is comprised of three shareholder representatives and three employee representatives. The members
of these committees as of December 31, 2023 are stated in the Group Corporate Governance Declaration.

The Executive Committee met 12 times in the reporting year. Five of the meetings were held face to face and
seven as video or conference calls. The Executive Committee meticulously prepared the resolutions of the
Supervisory Board, discussed the composition of the Board of Management and took decisions on matters such
as contractual issues concerning the Board of Management other than remuneration, and on consent to ancillary
activities by members of the Board of Management. The Executive Committee also exercised the function of a
Remuneration Committee and prepared the Supervisory Board's decisions on matters relating to Board of Man-
agement remuneration.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for proposing suitable candidates for the Supervisory Board to
recommend for election to the Annual General Meeting. In doing so, it takes into account the targets set by the
Supervisory Board for its composition, and the diversity concept for the composition of the Supervisory Board,
and strives to fill the profile of skills and expertise prepared for the full Board. The Nomination Committee also
particularly makes sure that there are no gaps in the skills and expertise of the full Board (Skill Gaps Assess-
ment). The Nomination Committee held one meeting face to face in 2023 and, taking the aforementioned
requirements into account, proposed candidates for the Supervisory Board to recommend to the Annual General
Meeting for election.

The Mediation Committee established in accordance with section 27(3) of the MitbestG did not need to
convene in the reporting year.

The Audit Committee held four meetings in fiscal year 2023. Three of the meetings were held face to face and
one meeting was held as a video or conference call. The focus was on the annual and consolidated financial
statements, the Risk Management System including the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Internal
Control System and the Internal Audit System, and the work performed by the Company's Compliance organi-
zation. In addition, the Audit Committee concerned itself with the Volkswagen Group's quarterly reports and the
half-yearly financial report, as well as with current issues, the supervision of financial reporting and the financial
reporting process, and the examination thereof by the auditors. The Audit Committee regularly evaluates the
quality of the audit. In consultation with the auditors, it discussed the assessment of audit risk, the audit strategy
and audit planning and the results of the audit.

Furthermore, the shareholder and employee representatives generally met for separate preliminary discus-
sions before each of the Supervisory Board meetings.

In connection with their seat on the Supervisory Board, members of the Supervisory Board receive support
from the Company upon induction as well as with respect to education and training; the Company particularly
supports the organization of seminars and bears the costs thereof. In the reporting year, the Supervisory Board
members received training on the raw materials situation and on battery cell production, for instance. What is
more, Volkswagen AG gives the members of the Supervisory Board the opportunity to become more familiar with
the Group's products and with market developments. Here, Volkswagen AG offers the members of the Super-
visory Board in-house product and innovation presentations, for example, and encourages attendance at trade
fairs. Supervisory Board members appointed for the first time are also provided with a detailed introduction to
topics that apply specifically to the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG (onboarding).

11
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Hans Dieter Potsch

TOPICS DISCUSSED BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The first Supervisory Board meeting in the reporting year took place on February 10, 2023. At this meeting, we
discussed matters related to the Board of Management and remuneration and consulted with the Board of
Management in particular on the e-mobility strategy in China and the supply situation. We also looked at the
current status of the Volkswagen Group's investment and financial planning.

The next meeting of the Supervisory Board took place on March 3, 2023. Following a detailed examination,
we approved the consolidated financial statements and the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG for
fiscal year 2022 prepared by the Board of Management. We examined the combined management report, the
combined separate nonfinancial report for 2022 and the precautionary Report by the Board of Management on
Relationships of Volkswagen AG with Affiliated Companies (dependent company report) in accordance with
section 312 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG - German Stock Corporation Act). The other items on the agenda included
the issue of the audit engagement for the 2023 annual and consolidated financial statements as well as other
accounting documents, an amendment of the remuneration system for the members of the Board of Manage-
ment, the restructuring of sections of the Financial Services Division of the Volkswagen Group, especially for the
establishment of TRATON Financial Services AB, the choice of location for a battery cell factory in North America
and the production strategy for all-electric models in the United States.

On May 9, 2023, the Supervisory Board held a meeting that, alongside the composition of the Board of Manage-
ment of Volkswagen AG, focused on the raw materials situation and preparations for the 63th Annual General
Meeting of Volkswagen AG. Further topics that we discussed with the Board of Management included business
development in the first quarter of 2023, developments in the Chinese market and the repositioning of CARIAD SE.

Along with the concept for the Capital Markets Day, the Supervisory Board meeting on June 13, 2023 con-
centrated primarily on strategic considerations for the Chinese market. In addition, we discussed with the Board
of Management the current status of the Volkswagen Group's investment and financial planning and Volks-
wagen AG's energy strategy.

The Supervisory Board meeting on June 29, 2023 focused on the composition of the Board of Management of
Volkswagen AG. At this meeting, we resolved to appoint Mr. Gernot Déllner as a member of the Board of Man-
agement of Volkswagen AG with effect from September 1, 2023 to succeed Mr. Markus Duesmann, who left the
Company by mutual agreement, and also agreed that Mr. Dollner would additionally assume the role of Chair of
the Board of Management of AUDI AG.

12
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The meeting of the Supervisory Board on July 26, 2023 focused on the e-mobility strategy in China.

On September 29, 2023, the Supervisory Board met to discuss in particular the composition of the Board of
Management, the supply of raw materials to Volkswagen AG and the portfolio strategy of the Commercial
Vehicles Business Area.

One of the topics we discussed with the Board of Management at the Supervisory Board meeting on Novem-
ber 17, 2023 was the current status of the Volkswagen Group's investment and financial planning and the Com-
mercial VVehicles portfolio strategy. Together with the Board of Management, we issued the annual declaration of
conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code (the Code).

In the reporting year, we voted in writing on, among other things, a further amendment of the remuneration
system for the members of the Board of Management, the proposal to change the remuneration provisions for the
members of the Supervisory Board submitted to the Annual General Meeting, approval of the choice of location
for a battery cell factory in North America and the composition of Supervisory Board committees.

The following table shows the number of meetings of the full Board and the committees as well as the
individual participation of the members of the Supervisory Board in 2023:

Meetings of the full Meetings of the

Supervisory Board Committees

Hans Dieter Potsch 8 out of 8 13 out of 13
Jorg Hofmann 8 outof 8 11 outof 12
Dr. Hessa Sultan Al Jaber 7 outof 8 -
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud 6 outof8 4outof4
Harald Buck 8 outof 8 -
Matias Carnero Sojo 7 out of 8 -
Daniela Cavallo 8 outof 8 15 out of 16
Julia Willie Hamburg 6 out of 8 -
Marianne Heil3 8 outof 8 4outof4
Dr. Arno Homburg 7 out of 8 -
GUnther J. Horvath (since February 28, 2023) 6 out of 7 -
Simone Mahler (until May 31, 2023) 3outof3 -
Peter Mosch 8 out of 8 12 out of 12
Daniela Nowak 8 out of 8 -
Dr. Hans Michel Piéch 7 outof 8 10 out of 13
Dr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche 8 out of 8 4outof4d
Dr. Wolfgang Porsche 6 out of 8 12 out of 13
Jens Rothe (until March 3, 2023) 2outof2 4outof4
Gerardo Scarpino (since April 21, 2023) 6 out of 6 10 out of 10
Karina Schnur (since July 11, 2023) 3outof3 -
Conny Schoénhardt 8 outof 8 4outof 4
Stephan Weil 7 out of 8 11 out of 13

13



To our Shareholders Report of the Supervisory Board

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
No conflicts of interest were reported or were discernible in the reporting year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY

Among the topics addressed at the Supervisory Board meeting on November 17, 2023 was the implementation
of the recommendations and suggestions of the Code in the Volkswagen Group. We discussed the Code's require-
ments in detail and issued the annual declaration of conformity with the recommendations of the Code in
accordance with section 161 of the AktG together with the Board of Management.

The joint declarations of conformity by the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board are permanently
available at www.volkswagen-group.com/declaration. Additional information on the implementation of the
recommendations and suggestions of the Code can be found in the Group Corporate Governance Declaration.

The Audit Committee agreed on a suitable procedure with the Board of Management for ongoing monitoring
of the Volkswagen Group's related-party transactions. In some cases, related-party transactions are subject to a
requirement for the Supervisory Board to provide consent and a disclosure obligation. The procedure for ongoing
monitoring of related-party transactions and the approach taken by the Supervisory Board are described in detail
in the Group Corporate Governance Declaration. In the reporting year, there were no cases in which a require-
ment to provide consent and a disclosure obligation arose based on the rules for related-party transactions.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jens Rothe, Chair of the General Works Council of Volkswagen Sachsen GmbH, resigned from the Super-
visory Board of Volkswagen AG with effect from March 3, 2023. Jens Rothe had held a seat on the Supervisory
Board as an employee representative since October 22, 2021. Mr. Gerardo Scarpino, Executive Director of the
Volkswagen Group Works Council, was appointed by the court as his successor with effect from April 21, 2023.

The terms of office of Ms. Marianne Heil3 and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche on the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen
AG ended with effect from the close of the Annual General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on May 10, 2023, as did
the term of office of Mr. GUnther Horvath, which was limited by court appointment. The Annual General Meeting
elected Ms. Marianne Heil3, Mr. Wolfgang Porsche and Mr. Ginther Horvath for another full term of office.

Ms. Simone Mabhler, Chair of the joint Works Council of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen
Bank GmbH, resigned from the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG with effect from May 31, 2023. Simone
Mahler had held a seat on the Supervisory Board as an employee representative since May 12, 2022. Ms. Karina
Schnur, Chair of the General and Group Works Councils of MAN Truck & Bus SE, was appointed by the court as
her successor with effect from July 11, 2023.

Effective from December 31, 2023, Mr. Peter Mosch, Chair of the General Works Council of AUDI AG, resigned
from the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG. Mr. Mosch had held a seat on the Supervisory Board as an
employee representative since January 18, 2006. Ms. Rita Beck, Deputy Chair of the General Works Council of
AUDI AG, was appointed by the court as his successor with effect from January 9, 2024.

Effective from September 1, 2023, the Supervisory Board appointed Mr. Gernot Déllner as a member of the
Board of Management of Volkswagen AG. Mr. Déllner took over the Progressive brand group (formerly: Premium)
Board function, succeeding Markus Duesmann, who stepped down from the Board of Management by mutual
agreement with effect from the close of August 31, 2023.

Our sincere thanks go out to all of the departing members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Manage-
ment for their work.
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AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In line with our proposal, the Annual General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on May 10, 2023 elected EY GmbH &
Co. KG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft (EY) as auditors and Group auditors for fiscal year 2023. The auditors
confirmed the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG, the consolidated financial statements of the
Volkswagen Group and the combined management report by issuing unqualified audit reports in each case. The
Audit Committee had also agreed with the auditor that the auditor would inform the Audit Committee if, while
conducting the audit, matters were identified that constituted an inaccuracy in the Declaration on the Code sub-
mitted by the Board of Management and Supervisory Board. The auditor did not inform the Audit Committee of
any such matters.

The Supervisory Board also commissioned EY to conduct an external audit of the content of the combined
separate nonfinancial report for 2023.

In addition, the auditors analyzed the risk early warning and monitoring system that is integrated into the Risk
Management System, concluding that the Board of Management had taken the measures required by section
91(2) of the AktG to ensure early detection of any risks endangering the continued existence of the Company.
The Report on Relationships of Volkswagen AG with Affiliated Companies as per section 312 of the AktG
(dependent company report) submitted by the Board of Management for the period from January 1 to December
31, 2023 was also audited by the auditors, who issued the following opinion: “In our opinion and in accordance
with our statutory audit, we certify that the factual disclosures provided in the report are correct and that the
Company's consideration concerning legal transactions referred to in the report was not unduly high.”

The members of the Audit Committee and the members of the Supervisory Board were provided with the
documentation relating to the annual and consolidated financial statements, including the dependent company
report, the documentation relating to the combined management report, and also the audit reports prepared by
the auditors and the report from EY on the external audit of the content of the combined separate nonfinancial
report for 2023 in good time for their meetings on February 29, 2024 and March 1, 2024, respectively. The
auditors reported extensively at both meetings on the material findings of their audit and were available to
provide additional information. The Chair of the Audit Committee was also in close contact with the auditors,
including between the meetings and during the preparation of the Audit Committee meetings, about the prog-
ress of the audit, and reported to the Audit Committee on this. The Audit Committee and the auditor also consult
regularly without the Board of Management.

Taking into consideration the audit reports and the discussion with the auditors, and based on its own con-
clusions, the Audit Committee prepared the documents for the Supervisory Board's examination of the con-
solidated financial statements, the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG, the combined management
report, the dependent company report and the combined separate nonfinancial report for 2023, and reported on
these at the Supervisory Board meeting on March 1, 2024. Following this, the Audit Committee recommended
that the Supervisory Board approve the annual and consolidated financial statements. We examined the docu-
ments in depth in the knowledge and on the basis of the report by the Audit Committee and the audit report, as
well as in talks and discussions with the auditors. We came to the conclusion that the documents were drawn up
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that the assessment of the position of the
Company and the Group presented by the Board of Management in the combined management report corre-
sponds to the assessment by the Supervisory Board.
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To our Shareholders Report of the Supervisory Board

We therefore concurred with the auditors' findings and approved the annual financial statements and the
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board of Management at our meeting on March 1, 2024,
which the auditors also attended for the agenda items relating to the annual and consolidated financial state-
ments, the dependent company report and the combined management report. The annual financial statements
are thus adopted. Upon completion of our examination of the dependent company report, there are no objections
to be raised to the concluding declaration by the Board of Management in the dependent company report. We
reviewed the proposal on the appropriation of net profit submitted by the Board of Management, taking into
account in particular the interests of the Company and its shareholders, and endorsed the proposal. EY con-
ducted an external limited assurance review of the content of the combined separate nonfinancial report for
2023 and issued an unqualified report. At our meeting on March 1, 2024, EY also took part in the discussions on
the agenda items relating to the combined separate nonfinancial report for 2023. Upon completion of its own
independent examination of the combined separate nonfinancial report for 2023, the Supervisory Board did not
have any objections. We also resolved that, together with the Board of Management, we would prepare the
remuneration report for fiscal year 2023. The Executive Committee prepared the resolution of the Supervisory
Board concerning the preparation of the remuneration report. As well as reviewing whether the remuneration
report contained all the disclosures required by law, EY went beyond statutory requirements to audit its content
and issued an unqualified report.

We would like to offer our warm thanks and particular appreciation to the Board of Management, the Works
Council, the management teams and all the employees of Volkswagen AG and its affiliated companies for their
work in the reporting year. 2023 was another year full of challenges to overcome, some of which were sub-
stantial. With hard work and a high level of personal commitment, they all contributed significantly to making
2023 a positive fiscal year for the Volkswagen Group.

Wolfsburg, March 1, 2024

K.d. Qw

Hans Dieter Potsch
Chair of the Supervisory Board
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Divisions Brands and Business Fields

Brands and Business Fields

In 2023, the Volkswagen Group recorded growth in unit sales and sales revenue
year-on-year in a difficult market environment impacted by limited vehicle availability.

GROUP STRUCTURE

The Volkswagen Group consists of two divisions: the Automotive Division and the Financial Services Division.
The Automotive Division comprises the Passenger Cars, Commercial Vehicles and Power Engineering business
areas. Activities of the Automotive Division comprise in particular the development of vehicles, engines and
vehicle software, the production and sale of passenger cars, light commercial vehicles, trucks, buses and motor-
cycles, as well as businesses for genuine parts, large-bore diesel engines, turbomachinery and propulsion
components. Mobility solutions are gradually being added to the range. The Ducati brand is allocated to the Audi
brand and thus to the Passenger Cars Business Area. The Financial Services Division's activities comprise dealer
and customer financing, leasing, direct banking and insurance activities, fleet management and mobility services.

REPORTING STRUCTURE OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

Passenger Cars
Business Area
\Volkswagen
Passenger Cars
Skoda
SEAT

VVolkswagen Commercial
Vehicles

Tech. Components
Audi
Porsche Automotive
CARIAD
Battery
Others

Automotive
Division

Commercial
Vehicles
Business Area

TRATON
Commercial Vehicles

Power Engineering
Business Area

MAN Energy
Solutions
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Divisions Brands and Business Fields

In this chapter, we present the key volume and financial data relating to the Group brands and to Volkswagen
Financial Services. In light of the considerable importance of the development of business in the world's largest
single market for the Volkswagen Group, we also report on business developments and the results of our
activities in China in this chapter.

The production figures and deliveries to customers are differentiated by vehicle brands and their models that
carry the corresponding brand logo. Unit sales figures contain vehicles sold by respective brand companies,
including models of other Group brands. In some cases, there are marked differences between delivery figures
and unit sales as a result of our business development in China.

KEY FIGURES BY BRAND GROUP AND BUSINESS FIELD

VEHICLE SALES SALES REVENUE OPERATING RESULT
Thousand vehicles/€ million 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Core brand group 4,826 4,069 137,770 113,762 7.273 4,045
Progressive brand group 1,282 1,070 69,865 61,753 6,280 7,622
Sport Luxury brand group? 334 314 37,349 34,599 6,938 6,425
CARIAD - - 1,078 796 -2,392 -2,068
Battery - - 31 0 -417 -121
TRATON Commercial Vehicles 339 306 45,731 39,516 3,715 1,583
MAN Energy Solutions - - 4,044 3,565 369 284
Equity-accounted companies in China® 3,065 3,122 - - - -
Volkswagen Financial Services - - 50,765 43,953 3,253 5,584
Other? -484 -400 -24,350 -18,895 -2,445 -845
Volkswagen Group before special items - - - - 22,576 22,509
Special items - - - - 0 -399
Volkswagen Group 9,362 8,481 322,284 279,050 22,576 22,109

-

Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).

Including Porsche Financial Services: sales revenue €40,530 (37,637) million, operating result €7,284 (6,772) million.

The sales revenue and operating result of the equity-accounted companies in China are not included in the consolidated figures; the share of the operating result generated by
these companies amounted to €2,621 (3,280) million.

In the operating result, mainly intragroup items recognized in profit or loss, in particular from the elimination of intercompany profits; the figure includes depreciation and
amortization of identifiable assets as part of purchase price allocation, as well as companies not allocated to the brands.

w N

S

KEY FIGURES OF THE CORE BRAND GROUP

VEHICLE SALES SALES REVENUE OPERATING RESULT
Thousand vehicles/€ million 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
VVolkswagen Passenger Cars 3,016 2,594 86,382 73,773 3,542 2,647
Skoda 1,056 863 26,536 21,026 1,773 628
SEAT 602 468 14,333 10,941 625 33
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles 423 340 15,325 11,455 873 529
Tech. Components - - 21,282 17,966 582 130
Consolidation -270 -195 -26,088 -21,399 -121 78
Core brand group 4,826 4,069 137,770 113,762 7,273 4,045
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Divisions Brands and Business Fields

KEY FIGURES BY DIVISION

VEHICLE SALES SALES REVENUE OPERATING RESULT
Thousand vehicles/€ million 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Passenger Cars Business Area 9,023 8,175 218,380 189,312 14,704 14,603
Commercial Vehicles Business Area 339 306 45,731 39,516 3,714 1,588
Power Engineering Business Area - - 4,044 3,565 366 281
Automotive Division? 9,362 8,481 268,156 232,392 18,784 16,471
Financial Services Division - - 54,128 46,657 3,792 5,638
Volkswagen Group 9,362 8,481 322,284 279,050 22,576 22,109

1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
2 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.

KEY FIGURES BY MARKET

In fiscal year 2023, the Volkswagen Group was faced with a persistently challenging market environment. The
operating result (prior-year figure before special items) amounted to €22.6 (22.5) billion. While the fair value
measurement of derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied had an adverse effect in the reporting year
(€-3.2 billion), it had had a positive effect in the previous year (€+1.8 billion). A year earlier, special items
resulting from the diesel issue had weighed on operating result in the amount of €-0.4 billion.

The Volkswagen Group's unit sales in the reporting year stood at 9.4 (8.5) million vehicles. Sales revenue
increased by 15.5% to €322.3 billion. The higher volume, improved price positioning and mix effects had a posi-
tive impact.

In the Europe/Other markets region, unit sales increased by 19.3% year-on-year to 4.2 million vehicles. Together
with improved price positioning, this increased sales revenue to €187.9 (154.5) billion.

Unit sales in the North American markets increased by 24.2% to 1.1 million vehicles in the reporting year.
Driven mainly by higher volumes, sales revenue rose to €67.9 (59.9) billion.

On markets in the South America region, we sold 513 thousand vehicles in 2023, an increase of 5.3%
compared with 2022. Driven mainly by higher volumes, sales revenue increased by 10.7% to €17.1 billion.

In the Asia-Pacific region, the Volkswagen Group's unit sales - including the Chinese joint ventures - came to
3.6 (3.6) million vehicles in 2023. Sales revenue amounted to €50.1 (51.4) billion. This figure does not include
the sales revenue of our equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures.

Hedging transactions relating to sales revenue in foreign currency had a negative impact of €-0.8 (-2.3) bil-
lion on the sales revenue of the Volkswagen Group in the reporting year.

KEY FIGURES BY MARKET

VEHICLE SALES SALES REVENUE
Thousand vehicles/€ million 2023 2022 2023 2022
Europe/Other Markets 4,169 3,495 187,949 154,514
North America 1,078 868 67,908 59,910
South America 513 487 17,139 15,476
Asia-Pacific? 3,603 3,632 50,109 51,443
Hedges on sales revenue - - -821 -2,294
Volkswagen Group? 9,362 8,481 322,284 279,050

1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
2 The sales revenue of the joint venture companies in China is not included in the figures for the Group and the Asia-Pacific market.
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Divisions Volkswagen Passenger Cars

The VVolkswagen Passenger Cars brand celebrated the market debut of the
new Tiguan in fiscal year 2023. It also launched the all-electric ID.7 saloon.
The operating result improved year-on-year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand aims to move people. The centerpiece of the ACCELERATE 2030 stra-
tegy is a global initiative through which the brand aspires to transform itself into a technology and software
business focused on customer needs.

The high point of the VVolkswagen Passenger Cars brand's activities in fiscal year 2023 was the market debut
of the completely redeveloped bestselling Tiguan, now in its third generation. The interior, with a clearly struc-
tured digital cockpit, an infotainment screen, a head-up display and a driver experience switch, is intuitive and
the result of actual customer feedback. The new plug-in hybrid drives permit an all-electric range of up to
around 100 kilometers and fast DC charging. The new adaptive chassis control system DCC Pro - a piece of
technology from the premium segment - provides maximum comfort and agility. New generations of the popular
Passat and Touareg models were also launched in the reporting year.

In April 2023, the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand celebrated the world premiere of the new ID.7, the
brand’s first global electric model in the upper mid-sized class. The fully electric saloon combines long ranges,
quick charging, a spacious interior and intuitive operation, making it the new benchmark for all-electric premium
models at Volkswagen. The innovative panoramic sunroof with “smart glass” can be switched between opaque
and transparent electrically by touch control. Impressive new all-electric concept vehicles were also unveiled:
the compact ID. 2all and the sporty ID. GTI Concept.

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand delivered 4.9 million vehicles globally in fiscal year 2023. This was
6.7% more than in the previous year. Growth was achieved above all in Western Europe (+14.7%), North America
(+17.0%) and South America (+15.9%).

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand sold 3.0 (2.6) million vehicles in the reporting year. ID. family models,
the Tiguan and the T-Roc were increasingly sought-after. The Taigo was also very popular. The difference between
deliveries and unit sales is due mainly to the fact that the vehicle-producing joint ventures in China are not
attributed to the companies in the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand.

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand produced 4.9 (4.8) million vehicles worldwide in 2023. Volkswagen
do Brasil, the largest vehicle manufacturer in Brazil, reached the production milestone of 25 million vehicles in its
70th year of existence.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand increased its sales revenue by 17.1% year-on-year to €86.4 billion in
2023. The operating result (prior-year figure before special items) improved to €3.5 (2.6) billion. Higher volume
and price effects plus lower fixed costs had a positive impact, while a rise in product costs as well as the
deconsolidation of Volkswagen Group Rus weighed on the result. The operating return on sales (prior-year figure
before special items) amounted to 4.1 (3.6)%.
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Divisions Volkswagen Passenger Cars

PRODUCTION VOLKSWAGEN PASSENGER CARS BRAND
Units 2023 2022 2023 2022 %
Tiguan 633,147 604,536 Deliveries (thousand units) 4,867 4,563 +6.7
Polo/Virtus/Nivus/Taigo 591,668 448,043 Vehicle sales 3,016 2,594 +16.3
Passat/Magotan 498,369 447,246 Production 4,859 4,811 +1.0
Jetta/Sagitar 381,663 292,038  Sales revenue (€ million) 86,382 73,773 +17.1
Golf 309,414 300,090  Operating result before
T-Roc 289,426 322,211 special items 3,542 2,647 +33.8
Lavida 271,309 377,284 Operating return on sales (%) 41 3.6
T-Cross/Tacqua/Taigun 261,519 315,036
Tharu/Taos 233,756 216,397
Atlas/Teramont 229,339 217,771
ID.4,1D.5 223,425 207,934
JETTA 170,521 148,666
Bora 149,740 210,896
ID.3 142,216 83,432
Lamando 106,023 99,966
Santana 90,623 111,422
Saveiro 68,334 46,282
Arteon/CC 60,467 69,627
up! 38,420 33,317
Touareg 34,577 31,254
Touran 33,983 27,403
ID.6 15,926 38,846
Sharan/Viloran 15,097 30,888
ID.7 8,592 -
Gol 1,386 122,575
Phideon 31 7,480
4,858,971 4,810,640

DELIVERIES BY MARKET
° in percent

O

El FURTHER INFORMATION www.volkswagen.com

B Europe/Other Markets 29.4%
m North America 10.3%

South America 8.2%
B Asia-Pacific 52.2%
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Divisions Skoda

®

SKODA

The Skoda brand presented the latest generations of the Superb and the Kodiag
in 2023. Unit sales, sales revenue and the operating result were up year-on-year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Skoda models are synonymous with smart understatement, featuring a superior spacious interior, the
highest standards of functionality, excellent value for money and a distinctive design. Added to that are a num-
ber of “Simply Clever” innovations and new digital services, all aimed at making customers' lives easier.

In the reporting year, Skoda unveiled the fourth generation of the Superb, which boasts a whole range of new
features. The flagship model of the Czech brand in the internal combustion engine segment continues to be
available as a saloon and an estate and is even more elegant, evocative and dynamic than its predecessor. The
Superb impresses with a streamlined design, a dynamic and sleek silhouette, crisp lines and striking lights. Now
longer and higher, it gives passengers more space and offers numerous Simply Clever details that increase both
comfort and convenience - and not only behind the wheel. The completely redesigned interior shows a clear
commitment to maximum comfort and the best possible user experience. Skoda also presented the second
generation of the Kodiaq in 2023. This SUV takes sustainability and efficiency to the next level and comes with a
new interior concept, the highlights of which are a 13-inch infotainment display, innovative digital dials with
haptic controls and new equipment packages. The five powertrain options range from 110 kW (150 PS) to
150 kW (204 PS). The Kodiaq is now available in a plug-in hybrid variant for the first time, offering an electric
range of up to around 100 km. The latest generation of LED matrix headlights and Dynamic Chassis Control are
also debuted in the new Kodiag. The all-electric Enyaq iV was updated in the past fiscal year: new motors
increase the vehicle's power to up to 250 kW (340 PS) and its range to up to 573 km. The charging speed was
also improved.

The Skoda brand delivered 0.9 (0.7) million vehicles worldwide in the reporting year. Sales in Western Europe
increased by 27.4%.

Skoda sold 1.1 (0.9) million vehicles in the past fiscal year. The Octavia and the all-electric Enyaq iV were
particularly popular with customers.

The Skoda brand produced 0.9 million vehicles worldwide in fiscal year 2023. This was 16.1% more than in
the previous year.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

The Skoda brand’s sales revenue increased by 26.2% to €26.5 billion in fiscal year 2023. The operating result
improved to €1.8 (0.6) billion thanks to volume and price effects. Exchange rate effects and product costs, and
the deconsolidation of Volkswagen Group Rus had a negative impact. At 6.7 (3.0)%, the operating return on sales
more than doubled.
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Divisions Skoda

PRODUCTION SKODA BRAND
Units 2023 2022 2023 2022 %
Octavia 205,764 141,499 Deliveries (thousand units) 867 731 +18.5
Rapid/Scala 172,661 148,895 Vehicle sales 1,056 863 +22.4
Fabia 114,335 118,827 Production 888 765 +16.1
Kodiaq 107,323 100,164  Sales revenue (€ million) 26,536 21,026 +26.2
Karog/Kamiq 102,413 106,811 Operating result 1,773 628 X
Enyaq iV 86,732 57,213  Operating return on sales (%) 6.7 3.0
Superb 71,062 64,780
Kushaq 27,760 26,648

888,050 764,837

! DELIVERIES BY MARKET
O Iaq in percent

B Europe/Other Markets 89.2%
® North America 0.0%

South America 0.2%
B Asia-Pacific 10.6%

Bl FURTHER INFORMATION www.skoda-auto.com
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Divisions SEAT

S |V
SEAT S.A.

SEAT is one company with two complementary brands: SEAT and CUPRA.
One of the high points of 2023 was the presentation of the all-electric CUPRA Tavascan.
Thanks to the success of CUPRA and SEAT's growth, record earnings were achieved in
the reporting year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The SEAT brand is a Spanish icon revered by millions of people. Founded over 70 years ago, the company offers
vehicles with efficient internal combustion engines in addition to mild hybrids and plug-in hybrids, with which it
wins over new customers. In 2023, SEAT launched two special editions of the Ibiza and the Arona featuring the
new Marina Pack, which improves the sustainability of both vehicles.

CUPRA is the unconventional challenger brand that brings together electrification and performance to
inspire the world from Barcelona. In the reporting year, CUPRA held the world premiere of the Tavascan, its fully
electric SUV coupé based on the Volkswagen Group's MEB platform. The exterior design delivers athletic and
sporty proportions. From the front, the matrix LED headlights with a triangular eye signature are instantly
recognizable. Sports suspension with dynamic running gear technology, progressive steering and performance
tires translate into a sporty driving experience. The Tavascan will be available with two power outputs. CUPRA
also presented the concept vehicle DarkRebel in 2023. It embodies CUPRA's highly provocative design language
and sets new benchmarks in design and performance. The DarkRebel is the first vehicle to be completely
designed in the virtual space. An all-electric, two-seater shooting brake sports car that reflects the boundary-
pushing passion and mindset of the CUPRA brand.

Deliveries to customers from SEAT and CUPRA surged by 34.6% to 519 thousand vehicles in 2023. This
increase was largely attributable to the strong performance of the CUPRA brand (+50.9% to 231 thousand
vehicles) and to SEAT's return to growth (+24.0% to 288 thousand vehicles).

The company’s unit sales amounted to 602 thousand units in the reporting year. This was 28.5% more than in
the previous year. This figure also includes the A1 manufactured for Audi. Both CUPRA and SEAT registered
higher demand, their respective best-selling models being the CUPRA Formentor and the SEAT Arona.

SEAT and CUPRA produced 534 thousand vehicles in the reporting year. This was 27.0% more than in the
prior year.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

The company'’s sales revenue was up 31.0% to €14.3 billion in 2023. The operating result reached a record level
for a fiscal year at €625 (33) million; this result was mainly driven by the success of CUPRA, higher volumes and
positive effects from efficiency improvements. The operating return on sales improved to 4.4 (0.3)%.
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Divisions SEAT

PRODUCTION SEAT
Units 2023 2022 2023 2022 %
SEAT Deliveries (thousand units) 519 386 +34.6
Arona 76,594 85,717  Vehicle sales 602 468 +28.5
Ibiza 74,355 60,385 Production 534 420 +27.0
Ateca 69,486 49,316  Sales revenue (€ million) 14,333 10,941 +31.0
Leon 40,862 36,247  Operating result 625 33 X
Tarraco 25,562 12,453  Operating return on sales (%) 4.4 0.3
Alhambra - 5,341

286,859 249,459
CUPRA
Formentor 124,670 105,568
Born 45,748 36,153
Leon 62,103 20,070
Ateca 14,228 8,841

246,749 170,632
SEAT and CUPRA 533,608 420,091

CU PRA Tavascan RE;CIQ:FRIES BY MARKET

B Europe/Other Markets 94.5%
B North America 4.1%

South America 0.6%
B Asia-Pacific 0.8%

ol

El  FURTHER INFORMATION www.seat.com
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Divisions Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles

Commercial
Vehicles

VVolkswagen Commercial Vehicles recorded a successful year in 2023 and is preparing a
model initiative with the long-wheelbase version of the ID. Buzz, the California CONCEPT
and the new Transporter.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

As a leading manufacturer of light commercial vehicles, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles is making funda-
mental and sustainable changes to the way goods and services are distributed in cities in order to improve the
quality of life, especially in inner city areas. In this way, the brand keeps the world of tomorrow moving, with all of
its requirements regarding clean, intelligent and sustainable mobility. This is what Volkswagen Commercial
Vehicles stands for with its brand promise: we transport success, freedom and the future.

Following the successful rollout of the all-electric ID. Buzz in 2022, the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles
brand celebrated the world premiere of the long-wheelbase version of the ID. Buzz in the reporting year at the
surfer hotspot Huntington Beach, on the Pacific Coast Highway near Los Angeles. Made in Germany for Europe
- and also for Canada and the United States. The VW Bus is making its comeback in North America as the large
six- and seven-seater ID. Buzz. The new panoramic roof, which can be darkened at the touch of a button, is
reminiscent of the legendary 1950s Samba Bus. The ID. Buzz again won many international prizes for Volks-
wagen Commercial Vehicles chosen by panels of experts, among them “Car of the Year Award 2023" from What
Car? (UK), “Best Cars" from auto, motor und sport magazine and “Company Car of the Year 2023" as best electric
van. At the Caravan Salon 2023 in Disseldorf, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles celebrated the world premiere
of the California CONCEPT that is based on the long-wheelbase version of the Multivan and is almost ready for
mass production. This is the first California model to enable electric travel thanks to the plug-in hybrid all-wheel
drive. Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles already started pre-sales of the new Transporter at the end of the year. It
will be significantly upgraded in all areas and together with the ID. Buzz and the Multivan creates the most
innovative "Bulli” range of all time. Like the new California, the new generation of the model series will celebrate
its world premiere in 2024.

Deliveries by Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles amounted to 409 thousand units (+24.6%) in the reporting
year. Sales in Western Europe (+21.7%), Central and Eastern Europe (+43.8%) and South America (+29.0%)
developed particularly encouragingly.

Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles sold 423 thousand vehicles in the reporting year, representing an increase
of 24.5% compared with the previous year. Nearly all models contributed to the increase.

In 2023, the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brand produced 398 thousand vehicles, 13.4% more than in
the previous year. The four millionth vehicle rolled off the production line at the production plant in Poznan,
Poland, which celebrated its 30th anniversary in 2023.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles increased sales revenue by 33.8% to €15.3 billion in fiscal year 2023. The
operating result improved to €873 (529) million. In addition to the higher volume, price effects had a particularly
positive impact. The operating return on sales rose to 5.7 (4.6)%.
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Divisions Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles

PRODUCTION VOLKSWAGEN COMMERCIAL VEHICLES BRAND
Units 2023 2022 2023 2022 %
Transporter 81,535 67,508 Deliveries (thousand units) 409 329 +24.6
Caravelle/Multivan, Combi, California 81,509 80,698  Vehicle sales 423 340 +24.5
Crafter, Grand California 70,218 60,326 Production 398 351 +13.4
Caddy Combi 45,671 46,500 Sales revenue (€ million) 15,325 11,455 +33.8
Amarok 43,512 42,806 Operating result 873 529 +64.9
Caddy, Caddy California 40,629 42,352 Operating return on sales (%) 5.7 4.6
ID. Buzz 35,272 11,013

398,346 351,203

MOdel_ initiative DELIVERIES BY MARKET

B Europe/Other Markets 84.6%
B North America 1.6%

South America 10.1%
B Asia-Pacific 3.7%

El  FURTHER INFORMATION www.volkswagen-commercial-vehicles.com
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11D,

Audi

The Progressive brand group posted a robust result for 2023 in a challenging
economic climate thanks to stable market performance and strong brands.
Audi presented the Q6 e-tron, its first all-electric model based on
the brand new Premium Platform Electric (PPE).

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Progressive brand group combines four strong brands from the progressive premium, luxury and supersport
segments: Audi, Bentley, Lamborghini and Ducati. Vorsprung is Audi's global brand promise, and one which
means the brand with the four rings is consistently focusing on the premium mobility of the future: connected,
sustainable, electric, and autonomous. In developing and scaling up innovative technologies, Audi plays a leading
role within the Group, not least with the Premium Platform Electric (PPE) for all-electric premium vehicles.

In fiscal year 2023, the Audi brand brought the Q8 e-tron to the market. It is the successor to the Audi e-tron,
the brand's electric pioneer. The A6 and A7 family, including the RS derivatives, and the Q8 with its internal com-
bustion engine were upgraded, getting a streamlined design and technology enhancements. The Audi brand also
gave a preview of the Q6 e-tron, the first production model based on the PPE platform. Boasting compelling
mileage and charging capacity, it also stands out for its systematically enhanced design language for electric
vehicles and, with its new electronics architecture, represents the technological spearhead of Audi's portfolio.

Bentley revealed the limited-edition Continental GT Speed Le Mans Collection to mark the 20th anniversary
of the Continental GT. Lamborghini unveiled the new Revuelto in 2023, its first series hybrid and the Italian
automaker's ticket into an electrified future.

The Progressive brand group delivered a total of 1.9 (1.6) million vehicles to customers in 2023. Dispropor-
tionate increases were recorded in Western Europe (+19.0%), Central and Eastern Europe (+25.3%) and North
America (+21.7%).

Unit sales at the Progressive brand group amounted to 1.3 (1.1) million vehicles in the reporting year. There
was particularly high demand for the Q5, A3 and the all-electric Q4 e-tron. The Chinese joint ventures sold a
further 668 (599) thousand locally produced Audi vehicles. Unit sales at the Lamborghini brand amounted to
10.6 thousand vehicles (+19.4%). Bentley sold 13.1 (15.5) thousand vehicles and Ducati 58.4 (65.0) thousand
motorcycles.

In 2023, Audi produced 2.0 (1.7) million units worldwide. Bentley produced 12.9 (16.4) thousand vehicles and
Lamborghini 9.8 (9.9) thousand. Ducati produced 55.2 (70.4) thousand motorcycles.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Sales revenue at the Progressive brand group climbed to €69.9 (61.8) billion in fiscal year 2023. The operating
result (prior-year figure before special items) declined to €6.3 (7.6) billion, which was mainly due to adverse
effects from commodity hedges to which hedge accounting is not applied. In addition, higher material costs
weighed on the operating result. The rise in volume at the Audi brand and the good results of the Bentley,
Lamborghini and Ducati brands had beneficial effects. The operating return on sales (prior-year figure before
special items) amounted to 9.0 (12.3)%.
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Divisions Audi

AUDI PRODUCTION BENTLEY, LAMBORGHINI, DUCATI PRODUCTION
Units 2023 2022 Units 2023 2022
Q5 334,480 319,162  Bentley
A6 257,111 208,729  Bentayga 5,595 7,346
A3 246,279 210,341  Continental GT 4,168 4,793
A4 237,830 234,395 Flying Spur 3,178 4,226
Q3 233,472 239,340 12,941 16,365
Q4 e-tron 125,441 58,764 Lamborghini
Q2 94,406 88,372  Urus 5,895 5,751
A5 75,584 66,124  Huracan 3,705 3,443
Q7 74,891 52,514  Aventador, Revuelto 166 661
Al 64,859 58,777 9,766 9,855
Q8 e-tron 54,856 51,545
Q8 47,002 37,330 Ducati, motorcycles 55,226 70,389
A7 34,622 17,437
A8 20,442 18,398
e-tron GT 10,045 12,674 AUDI (PROGRESSIVE BRAND GROUP)
T 9,530 8,126
Q5 e-tron 5,506 3,113
Q6 5151 2042 2023 2022 %
R8 2,127 1,097
Q6 e-tron 7 - Deliveries (thousand units) 1,919 1,639 +17.1
1,933,641 1,688,280 Audi 1,895 1,614 +17.4
Bentley 14 15 -10.6
Lamborghini 10 9 +9.5
Vehicle sales 1,282 1,070 +19.8
Production 1,956 1,715 +14.1
Sales revenue (€ million) 69,865 61,753 +13.1
Operating result before
special items 6,280 7,622 -17.6
Operating return on sales (%) 9.0 12.3

DELIVERIES BY MARKET

Q6 e-tron conceptcar e
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\ "%l { i W W Europe/Other Markets 41.8%

3 B North America 14.8%
F South America 0.8%
B Asia-Pacific 42.5%

Bl FURTHER INFORMATION www.audi.com
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Divisions Porsche

Porsche celebrated two anniversaries in 2023: "75 years of Porsche sports cars” and
"60 years of the Porsche 911". Particularly in its anniversary year, the iconic 911 sports car
helped to lift unit sales, sales revenue and earnings year-on-year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
Exclusivity and social acceptance, pioneering spirit and tradition, performance and sustainability, design and
functionality - these are the brand values of the sports car manufacturer Porsche.

For the Porsche brand, 2023 was marked by its 75th anniversary. The sports car history began in 1948 when
production of the 356 No. 1 Roadster started. In addition to the anniversary show at Porscheplatz in Stuttgart
and two special exhibitions at the Porsche Museum and in Berlin, numerous events to mark the anniversary were
held at various locations around the world.

On the occasion of its 75th anniversary, Porsche presented the Mission X concept car, a spectacular reinter-
pretation of a two-seater hypercar with Le Mans-style doors that open upwards to the front and a high-perfor-
mance, efficient electric powertrain. The Mission X represents the pinnacle of performance and modern sporty
luxury. The concept car is a technology beacon for the sports car of the future and provides critical impetus for
the evolutionary development of future vehicle concepts.

In the reporting year, Porsche also celebrated the 60th anniversary of the iconic 911 sports car with an exclu-
sive special edition built for maximum driving enjoyment: in a limited run of 1,963 vehicles, the 911 S/T com-
bines consistent lightweight design, characteristic GT agility and performance as well as an unfiltered acoustic
experience to recreate the essence of 60 years of the 911. In addition, Porsche debuted the new generation of
the Cayenne with a highly digitalized display and control concept, new chassis technology and innovative high-
tech features. High-resolution HD Matrix LED headlights provide for road illumination tailored to any driving
situation. An air quality system improves the air in the cabin for passengers. For the first time in the Cayenne, the
front passenger has their own infotainment display. With its extensively upgraded design and more powerful
family of powertrains, the Cayenne emphasizes its ambition to be the most engaging sports car in its segment.
The third generation of the Panamera model was also presented. The luxury saloon underscores its sporty
character with the new Porsche Active Ride chassis as well as even more powerful engines, including four
efficient e-hybrid powertrains that offer more power, greater range and improved efficiency.

Porsche (Sport Luxury brand group) delivered 320 thousand sports cars to customers in the reporting year;
this represented an increase of 3.3% compared with the previous year. The Other markets sales region recorded
the highest growth with an increase of 15.7%. Growth was also seen in Western Europe (+10.5%) and North
America (+8.8%). In China, 79 (93) thousand vehicles were handed over to customers.

In 2023, Porsche (Sport Luxury brand group) increased unit sales by 6.3% to 334 thousand vehicles. Demand
forthe 911, 718 and Taycan series in particular was up on the previous year.

Despite the still challenging conditions, Porsche (Sport Luxury brand group) produced a total of 335 thou-
sand vehicles (-0.6%) in 2023.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Porsche (Sport Luxury brand group) generated sales revenue of €37.3 (+7.9%) billion in the reporting year. The
operating result increased to €6.9 billion (+8.0%) thanks primarily to higher volumes with positive effects
attributable to the product mix and pricing. In particular, higher expenditure for new products and innovations
and an increase in distribution expenses had an offsetting effect. The operating return on sales is unchanged at
18.6 (18.6)%.
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Divisions Porsche

PRODUCTION PORSCHE (SPORT LUXURY BRAND GROUP)?

Units 2023 2022 2023 20222 %
Cayenne 95,706 104,745 Deliveries (thousand units) 320 310 +3.3
Macan 87,334 99,468  Vehicle sales 334 314 +6.3
911 Coupé/Cabriolet 55,655 42,390 Production 335 338 -0.6
Taycan 39,397 37,577 Sales revenue (€ million) 37,349 34,599 +7.9
Panamera 33,689 35,258  Operating result 6,938 6,425 +8.0
718 Boxster/Cayman 23,605 18,085  Operating return on sales (%) 18.6 18.6

335,386 337,523

1 Including Porsche Financial Services: sales revenue €40,530 (37,637) million,
operating result €7,284 (6,772) million.
2 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).

DELIVERIES BY MARKET
in percent

B Europe/Other Markets 34.5%
® North America 27.4%

South America 2.2%
H Asia-Pacific 36.0%

FURTHER INFORMATION www.porsche.com
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Divisions TRATON GROUP
G R O U P

The TRATON GROUP took a major step forward in e-mobility in fiscal year 2023,
also continuing to implement its TRATON Way Forward strategy for future success.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The TRATON Way Forward strategy focuses on three areas: being a responsible company, value creation and
TRATON Accelerated!; the company wants to play an active role in shaping the transportation and logistics eco-
system of the future.

TRATON established TRATON Charging Solutions to give drivers of battery-electric commercial vehicles easy
access to charging stations and thus facilitate the transition to e-mobility. The services provider offers custom-
ers services from contracting, invoicing and route planning, to utilization insights. TRATON's Scania and MAN
brands can thus offer their customers access to Europe’s most extensive charging network, which currently com-
prises twelve countries. At the end of 2023, Milence, a joint venture between TRATON, Daimler Truck and the
Volvo Group, reached an important milestone in developing the charging infrastructure with the opening of the
first charging station in Venlo (Netherlands).

Scania reached key milestones on the road to a sustainable transport system in 2023, being with the opening
of a battery assembly plant at its headquarters in Sodertélje (Sweden). To simplify the transition to battery-
electric trucks for freight forwarders, Scania and digital freight forwarder sennder formed the joint venture
company JUNA. A unique pay-per-use billing model reduces upfront costs for customers and lessens potential
residual value concerns. Access to guaranteed loads via a digital platform also creates commercial predictability.
Scania likewise made progress in decarbonizing its supply chains by placing its first order for green steel with
the supplier H2 Green Steel.

MAN also reached a significant milestone in the transition to zero-emission technologies. Launched on the
market in 2024, the new MAN €Truck is the brand's first battery-electric long-haul truck. The ground-breaking
ceremony for large-scale battery production at the Nuremberg site was held in 2023. From 2025, up to 100,000
high-voltage battery systems per year will be manufactured there. Together with other industrial companies and
universities, MAN is working on the ATLAS-L4 research and development project to put self-driving trucks on
the road. In the ANITA research project, MAN is also working with Deutsche Bahn, the Fresenius University of
Applied Sciences and wireless technology specialist Gotting KG to test the potential of self-driving trucks for
transporting goods between logistics hubs.

As part of an initiative, the North American brand Navistar set itself the goal of cutting its global emissions by
half before 2030 and becoming carbon neutral by 2050 in line with the Paris Climate Agreement. In the reporting
year, Navistar started production of the International S13 Integrated Powertrain at the company's Huntsville
facility in the United States. Customers of Navistar's International and IC Bus brands can now be offered
competitive bespoke credit and lease financing through the Group's own financial services provider, Navistar
Financial.

Volkswagen Truck & Bus (VWTB) commenced series production of e-Delivery trucks in 2023. It thus follows
the TRATON GROUP's strategy of regarding battery-electric drives as the core technology of alternative drive-
trains, supplemented by hydrogen drives in niche areas. As part of the internationalization plan, VWTB is further
expanding its presence in international markets and will be represented on four continents in the future.
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Divisions TRATON GROUP

PRODUCTION TRATON
Units 2023 2022 2023 2022 %
Scania 102,283 88,142 Deliveries (thousand units) 338 305 +10.7
Trucks 97,065 82,827  Vehicle sales 339 306 +10.7
Buses 5,218 5,315 Production 339 318 +6.5
MAN 117,026 88,952 Sales revenue (€ million) 45,731 39,516 +15.7
Trucks 84,695 62,009 Operating result 3,715 1,583 X
Buses 5,780 4,675 Operating return on sales (%) 8.1 4.0
Light Commercial Vehicles 26,551 22,268
Navistar 86,740 82,071
Trucks 73,317 69,488
Buses 13,423 12,583
Volkswagen Truck & Bus 32,515 58,647
Trucks 28,161 50,075
Buses 4,354 8,572
TRATON 338,564 317,812

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Unit sales of TRATON Commercial Vehicles in fiscal year 2023 rose to 339 (306) thousand vehicles and sales
revenue of €45.7 billion was up 15.7% on the comparative figure for 2022. The higher volume of new vehicles
and higher capacity utilization due to a significant increase in production figures meant that the operating result
more than doubled to €3.7 (1.6) billion. A positive product mix and improved price positioning also had a bene-
ficial effect on profit. The operating return on sales amounted to 8.1 (4.0)%.

Strong brands DELIVERIES BY MARKET

B Europe/Other Markets 53.3%
B North America 27.6%

South America 15.5%
B Asia-Pacific 3.6%

El FURTHER INFORMATION www.traton.com
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VVolkswagen Group China

The VVolkswagen Group showed its strengths in the fiercely competitive Chinese
market during fiscal year 2023. Deliveries were up year-on-year in all segments.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2023, Volkswagen Group China demonstrated the strength of its portfolio in a market environment that was
shaped by an intense price war with more than 100 local competitors. Rigorously following a sustainable busi-
ness model, Volkswagen Group China and its Chinese joint ventures delivered 3.2 million vehicles (including
imports) in the Chinese market in the reporting year, 1.6% more than in 2022. The market share stood at
14.5(15.1)%.

In the premium and sports segment, Audi delivered 728,575 vehicles to customers in China, a significant
increase of 13.5% year-on-year.

Volkswagen Group China continues to press ahead with its e-mobility campaign in line with its systematic
approach of “In China for China". In the battery-electric vehicle (BEV) segment, deliveries increased by 23% to
190,820 units. The main drivers of this success were the ID.3 and ID.4 models from the Volkswagen Passenger
Cars brand and the Audi e-tron models. Not only was the ID.3 one of the best-selling electric cars with around
75,000 units delivered, but it also topped the rankings for the compact car segment in the fourth quarter. The
ID.4 was in the top five in the compact SUV class thanks to deliveries of around 60,000. Deliveries of the ID.7
commenced in late 2023. The brand wishes to tap into the mid-sized segment with this model and reach more
customer groups in China. Audi's e-tron models witnessed very strong growth in 2023, surging to over 30,000
units in the first full year of sales.

The internal combustion engine (ICE) segment continues to provide a robust foundation for the Volkswagen
Group's long-term business development in China. Based on deliveries of 2,997,184 ICE vehicles, the Group
expanded its market share to over 20% in 2023. High unit sales and a good cost structure for the ICE models
enable Volkswagen Group China to build up its financial position for an accelerated transformation and take the
next leap in innovation in connection with its “In China for China" approach.

Volkswagen Group China systematically strengthened its development expertise in China in fiscal year 2023.
The newly established Volkswagen China Technology Company (VCTC) is the new center for development, inno-
vation and procurement for intelligent, fully connected electric vehicles (ICV). The aim is to reduce the time to
market for vehicles and components by 30% by implementing efficient development processes and using state-
of-the-art technologies. Further synergies will be leveraged through close dovetailing of development work with
the joint venture companies SAIC Volkswagen, FAW-Volkswagen and Volkswagen Anhui, and also with Gotion
(batteries). The partners Horizon Robotics (autonomous driving), ARK (user experience) and Thundersoft (info-
tainment) will also be incorporated in close cooperation with CARIAD China. Cooperation with local car manu-
facturers also continued in 2023. The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand concluded a technological framework
agreement with XPeng. Audi and SAIC signed a memorandum to further expand their existing cooperation. Both
partnerships provide for the joint development of intelligent, fully connected electric vehicles exclusively for the
Chinese market.
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Divisions Volkswagen Group China

EARNINGS
Thousand units 2023 2022 % € million 2023 2022
Deliveries 3,236 3,185 +1.6 Operating result (100%) 7,139 8,827
Vehicle sales® 3,065 3,122 -1.8  Operating result (proportionate) 2,621 3,280

Production 3,072 3,160 -2.8

1 Produced locally.

Our joint ventures produced a total of 3.1 (3.2) million vehicles in fiscal year 2023. These joint ventures produce
a mixture of established Group models and those specially modified for Chinese customers (e.g. with extended

wheelbases), as well as vehicles developed exclusively for the Chinese market (such as the Volkswagen Lamando,
Teramont, ID.6 X and ID.6 CROZ2).

The proportionate operating result of the joint ventures in the reporting year stood at €2.6 (3.3) billion. The
negative impacts of a highly competitive market environment were offset by cost optimization.

The figures of the Chinese joint venture companies are not included in the operating result of the Group as
they are accounted for using the equity method. Their profits are included solely in the Group's financial result on
a proportionate basis.

LOCAL PRODUCTION

Units 2023 2022
Volkswagen Passenger Cars 2,383,703 2,513,613
Audi 670,419 604,439
Skoda 18,365 41,936
Total 3,072,487 3,159,988
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Divisions Volkswagen Financial Services

VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES

THE KEY TO MOBILITY

VVolkswagen Financial Services recorded a solid year in 2023 despite multiple
macroeconomic uncertainties. The number of new contracts increased thanks
to improved vehicle availability.

STRUCTURE OF VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES

Volkswagen Financial Services comprises dealer and customer financing, leasing, banking and insurance activi-
ties, fleet management and mobility services in 47 countries. The key companies are Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG and its affiliated companies such as Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, as well as VVolkswagen Bank GmbH,
Porsche Financial Services and the financial services companies in the United States and Canada, the only
exceptions being the financial services business of TRATON and of Porsche Holding Salzburg.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Volkswagen Financial Services AG achieved an excellent score of 12.4 in Sustainalytics' first-ever ranking of its
sustainability risks. According to the institute, the score achieved by Volkswagen Financial Services AG puts it in
the top 3% of the over 200 companies rated. The analysis was carried out in the categories of Product Gover-
nance, Data Privacy and Data Security, Business Ethics, Human Capital and Corporate Governance.

Volkswagen Financial Services and the management and technology consultancy Sopra Steria set up the
joint venture MyDigitalCar GmbH in 2023. With the services offered, the joint venture partners will make a signifi-
cant contribution to optimizing economic efficiency in the area of vehicle management for companies by enabling
companies to register their vehicles digitally via a vehicle registration platform.

Volkswagen Financial Services and AMAG Leasing AG extended their collaboration in fleet business opera-
tions in Switzerland in 2023. As a result, Volkswagen Financial Services AG acquired a 50% stake in movon AG, a
subsidiary of AMAG Leasing AG that focuses on fleet leasing and full-service solutions for business customers.
The aims of the joint venture are to expand the range of products and services and to create digital tools for fleet
owners and dealers.

Volkswagen Financial Services and Pon Holdings (Pon) intensified their partnership in company bike leasing.
Within this framework, Volkswagen Financial Services AG acquired a 49% stake in the Pon bike leasing subsid-
iary Bike Mobility Services. The aim is to jointly expand in the growing bicycle and e-bike leasing business in
Europe and the USA.

As part of the "AllerVielfalt" project, the Alte Aller, an old branch of the River Aller in the District of Verden,
was reconnected to the main river in the reporting year. Initiated by the German Nature and Biodiversity
Conservation Union (IVABU), the project is part of the federal government program “Germany's Blue Belt”
("Blaves Band Deutschland") and aims to create near-natural structures in a project area of 2,350 hectares
(around 30 river kilometers). Volkswagen Financial Services donated €450,000 to cover NABU's share, thereby
ensuring the important start-up financing for the project.
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Divisions Volkswagen Financial Services

The main refinancing sources for Volkswagen Financial Services are money market and capital market instru-
ments, asset-backed securities (ABS) transactions, customer deposits from the direct banking business and
bank credit lines. Volkswagen Financial Services AG published its first “Green Finance Framework” in the
reporting year. The framework supports the current sustainability strategy of the automotive financial and mobil-
ity services provider with regard to its refinancing and thereby enables the company to tap into a new investor
base. The “"Green Finance Framework” covers all refinancing products of Volkswagen Financial Services AG. The
funds generated under the framework will be used exclusively to refinance credit and leasing contracts for
battery-electric vehicles.

On the basis of the Green Finance Framework, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH placed three green bonds with a
total volume of €2 billion on the capital markets for the first time in September 2023. In December of the fiscal
year now ended, Volkswagen Financial Services N.V. also issued bonds amounting to 1.5 billion Swedish kronor
and 1 billion Norwegian kroner based on the Green Finance Framework.

Other bond transactions were conducted in currencies such as pounds sterling, Swedish kronor, South
Korean won and Japanese yen, among others. Furthermore, bonds were issued in Australia, Poland, Brazil and
Turkiye on the basis of local documentation requirements. In addition to this, private placements were issued in
various currencies.

Volkswagen Bank issued three unsecured bonds denominated in euro in the reporting year with a total
volume of €2.0 billion.

In fiscal year 2023, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH placed three ABS transactions secured by lease receivables
with a total volume of €2.75 billion. The issuances met the quality criteria of the STS Securitization Regulation
for particularly high-value securitizations and were oversubscribed several times.

Outside Germany, Volkswagen Financial Services issued ABS transactions in Brazil, Japan, the United
Kingdom and Australia.

In the US capital market, Volkswagen Group of America Finance, LLC placed bonds with a total volume of
USD 5.65 billion in September and November 2023. Notes with a volume of CAD 750 million were issued in the
Canadian refinancing market.

Bicycle leasing
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In fiscal year 2023, the number of new financing, leasing, service and insurance contracts from Volks-
wagen Financial Services signed was up on the prior-year figure at 8.7 (7.8) million. At the end of the reporting
year, the total number of contracts stood at 22.3 (22.0) million. The number of contracts in the Customer
Financing/Leasing area fell by 1.5% to 10.2 million. The Service/Insurance area accounted for 12.1 million
contracts, 3.9% more than in the previous year. From January 1, 2024, other types of insurance contracts will be
taken into account; in this case, the number of contracts in the Service/Insurance area as of December 31, 2023
would have been 15.6 million and the total contract portfolio would have comprised 25.8 million contracts. With
credit eligibility criteria remaining unchanged, the penetration rate, expressed as the ratio of financed or leased
vehicles to relevant Group delivery volumes - including the Chinese joint ventures - increased to 32.6 (32.3)%.

On December 31, 2023, Volkswagen Bank managed 1.8 (1.3) million deposit accounts. VVolkswagen Financial
Services employed 15,439 people worldwide, including 7,311 in Germany, as of year-end 2023.

SALES REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Volkswagen Financial Services generated sales revenue of €50.8 billion in the reporting year, 15.5% more than in
the previous year. As expected, the operating result contracted to €3.3 (5.6) billion. In addition to higher interest
expenses, the decline was primarily attributable to adverse effects from derivatives, which had had a positive
effect in the prior year. Lower risk costs and strong demand for used vehicles had also had a positive impact in
the previous year.

VOLKSWAGEN FINANCIAL SERVICES

2023 2022 %
Number of contracts thousands 22,275 21,976 +1.4
Customer financing 5,299 5,557 -4.6
Leasing 4,888 4,783 +2.2
Service/Insurance 12,088 11,636 +3.9
Lease assets € million 63,884 57,906 +10.3
Receivables from € million
Customer financing 69,292 70,266 -1.4
Dealer financing 26,167 19,868 +31.7
Leasing agreements 53,771 47,446 +13.3
Direct banking deposits € million 37,531 25,431 +47.6
Total assets € million 267,777 239,400 +11.9
Equity € million 39,545 38,238 +3.4
Liabilities? € million 219,180 190,588 +15.0
Equity ratio % 14.8 16.0
Return on equity before tax® % 8.3 15.4
Leverage® 5.5 5.0
Operating result € million 3,253 5,584 -41.7
Earnings before tax € million 3,244 5,528 -41.3
Employees at Dec. 31 15,439 14,796 +4.3

1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).

2 Excluding provisions and deferred tax liabilities.

3 Earnings before tax as a percentage of average equity (continuing operations).
4 Liabilities as a percentage of equity.

Il FURTHER INFORMATION
www.vwfs.com
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Corporate Governance Group Corporate Governance Declaration

Group Corporate Governance
Declaration

The following chapter contains the content of the Group Corporate Governance Declaration
required by sections 289f and 315d of the HGB and the recommendations and principles of
the German Corporate Governance Code.

THE GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE -

A BLUEPRINT FOR SUCCESSFUL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance provides the regulatory framework for corporate management and supervision. This
includes a company’s organization and values, and the principles and guidelines for its business policy. The
German Corporate Governance Code (the Code) contains principles, recommendations and suggestions for
corporate management and supervision. Its principles, recommendations and suggestions were prepared by a
dedicated government commission on the basis of the material provisions and nationally and internationally
accepted standards of sound, responsible corporate governance. In the interests of best practice, the govern-
ment commission regularly reviews the Code's relevance in light of current developments and updates it as
necessary. The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG base their work on the prin-
ciples, recommendations and suggestions of the Code. We consider good corporate governance to be a key
prerequisite for achieving a lasting increase in the Company’s value. It helps strengthen the trust of our share-
holders, customers, employees, business partners and investors in our work and enables us to meet the steadily
increasing demand for information from national and international interest groups.

DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY
(valid as of the date of the declaration)

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG issued the annual declaration of
conformity with the Code as required by section 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG - German Stock Corporation Act)
on November 17, 2023 with the following wording:
“The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board declare the following:
The recommendations of the Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code in the version
dated 28 April 2022 (the Code) that was published by the German Ministry of Justice in the official section of the
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 27 June 2022 was complied with in the period from the last Declaration of
Conformity dated 11 November 2022 and will continue to be complied with, with the exception of the recom-
mendations listed below for the reasons stated there.
> a) Recommendation B.3 (Duration of first-time appointments to the Management Board)
As it has done in the past, the Supervisory Board will determine the duration of first-time appointments to the
Board of Management as it deems fit for each individual case and for the good of the company.
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> b) Recommendation B.5 (Age limit for members of the Board of Management)
Pursuant to Recommendation B.5, an age limit is to be specified for members of the Board of Management and
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Declaration. This has been complied with. In September 2023, the
Supervisory Board re-appointed Dr Manfred Déss and in so doing exceeded the stipulated age limit by way of
exception. The Supervisory Board considered this exception to be in the interest of the company. The trans-
formation of the VOLKSWAGEN Group affects a large number of topics being addressed by the Integrity and
Legal Affairs division for which Dr Doss is responsible, for example with regard to autonomous vehicles and
ESG (environmental, social and governance) issues. Dr Doss has already positioned the VOLKSWAGEN Group
well in this respect. The renewed appointment of Dr Déss ensures that the Group will continue to tread this
path as effectively and efficiently as possible. The Supervisory Board otherwise adheres to the age limit
specified for members of the Board of Management. It cannot, however, be ruled out that legal commentators
would regard a company as having deviated from Recommendation B.5 even if it had exceeded a specific
applicable age limit only once while the age limit as such remained in force. As a precautionary measure, such
deviation is therefore being declared.

> ¢) Recommendation C.5 (Mandate ceiling regarding Board of Management mandate)
The Chair of the Supervisory Board is on the supervisory boards of three listed companies of the VOLKS-
WAGEN Group, namely VOLKSWAGEN AG (as Chair), Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and TRATON SE (as Chair), as
well as being on the Supervisory Board of Bertelsmann SE & Co. KGaA. He is also Chair of the Board of Man-
agement of Porsche Automobil Holding SE. Porsche Automobil Holding SE is not part of the same group as
VOLKSWAGEN AG, Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and TRATON SE within the meaning of German stock corporation
law. We are, however, confident that the Chair of the Supervisory Board of VOLKSWAGEN AG has sufficient
time at his disposal to fulfill the duties related to his mandates.

> d) Recommendation C.13 (Disclosure regarding election proposals)
Under this recommendation, certain circumstances shall be disclosed when the Supervisory Board makes
election proposals to the General Meeting, but the requirements are vague and the definitions unclear. Purely
as a precautionary measure, we therefore declare a deviation in this respect. Notwithstanding this, the Super-
visory Board will make every effort to satisfy the requirements of the recommendation.

> e) Recommendation G.6 (Predominance of long-term variable remuneration)
On 20 July 2022, Dr Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG (Porsche AG) agreed upon a so-called IPO bonus with Dr Oliver
Blume in the event of the successful IPO of Porsche AG. Since an IPO of this nature is also in the interest of
VOLKSWAGEN AG, we are, as a precaution, treating the IPO bonus agreed upon with Porsche AG as part of
Mr Blume's remuneration at VOLKSWAGEN AG (third-party remuneration arrangement). The Supervisory Board
of VOLKSWAGEN AG approved the third-party remuneration arrangement for Dr Blume. The IPO bonus was
awarded in the form of virtual shares. These virtual shares are converted into monetary sums in three tranches
over periods of one, two, and three years depending on the development of the share price of Porsche AG
shares during the relevant time period, and these monetary sums are then paid out to Dr Blume. As a pre-
caution, the Supervisory Board assumes that the first one and two-year tranches of the IPO bonus will be
allocated to the short-term variable remuneration of Dr Blume, whilst the last, three-year tranche of the IPO
bonus will be allocated to the long-term variable remuneration. This means that the total target value of the
short-term variable remuneration approved for Dr Blume for fiscal year 2022 exceeded the target value of the
long-term variable remuneration. In the current fiscal year 2023, the IPO bonus granted in fiscal year 2022 had
still not been fully settled. As a precautionary measure, we are therefore continuing to declare a deviation from
Recommendation G.6 in this respect. Nevertheless, the Board of Management remuneration for Dr Blume on
the whole continues to be oriented towards the company's sustainable and long-term development. The
Supervisory Board deems the payment of the IPO bonus in three tranches over one, two, and three years to be a
purposeful and appropriate incentive for Dr Blume, which is not limited solely to work carried out in prepa-
ration for the IPO but which also takes into account how sustained the success of the IPO is.

> f) Recommendation G.10 sentence 2 (Four-year commitment period)
Dr Blume can have access to the third tranche of the IPO bonus previously described under e) as part of the
long-term variable remuneration after three years rather than after four.
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> g) Recommendation G.13 sentence 1 (Severance cap)
At the end of July 2022, the Supervisory Board of VOLKSWAGEN AG resolved by mutual agreement with
Dr Diess to terminate his appointment as member and as Chair of the Board of Management with effect from
the close of 31 August 2022. According to the agreement reached with Dr Diess, his contract shall continue to
run until the end of its regular term, i.e. until the close of 24 October 2025, even following the premature
termination of his appointment, provided that Dr Diess does not resign at an earlier date. Dr Diess shall accord-
ingly not receive a severance payment but shall potentially receive his contractual remuneration for a period of
more than two years following his departure from the Board of Management. It is not clear to us whether this
recommendation refers only to severance payments or also to payments to a retired member of the Board of
Management due to a continuing contract of service. As a precautionary measure, we are therefore continuing
to declare a deviation from Recommendation G.13 sentence 1 in this respect.”
The current declaration of conformity and previous declarations of conformity are also published on our website
shown hereafter.
Our listed indirect subsidiaries Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG and TRATON SE also issued a declaration of con-
formity with the German Corporate Governance Code. These can be accessed at the websites shown below.
The suggestions of the Code are complied with.

Bl DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY OF VOLKSWAGEN AG
www.volkswagen-group.com/declaration

Bl DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY BY DR. ING. H.C. F. PORSCHE AG
https://investorrelations.porsche.com/en/corporate-governance/

Bl DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY OF TRATON SE
https://ir.traton.com/websites/traton/English/5000/corporate-governance.html

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

The Volkswagen AG Board of Management has sole responsibility for managing the Company in the Company's
best interests, in accordance with the Articles of Association and the rules of procedure for the Board of Man-
agement issued by the Supervisory Board.

Accordingly, responsibilities in the Board of Management are currently divided among ten Board functions. In
addition to the “"Chair of the Board of Management” function, the other Board functions have been "Technology”,
“Finance and Operations” (formerly “Finance”), "Human Resources and Trucks brand group” (formerly “Human
Resources and Truck & Bus"), “Integrity and Legal Affairs”, “Progressive brand group” (formerly “Premium"), “Sport
Luxury brand group” (formerly “Sport & Luxury"”), “China”, “IT" and “Core brand group” (formerly “Volume"). The
Chair of the Board of Management is also responsible for the "Sport Luxury brand group” Board function.

Directly attached to the Board are a number of Group Management functions that act as an extension to the
Board functions. These comprise the Group Sales, Group Production, Group Procurement and Group Research
and Development functions.

Further information on the composition of the Board of Management can be found in the "Members of the
Board of Management"” section.

Working procedures of the Board of Management
In accordance with Article 6 of the Articles of Association, Volkswagen AG's Board of Management consists of at
least three people, with the precise number determined by the Supervisory Board. As of December 31, 2023,
there were nine members of the Board of Management.

The Board of Management generally meets weekly. Its rules of procedure require it to meet at least twice a
month. Meetings of the Board of Management are convened by the Chair of the Board of Management. The Chair
is required to convene a meeting if requested by any member of the Board of Management. The Chair of the
Board of Management chairs the Board of Management meetings. The full Board of Management decides on all
matters unless they have been assigned to a single member of the Board of Management by the rules of
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procedure for the Board of Management or by a resolution of the Board of Management, on matters assigned to
the full Board of Management by law or by the Articles of Association, and in accordance with the rules of
procedure for the Board of Management on matters of general or fundamental importance. The Board of Man-
agement takes decisions after prior debate or - if no other Board of Management member objects - using the
written circulation procedure. Resolutions of the Board of Management are adopted by a majority vote. In the
event of a tie, the Chair of the Board of Management casts the deciding vote. The Board of Management is
quorate if at least half of the members of the Board of Management participate in passing the resolution. Absent
members of the Board of Management may participate in passing the resolution orally, in writing or via cus-
tomary communications media (e.g. by e-mail). Details of the responsibilities of the full Board of Management
and of meetings and resolutions of the Board of Management are governed by the rules of procedure for the
Board of Management issued by the Supervisory Board and published on Volkswagen AG's website at
www.volkswagen-group.com/en/corporate-governance.

Each Board of Management member manages their area of responsibility independently, without prejudice to
the collective responsibility of the Board of Management. All Board of Management members must inform each
other of events within their remit.

All members of the Board of Management must immediately disclose conflicts of interest to the Chairman of
the Supervisory Board and the Chair of the Board of Management and inform the other members of the Board of
Management accordingly.

The Volkswagen Group companies are managed solely by their respective managements. The management
of each individual company takes into account not only the interest of its own company but also the interests of
the Group, the relevant brand group and the individual brands in accordance with the framework laid down by law.

Board of Management committees

Board of Management committees exist at Group level on the following areas: products, technologies, invest-
ments, digital transformation, integrity and compliance, risk management, human resources and management
issues. Alongside the responsible members of the Board of Management, the relevant central departments and
the relevant functions of the divisions are represented on the committees.

Cooperation with the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG advises and monitors the Board of Management with regard to the
management of the Company. Through the requirement for the Supervisory Board to provide consent, it is
directly involved, especially in decisions of fundamental importance to the Company. In addition, the Supervisory
Board and the Board of Management regularly discuss factors affecting the strategic orientation of the Volks-
wagen Group, including the sustainability strategy. The two bodies jointly assess, at regular intervals, the
progress made in implementing the corporate strategy. The Board of Management reports to the Supervisory
Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively in both written and oral form on all issues of relevance for the
Company particularly with regard to strategy, planning, the development of the business, the risk situation, risk
management and compliance.

The Chair of the Board of Management is responsible for dealings with the Supervisory Board. The Chair is in
regular contact with the Chair of the Supervisory Board and reports to him on all matters of particular signifi-
cance without delay.

The Supervisory Board has set out the Board of Management's obligations to provide detailed information
and reports in a comprehensive information policy; the information policy has been published as Annex Il to the
rules of procedure for the Board of Management on Volkswagen AG's website at www.volkswagen-group.com/
en/corporate-governance. The Board of Management must report conscientiously and faithfully to the Super-
visory Board or its committees. With the exception of the immediate reports from the Chair of the Board of Man-
agement to the Chair of the Supervisory Board on matters of particular importance, the Board of Management is
required to report to the Supervisory Board in writing as a rule.

44



Corporate Governance Group Corporate Governance Declaration

The documents required for decision-making purposes must be provided to the Supervisory Board members in
good time in advance of the meeting. Further statements about the information provided to the Supervisory
Board by the Board of Management can be found in the Report of the Supervisory Board.

Related party transactions

The Audit Committee agreed on a suitable procedure with the Board of Management for ongoing monitoring of
the Volkswagen Group's related party transactions. As part of this procedure, the Board of Management ensures
that related party transactions are generally at arm’s length using the best-price principle. In addition, all trans-
actions with the individual related parties are analyzed to determine whether they exceed the threshold of 1.5%
of the Volkswagen Group's total fixed and current assets, above which obligations under the rules on related
party transactions apply (RPT threshold). In addition, Procurement reports all transactions in which the volume of
the contract exceeds the amount of €1 billion; in such cases, it is then checked separately whether the contrac-
tual partner is a related party within the meaning of the rules on related party transactions.

The Audit Committee continuously monitors the actions of the Board of Management. To this end, the Audit
Committee regularly engages the auditor, most recently for fiscal year 2023, to conduct spot checks of the
related parties with whom Volkswagen AG or other Volkswagen Group companies conduct transactions with a
total financial value in the fiscal year exceeding the RPT threshold. If and to the extent that the economic value of
the related party transactions exceeds the RPT threshold, these transactions are also checked to establish
whether they were conducted at arm’s length in accordance with proper business practice.

If a transaction between Volkswagen AG and a related party exceeds the RPT threshold, the Supervisory
Board's approval is generally required except where exceptional circumstances exist in accordance with sec-
tion 111a(2) or (3) of the AktG. Insofar as the Supervisory Board's approval is required, the Supervisory Board of
Volkswagen AG generally decides as a full Board. There are no plans to form a committee that decides on the
approval of related party transactions; however, the Supervisory Board reserves the right to establish such a
committee if required in individual cases in accordance with the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act.
Supervisory Board members who are involved in the transaction as related parties or whose relationship with the
related party leads to concerns of a conflict of interest do not participate in decisions on the approval of related
party transactions.

The rules of procedure for the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG stipulate that transactions between
Volkswagen AG and a related party that is also a direct or indirect shareholder of Volkswagen AG and holds at
least 5% of the share capital are generally subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board even if the RPT
threshold is not exceeded. The Executive Committee decides on such approval.

Diversity concept and succession planning for the Board of Management
The Supervisory Board has laid down the following diversity concept for the composition of the Board of Man-
agement (section 289f(2) no. 6 HGB):
The Supervisory Board must also take diversity into account when considering who would be the best
persons to appoint to the Board of Management as a body. The Supervisory Board understands diversity, as an
assessment criterion, to mean in particular different yet complementary specialist profiles and professional and
general experience, also in the international domain, with both genders being appropriately represented. The
Supervisory Board will also take the following aspects into account in this regard, in particular:
> Members of the Board of Management should have many years of management experience.
> Members of the Board of Management should, if possible, have experience based on different training and
professional backgrounds.

> The Board of Management as a whole should have technical expertise, especially knowledge of and experi-
ence in the manufacture and sale of vehicles and engines of any kind as well as other technical products, and
experience in the international domain.

> The Board of Management as a whole should have many years of experience in research and development,
production, sales, finance and human resources management, as well as law and compliance.
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> Efforts are made to achieve a higher proportion of women than the statutory minimum.

> The Board of Management should also have a sufficient mix of ages.

The aim of the diversity concept is for the Board of Management members to embody a range of expertise and per-
spectives. This diversity promotes a good understanding of Volkswagen AG's organizational and business affairs.
Particularly, it enables the members of the Board of Management to be open to new ideas by avoiding group-
think. In this way, it contributes to the successful management of the Company. With regard to the participation of
women and men on the Board of Management, a mandatory participation requirement applies to Volkswagen AG.

In deciding who should be appointed to a specific Board of Management position, the Supervisory Board
takes into account the interests of the Company and all the circumstances of the specific case. In taking this
decision and in long-term succession planning, the Supervisory Board orients itself on the diversity concept. The
Supervisory Board is of the view that the diversity concept is essentially reflected by the current composition of
the Board of Management. The members of the Board of Management have many years of professional experi-
ence, particularly in an international context, and cover a broad spectrum of educational and professional back-
grounds. The Board of Management collectively has excellent technical expertise and many years of collective
experience in research and development, production, sales, finance and human resources management, as well
as law and compliance. In addition, the Board of Management has a sufficient mix of ages that corresponds to
the requirements set by the Supervisory Board in the diversity concept. The gender balance meets the legal
requirements (see also section "Disclosures required by the Fihrungspositionen-Gesetz" (FUPoG - Act on Equal
Participation of Women and Men in Leadership positions)).

Long-term succession planning within the meaning of Recommendation B.2 of the Code is achieved through
regular discussions between the Chair of the Board of Management and the Chair of the Supervisory Board as
well as regular discussions in the Executive Committee. The contract terms for existing Board of Management
members are discussed, along with potential extensions and potential successors. In particular, the discussions
look at what knowledge, experience and professional and personal competencies should be represented on the
Board of Management with regard to the corporate strategy and current challenges, and to what extent the
current composition of the Board of Management already reflects this. Long-term succession planning is based
on the corporate strategy and corporate culture and takes into account the diversity concept determined by the
Supervisory Board. In the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board specified the
following age limit for members of the Board of Management in accordance with Recommendation B.5 of the
Code: as a rule, members of the Board of Management should be appointed for a term of office ending no later
than their 65th birthday. Board of Management members may be appointed to serve beyond their 65th birthday
until no later than their 68th birthday, provided this is agreed by a two-thirds majority of the Supervisory Board.

SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Volkswagen AG Supervisory Board performs its role through its members working together. It advises and
monitors the Board of Management with regard to the management of the Company and, through the require-
ment for the Supervisory Board to provide consent, is directly involved in certain decisions of fundamental
importance to the Company.

Information on the composition of the Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board committees and their
chairs as well as on the terms of office of the individual Supervisory Board members can be found in the
"Members of the Supervisory Board and Composition of the Committees” section. Further information on the
work of the Supervisory Board can be found in the Report of the Supervisory Board.

Overview

The Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG consists of 20 members, half of whom are shareholder representatives.
In accordance with Article 11(1) of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, the State of Lower Saxony is
entitled to appoint two of these shareholder representatives for as long as it directly or indirectly holds at least
15% of the Company's ordinary shares. The remaining shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board are
elected by the Annual General Meeting.
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The other half of the Supervisory Board consists of employee representatives who are elected by the employees
in accordance with the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG - German Codetermination Act). A total of seven of
these employee representatives are Company employees elected by the workforce; the other three employee
representatives are trade union representatives elected by the workforce.

The Chair of the Supervisory Board is generally a shareholder representative, and the Deputy Chair is gener-
ally an employee representative. Both are elected by the other members of the Supervisory Board.

The business of the Supervisory Board is managed by a dedicated office of the Supervisory Board Chair. The
Chair of the Supervisory Board ensures the independence of the office of the Supervisory Board Chair and its
staff and exercises the right to appoint and supervise staff in consultation with the responsible Board of Man-
agement members.

The Supervisory Board appoints the Board of Management members and, on the basis of the Executive Com-
mittee's recommendations, decides on a clear and comprehensible system of remuneration for the Board of
Management members. It presents this system to the Annual General Meeting for approval every time there is a
material change, but at least once every four years.

Each member of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG is obliged to act in the Company's best interests.
Supervisory Board members are not permitted to delegate their responsibilities to others.

In accordance with the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board, each Supervisory Board member is
obliged to disclose any conflicts of interest to the Chair of the Supervisory Board without delay. In its report to
the Annual General Meeting, the Supervisory Board informs the Annual General Meeting of any conflicts of
interest that have arisen and how these were dealt with. Material and not merely temporary conflicts of interest
on the part of a Supervisory Board member should result in a termination of the member's mandate.

The rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board stipulate that Supervisory Board members should not hold
board or advisory positions at major competitors of Volkswagen AG or major competitors of a company depen-
dent on Volkswagen AG and should not be in a personal relationship involving a major competitor.

Members of the Supervisory Board receive appropriate support from the Company upon induction as well as
with respect to education and training. Education and training measures are outlined in the "Report of the Super-
visory Board".

Working procedures of the Supervisory Board

As a rule, the Supervisory Board adopts its resolutions in meetings of all its members. It must hold at least two
meetings in both the first and second halves of the calendar year. The precise number of meetings and the main
topics discussed are outlined in the “"Report of the Supervisory Board".

The Chair of the Supervisory Board coordinates the work within the Supervisory Board. He represents the
interests of the Supervisory Board externally and represents the Company to the Board of Management on behalf
of the whole Supervisory Board. Within reason, the Chair of the Supervisory Board discusses Supervisory Board-
specific topics with investors and, in consultation with the Board of Management, may also discuss non-Super-
visory Board-specific topics. More information on these discussions with investors is provided in the “Report of
the Supervisory Board".

To underline the importance of environmental sustainability, social responsibility and good corporate gover-
nance, the Supervisory Board has appointed an ESG (environmental, social and governance) officer. This role is
currently performed by Mr. Hans Dieter Potsch.

The Supervisory Board meets regularly also without the Board of Management. Each Supervisory Board
meeting generally ends in a debate. Board of Management members are not present during this part of the
meeting. The Chair of the Supervisory Board convenes and chairs the Supervisory Board meetings. If the Chair is
unable to do so, the Deputy Chair performs these tasks. If the auditor is called to a meeting of the Supervisory
Board or one of its committees as an expert, members of the Board of Management do not attend such a meeting
if the Supervisory Board or the committee does not deem their attendance necessary.

The Supervisory Board is only quorate if at least ten members participate in passing the resolution. The Chair
of the Supervisory Board or of the relevant committee decides the form of the meeting and the voting procedure
for the Supervisory Board and its committees. Should the Chair so decide in individual cases, meetings may also
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be held using telecommunications technology, or members may participate in meetings using this technology.
The Chair may also decide that members can participate in the Supervisory Board's or its committees' decision
making in writing, by telephone or in another, similar form. Supervisory Board resolutions require a majority of
votes cast, unless legislative provisions or the Articles of Association stipulate otherwise. Resolutions on con-
sent to establishing or relocating production sites require a two-thirds majority of the Supervisory Board mem-
bers. If a vote results in a tie on this item, the vote is repeated. If this vote is also tied, the Chair of the Supervisory
Board casts two votes. Minutes must be taken of each meeting of the Supervisory Board and its committees.
Minutes of a meeting must record the time and location of the meeting, the participants, the items on the agenda,
the material content of the discussions and the resolutions adopted.

In individual cases, the Supervisory Board and its committees may decide to call upon experts and other
appropriate individuals to advise on individual matters.

Further details on tasks, meetings, resolutions and working procedures of the Supervisory Board are
governed by the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board issued by the Supervisory Board and published on
VVolkswagen AG's website at www.volkswagen-group.com/en/corporate-governance.

Supervisory Board committees

In order to discharge the duties entrusted to it, the Supervisory Board has established four committees: the
Executive Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Mediation Committee established in accordance with
section 27(3) of the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG - German Codetermination Act) and the Audit Committee.
The Executive Committee is currently comprised of four shareholder representatives and four employee repre-
sentatives. The shareholder representatives on the Executive Committee make up the Nomination Committee.
The Mediation Committee is comprised of two shareholder representatives and two employee representatives,
and the Audit Committee is comprised of three shareholder representatives and three employee representatives.

Which tasks the Supervisory Board has generally transferred to the respective committees is described
below. This does not rule out that the Supervisory Board will not transfer other tasks to committees in individual
cases, where legally admissible.

At its meetings, the Executive Committee meticulously prepares the resolutions of the Supervisory Board,
discusses the composition of the Board of Management and takes decisions on matters such as contractual
issues concerning the Board of Management other than remuneration and consent to ancillary activities by
members of the Board of Management. The Executive Committee also exercises the function of a “Remuneration
Committee”, preparing the Supervisory Board's decisions on questions about Board of Management remuner-
ation. The Executive Committee supports and advises the Chair of the Supervisory Board. It works with the Chair
of the Board of Management to ensure long-term succession planning for the Board of Management.

The Nomination Committee proposes suitable candidates for the Supervisory Board to recommend to the
Annual General Meeting for election. Before presenting such proposals, it ensures that the candidates can
commit the expected time to their role and identifies the personal and business relationships of the candidates
to Volkswagen AG and its Group companies, to VVolkswagen AG's corporate bodies and to shareholders who
directly or indirectly hold more than 10% of the voting shares in Volkswagen AG. In its proposals to the Super-
visory Board, the Nomination Committee also takes into account the requirement for the Supervisory Board to
adhere, in its proposals to the Annual General Meeting, to the specific targets it has set for the composition of
the Supervisory Board and to the profile of skills and expertise it has decided on for the Board as a whole; in so
doing, the Nomination Committee also particularly makes sure that there are no gaps in the Board's skills and
expertise as a whole (Skill Gaps Assessment). The Nomination Committee furthermore takes into account the
diversity concept for the composition of the Supervisory Board.

The Mediation Committee has the task of submitting proposals to the Supervisory Board for an appointment
or revocation of appointment of Board of Management members if there is no majority for the relevant measure on
the Supervisory Board in the first vote. The majority involves at least two-thirds of all Supervisory Board members.

Among other things, the Audit Committee discusses the auditing of financial reporting, including the annual
and consolidated financial statements, the group management report and the separate nonfinancial statement,
including the sustainability report. In addition, the Audit Committee concerns itself with supervising the financial
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reporting process, the audit of the financial statements, in particular the selection and independence of the
auditor, the quality of the audit, and any additional services provided by the auditor. Moreover, the Audit Com-
mittee concerns itself with compliance, the appropriateness and effectiveness of the risk management system
and internal control system, including the compliance management system and the internal audit system; it also
concerns itself with internal processes within the meaning of section 111a (2) of the AktG for regularly assessing
whether related party transactions were conducted in the ordinary course of business and at arm's length. In
addition, the Audit Committee particularly concerns itself with the Volkswagen Group's quarterly financial
reports and half-yearly financial report.

Further details on tasks, meetings, resolutions and working procedures of the Supervisory Board committees
are governed by the rules of procedure issued by the Supervisory Board for the respective Supervisory Board com-
mittees and published on VVolkswagen AG's website at www.volkswagen-group.com/en/corporate-governance.

Objectives for the composition of the Supervisory Board, profile of skills and expertise

and diversity concept

In view of the Company's specific situation, its purpose, its size and the extent of its international activities, the

Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG strives to achieve a composition that takes the Company's ownership

structure and the following aspects into account:

> At least three members of the Supervisory Board should be persons who embody the criterion of inter-
nationality to a particularly high degree.

> In addition, at least four of the shareholder representatives should be persons who, in line with the criteria of
Recommendations C.7 to C.9 of the Code, are independent within the meaning of Recommendation C.6 of the
Code.

> At least three of the seats on the Supervisory Board should be held by people who make a special contribution
to the diversity of the Board.

> Proposals for election should not normally include persons who have reached the age of 75 on the date of the
election.

The Supervisory Board is of the view that the above criteria have been met. Numerous members of the Super-

visory Board embody the criterion of internationality to a particularly high degree; various nationalities are

represented on the Supervisory Board and numerous members have international professional experience.

Several members of the Supervisory Board contribute to the Board's diversity to a particularly high degree,

especially Ms. Hessa Sultan Al Jaber, Ms. Daniela Cavallo, Ms. Julia Willie Hamburg, Ms. Marianne Heil3,

Mr. Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud and Mr. Matias Carnero Sojo. The Supervisory Board comprises members of

various generations. Independent Supervisory Board members within the meaning of Recommendation C.6 of

the Code currently comprise at least the following: Ms. Hessa Sultan Al Jaber, Ms. Julia Willie Hamburg,

Mr. Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud and Mr. Stephan Weil.

With regard to the shareholder representatives' independence from the Company and its Board of Manage-
ment, the shareholder representatives have come to the following assessment in accordance with C.7, 8 of the
Code:

Supervisory Board members Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche
have been members of the Supervisory Board for more than 12 years and therefore fulfill one of the indicators set
out in C.7 of the Code regarding a lack of independence from the Company and its Board of Management.
However, considering all the circumstances of the case in hand, the shareholder representatives are of the
opinion that the aforementioned Supervisory Board members are nevertheless independent from the Company
and its Board of Management. This opinion is based in particular on the following reasons:
> Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche, together with other family

shareholders, are indirectly controlling shareholders of Porsche Automobil Holding SE, which is the largest
single shareholder of Volkswagen AG. The management by the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG
therefore economically affects the personal assets of Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and
Mr. Wolfgang Porsche.
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> The composition of the Board of Management has changed fundamentally several times during the tenure of
Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche. The incumbent Board of Man-
agement members have been in office for a maximum of just under six years. There are therefore no indications
that Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche would stop behaving in an
impartial manner towards incumbent members of the Board of Management as a result of a long period of
collaboration. There is also no other evidence of “tunnel vision" on the part of Mr.Hans Michel Piéch,
Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche.

> Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche are not financially dependent
on their remuneration as members of the Supervisory Board.

Aside from their Supervisory Board appointments, Mr. Hans Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and

Mr. Wolfgang Porsche have no personal relationship with the Company or the Board of Management that could

give rise to a material and not merely temporary conflict of interest. The Supervisory Board work of Mr. Hans

Michel Piéch, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Wolfgang Porsche of previous years has also not given rise to

any conflicts of interest.

The Supervisory Board member Mr. Hans Dieter Potsch moved directly from the Board of Management to the
Supervisory Board upon his appointment by the court in autumn 2015. This move was less than two years prior
to his election as a Supervisory Board member by the subsequent Annual General Meeting in 2016, meaning that
one of the indicators of a lack of independence from the Company and Board of Management, set out in C.7 of
the Code, applies to Mr. Potsch. It also cannot be ruled out that Mr. P6tsch still fulfills this requirement. However,
considering all the circumstances of the case in hand, the shareholder representatives are of the opinion that Mr.
Potsch is nevertheless independent from the Company and its Board of Management: it is now more than eight
years since Mr. Potsch's move from the Board of Management to the Supervisory Board. Mr. Pétsch has already
been elected as a member of the Supervisory Board for a second time by the Annual General Meeting in July
2021. Since his transfer from the Board of Management to the Supervisory Board in October 2015, the com-
position of the Board of Management has also completely changed.

In addition, the Supervisory Board adopted the following profile of skills and expertise for the full Board: to

properly perform its supervisory and advisory duties, the Supervisory Board as a whole must collectively have

the required expertise, i.e. knowledge, skills and professional experience. For this, the members of the Super-

visory Board must collectively be familiar with the sector in which the Company operates - i.e. the automotive

industry - and be able to assess the business conducted by the Company. In addition, the Supervisory Board

members as a whole must collectively have expertise relating to sustainability issues relevant to the Company.

The key skills and expertise that the Supervisory Board must have collectively as a whole are, in particular,

knowledge, skills and professional experience

> in the manufacture and sale of all types of vehicles and engines or other technical products (vehicles - manu-
facture/sale)

> in the automotive industry and its transformation, particularly with regard to the topics of e-mobility and
mobility services, the business model and the markets, customer needs and product expertise (automotive
industry)

> in the field of research and development, particularly of technologies with relevance for the Company
(research/development)

> in the fields of digitalization and digital transformation, software, artificial intelligence, automation, infor-
mation technology and security (digitalization/IT)

> in management positions and supervisory bodies of companies, including holding companies and start-ups, or
large organizations (management/supervision)

> in the fields of law and compliance (law/compliance)

> in the field of sustainability, particularly with regard to environmental, social and governance aspects (ESG),
e.g. in resources, supply chains, energy supply, corporate social responsibility, sustainable technologies and
corresponding business models (sustainability/ESG)
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> in finance, accounting and auditing, above all special knowledge and experience of the application of
accounting principles and internal control and risk management systems, sustainability reporting, the audit of
financial statements and the audit and assurance of sustainability reporting (financial experts) (finance/
accounting/auditing)

> in human resources (particularly the search for and selection of members of the Board of Management and the
succession process) and knowledge of incentive and remuneration systems for the Board of Management
(human resources)

> in codetermination, employee matters and the working environment in the Company (employee matters).

The Supervisory Board has also specified the following diversity concept for its composition:

> The Supervisory Board must be comprised such that its members collectively have the knowledge, skills, and
professional experience needed to properly perform their duties.

> It has therefore set targets for its composition that also take into account the recommendations of the German
Corporate Governance Code. The targets set by the Supervisory Board for its composition also describe the
concept through which the Supervisory Board as a whole strives to achieve a diverse composition (diversity
concept in accordance with section 289f(2) no. 6 of the HGB). Attention should also be generally paid to
diversity when seeking qualified individuals to best strengthen the specialist and managerial expertise of the
Supervisory Board as a whole in line with these targets. In preparing proposals for appointments to the Super-
visory Board, it should be considered in each case how the work of the Supervisory Board will benefit from a
diversity of expertise and perspectives among its members, from professional profiles, professional and
general experience that complement one another (including in the international domain) and from an appro-
priate gender balance. A wide range of experience and specialist knowledge should be represented on the
Supervisory Board. In addition, the Supervisory Board should collectively have an extensive range of opinions
and knowledge in order to develop a good understanding of the status quo and the longer-term opportunities
and risks in connection with the Company's business activities.

> In proposing candidates to the Annual General Meeting for the election of shareholder representatives to the
Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board should take its diversity concept into account in such a way that the
corresponding election of these candidates by the Annual General Meeting would contribute to the implemen-
tation of this concept. However, the Annual General Meeting is not obliged to accept the candidates nomi-
nated.

> The aim of the diversity concept is for the Supervisory Board members to embody a range of expertise and
perspectives. This diversity promotes a good understanding of Volkswagen AG's organizational and business
affairs. It also enables the Supervisory Board members to challenge the Board of Management's decisions
constructively and to be open to new ideas by avoiding groupthink. In this way, it contributes to the effective
supervision of the management.

The Supervisory Board and Nomination Committee, in particular, are called upon to implement the profile of

skills and expertise and the diversity concept within the context of their candidate proposals to the Annual

General Meeting. The Supervisory Board also recommends to employee representatives and unions (which have

the right to submit proposals in employee representative elections) and the State of Lower Saxony (which has a

right to appoint Supervisory Board members) that the diversity concept, composition targets and profile of skills

and expertise should be taken into account. The same applies to individuals entitled to make proposals should a

court-appointed replacement be necessary.

The current composition of the Supervisory Board implements both the diversity concept and the profile of
skills and expertise. The qualification matrix below shows the extent to which the profile of skills and expertise
has been implemented, and indicates which Supervisory Board member has which skills and expertise.
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QUALIFICATION MATRIX?

Vehicles - Finance/
manufacture/ Automotive Research/ Digitalization/ Management/ Law/ Sustainability/ accounting/ Human Employee
sale industry  development IT supervision compliance ESG auditing resources matters

Hessa Sultan
AlJaber X X X X X X X
Mansoor
Ebrahim
Al-Mahmoud X X X X X
Rita Beck X X X X X
Harald Buck X X X X X X
Matias
Carnero Sojo X X X X X X
Daniela
Cavallo X X X X X X X
Julia Willie
Hamburg X X
Marianne
Hei X X X X X X X X
Jorg Hofmann X X X X X
Arno
Homburg X X X X X X X X
Ginther
Horvath X X X X
Daniela
Nowak X X X
Hans Michel
Piéch X X X X X
Hans Dieter
Pétsch X X X X X X X
Ferdinand
Oliver
Porsche X X X X X X
Wolfgang
Porsche X X X X X
Gerardo
Scarpino X X X X X
Karina Schnur X X X X X X X
Conny
Schonhardt X X X X X X
Stephan Weil X X X X X

1 The skills, knowledge and professional experience associated with the respective key words can be found in the profile of skills. A skill can be attributed to a Supervisory Board
member even if they have expertise in just one subsection of the skill, i.e. for skill in vehicles, for example, either in the area of manufacture or in sales. The allocation of
competencies is based on a self-assessment by the respective Supervisory Board member.

In addition, several Supervisory Board members, including Mr. Mansoor Al-Mahmoud, Ms. Marianne Heif3,

Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Hans Dieter Pétsch, have expertise in both financial reporting, including

sustainability reporting, and auditing, including the audit and assurance of sustainability reporting.

As the long-standing CEO of the Qatar Investment Authority and its former Head of Risk Management, and
from his management roles at a bank and stock exchange, Mr. Al-Mahmoud has gained particular knowledge
and experience in the application of accounting principles and internal control and risk management systems as
well as in the field of auditing. This knowledge and experience also relate to sustainability reporting and the
auditing and assurance thereof: at the Qatar Investment Authority, Mr. Al-Mahmoud has reoriented the invest-
ment strategy toward investments with ESG goals and implemented a sustainability agenda, which was also
included in the Qatar Investment Authority's sustainability reporting. Mr. Al-Mahmoud therefore also studies
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companies' sustainability reports in detail with a view to whether they fit the Qatar Investment Authority's sus-
tainability strategy.

Ms. Hei3 worked as a CFO for a long time and, prior to that, worked for audit and tax consulting firms for
several years; Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche is a long-standing member of audit committees and worked for an
audit firm for several years; Mr. PGtsch is a long-standing member and chair of audit committees and worked for
many years as CFO of Volkswagen AG and previously as Head of Controlling at BMW AG. As part of their long-
standing work in audit committees, Ms. Heif3, Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche and Mr. Pétsch have also been
involved in the auditing and assurance of nonfinancial statements, which relate to sustainability in the form of
important environmental and social issues. Ms. Hei3 was also involved in sustainability reporting and the
auditing and assurance thereof as part of her former activities at BBDO Group Germany GmbH, and Mr. Pétsch as
part of his activities at Porsche Automobil Holding SE. Ms. Heif3 is also an ESG expert on the Supervisory Board
of Porsche Automobil Holding SE. Ms. Heil3, Mr. Al-Mahmoud, Mr. Pétsch and Mr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche track
and monitor the latest developments in the area of sustainability reporting and the auditing and assurance
thereof and contribute their expertise to Volkswagen AG's Audit Committee.

Further details on the expertise of the Supervisory Board members can be found in their curricula vitae. The
curricula vitae of the members of the Supervisory Board, which are updated annually, are available online at
www.volkswagen-group.com/executive-bodies.

The Nomination Committee and Supervisory Board also took into account the diversity concept, specific
composition targets and profile of skills and expertise (in their latest valid versions) in its proposals to the Annual
General Meeting in fiscal year 2023 for the election of three Supervisory Board members. The composition
targets, diversity concept and profile of skills and expertise were also taken into account in the court appoint-
ment of two new Supervisory Board members as employee representatives in fiscal year 2023.

Self-evaluation of the Supervisory Board

On a regular basis every two years, the Supervisory Board internally evaluates how effectively the Board and its
committees are performing their tasks. This initially involves distributing a questionnaire to all Supervisory Board
members, in which they are able to give their view of the effectiveness of the work of the Supervisory Board and
its committees, the exchange of information with the Board of Management, and the depth and quality of the
presentations to and discussions in the Supervisory Board and may suggest possible improvements. In par-
ticular, the members of the Supervisory Board are also asked to make comparative observations with comparable
boards of other companies on which they also serve and, drawing on these, to make specific suggestions for
improvement as required. Following analysis of the questionnaires, the findings and potential improvements are
usually discussed at the next regular meeting of the full Board. Measures to improve the work of the Supervisory
Board are continuously developed and implemented on the basis of the findings. The Supervisory Board
members assess whether the measures have achieved the targeted improvements at the latest in the next self-
evaluation. The most recent internal self-evaluation took place from late 2023 to early 2024.
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DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY THE FUHRUNGSPOSITIONEN-GESETZ

The statutory quota of at least 30% women and at least 30% men has applied to new appointments to the
Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG since January 1, 2016 as required by the Gesetz fir die gleichberechtigte
Teilhabe von Frauen und Méannern an FUhrungspositionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im offentlichen Dienst
(Fihrungspositionen-Gesetz, FUPoG - German Act on the Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership
Positions in the Private and Public Sectors). Shareholder and employee representatives have resolved that each
side will meet this quota separately. The shareholder representatives have met the quota of at least 30% women
and at least 30% men since the end of the 56th Annual General Meeting on June 22, 2016. The employee repre-
sentatives have met the quota since the end of the 57th Annual General Meeting on May 10, 2017. Both the
shareholder and the employee representatives also fulfilled the quota on December 31, 2023.

In line with the Gesetz zur Ergdnzung und Anderung der Regelungen fiir die gleichberechtigte Teilhabe von
Frauen an FiGhrungspositionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im éffentlichen Dienst (Fihrungspositionen-Gesetz I,
FUPoG Il - Second Act on Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and
Public Sector), Volkswagen AG is subject to a mandatory participation requirement under which the Board of
Management must have at least one woman and at least one man. The participation requirement has applied to
the appointment of one or more members of the Board of Management since August 1, 2022. Volkswagen AG
complies with this participation requirement.

For the proportion of women in management in accordance with the Fihrungspositionen-Gesetz, \olks-
wagen AG has set itself the target of 16.5% women in the first level of management and 23.4% women in the
second level of management, each as a proportion of the active workforce, to be achieved by the end of 2025. As
of December 31, 2023, the proportion of women in the active workforce at the first level of management was
15.3 (14.2)% and at the second level of management it was 21.5 (19.7)%.

REMUNERATION REPORT

The remuneration systems for the members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board and the Remu-
neration Report for fiscal year 2023 are available on the website www.volkswagen-group.com/remuneration.
Previous years' remuneration reports can also be found at this address. The remuneration reports contain both
extensive explanations and descriptions of the remuneration systems for the members of the Board of Manage-
ment and Supervisory Board as well as information on and explanations of the individual remuneration of
members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board.

CORPORATE PRACTICES APPLIED IN ADDITION TO STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

Code of Conduct and Volkswagen Group Essentials

The Volkswagen Group's Code of Conduct is the key instrument for reinforcing employees' awareness of
responsible action and decision making. The Group's underlying values and the foundation for its shared cor-
porate culture are defined by the seven Volkswagen Group Essentials: responsibility, honesty, bravery, diversity,
pride, solidarity and reliability.
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Ethics, compliance and risk management

To foster trust in our Company as well as our products, services and innovations, it is essential that we act

honestly and with integrity at all times. In all lines of work and all functions we therefore invariably make deci-

sions that are in line with our corporate values, applicable national and international legislation, regulations and

in-house voluntary commitments. This includes the following areas:

> Integrity and compliance
Adherence to statutory provisions, internal company policies, ethical principles and our own values in order to
protect the Company and its brands.

> Whistleblower System
The whistleblower system is the central point of contact for reporting cases of rule-breaking by Group employ-
ees or by direct and indirect suppliers. This includes white collar crimes, acts of corruption, tax offenses,
environmental offenses, human rights violations, infringements of antitrust and competition legislation, money
laundering and terrorism financing, breaches of product safety and licensing regulations, and serious breaches
of data protection.

> Business and human rights
Volkswagen fully recognizes key international conventions and declarations, particularly the International Bill
of Human Rights and the Fundamental Conventions of the International Labour Organization (ILO). We align
our business activities with the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UN Global
Compact), which represent crucial pillars for our actions.

> Anti-Corruption
The Volkswagen Group has a zero-tolerance policy on active or passive corruption. This is anchored in both the
Group's internal Code of Conduct and its Code of Conduct for Business Partners.

> Risk management and internal control system
A comprehensive risk management and internal control system (RMS/ICS) helps the Volkswagen Group deal
with risks in a responsible manner. The organizational design of the Volkswagen Group's RMS/ICS is based on
the internationally recognized COSO framework for enterprise risk management (COSO: Committee of Spon-
soring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) and can be accessed on the COSO website. Uniform Group
principles are used as the basis for managing risks in a transparent and appropriate manner.

Voluntary commitments and principles
The Volkswagen Group has committed itself to sustainable, transparent and responsible corporate governance.
We align our activities with the principles, recommendations and suggestions of the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code. We coordinate our sustainability activities across the entire Group and have put in place a
forward-looking system of risk management and a clear framework for dealing with environmental issues in a
future-oriented manner, for employee responsibility and for social commitment across our brands and in the
regions in which we operate.
Voluntary commitments and principles that apply across the Group are the basis and backbone of our sus-
tainability management. These documents are publicly accessible on the Volkswagen Group’'s website in the
section entitled "Sustainability.”
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MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

(appointments: as of December 31, 2023 or the date of departure from the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG)

DR. OLIVER BLUME (*1968)

Chair (since September 1, 2022),
Sport Luxury brand group,

Chair of the Executive Board of

Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG,

April 13, 20182, appointed until 2028
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg (Chair)®

DR. ARNO ANTLITZ (*1970)

Finance and Operations,

April 1, 20217, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart34
O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter®

O Volkswagen Financial Services AG,

Braunschweig (Chair)?

O Volkswagen Financial Services Europe AG,

Braunschweig (Chair)®

® Porsche Austria GmbH, Salzburg (Deputy Chair)?

®© Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg

(Deputy Chair)?

® Porsche Retail GmbH, Salzburg (Deputy Chair)?
® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co., Ltd., Beijing®

® Volkswagen Group of America, Inc., Herndon, VA

(Chair)?

RALF BRANDSTATTER (*1968)

China,

Chair of the Board of Management (CEO)

of Volkswagen (China) Investment Co., Ltd.

January 1, 20221, appointed until 2026

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg?®

®© Audi (China) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.,
Beijing®

® FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Changchun (Deputy Chair)?

®© Mobility Asia Smart Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing®

® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd., Shanghai
(Deputy Chair)?

®© Volkswagen (Anhui) Automotive Co., Ltd., Hefei
(Chair)?

® Volkswagen Group (China) Technology Company,
Ltd., Hefei (Chair)?

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.

® Comparable appointments in Germany and
abroad.
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DR. GERNOT DOLLNER (*1969)

Progressive brand group,

Chair of the Board of Management of AUDI AG

(since September 1, 2023)

September 1, 20232, appointed until 2026

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O FC Bayern Minchen AG, Munich (Deputy Chair)?

®© Audi (China) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.,
Beijing (Chair)?

® Automobili Lamborghini S.p.A.,
Sant "Agata Bolognese (Chair)?

®© Bentley Motors Ltd., Crewe?

®© Ducati Motor Holding S.p.A., Bologna (Chair)?

® FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Changchun?

® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Shanghai?

® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co., Ltd., Beijing®

DR. JUR. MANFRED DOSS (*1958)
Integrity and Legal Affairs

February 1, 20221, appointed until 2028
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt (Chair)?

O TRATON SE, Munich34

®© Grizzlys Wolfsburg GmbH, Wolfsburg?

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Board of Management.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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MARKUS DUESMANN (*1969)

Progressive brand group,

Chair of the Board of Management of AUDI AG

(until August 31, 2023)

April 1, 2020 - August 31, 2023*

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of August 31, 2023):

O FC Bayern Minchen AG, Munich (Deputy Chair)?

®© Audi (China) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.,
Beijing (Chair)?

® Automobili Lamborghini S.p.A.,
Sant "Agata Bolognese (Chair)?

®© Bentley Motors Ltd., Crewe?®

®© Ducati Motor Holding S.p.A., Bologna (Chair)?

® FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Changchun?

@® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Shanghai?

® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co., Ltd., Beijing®

GUNNAR KILIAN (*1975)

Human Resources and Trucks brand group

April 13, 20182, appointed until 2026

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O MAN Energy Solutions SE, Augsburg (Chair)?

O MAN Truck & Bus SE, Munich?®

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter?

O TRATON SE, Munich34

O Volkswagen Group Services GmbH, Wolfsburg
(Chair)?

O Wolfsburg AG, Wolfsburg (Deputy Chair)?

®© Autostadt GmbH, Wolfsburg (Chair)?

®© FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Changchun?

®© Scania AB, Sodertalje?

® Scania CV AB, Sodertalje’

® VL Wolfsburg-FuBball GmbH, Wolfsburg?

® Volkswagen Immobilien GmbH, Wolfsburg
(Chair)?

THOMAS SCHAFER (*1970)

Core brand group,

Chair of the Board of Management of the

Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand,

July 1, 2022, appointed until 2025

Nationality: German

Appointments:

®© FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Changchun?

® SAIC Volkswagen Automotive Co., Ltd.,
Shanghai?

© SEAT, S.A., Martorell (Chair)?

® Skoda Auto a.s., Mlada Boleslav (Chair)?

® Volkswagen (China) Investment Co., Ltd.,

Beijing (Chair)?

THOMAS SCHMALL-VON WESTERHOLT
(*1964)

Technology,

Chair of the Board of Management of
Volkswagen Group Components,
January 1, 2021%, appointed until 2028
Nationality: German, Brazilian
Appointments:

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter (Chair)®

@® Brose Sitech Sp. Z 0.0., Polkowice?

® Volkswagen Group (China) Technology

Company, Ltd., Hefei®

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.

® Comparable appointments in Germany and
abroad.
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HAUKE STARS (*1967)

IT

February 1, 2022%, appointed until 2025
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg®

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart® 4
O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter?

O RWE AG, Essen®*

® Kihne + Nagel International AG, Schindellegi 4

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Board of Management.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEES

(appointments: as of December 31, 2023 or the date of departure from the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG or the start date after December 31, 2023)

HANS DIETER POTSCH (*1951)

Chair (since October 7, 2015),

Chair of the Board of Management of

Porsche Automobil Holding SE

October 7, 2015%, elected until 2026

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Bertelsmann Management SE, GUtersloh?

O Bertelsmann SE & Co. KGaA, Gitersloh?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart34

O TRATON SE, Munich (Chair)34

O Wolfsburg AG, Wolfsburg?

® Autostadt GmbH, Wolfsburg?®

® Porsche Austria Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
(Chair)?

®© Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
(Chair)3

®© Porsche Retail GmbH, Salzburg (Chair)?

® VfL Wolfsburg-FuBball GmbH, Wolfsburg

(Deputy Chair)?

JORG HOFMANN (*1955)

Deputy Chair (since November 20, 2015),
IG Metall

November 20, 20157, appointed until 2027

Nationality: German

DR. HESSA SULTAN AL JABER (*1959)

Former Minister of Information and Communications

Technology, Qatar

June 22, 20164, elected until 2024

Nationality: Qatari

Appointments:

®© Malomatia Q.S.C, Doha (Chair)?

® MEEZA QSTP-LLC (Public), Doha4

®© Qatar Satellite Company (Es'hailSat), Doha
(Chair)?

® Trio Investment, Doha (Chair)?

MANSOOR EBRAHIM AL-MAHMOUD (*1974)
Chief Executive Officer of

Qatar Investment Authority

May 12, 20221, elected until 2025

Nationality: Qatari

Appointments:

® Harrods Ltd., London (Board member)?

® Harrods Group (Holding) Ltd., London (Chair)?
® Qatar Airways, Doha (Deputy Chair)?

®© Qatar National Bank, Doha (Board member)2 4
® Qatar Stock Exchange, Doha (Deputy Chair)?
®© Qatari Diar Real Estate Investment Company,

Doha (Board member)?

RITA BECK (*1970)

Deputy Chair of the Works Council

of AUDI AG, Ingolstadt plant

January 9, 20241, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments (as of January 9, 2024):
O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg?

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.

® Comparable appointments in Germany and
abroad.
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HARALD BUCK (*1962)

Chair of the General and Group Works Councils of
Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

October 4, 20221, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart3 4

MATIAS CARNERO SOJO (*1968)
Chair of the General Works Council of SEAT, S.A.
April 1, 20211, appointed until 2027

Nationality: Spanish

DANIELA CAVALLO (*1975)

Chair of the General and Group Works Councils

of Volkswagen AG

May 11, 2021%, appointed until 2027

Nationality: Italian, German

Appointments:

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter (Deputy Chair)?

O TRATON SE, Munich34

O Volkswagen Financial Services AG,
Braunschweig (Deputy Chair)?

O Wolfsburg AG, Wolfsburg?

@© Allianz fur die Region GmbH, Braunschweig
(until May 31, 2023)?

®© Autostadt GmbH, Wolfsburg?

®© Brose Sitech Sp. Z 0.0., Polkowice?

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

@© SEAT, S.A., Martorell®

© Skoda Auto a.s., Mlada Boleslav?

® VfL Wolfsburg-FuBball GmbH, Wolfsburg?®

® Volkswagen Group Services GmbH?

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Supervisory Board.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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JULIA WILLIE HAMBURG (*1986)

Minister of Education and Cultural Affairs for the
Federal State of Lower Saxony

November 8, 20222, delegated until 2027

Nationality: German

MARIANNE HEIB (*1972)

Chief Executive Officer of BBDO Group
Germany GmbH (until April 30, 2023)
Member of the Supervisory Board
February 14, 2018, elected until 2028
Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Flix SE, Munich?

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart4

DR.-ING. ARNO HOMBURG (*1968)

Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen
Management Association e.V.

May 12, 2022%, appointed until 2027

Nationality: German

Appointments:

®© Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V., Wolfsburg?®

DR. GUNTHER HORVATH (*1952)
Managing Director of

Dr. Ginther J. Horvath Rechtsanwalt GmbH
and self-employed attorney at

Dr. GUnther J. Horvath Rechtsanwalt GmbH
February 28, 2023%, elected until 2028
Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart4

SIMONE MAHLER (*1971)

Chair of the Joint Works Council of

Volkswagen Financial Services AG and

Volkswagen Bank GmbH

May 12, 2022 - May 31, 20231

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of May 31, 2023):

O EURO-Leasing GmbH, Sittensen?

O Volkswagen Financial Services AG,
Braunschweig?

® Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V., Wolfsburg?

PETER MOSCH (*1972)

Chair of the General Works Council of AUDI AG

(until September 30, 2023)

January 18, 2006 - December 31, 2023

Nationality: German

Appointments (as of December 31, 2023):

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt (Deputy Chair)?

O Audi Pensionskasse - Altersversorgung der
AUTO UNION GmbH, VVagG, Ingolstadt®

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg (Deputy Chair)?

® Audi Stiftung for Umwelt GmbH, Ingolstadt?

DANIELA NOWAK (*1970)

Chair of the Works Council of Volkswagen AG,
Braunschweig plant

May 12, 2022, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

® Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V., Wolfsburg®

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.

® Comparable appointments in Germany and
abroad.
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DR. JUR. HANS MICHEL PIECH (*1942)

Supervisory Board

August 7, 2009, elected until 2024

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart®4

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart
(Deputy Chair)%4

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

® Schmittenhéhebahn AG, Zell am See?

DR. JUR. FERDINAND OLIVER PORSCHE
(*1961)

Member of the Board of Management of Familie
Porsche AG Beteiligungsgesellschaft

Managing Director of Real Estate Holding GmbH,
Managing Director of Neckar GmbH

August 7, 20094, elected until 2024

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart® 4

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart?#

® Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?

® Porsche Lifestyle GmbH & Co. KG, Ludwigsburg?®

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Supervisory Board.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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DR. RER. COMM. WOLFGANG PORSCHE

(*1943)

Chair of the Supervisory Board of

Porsche Automobil Holding SE;

Chair of the Supervisory Board of

Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

April 24,2008, elected until 2028

Nationality: Austrian

Appointments:

O AUDI AG, Ingolstadt?

O Dr.Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart (Chair)34

O Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart (Chair)>4

®© Familie Porsche AG Beteiligungsgesellschaft,
Salzburg (Chair)?

®© Porsche Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg?®

® Schmittenhéhebahn AG, Zell am See?

JENS ROTHE (*1970)

Chair of the General Works Council

of Volkswagen Sachsen GmbH

October 22, 2021 - March 3, 2023
Nationality: German

Appointments (as of March 3, 2023):

O Volkswagen Sachsen GmbH, Zwickau

(Deputy Chair)?

GERARDO SCARPINO (*1962)
Executive Director of the Volkswagen
Group Works Council

April 21, 20231, appointed until 2027
Nationality: Italian

Appointments:

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg®

KARINA SCHNUR (*1977)

Chair of the General and Group Works Councils of
MAN Truck & Bus SE and

Chair of the Group Works Council of TRATON SE
July 11, 2023%, appointed until 2027

Nationality: German

Appointments:

O MAN Truck & Bus SE, Munich?

O TRATON SE, Munich34

® Rheinmetall MAN Military Vehicles GmbH,

Munich?

CONNY SCHONHARDT (*1978)

Union Secretary and Head of the Mobility and
Vehicle Construction Unit attached to the

|G Metall Board

June 21, 2019, appointed until 2027
Nationality: German

Appointments:

O CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg®

O PowerCo SE, Salzgitter®

O Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Braunschweig?

STEPHAN WEIL (*1958)

Minister President of the Federal State of
Lower Saxony

February 19, 20131, delegated until 2027

Nationality: German

O Membership of statutory supervisory boards in
Germany.

® Comparable appointments in Germany and
abroad.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES

Members of the Executive Committee
Hans Dieter P6tsch (Chair)

Jorg Hofmann (Deputy Chair)

Rita Beck (since January 24, 2024)
Daniela Cavallo

Peter Mosch (until December 31, 2023)
Dr. Hans Michel Piéch

Dr. Wolfgang Porsche

Gerardo Scarpino

Stephan Weil

Members of the Mediation Committee established
in accordance with section 27(3) of the
Mitbestimmungsgesetz (German
Codetermination Act)

Hans Dieter P6tsch (Chair)

J6rg Hofmann (Deputy Chair)

Daniela Cavallo

Stephan Weil

Members of the Audit Committee
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud (Chair)
Daniela Cavallo (Deputy Chair)
Marianne Heil3

Dr. Ferdinand Oliver Porsche

Gerardo Scarpino

Conny Schénhardt

Members of the Nomination Committee
Hans Dieter P&tsch (Chair)

Dr. Hans Michel Piéch

Dr. Wolfgang Porsche

Stephan Weil

1 Beginning or period of membership in the
Supervisory Board.

2 Appointment outside the Group.

3 Appointment within the Group.

4 Listed company.
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Remuneration Report 2023

The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG must prepare a
clear and understandable remuneration report in accordance with section 162 of the
Aktiengesetz (AktG - German Stock Corporation Act). In this report, we explain the main
features of the remuneration system for the members of the Board of Management and
Supervisory Board. The remuneration report also contains an individualized breakdown of
the remuneration components provided to current and former members of the
Board of Management and Supervisory Board.

A. REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

In the reporting year, the VVolkswagen Group's business was impacted by the challenging global market environ-
ment, parts supply shortages and disruptions in the logistics chain. In this environment, the Group delivered
9.2 million units to customers. This was 11.8% more vehicles than in the previous year. While sales revenue rose
by 15.5%, the operating result of €22.6 billion was similar to the previous year's.

I. Principles of Board of Management remuneration

The remuneration of the Board of Management is based on the remuneration system developed by the Super-
visory Board and adopted for the first time on December 14, 2020 with effect from January 1, 2021. The
remuneration system for the members of the Board of Management implements the requirements of the AktG as
amended by the Gesetz zur Umsetzung der zweiten Aktiondrsrechterichtlinie (ARUG Il - German Act on the
Implementation of the Second Shareholder Rights Directive) and takes into account the recommendations of the
German Corporate Governance Code (the Code).

On March 3, 2023, the Supervisory Board resolved to modify the remuneration system with effect from
January 1, 2023, particularly to heed the call by investors to give long-term variable remuneration more weight.
This led to the relative share of the fixed remuneration components being reduced and the relative share of the
long-term variable remuneration being increased. To reinforce the principle of pay for performance and imple-
ment investors' requirements, it is also no longer possible to agree a special bonus with future effect. In addition,
the maximum target achievement levels for the annual bonus and the performance share plan as well as their
respective maximum payout amounts have been increased so that higher levels of target achievement are
appropriately rewarded. In this context, the maximum remuneration and the cap on cash remuneration have also
been increased to reflect current market conditions. The Annual General Meeting approved the modified remu-
neration system on May 10, 2023 with 98.82% of the votes cast.

The modified remuneration system has applied since January 1, 2023 to all Board of Management members
with service contracts newly concluded or renewed after the Annual General Meeting's approval of the remu-
neration system on May 10, 2023. For the Board of Management members already appointed at the time of the
Annual General Meeting's approval of the remuneration system on May 10, 2023, the new remuneration system
has also applied in principle since January 1, 2023. To implement the remuneration system, Volkswagen AG
reached an agreement with the members of the Board of Management on corresponding amendments to their
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service contracts. For members of the Board of Management already appointed before the Supervisory Board's
first resolution on a remuneration system in accordance with section 87a of the AktG on December 14, 2020 and
whose service contract has not been renewed since then, the following exceptions will continue to apply until
their contract is renewed: the performance share plan of the Board of Management members already appointed
before December 14, 2020 whose service contract has not yet been renewed continues to have only a three-year
performance period, but otherwise corresponds to the performance share plan described in the remuneration
system. Penalty and clawback rules will only apply to Board of Management members already appointed before
December 14, 2020 on renewal of their contracts. In fiscal year 2023, these exceptions only applied to
Mr. Markus Duesmann; Mr. Duesmann stepped down from the Board of Management in the course of the year.

The level of the Board of Management remuneration should be appropriate and attractive in the context of
the Company's national and international peer group. Criteria include the tasks of the individual Board of
Management member, their personal performance, the economic situation, and the performance of and outlook
for the Volkswagen Group, as well as how customary the remuneration is when measured against the peer group
and the remuneration structure that applies to other areas of the Volkswagen Group. In this context, comparative
studies on remuneration are conducted on a regular basis.

In the Remuneration Report for fiscal year 2022, the Board of Management and Supervisory Board reported in
detail on the remuneration paid to members of the Board of Management in fiscal year 2022. The Annual General
Meeting on May 10, 2023 approved the Remuneration Report for fiscal year 2022 with a majority of 98.47% of
the votes cast. Comments by investors and investor representatives were taken into account in the preparation
of the Remuneration Report for fiscal year 2023, for example by clarifying possible achievement of targets or
adding explanations of the procedure in the event of early terminations or a change of control.

In this chapter, we provide an overview of the remuneration system for the Board of Management members in
fiscal year 2023 before going into the components of the remuneration in fiscal year 2023.

Il. Overview of the remuneration components

The table below provides an overview of the components of the remuneration system applicable for fiscal year
2023 for the members of the Board of Management. The table also outlines the composition of the individual
remuneration components and explains their targets, particularly in respect of how the remuneration will pro-
mote the Company'’s long-term performance. A more detailed description of the remuneration system applicable
for fiscal year 2023 for the members of the Board of Management is available at www.volkswagen-group.com/
remuneration.
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Remuneration Report 2023

Component

Composition

Target

Fixed remuneration components

Base salary

o Twelve equal installments payable at month-end

o Chair of the Board of Management: €2,600,000 (scope of activity: 100%)*;
Board of Management member: €1,500,000 (scope of activity: 100%)

Fringe benefits

e Fringe benefit allowance (Chair of the Board of Management: €350,000; Board
of Management member: €175,000) covers certain benefits at the discretion of
the Board of Management member, for example:

o Company cars

o Preventive medical check-ups

o Allowances for health and long-term care insurance
o Accident insurance

Crediting of benefits against the fringe benefit allowance where these are
subject to payroll tax

Payment of the remaining amount

The basic remuneration and fringe
benefits are intended to reflect the tasks
and responsibility of the Board of
Management members, provide a basic
income and prevent them from taking
inappropriate risks

Occupational
retirement provision

o Defined contribution plan by means of direct commitments to retirement,
disability and surviving dependents’ benefits

Normally when the members reach the age of 65 (or 63 in the case of Board of
Management members who took office before January 1, 2020)

e Annual pension contribution of up to 50% of the contractually agreed base
salary for the Chair of the Board of Management and up to 40% of the
contractually agreed base salary for regular members of the Board of
Management

The occupational retirement provision is
intended to provide Board of Management
members with an adequate pension when
they retire

Variable remuneration components

Annual bonus

e Plan type: Target Bonus

e Target amount for the Chair of the Board of Management: €3,500,000 (scope of
activity: 100%)*; target amount for a Board of Management member:
€1,500,000 (scope of activity: 100%)

Minimum payment: €0

Cap: 200% of the target amount

e Assessment period: fiscal year

Performance criteria:

o Financial subtargets:

= Operating result (OR) incl. Chinese joint ventures? (proportionate) (50%) and
operating return on sales (50%)

= The Supervisory Board defines minimum, target and maximum values for the
financial subtargets for each fiscal year. The minimum corresponds to
subtarget achievement of 0% of the OR including Chinese joint ventures
(proportionate) or 50% of the operating return on sales, while the target
corresponds to a subtarget achievement of 100% in each case and the
maximum to subtarget achievement of 175%; interim values are interpolated
on a linear basis

Overall financial target achievement = subtarget achievement
"operating result including Chinese joint ventures (proportionate)” x 50% +
"subtarget achievement operating return on sales” x 50%
o ESG factor:

= Subtargets of 50% each for the Environment (decarbonization index) and
Social (sentiment and diversity index) as well as the Governance factor of
between 0.9 and 1.1 (compliance and integrity, standard value of 1.0)
The Supervisory Board defines minimum, target and maximum values for the
Environment and Social subtargets for each fiscal year. The minimum, target
and maximum values correspond to subtarget achievement of 0.7, 1.0 and
1.3 respectively; interim values are interpolated on a linear basis

The Supervisory Board sets the Governance factor after the end of the fiscal

year taking into account the collective performance of the Board of

Management as a whole and the performance of each Board of Management

member individually

Calculation of the ESG factor: (Environment subtarget achievement x 50% +

Social subtarget achievement x 50%) x Governance factor (0.9-1.1)

e Annual bonus payment amount = individual target amount x financial target
achievement x ESG factor

e Payment: in cash in the month following approval of the consolidated financial
statements for the fiscal year in question

The annual bonus is designed to motivate
Board of Management members to pursue
ambitious targets

The financial performance targets support
the strategic target of achieving
competitive profitability

Integration of the sustainability targets
takes the importance of ESG factors into
account.

1 Mr. Blume receives from Volkswagen AG 50% of the remuneration for the Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG and from Porsche AG 50% of the remuneration for
the Chair of the Executive Board of Porsche AG. The target amount for Mr. Blume thus corresponds to half of the target amount for a Chair of the Board of Management who
receives the full remuneration of a Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG.

2 Equity-accounted companies in China.

63



Corporate Governance

Remuneration Report 2023

Component

Composition

Target

Long-term incentive
(n

Plan type: phantom performance share plan

Performance period: measured forward over four years*

Target amount for the Chair of the Board of Management: €5,900,000 (scope of
activity: 100%)? target amount for a Board of Management member:
€2,500,000 (scope of activity: 100%)

Minimum payment: €0

Cap: 250% of the target amount

The phantom performance shares are a purely mathematical construct and do
not confer any ownership or voting rights in Volkswagen AG

Allocation of performance shares: at the start of each fiscal year, the
individually agreed target amount is divided by the arithmetic mean of the
closing prices of Volkswagen's preferred shares (German Securities
Identification Number: 766403) in the Xetra trading system of Deutsche Borse
AG on the last 30 trading days prior to January 1 in the respective performance
period (“initial reference price”)

Target-setting: at the start of the performance period, the Supervisory Board
defines minimum, target and maximum values for EPS as presented in the
annual report as audited, fully diluted earnings per Volkswagen preferred share
from the Company's continuing and discontinued operations; the EPS minimum
corresponds to target achievement of 50%, the EPS target corresponds to
target achievement of 100% and the EPS maximum corresponds to target
achievement of 175%

Determination of one-quarter of the allocated performance shares at the end of
each fiscal year depending on EPS target achievement

Calculation of the payment amount: fixed performance shares are multiplied by
the arithmetic mean of the closing prices of Volkswagen's preferred shares in
the Xetra trading system of Deutsche Bérse AG on the last 30 trading days prior
to the end of the performance period (“closing reference price”) and the
dividends paid out per Volkswagen preferred share during the performance
period (“dividend equivalent”)

Payment: in cash in the month following approval of the consolidated financial
statements for the last fiscal year of the respective performance period

If the service contract ends before the end of the performance period due to a
bad leaver case (extraordinary termination for cause or a breach of a
contractual or postcontractual restraint on competition), all performance
shares will be forfeited

The long-term incentive serves to align the
remuneration of the Board of Management
members with the Company’s long-term
performance. The EPS (earnings per share)
financial performance target in
conjunction with share price performance
and the dividends paid, measured over
four years, ensures the long-term effect of
the behavioral incentives and supports the
strategic target of achieving competitive
profitability.

Other benefits

Benefits agreed with
new Board of
Management
members for a
defined period of
time or for the entire
term of their service
contracts

Only on the basis of a separate contractual agreement with the new Board of
Management member

Payments to compensate for declining variable remuneration or other financial
disadvantages

Benefits in connection with a relocation

(Compensation) payments are designed to
attract qualified candidates

1 Forthe Board of Management members already appointed prior to December 14, 2020, a three-year performance period continues to apply until their contracts are renewed. In
all other respects, the performance share plan corresponds mutatis mutandis to that described for fiscal year 2023.

2 Mr. Blume receives from Volkswagen AG 50% of the remuneration for the Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG and from Porsche AG 50% of the remuneration for
the Chair of the Executive Board of Porsche AG. The target amount for Mr. Blume thus corresponds to half of the target amount for a Chair of the Board of Management who
receives the full remuneration of a Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG.
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Component Composition Target

Other remuneration provisions

Penalty and e The Supervisory Board can reduce or request repayment of the annual bonus Penalty and clawback rules are intended
clawback rules* and LTI by up to 200% in the event of relevant misconduct during the to counteract individual misconduct and
assessment period negligence on the part of the organization

o A clawback is not permissible if more than three years have elapsed since the
bonus was paid

Maximum e Relevant components are the base salary paid for the respective fiscal year, The aim of the maximum remuneration is
remuneration fringe benefits granted, the service cost in connection with the occupational to ensure that the remuneration of Board
retirement provision, the annual bonus granted for the respective fiscal year of Management members is not
and paid out in the following year, the performance share plan paid out in the inappropriately high when measured
respective fiscal year and for which the performance period ended immediately against the peer group
before the respective fiscal year, any benefits granted to new Board of
Management members and any special payment granted by third parties (e.g.
other Volkswagen Group companies) for the relevant fiscal year
o For the Chair of the Board of Management €15,000,000 (gross) per fiscal year
and for Board of Management members €8,500,000 (gross) per fiscal year
o If the maximum remuneration is exceeded, the annual bonus will be reduced; if
a reduction is not sufficient, the Supervisory Board may, at its discretion, reduce
other remuneration components or request repayment of remuneration paid out
Cap on cash e In addition to maximum remuneration The cap on cash remuneration is intended
remuneration e Cash remuneration includes the base salary paid in the respective fiscal year, to prevent unacceptably high

the annual bonus granted for the respective fiscal year and paid out in the disbursements in the individual fiscal year
following year, the performance share plan paid in the respective fiscal year

and for which the performance period ended immediately before the respective

fiscal year

For the Chair of the Board of Management €12,500,000 (gross) per fiscal year

and for Board of Management members €7,000,000 (gross) per fiscal year

1 Forthe Board of Management members already appointed prior to December 14, 2020, penalty and clawback rules only apply once their contracts have been renewed.

I1l. Remuneration of the Board of Management members appointed in fiscal year 2023
1. Board of Management members in fiscal year 2023

The members of the Volkswagen AG Board of Management in fiscal year 2023 were as follows:

> Oliver Blume, member of the Board of Management since April 13, 2018, Chair of the Board of Management
since September 1, 2022, also Chair of the Executive Board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG

> Arno Antlitz, member of the Board of Management since April 1, 2021

> Ralf Brandstatter, member of the Board of Management since January 1, 2022, also CEO of Volkswagen (China)
Investment Company Limited

> Gernot Dollner, member of the Board of Management since September 1, 2023, also Chair of the Board of
Management of AUDI AG

> Manfred Doss, member of the Board of Management since February 1, 2022

> Markus Duesmann, member of the Board of Management from April 1, 2020, also Chair of the Board of
Management of AUDI AG; stepped down from the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG and from the Board
of Management of AUDI AG effective August 31, 2023

> Gunnar Kilian, member of the Board of Management since April 13, 2018

> Thomas Schafer, member of the Board of Management since July 1, 2022

> Thomas Schmall-von Westerholt, member of the Board of Management since January 1, 2021

> Hauke Stars, member of the Board of Management since February 1, 2022

Members generally do not receive additional remuneration for discharging other mandates on management bodies,
supervisory boards or similar, especially in other companies of the Volkswagen Group, as part of their Board of
Management mandate. If such remuneration is nevertheless granted, it is counted toward the remuneration for
their work as a member of the Board of Management of \Volkswagen AG.

A different arrangement has been reached with Mr. Blume with regard to the performance of his duties as
Chair of the Executive Board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG (Porsche AG): since January 1, 2023, Volkswagen AG
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has granted Mr. Blume 50% of the remuneration for the Chair of the Board of Management based on a newly
concluded service contract; an exception is made for fringe benefits - in this respect, Mr. Blume receives the full
amount of the fringe benefit allowance for the Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG. However,
Porsche AG reimburses Volkswagen AG half of the expenses for fringe benefits. Since January 1, 2023,
Porsche AG has granted Mr. Blume 50% of the remuneration for the Chair of the Executive Board of Porsche AG.
This remuneration is based on the remuneration system for the members of the Executive Board of Porsche AG.
Mr. Blume receives from Porsche AG a base salary, one-year variable remuneration (STI) and multi-year variable
remuneration (LTI); Mr. Blume does not receive fringe benefits from Porsche AG. In addition, Porsche AG grants
Mr. Blume an occupational retirement provision in the form of a defined contribution plan. In preparation for the
IPO completed on September 29, 2022, Porsche AG agreed on an IPO bonus for Mr. Blume. This IPO bonus is
structured as a share plan with a one-, two- and three-year term, in each case starting from the time of the IPO.
Remuneration granted to Mr. Blume by Porsche AG is counted towards the cap on cash remuneration and
Mr. Blume's maximum remuneration at Volkswagen AG. In the overview in the tables of the remuneration granted
and owed to Mr. Blume in fiscal year 2023, the remuneration components granted to Mr. Blume by Porsche AG
are included and shown separately.

A different arrangement has also been reached with Mr. Brandstatter for his work at Volkswagen (China)
Investment Company Limited: Mr. Brandstatter receives a separate remuneration for his work as CEO of Volks-
wagen (China) Investment Company Limited. Mr. Brandstatter's contractual remuneration under his contract of
employment with Volkswagen AG is reduced accordingly for the duration of his work at Volkswagen (China)
Investment Company Limited.

2. Remuneration granted and owed in fiscal year 2023
In accordance with section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG, the remuneration report must report on the remu-
neration granted and owed to each individual member of the Board of Management in the last fiscal year. These
terms are understood as follows:

The term "granted” (gewdéhrt) refers to the actual receipt (Zufluss) of the remuneration component.

The term "owed" (geschuldet) refers to all legally existing liabilities for remuneration components that are due
but have not yet been fulfilled.

2.1. Overview in the tables

The following tables show the remuneration actually received by members of the Board of Management in fiscal
year 2023. The time of actual payment is not relevant. The remuneration reported as granted in fiscal year
2023 thus consists of the base salary paid out in fiscal year 2023, the fringe benefits, the annual bonus paid in
the month following the approval of the Company's consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2023 and
the LTI for the performance period 2020-2022 paid in fiscal year 2023. The remuneration components granted
to Mr. Blume by Porsche AG are presented in the same way.

The relative shares shown in the tables relate to the remuneration components granted and owed in the
respective fiscal year in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG. They thus include all benefits
actually received in the respective fiscal year, regardless of the fiscal year for which the Board of Management
members received them. The relative shares indicated here are thus not comparable with the respective relative
shares of fixed and variable remuneration components as part of total remuneration in the description of the
remuneration system according to section 87a(1) sentence 2 no. 3 of the AktG. The shares indicated in the
remuneration system relate to the targets agreed for the relevant fiscal year, irrespective of the time at which the
respective remuneration component was paid out.

Pension expense is reported as service cost within the meaning of IAS 19. The service cost in accordance
with IAS 19 does not constitute remuneration granted or owed within the meaning of section 162(1) sentence 1
of the AktG as it is not actually received by the Board of Management member in the reporting year.

Maximum remuneration corresponds to maximum remuneration within the meaning of section 87a(1) sen-
tence 2 no. 1 of the AktG in accordance with the remuneration system adopted by the Supervisory Board and
approved by the Annual General Meeting. As in the past, in addition to maximum remuneration, a limit on cash

66



Corporate Governance Remuneration Report 2023

remuneration, which includes the base salary paid out for the relevant fiscal year, the annual bonus granted for
the relevant fiscal year and paid out in the subsequent year, the performance share plan paid out in the relevant
fiscal year and for which the performance period ended immediately before the respective fiscal year has been
agreed with the members of the Board of Management.

On December 14, 2020, the Supervisory Board adopted a remuneration system for the members of the Board
of Management based for the first time on the requirements of ARUG Il. Board of Management service contracts
newly agreed or renewed since that time also contain the penalty and clawback rules provided for in this remu-
neration system. Accordingly, only Mr. Duesmann’s service contract, which was concluded before December 13,
2020, does not contain a penalty and clawback provision. Mr. Duesmann stepped down from the Board of
Management with effect from August 31, 2023. Volkswagen AG did not make use of the existing penalty and
clawback rules in fiscal year 2023.

OLIVER BLUME*

Chair,
Sport Luxury brand group,
Chair of the Executive Board of Porsche AG

2023
€ %

Fixed remuneration components
Base salary

Volkswagen AG 1,300,000.00 14.9

Porsche AG 800,000.00 9.2
Fringe benefits

Volkswagen AG 358,521.00 4.1

Porsche AG - -
Total 2,458,521.00 28.2
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus

Volkswagen AG 2,324,700.00 26.6

Porsche AG 1,388,800.00 15.9
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)?

LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 1,914,757.98 21.9
Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Porsche AG IPO bonus 636,827.00 7.3
Total remuneration granted and owed 8,723,605.98 100.0
Pension expenses

Volkswagen AG 663,530.00 X

Porsche AG 324,342.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 9,711,477.98 X
Maximum remuneration 15,000,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

1 Mr. Blume receives from Volkswagen AG 50% of the remuneration for the Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG and from Porsche AG
50% of the remuneration for the Chair of the Executive Board of Porsche AG. The table shows the remuneration components granted to Mr. Blume
separately according to whether they were granted by Volkswagen AG or by Porsche AG.

2 The LTI paid out in fiscal year 2023 was for work performed in fiscal year 2020. Mr. Blume did not receive any long-term variable remuneration from
Porsche AG in fiscal year 2020 that would have to be counted towards the remuneration he receives from Volkswagen AG. Instead, Mr. Blume received
100% of the 2020 LTI from Volkswagen AG.

67



Corporate Governance Remuneration Report 2023

ARNO ANTLITZ

Finance and Operations

2023
€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,500,000.00 40.8
Fringe benefits 185,752.00 5.0
Total 1,685,752.00 45.8
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,992,600.00 54.2
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 - -
Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,678,352.00 100.0
Pension expenses 602,272.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,280,624.00 X
Maximum remuneration 8,500,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
RALF BRANDSTATTER
China,
Chair of the Board of Management (CEO) of
Volkswagen (China) Investment Co. Ltd.
2023
€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary
Volkswagen AG 150,000.00 3.6
VvCict 1,350,000.00 32.0
Fringe benefits
Volkswagen AG 25,768.00 0.6
VCiC? 696,628.00 16.5
Total 2,222,396.00 52.7
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus
Volkswagen AG 199,260.00 4.7
VCIC 1,793,340.00 425
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 - -
Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 4,214,996.00 100.0
Pension expenses 599,577.00 -
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,814,573.00 X
Maximum remuneration 8,500,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

[y

Mr. Brandstatter receives 90% of the remuneration of a regular Board of Management member of Volkswagen AG from VVolkswagen (China) Investment
Company Limited (VCIC) for his work as CEO of VCIC. VCIC accounts for Mr. Brandstatter as if he received his remuneration from Volkswagen AG in
Germany. These amounts are disclosed here. The actual gross expense incurred by VCIC may differ on account of Chinese tax law.

The fringe benefits presented by VCIC include, in particular, the benefits paid by VCIC for Mr. Brandstétter's assignment to China (such as housing,
flight expenses). Assignment-specific fringe benefits are not counted against the fringe benefit allowance provided by VCIC.

N
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GERNOT DOLLNER

Progressive brand group,
Chair of the Board of Management of AUDI AG
(since September 1, 2023)

2023

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 500,000.00 39.8
Fringe benefits 90,885.00 7.2
Total 590,885.00 47.1
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 664,200.00 52.9
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 - -
Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,255,085.00 100.0
Pension expenses 232,883.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 1,487,968.00 X
Maximum remuneration 2,833,333.33 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
MANFRED DOSS?
Integrity and Legal Affairs

2023

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,125,000.00 40.8
Fringe benefits 137,139.00 5.0
Total 1,262,139.00 45.8
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,494,450.00 54.2
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 - -

Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,756,589.00 100.0
Pension expenses 445,500.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 3,202,089.00 X
Maximum remuneration 6,375,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

1 Mr. Doss receives remuneration in the amount of 75% of the remuneration of a regular member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG.

69



Corporate Governance Remuneration Report 2023

MARKUS DUESMANN

Progressive brand group,
Chair of the Board of Management of AUDI AG
(until August 31, 2023)

2023

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,000,000.00 29.4
Fringe benefits 120,538.00 3.5
Total 1,120,538.00 32.9
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,328,400.00 39.0

Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 957,403.83 28.1
Other remuneration

Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -

Total remuneration granted and owed* 3,406,341.83 100.0
Pension expenses 408,474.67 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 3,814,816.49 X
Maximum remuneration 5,666,666.67 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

1 Mr. Duesmann received remuneration of €75,000 from FC Bayern Minchen AG in fiscal year 2023 for his mandate on its Supervisory Board
appointment. This remuneration was counted in full toward the reported variable remuneration granted by Volkswagen AG for fiscal year 2023.
Mr. Duesmann also received remuneration of €40,000 for a mandate on the Board of Directors of Bentley Motors Ltd. This remuneration was counted in
full toward the reported base salary granted by Volkswagen AG.

GUNNAR KILIAN

Human Resources and Trucks brand group

2023

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,500,000.00 26.8
Fringe benefits 185,026.00 3.3
Total 1,685,026.00 30.1
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,992,600.00 35.6

Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)
LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 1,914,757.98 34.2

Other remuneration

Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -

Total remuneration granted and owed 5,5692,383.98 100.0
Pension expenses 601,860.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 6,194,243.98 X
Maximum remuneration 8,500,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
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THOMAS SCHAFER

Core brand group,
Chair of the Board of Management of the
Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand

2023

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,500,000.00 40.8
Fringe benefits 185,978.00 5.1
Total 1,685,978.00 45.8
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,992,600.00 54.2
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 - -

Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,678,578.00 100.0
Pension expenses 605,432.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,284,010.00 X
Maximum remuneration 8,500,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

THOMAS SCHMALL-VON WESTERHOLT

Technology,
Chair of the Board of Management of
Volkswagen Group Components,

2023

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,500,000.00 40.8
Fringe benefits 186,694.00 5.1
Total 1,686,694.00 45.8
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,992,600.00 54.2
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 - -

Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,679,294.00 100.0
Pension expenses 600,719.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,280,013.00 X
Maximum remuneration 8,500,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X
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HAUKE STARS

IT

2023

€ %
Fixed remuneration components
Base salary 1,500,000.00 40.8
Fringe benefits 183,558.00 5.0
Total 1,683,558.00 45.8
Variable remuneration components
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 1,992,600.00 54.2
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI)

LTI (performance share plan) 2020-2022 - -

Other remuneration
Special benefits paid to new Board of Management members - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 3,676,158.00 100.0
Pension expenses 622,567.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 4,298,725.00 X
Maximum remuneration 8,500,000.00 X
Clawback in accordance with section 162(1) sentence 2 no. 4 of the AktG - X

ANNUAL BONUS

Target value Target achievement

ESG

(0]}
15 (incl. China, + 14 RoS x 15 Decarbon- + V5 Sentimentrating/ | 5 Compliance/
proportionate) ization index Diversity index Integrity (ClI)

2.2 Explanation

2.2.1 Performance criteria for the variable remuneration
a) Performance criteria for the annual bonus

aa) Financial subtargets

The following overviews show the threshold values, target values and maximum values set by the Supervisory
Board for fiscal year 2023 for the financial subtargets operating result, including Chinese joint ventures (propor-
tionate), and operating return on sales (RoS), along with the actual figures and target achievement levels in
percent in fiscal year 2023.
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COMPONENT 1: OPERATING RESULT INCLUDING CHINESE JOINT VENTURES
(PROPORTIONATE)

€ billion 2023
Maximum value (175%) 32.0
100% target level 20.0
Threshold value (0%) 12.0
Actual 25.2
Target achievement (in %) 132

COMPONENT 2: OPERATING RETURN ON SALES

% 2023
Maximum value (175%) 9.5
100% target level 6.5
Threshold value (50%) 4.5
Actual 7.0
Target achievement (in %) 113

bb) ESG factor

The following overview shows the minimum values, target values and maximum values set by the Supervisory
Board for fiscal year 2023 for the environmental (decarbonization index) and social (sentiment rating and
diversity index) subtargets along with the actual figures and target achievement levels in fiscal year 2023. The
decarbonization index measures the emissions of CO2 and CO: equivalents by the passenger car- and light
commercial vehicle-producing brands over the entire life cycle and documents the progress in improving our
carbon footprint. The sentiment rating is an important parameter of the opinion survey - an employee poll with
which the Group regularly gathers information regarding employee satisfaction. The diversity index is used
worldwide to determine the development of the proportion of women in management and the internationali-
zation of top management. The indicator provides incentives for an exemplary leadership and corporate culture.
The governance factor is a means for the Supervisory Board to express its satisfaction with the expected and
actual behavior of the Board of Management with regard to the criteria of integrity and compliance. As a rule, the
governance factor should be 1.0 and may only be reduced to 0.9 or raised to 1.1 in exceptional circumstances
based on a professional judgment of the Supervisory Board. For fiscal year 2023, the Supervisory Board has set
the governance factor at the standard value of 1.0 for all Board of Management members; it takes into account
and assesses the collective performance of the Board of Management as a whole and the performance of each
Management Board member individually.

ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL

Decarbonization index Sentiment rating Diversity index
in tCO.e/vehicle 2023 Points 2023 2023
Maximum value 421 Maximum value 82.5 142.0
100% target level 42.8 100% target level 78.5 137.0
Minimum value 45.0 Minimum value 74.5 132.0
Actual 43.9 Actual 82.5 154.0
Target achievement (factor) 0.9 Target achievement (factor) 1.3 1.3
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LONG-TERM INCENTIVE (LTI): (PHANTOM) PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP)

Payment of the LTI

Granting of the LTI

Performance period

Target value in € Final number of (phantom)
= performance shares
Share price (beginning of &
the performance period) Share price plus
— dividends (end of

.. ~ performance period)
Preliminary number

of (phantom)
performance shares

Measuring EPS performance

over four years Paymentin €

The illustration relates to the LTI with the performance period 2023-2025 and 2023-2026. The LTI with the per-
formance period 2020-2022 that was paid out in fiscal year 2023 and reported in this remuneration report as
remuneration granted and owed had a maximum value for the EPS performance measurement of 150%.

b) Performance criteria for the long-term incentive (LTI)

The four-year performance share plan has applied since January 1, 2021 to all Board of Management members
with service contracts newly concluded or renewed after the Supervisory Board resolution of December 14, 2020.
For the Board of Management members already appointed at the time of the Supervisory Board resolution of
December 14, 2020, a three-year performance period continues to apply until their contracts are renewed. In
fiscal year 2023, this concerned only Mr. Duesmann, who stepped down in the course of the year.

aa) Information on the performance shares

PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE
PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD PERIOD
2020-2022 2021-2023 2021-2024 2022-2024 2022-2025 2023-2025 2023-2026
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of
performance shares performance shares performance shares performance shares performance shares performance shares performance shares
allocated at the allocated at the allocated at the allocated at the allocated at the allocated at the allocated at the
€ grant date grant date grant date grant date grant date grant date grant date
Oliver Blume 10,144 12,069 - 6,828 7,264 - 22,393
Arno Antlitz - - 9,052 - 10,242 - 18,977
Ralf
Brandstéatter - - - - 10,242 - 18,977
Gernot
Déllner
(since
September 1,
2023) - - - - - - 6,326
Manfred
Déss - - - - 7,041 - 14,233
Markus
Duesmann
(until
August 31,
2023) 7,608 12,069 - 10,242 - 18,977 -
Gunnar Kilian 10,144 11,342 727 - 10,242 - 18,977
Thomas
Schafer - - - - 5121 - 18,977
Thomas
Schmall-von
Westerholt - - 12,069 - 10,242 - 18,977
Hauke Stars - - - - 9,388 - 18,977
Total 27,896 35,480 21,848 17,070 69,782 18,977 156,814
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bb) EPS performance

The following overview shows the minimum value, target value and maximum value set by the Supervisory Board
at the beginning of the performance period for the performance share plan 2020-2022, which was paid out in
fiscal year 2023, along with the actual figure and target achievement level in percent.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2020-2022

€ 2020 2021 2022
Maximum value (150%) 30.0 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0 20.0
Minimum value (50%) 10.0 10.0 10.0
Actual 16.66 29.65 29.69
Target achievement (in %) 83 148 148

The following overviews show the minimum values, target values and maximum values set by the Supervisory
Board at the beginning of the performance periods 2021-2023 or 2021-2024, 2022-2024 or 2022-2025 and
2023-2025 or 2023-2026 along with the actual figures and target achievement levels attained in percent so far
for the individual years of the assessment period up to and including 2023. The performance share plans for the
performance periods 2021-2023 or 2021-2024, 2022-2024 or 2022-2025 and 2023-2025 or 2023-2026 were
not due in fiscal year 2023 and have not yet been paid out; they therefore do not constitute remuneration granted
or owed in fiscal year 2023.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2021-2023

€ 2021 2022 2023
Maximum value (150%) 30.0 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0 20.0
Minimum value (50%) 10.0 10.0 10.0
Actual 29.65 29.69 31.98
Target achievement (in %) 148 148 150

PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2021-2024

€ 2021 2022 2023
Maximum value (150%) 30.0 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0 20.0
Minimum value (50%) 10.0 10.0 10.0
Actual 29.65 29.69 31.98
Target achievement (in %) 148 148 150
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€ 2022 2023
Maximum value (150%) 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0
Minimum value (50%) 10.0 10.0
Actual 29.69 31.98
Target achievement (in %) 148 150
PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2022-2025

€ 2022 2023
Maximum value (150%) 30.0 30.0
100% target level 20.0 20.0
Minimum value (50%) 10.0 10.0
Actual 29.69 31.98
Target achievement (in %) 148 150
PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2023-2025

€ 2023
Maximum value (175%) 40.5
100% target level 27.0
Minimum value (50%) 18.0
Actual 31.98
Target achievement (in %) 118
PERFORMANCE PERIOD 2023-2026

€ 2023
Maximum value (175%) 40.5
100% target level 27.0
Minimum value (50%) 18.0
Actual 31.98
Target achievement (in %) 118
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cc) Reference prices/dividend equivalent for the performance periods
The relevant initial reference price, closing reference price and dividend equivalent for the performance period
2020-2022 can be found in the following overview.

PERFORMANCE
PERIOD

2020-2022

Initial reference price 177.44

Closing reference price 131.74
Dividend equivalent

2020 4.86

2021 4.86

2022 7.56

The following overview shows the initial reference price, closing reference price and dividend equivalent for
the performance share plans not yet due and not yet paid out for the performance periods 2021-2023 or
2021-2024, 2022-2024 or 2022-2025 and 2023-2025 or 2023-2026.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD

2021-2023 2021-2024 2022-2024 2022-2025 2023-2025 2023-2026

Initial reference price 149.14 149.14 175.75 175.75 131.74 131.74

Closing reference price 110.83 -t -t -t -t -t
Dividend equivalent

2021 4.86 4.86 - - - -

2022 7.56 7.56 7.56 7.56 - -

2023 27.82 27.82 27.82 27.82 27.82 27.82

i

Determined at the end of the performance period.

2.2.2 Conformity with the remuneration system

The remuneration granted and owed to the Board of Management members in fiscal year 2023 meets the
requirements of the remuneration system for the members of the Board of Management. There was no deviation
from the applicable remuneration system in fiscal year 2023. There was no need to reduce the payments related
to the annual bonus and performance share plan based on the maximum values of the individual remuneration
components being exceeded, as they did not exceed 200% of the target amount for the annual bonus or 250% of
the target amount for the performance share plan. The total remuneration granted and owed to the Board of
Management members in fiscal year 2023 did not exceed the maximum remuneration envisaged by the remu-
neration system. Since January 1, 2023, Volkswagen AG has granted Mr. Blume 50% of the remuneration for the
Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG on the basis of the newly concluded service contract. In
derogation of this, Volkswagen AG grants Mr. Blume the full amount of the fringe benefit allowance for the Chair
of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG. Mr. Blume is also Chair of the Executive Board of Porsche AG.
Since January 1, 2023, Porsche AG has granted Mr. Blume 50% of the remuneration for a Chair of the Executive
Board of Porsche AG. In preparation for the IPO completed on September 29, 2022, Porsche AG agreed on an IPO
bonus for Mr. Blume. This IPO bonus is structured as a share plan with a one-, two- and three-year term, in each
case starting from the time of the IPO. Mr. Blume was allocated a total of 19,290 phantom preferred shares in
Porsche AG in fiscal year 2022, divided into three tranches of 6,430 phantom preferred shares each. Any remu-
neration granted and owed from this IPO bonus will be reported in the remuneration report for the fiscal year

77



Corporate Governance Remuneration Report 2023

in which the respective tranche is paid out to Mr. Blume. The first tranche was paid out in fiscal year 2023. As a
precaution, Volkswagen AG approved the remuneration from Porsche AG as a third-party remuneration arrange-
ment. The remuneration granted to Mr. Blume by Porsche AG is counted towards the maximum remuneration and
the cap on cash remuneration of Volkswagen AG.

2.2.3 Benefits and pension commitments in connection with termination of service
a) Benefits and pension commitments to Board of Management members for early termination of service

The remuneration system for the members of the Board of Management and the service contracts of the Board of
Management members provide for severance payments in the event that an appointment as member of the
Board of Management is revoked. In such cases - except where there is good cause entitling the Company to
terminate the service contract prematurely or where the appointment is revoked due to a gross breach of duty -
the Board of Management member receives a gross severance payment in the amount of the total remuneration
of the past financial year up to the end of the regular term of the appointment, for a maximum of two years,
calculated as of the date of the termination of the appointment as member of the Board of Management. Any
temporary benefits for new Board of Management members are excluded from the calculation. Should a Board of
Management member leave during the course of the first fiscal year of the appointment, the calculation may by
way of exception be based on the expected total remuneration for the current fiscal year. The severance payment
will be paid as a one-off payment or in a maximum of 24 monthly installments from the time of the termination of
the appointment as a member of the Company's Board of Management. Contractual remuneration paid by the
Company for the period from the termination of the appointment until the end of the service contract will be
offset against the severance payment. Should Board of Management members take up other work after the
termination of their appointment, the amount of the severance payment will be reduced by the amount of the
income earned from that work. Should a post-contractual non-compete covenant be agreed, the severance
payment will be offset against the compensation received for observing the post-contractual non-compete
covenant.

The members of the Board of Management are also entitled to a pension and to a surviving dependents’
pension as well as the use of company cars for the period in which they receive their pension in the event of early
termination of their service on the Board of Management.

Also in the case of early termination, the variable remuneration components will generally be paid at the
contractually agreed maturity dates in accordance with the terms of the contract. There will be no early calcu-
lation and payout - except where the employment relationship ends due to permanent disability or death. The
remuneration system for members of the Board of Management does not include a commitment to grant shares
in Volkswagen AG.

PENSIONS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT IN 2023 IN ACCORDANCE
WITH IAS 19

Pension expenses in

€ Present value fiscal year 2023
Oliver Blume 3,975,429.00 663,530.00
Arno Antlitz 1,855,691.00 602,272.00
Ralf Brandstatter 1,371,141.00 599,577.00
Gernot Déllner (since September 1, 2023) 232,883.00 232,883.00
Manfred Doss 1,182,146.00 445,500.00
Markus Duesmann (until August 31, 2023) - 408,474.67
Gunnar Kilian 3,873,261.00 601,860.00
Thomas Schafer 1,055,174.00 605,432.00
Thomas Schmall-von Westerholt 2,060,312.00 600,719.00
Hauke Stars 1,226,121.00 622,567.00
Total 16,832,158.00 5,382,814.67
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In line with the recommendation under G.14 of the 2022 Code, the service contracts do not provide for change of
control clauses. Members of the Board of Management are therefore not entitled to payments agreed in the
event of a change of control or to other special benefits (for example a commitment to grant shares) from Volks-
wagen AG.

b) Pension commitments to Board of Management members for regular termination of service

In the event of regular termination of their service on the Board of Management, the members of the Board of
Management are entitled to a pension, including a surviving dependents’ pension, as well as the use of company
cars for the period in which they receive their pension. The agreed benefits are paid or made available when the
Board of Management member reaches the age of 65, or in Mr. Blume's and Mr. Kilian's case, when they reach the
age of 63.

The Board of Management members received a defined contribution plan, which is based in principle on a
works agreement that also applies to the employees of Volkswagen AG covered by collective agreements and
includes retirement, invalidity and surviving dependents’ benefits. A pension contribution in the amount of 40%
of the base salary is paid to Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V. at the end of the calendar year for each year they are
appointed to the Board of Management. Since fiscal year 2023, the pension contribution for Mr. Blume has been
50% of his base salary. No other changes were made to the defined contribution plans in fiscal year 2023. The
annual pension contributions result in modules of what is, in principle, a lifelong pension in line with the arrange-
ments that also apply to employees covered by collective agreements.

The individual pension modules vest immediately upon payment to Volkswagen Pension Trust e.V. Instead of
a lifelong pension, benefits can optionally be paid out as a lump sum or in installments when the beneficiary
reaches retirement age.

The overview on the previous page shows the pensions for the individual members of the Board of Manage-
ment in fiscal year 2023, indicating the present value and the pension expense for the Company during the last
fiscal year.

¢) Benefits and pension commitments to Board of Management members who left in fiscal year 2023

In fiscal year 2023, Mr. Duesmann stepped down from the Board of Management. Mr. Duesmann was originally
appointed as a member of the Volkswagen AG Board of Management until the close of March 31, 2025 and had
additionally been appointed as a member of the Board of Management of AUDI AG and as its Chair. Volks-
wagen AG, AUDI AG and Mr. Duesmann have mutually terminated the appointment as a member of the Board of
Management of Volkswagen AG, the appointment as a member of the Board of Management of AUDI AG and the
appointment as Chair of the Board of Management of AUDIAG prematurely with effect from the close of
August 31, 2023. Due to this termination, Volkswagen AG and AUDI AG concluded a termination agreement with
Mr. Duesmann. The subject of this termination agreement included the continuation of the service contract
between Mr. Duesmann and Volkswagen AG until its regular termination date, i.e. until March 31, 2025. The
service contract between Mr. Duesmann and AUDI AG was terminated with effect from August 31, 2023. \Volks-
wagen AG agreed to continue paying Mr. Duesmann his remuneration until the termination date of his service
contract. Variable remuneration components will be paid at the contractually agreed time; there will be no early
calculation and payout. The annual bonus will be based in each case on a Governance factor of 1.0. Mr. Dues-
mann does not receive a severance payment from Volkswagen AG in the form of a one-off payment. The maxi-
mum remuneration and the cap on cash remuneration continue to apply to the remuneration to be paid. From
April 1, 2025, Mr. Duesmann will be subject to a one-year post-contractual non-compete covenant, for which
Volkswagen AG will pay him gross monthly compensation of €187,500.

2.2.4 No clawback claims in fiscal year 2023
Volkswagen AG did not seek to claw back any variable remuneration components from individual Board of
Management members in fiscal year 2023. The prerequisites for a clawback claim did not apply.
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IV. Remuneration of former Board of Management members
In accordance with section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG, the remuneration granted and owed to former
members of the Board of Management must also be reported.

1. Remuneration granted and owed in fiscal year 2023 (individualized)
Under section 162(5) sentence 2 of the AktG, the obligation to report individually on the remuneration granted
and owed to former Board of Management members also extends to remuneration granted and owed in the ten
years after their most recent term of office on the Board of Management or Supervisory Board at Volkswagen AG.
The following tables show the remuneration granted and owed in fiscal year 2023 to the individual former
members of the Board of Management who left after fiscal year 2013. As with the current Board of Management
members, the annual bonus paid at the beginning of 2024 to former Board of Management members for the
2023 fiscal year is counted as remuneration granted in fiscal year 2023.

2. Total remuneration granted to former Board of Management members

Section 162(5) sentence 2 of the AktG does not require the Company to report individually on the remuneration
granted and owed in 2023 to former members of the Board of Management whose most recent term of office on
the Board of Management or Supervisory Board at Volkswagen AG came to an end before the beginning of 2014
and who were then granted and owed remuneration for more than ten years after leaving Volkswagen AG. A total
of €8.1 million was granted and owed to such former Board of Management members and their surviving
dependents in fiscal year 2023. Obligations for pensions for this group of persons measured in accordance with
IAS 19 amounted to €91.2 million.

KARLHEINZ BLESSING

2023

€ %
Pension payments 189,505.92 9.0
Base salary - _
Fringe benefits 6,348.00 0.3
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 1,914,757.98 90.7
Severance payments - _
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,110,611.90 100.0
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HERBERT DIESS

2023

€ %
Pension payments - -
Base salary 2,600,000.00 22.6
Fringe benefits 178,656.00 1.6
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 4,649,400.00 40.4
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 4,074,355.82 35.4
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 11,502,411.82 100.0
Pension expenses 1,309,315.00 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 12,811,726.82 X
Maximum remuneration 15,000,000.00 X

MARKUS DUESMANN*

2023

€ %
Pension payments - -
Base salary 500,000.00 29.4
Fringe benefits 60,041.00 3.5
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus 664,200.00 39.0
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 478,701.91 28.1
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,702,942.91 100.0
Pension expenses 204,237.33 X
Total remuneration including pension expenses 1,907,180.25 X
Maximum remuneration 4,000,000.00 X

1 Mr. Duesmann was an active Board of Management member until the close of August 31, 2023. The table shows his remuneration after his departure from the Board of
Management.

FRANCISCO JAVIER GARCIA SANZ

2023

€ %
Pension payments 769,230.12 97.6
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 19,278.00 2.4
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 788,508.12 100.0
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JOCHEM HEIZMANN

2023

€ %
Pension payments 793,220.40 98.4
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 13,096.15 1.6
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 806,316.55 100.0

CHRISTINE HOHMANN-DENNHARDT

2023

€ %
Pension payments 111,847.80 75.4
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 36,564.00 24.6
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 148,411.80 100.0

MICHAEL MACHT

2023

€ %
Pension payments 740,869.17 95.8
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 32,349.00 4.2
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 773,218.17 100.0
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MATTHIAS MULLER

2023

€ %
Pension payments 1,266,360.48 64.5
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 18,167.98 0.9
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 679,233.16 34.6
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,963,761.62 100.0

HORST NEUMANN

2023

€ %
Pension payments 696,855.16 97.3
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 19,240.00 2.7
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 716,095.16 100.0

LEIF 6STLING

2023

€ %
Pension payments 253,848.12 100.0
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits - -
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 253,848.12 100.0

HANS DIETER POTSCH

2023

€ %
Pension payments 859,900.00 96.4
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 31,737.84 3.6
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 891,637.84 100.0
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ANDREAS RENSCHLER

2023

€ %
Pension payments 370,126.50 25.8
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 26,256.89 1.8
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 1,037,179.20 72.3
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,433,562.59 100.0

ABRAHAM SCHOT

2023

€ %
Pension payments - -
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits - -
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 1,914,757.98 100.0
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,914,757.98 100.0

RUPERT STADLER

2023

€ %
Pension payments - -
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 23,256.41 100.0
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - _
Total remuneration granted and owed 23,256.41 100.0

HILTRUD DOROTHEA WERNER

2023

€ %
Pension payments - -
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits - -
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 1,914,757.98 100.0
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,914,757.98 100.0
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MARTIN WINTERKORN

2023

€ %
Pension payments 1,321,356.96 97.8
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 29,146.50 2.2
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) - -
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 1,350,503.46 100.0

FRANK WITTER

2023

€ %
Pension payments 463,652.58 19.4
Base salary - -
Fringe benefits 14,753.37 0.6
One-year variable remuneration/annual bonus - -
Multi-year variable remuneration/long-term incentive (LTI, performance share plan 2020-2022) 1,914,757.98 80.0
Severance payments - -
Total remuneration granted and owed 2,393,163.93 100.0
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V. Comparative presentation

The following table shows a comparison of the year-on-year percentage change in the remuneration of current
and former Board of Management members with the earnings performance of Volkswagen AG and with the
average remuneration of employees on a full-time-equivalent basis. For members of the Board of Management,
the remuneration granted and owed in the reporting year is placed in relation to the equivalent figure for the
previous year.

Earnings performance is shown on the basis of Volkswagen AG's net income or loss for the year. However, the
remuneration of the Board of Management members is based on Group KPIs. In order to demonstrate more trans-
parently how the remuneration of the Board of Management members has changed compared with earnings
performance, the earnings after tax, operating result and operating return on sales of the Volkswagen Group, as
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are also used in determining earnings performance. This
means that Group KPIs are not only applied in calculating the remuneration of the Board of Management mem-
bers but also in determining earnings performance. The Group KPIs used in determining earnings performance
show the overall effect of the business activities for which the Board of Management is responsible.

The comparison with the growth in average employee remuneration is based on the personnel expenses of
Volkswagen AG reported in the notes to the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG, adjusted for the
remuneration of the members of the Board of Management. These adjusted personnel expenses are divided by
the number of full-time-equivalent employees of Volkswagen AG as of December 31, 2023, excluding the mem-
bers of the Board of Management.

VI. Peer group

The Supervisory Board regularly reviews and, if necessary, adjusts the level of the remuneration, the total
remuneration cap and the individual targets. Among other things, the Supervisory Board performs a vertical
comparison with the remuneration and employment terms of the Company's employees and a horizontal
comparison with the remuneration and employment terms of other companies' management board members.
The Supervisory Board conducts a comparison with what it considers to be a suitable peer group to assess
whether the specific total remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Management is customary when
measured against that paid in other companies. This peer group is regularly reviewed - most recently at the end
of 2023 - and adjusted if necessary. The peer group currently comprises the following companies: BMW, Mer-
cedes-Benz Group, Ford, General Motors, Stellantis, Nissan Motor Corporation, Toyota, BYD, Tesla (excluding CEO),
hp, IBM, Uber, SAP, Samsung, General Electric, Siemens, Hitachi and Boeing. The companies in the peer group
were chosen to reflect the Volkswagen Group's strategic business fields. The peer group used up to and
including 2020 was revised and last adjusted following the adoption of the “TOGETHER 2025" strategy. To take
proper account of the evolution of the Group's business model, in the view of the Supervisory Board, technology
and services companies, especially in the battery/electronics, IT/software and mobility services segments, have
also been included in the peer group along with the global automotive manufacturers. In addition, the peer group
includes selected global industrial corporations that, in the view of the Supervisory Board, appear comparable
with the Volkswagen Group in terms of their development focus, vertical integration, global orientation and level
of complexity. In the view of the Supervisory Board, the composition of this peer group is representative of the
Volkswagen Group's specific competitive environment in the sales market and in the recruitment market for top
executives.

86



Corporate Governance

Remuneration Report 2023

Annual change in % 2023 compared with 2022* 2022 compared with 2021* 2021 compared with 2020*
Board of Management remuneration?

Oliver Blume +36.1 +49.1 +74.8
Arno Antlitz -3.5 +28.8 -
Ralf Brandstatter +3.8 - -
Gernot Déllner (since September 1, 2023) - - -
Manfred Déss +5.3 - -
Gunnar Kilian -16 +6.6 +128.3
Thomas Schafer +92.9 - -
Thomas Schmall-von Westerholt -3.5 -3.4 -
Hauke Stars +5.2 - -
Karlheinz Blessing -30.2 +346.3 -83.0
Herbert Diess +12.5 +19.0 +40.1
Markus Duesmann (until August 31, 2023)* +33.4 -3.5 -56.6
Francisco Javier Garcia Sanz -59.2 +56.5 -43.8
Jochem Heizmann -5.7 -31.4 -50.7
Christine Hohmann-Dennhardt +2.7 +2.0 +2.7
Michael Macht +1.6 -1.4 +0.6
Matthias Maller -72.6 +408.4 -71.4
Horst Neumann +3.0 +0.3 +0.1
Leif Ostling +3.1 +1.0 +1.0
Hans Dieter Pétsch +3.3 +2.5 -1.5
Andreas Renschler -74.3 -0.5 -0.2
Abraham Schot -32.4 - -
Rupert Stadler +2,853.9 -99.8 -73.7
Hiltrud Dorothea Werner -37.6 -46.0 +6.6
Martin Winterkorn +9.2 +2.3 +0.2
Frank Witter -27.2 +22.2 -34.5
Earnings performance

Net income or loss for the year of Volkswagen AG -50.0 +208.8 -36.2
Earnings after tax of the Volkswagen Group +13.1 +2.6 +74.8
Operating result of the Volkswagen Group +2.1 +14.8 +99.2
Operating return on sales of the Volkswagen Group -8.9 +2.6 +79.1
Employees

Volkswagen AG employees -14.6 +26.9 +9.2

1 Under the transitional provision of section 26j(2) sentence 2 of the Einfihrungsgesetz zum Aktiengesetz (EGAktG - Introductory Act to the German Stock Corporation Act), the
comparative presentation is to be based on the average remuneration in the period since fiscal year 2020 only, rather than the average remuneration for the last five fiscal years;

this provision applies until the end of fiscal year 2025.

2 Remuneration "granted and owed" within the meaning of section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG.
3 Remuneration “granted and owed" for the full fiscal year 2023 as an active Board of Management member and after his departure from the Board of Management.
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B. REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
I. Principles of Supervisory Board remuneration
Following its regular review of Supervisory Board remuneration, the Supervisory Board proposed an adjustment
of the remuneration for the members of the Supervisory Board to the 2023 Annual General Meeting. The
proposed adjustment of the Supervisory Board remuneration system was approved by the Annual General
Meeting on May 10, 2023 with 99.99% of the votes cast. The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory
Board is governed by Article 17 of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft.

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG and remuneration for super-
visory board work at subsidiaries is comprised entirely of non-performance-related remuneration components.

Il. Overview of remuneration

The members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG receive fixed remuneration of €170,000 per fiscal year.
The Chair of the Supervisory Board receives fixed remuneration of €510,000; the Deputy Chair receives fixed
remuneration of €340,000.

For their work in the Supervisory Board committees, the members of the Supervisory Board also receive
additional fixed remuneration of €75,000 per committee and fiscal year provided the committee met at least
once that year for the performance of its duties. Membership of the Nomination and Mediation Committees
established in accordance with section 27(3) of the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG - German Codetermina-
tion Act) are not taken into account. Committee chairs receive double this amount, while the deputy chairs
receive one-and-a-half times the committee remuneration listed previously. Remuneration is paid for work on a
maximum of two committees, whereby the two most highly remunerated functions are taken into account if this
maximum is exceeded. Supervisory Board members who belonged to the Supervisory Board or one of its
committees for only part of the fiscal year receive remuneration on a pro rata temporis basis. Any value-added
tax incurred on the remuneration is reimbursed by the Company.

Supervisory Board members receive an attendance fee of €1,000 for attending a meeting of the Supervisory
Board or one of its committees; if several meetings take place on the same day, the attendance fee is paid only
once.

The remuneration and attendance fees are each payable after the end of the fiscal year.

The remuneration enables suitable, qualified candidates to be recruited to the Supervisory Board. As such,
the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board contributes to the ability of the Supervisory Board as
a whole to properly and competently perform its duties of monitoring and advising the Board of Management.
Restricting the payment to fixed remuneration is also appropriate to the duties of the Supervisory Board. The
restriction provides the Supervisory Board members with an incentive in their monitoring and advisory duties to
properly scrutinize the activities of the Board of Management without being guided primarily by the performance
of key operating ratios.

Former members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG do not receive any remuneration for the period
following the termination of office.
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I1l. Other remuneration

Volkswagen AG reimburses Supervisory Board members for the expenses they incur in the course of their work.
In accordance with Article 17(7) sentence 2 of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, the members of the
Supervisory Board were also covered in the reporting year by the directors and officers (D&O) insurance taken
out by the Company in their interest. The Company paid the premiums for the D&O insurance. There was a
deductible equal to the gross annual fixed remuneration amount for Supervisory Board members. There is no
voluntary commitment by members of the Supervisory Board to buy and hold shares of Volkswagen AG.

IV. Remuneration to Supervisory Board members in fiscal year 2023
1. Supervisory Board members in fiscal year 2023

The members of the Volkswagen AG Supervisory Board in office during the 2023 fiscal year are listed in the table
below.

2. Remuneration granted and owed

The following table shows the remuneration individually granted and owed to each of the Supervisory Board
members in fiscal year 2023. This is based on the same understanding of the term "granted and owed" as set out
in section “2. Remuneration granted and owed in fiscal year 2023" of this remuneration report. The remuneration
reported in the table therefore reflects the amounts actually received in fiscal year 2023.
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REMUNERATION

FOR SERVING

ON THE
MEETING BOARDS OF
FIXED WORK IN ATTENDANCE OTHER GROUP
REMUNERATION COMMITTEES FEES TOTAL COMPANIES?
€ (%) 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
Hans Dieter Pétsch 510,000.00 150,000.00 16,000.00 676,000.00 586,000.00
(75.4) (22.2) (2.4)
Jorg Hofmann? 340,000.00 112,500.00 15,000.00 467,500.00 -
(72.7) (24.1) (3.2)
Hessa Sultan Al Jaber 170,000.00 - 7,000.00 177,000.00 -
(96.0) (4.0)
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud 170,000.00 150,000.00 9,000.00 329,000.00 -
(51.7) (45.6) (2.7)
Harald Buck® 170,000.00 - 8,000.00 178,000.00 239,000.00
(95.5) (4.5)
Matias Carnero Sojo® - - - - -
Daniela Cavallo* 170,000.00 187,500.00 17,000.00 374,500.00 89,658.00
(45.4) (50.1) (4.5)
Julia Willie Hamburg? 170,000.00 - 6,000.00 176,000.00 -
(96.6) (3.4)
Marianne Heil3 170,000.00 75,000.00 11,000.00 256,000.00 75,000.00
(66.4) (29.3) (4.3)
Arno Homburg?* 170,000.00 - 7,000.00 177,000.00 -
(96.0) (4.0)
GUnther Horvath (since February 28, 2023) 142,520.55 - 7,000.00 149,520.55 -
(95.3) (4.7)
Simone Mahler (until May 31, 2023)* 70,328.77 - 3,000.00 73,328.77 -
(95.9) (4.1)
Peter Mosch (until December 31, 2023)* 170,000.00 75,000.00 16,000.00 261,000.00 186,250.00
(65.1) (28.7) (6.1)
Daniela Nowak* 170,000.00 - 8,000.00 178,000.00 -
(95.5) (4.5)
Hans Michel Piéch 170,000.00 75,000.00 14,000.00 259,000.00 241,500.00
(65.6) (29.0) (5.4)
Ferdinand Oliver Porsche 170,000.00 75,000.00 11,000.00 256,000.00 291,500.00
(66.4) (29.3) (4.3)
Wolfgang Porsche 170,000.00 75,000.00 13,000.00 258,000.00 471,500.00
(65.9) (29.1) (5.0)
Jens Rothe (until March 3, 2023)* 28,876.71 25,479.45 4,000.00 58,356.16 -
(49.5) (43.7) (6.9)
Gerardo Scarpino (since April 21, 2023)* 118,301.37 99,863.01 12,000.00 230,164.38 2,500.00
(51.4) (43.4) (5.2)
Karina Schnur (since July 11, 2023)* 80,575.34 - 3,000.00 83,575.34 180,242.00
(96.4) (3.6)
Conny Schénhardt* 170,000.00 75,000.00 11,000.00 256,000.00 -
(66.4) (29.3) (4.3)
Stephan Weil? 170,000.00 75,000.00 14,000.00 259,000.00 -
(65.6) (29.0) (5.4)
Total 3,670,602.74 1,250,342.46 212,000.00 5,132,945.20 2,363,150.00
1 These employee representatives have stated that they will transfer their Supervisory Board remuneration to the Hans Béckler Foundation in accordance with the guidelines

issued by the Deutscher Gewerkschaftsbund (DGB -German Confederation of Trade Unions).

N

Under section 5(3) of the Niedersdchsisches Ministergesetz (German Act Governing Ministers of the State of Lower Saxony), these members of the Supervisory Board are

obliged to transfer their Supervisory Board remuneration to the State of Lower Saxony as soon as and in so far as it exceeds €6,200 per annum. Remuneration is defined for this
purpose as Supervisory Board remuneration and attendance fees exceeding the amount of €200.

w

Mr. Carnero Sojo waived his remuneration for fiscal year 2023 in its entirety.
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V. Comparative presentation

The following table compares the year-on-year percentage change in the remuneration of the Supervisory Board
members with the earnings performance of Volkswagen AG and with the average remuneration of employees on
a full-time-equivalent basis.

Earnings performance is shown on the basis of Volkswagen AG's net income or loss for the year. The Volks-
wagen Group's earnings after tax are also used as a Group KPI.

The comparison with the growth in average employee remuneration is based on the personnel expenses of
Volkswagen AG reported in the notes to the annual financial statements of Volkswagen AG, adjusted for the
remuneration of the members of the Board of Management. These adjusted personnel expenses are divided by
the number of full-time-equivalent employees of Volkswagen AG as of December 31, 2023, excluding the mem-
bers of the Board of Management.

Annual change in % 2023 compared with 2022* 2022 compared with 2021* 2021 compared with 2020*

Supervisory Board remuneration?

Hans Dieter Pétsch +35.3 +2.0 +1.5
Jorg Hofmann +49.8 +7.6 -3.0
Hessa Sultan Al Jaber +59.5 +4.7 -2.8
Mansoor Ebrahim Al-Mahmoud +189.2 - -
Harald Buck +105.4 - -
Matias Carnero Sojo - - -
Daniela Cavallo +23.9 +67.9 -
Julia Willie Hamburg +965.3 - -
Marianne Heil3 +35.7 -0.7 +2.6
Arno Homburg +136.5 - -
GUnther Horvath (since February 28, 2023) - - -
Simone Mahler (until May 31, 2023) -2.0 - -
Peter Mosch (until December 31, 2023) +11.7 +6.4 +2.1
Daniela Nowak +137.9 - -
Hans Michel Piéch +33.1 +5.4 +13.5
Ferdinand Oliver Porsche +37.6 -6.8 +3.1
Wolfgang Porsche +55.0 -2.3 +8.9
Jens Rothe (until March 3, 2023) -67.7 +754.5 -

Gerardo Scarpino (since April 21, 2023) - - _
Karina Schnur (since July 11, 2023) - - _
Conny Schénhardt +51.5 +4.3 -3.0
Stephan Weil +40.0 +13.5 -4.1

Earnings performance

Net income or loss for the year of Volkswagen AG -50.0 +208.8 -36.2
Earnings after tax of the Volkswagen Group +13.1 +2.6 +74.8
Employees

Volkswagen AG employees -14.6 +26.9 +9.2
1 Under the transitional provision of section 26j(2) sentence 2 of the Einfihrungsgesetz zum Aktiengesetz (EGAktG - Introductory Act to the German Stock Corporation Act), the

comparative presentation is to be based on the average remuneration in the period since fiscal year 2020 only, rather than the average remuneration for the last five fiscal years;
this provision applies until the end of fiscal year 2025.
Remuneration “granted and owed" within the meaning of section 162(1) sentence 1 of the AktG.

N
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Goals and Strategies

With the Group strategy "NEW AUTO - Mobility for generations to come”, we are preparing
ourselves for the global changes in mobility and thus playing a substantial role in driving
VVolkswagen's transformation into a provider of sustainable mobility.

In the context of the fast-changing environment and the challenges resulting from it, the Group Board of Man-
agement adopted the Group strategy "NEW AUTO - Mobility for generations to come” in May 2021 with the
approval of the Supervisory Board. The strategy’s focus is the world of mobility in 2030.

As technology advances, the automotive industry is rapidly forging ahead with its transformation toward
e-mobility and digitalization. We therefore expect the market for electric vehicles to continue to grow in the next
few years, meaning that the cost-efficient and sustainable production of battery systems and the expansion of
the charging infrastructure will be crucial to success.

The shift to connected, intelligent and eventually self-driving vehicles will, however, bring more wide-
reaching changes for the automotive industry. Autonomous driving will change the customer's mobility expe-
rience forever and lay the ground for new business models. Sources of revenue will gradually shift and will
expand beyond the core product of the automobile. Increasing software development capabilities in order to
excite customers with constantly improving digital functionality is the prerequisite for this.

In equal measure to technological trends, the global economic and geopolitical environment is also posing
increased challenges for the automotive industry. These include, for example, the economic influence of the
largest mobility market, China, the USA and Europe, and their diverging development.

Sustainability will continue to be a recurring theme in the business world and will gain further pertinence,
driven by the increasingly noticeable consequences of climate change, a greater consciousness of sustainable
lifestyles on the part of the customer and, not least, underlying factors such as the Paris Climate Agreement. As
we transition from automotive manufacturer to mobility group, we have reset our priorities with NEW AUTO and
are positioning ourselves for the future. We are keeping our aim of being a world-leading provider of sustainable
mobility firmly in our sights and making the Group more focused, efficient, innovative, customer-oriented and
sustainable, as well as systematically gearing it toward profitable growth.

To this end, we have established clearly defined Group initiatives across the brand groups, with a focus on our
central technology platforms: "Architecture”, "Software"”, “Battery, Charging & Energy”, and “Volkswagen Group
Mobility". Furthermore, base initiatives form the foundation for the Volkswagen Group's strategic realignment.
These are "ESG, Decarbonization & Integrity”, “Business Model 2.0" “North America (NAR) Region”, “China Region”,
"Group Steering Model", "People & Transformation” and “Financing the Transformation”, which are described
below.
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NEW AUTO FOCUSING ON THE TECHNOLOGY PLATFORMS

I I
Architecture

|

Software
|

Battery, Charging & Energy
|

Volkswagen Group Mobility

\ \

The most important targets for each calendar year are defined and a Top 10 program is developed at Group level
so that the strategy can be implemented in operations throughout the year. Priorities in the Group's Top 10
program for 2023 were financial robustness and planning, products, the China and North America regions,
software, technologies, battery and charging, mobility solutions, sustainability, and capital markets. This Top 10
program methodology has been adopted by many business units in their functional area strategies and is being
used to accelerate implementation of the strategy with a high level of focus.

To make the progress in our focus topics - consisting of the initiatives of the NEW AUTO strategy and the
objectives of the Group's Top 10 program applicable to the fiscal year - as transparent as possible for manage-
ment and employees, the Group Board of Management decided to structure and regularly measure the strategic
objectives and milestones using the OKR (Objectives and Key Results) method. Accordingly, strategic objectives
and envisaged key results are defined for all focus topics. These are to be realized largely through time-limited
projects and work packages, each of which is measured by specific key performance indicators. The degree of
achievement is usually presented to the Board of Management three times a year. As such, the relevance of the
focus topics, and their objectives, milestones, projects and work packages, are regularly reviewed at Group level.
Their focus is continuously monitored and adjusted as necessary or integrated into standard operations.

We report on the main objectives and interim results achieved in the reporting year in the chapters “Internal
Management System and Key Performance Indicators”, “Structure and Business Activities” and “Sustainable
Value Enhancement”.

ARCHITECTURE

A future-oriented mechatronics platform will form the backbone for innovations, technology and lasting
competitiveness at Volkswagen. With the Scalable Systems Platform (SSP), we are creating the next generation
of an all-electric, fully digital and highly scalable mechatronics platform based on a standardized software
architecture. With this standardized platform, which can be scaled from the smallest vehicles all the way up to
the premium segment, the Volkswagen Group aims to rapidly and efficiently provide its customers with inno-
vative functions and technologies in their vehicles, across all brands. By reducing complexity and the number of
versions, the SSP will offer maximum synergies and make fast, regular technology updates possible, while
lowering investment costs and ensuring the necessary differentiation between the products of the individual
brands in the Group's portfolio.
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SOFTWARE

The purpose of the Group's own software and technology company CARIAD is to create the technical basis for
data-based business models, new mobility services and automated driving (Level 4), and to leverage cross-
brand synergies. Here we are pursuing the following strategy: we intend to develop software for central control
points in the vehicle either in-house or together with third parties in strategic partnerships. CARIAD is collab-
orating with leading technology companies to integrate further innovative solutions.

Together with the Porsche and Audi brands, CARIAD is working to introduce the new E® 1.2 platform, which
optimizes the interaction between the hardware and the vehicle software and is also intended to serve as a key
lever for data-driven development and for the introduction of new services even after vehicle production has
begun.

In the long term, the standardized E®* 2.0 software architecture is to form the basis of a complete digital
ecosystem, offering customers a wide range of software-based services throughout the entire product lifecycle.
The software-centric approach of the E3 2.0 architecture constitutes a paradigm shift in vehicle development.
This is to form the basis for the Volkswagen Group's software-defined vehicles. The aim is for every function that
is needed or requested, and for every service, to be customized for the customers in the various markets and to
be available for download at any time. This will also open up new sources of revenue for us.

Applications at various levels of automated driving (up to Level 4) are to be gradually introduced to the new
vehicle models in the Group brands. In this context, CARIAD is responsible for developing software and a tech-
nology stack for automated driving.

BATTERY, CHARGING & ENERGY - CELL AND BATTERY STRATEGY

The battery is a key component in an electric vehicle, and an important cost factor. The appeal and market
success of e-mobility is determined not only by the price, but also by the vehicle's range and its charging speed.
In order to achieve our objective of transforming into a world-leading provider of sustainable mobility, we intend
to become a profit-generating expert across the entire battery life cycle. To this end, the Cell and Battery
Strategy tech initiative pools expertise across the Group and is driving the transformation process in cooperation
with our strategic partners.

The aspects covered include battery development, cell production, vertical integration, large-scale storage
systems and recycling. Our primary aim is to develop battery cell technology into a core competence in the
Group, and we are also working with partners to achieve this. At the heart of this strategy is the unified cell,
which can contain differing chemistries and is to be used in up to 80% of Group models by 2030. The economies
of scale this generates are expected to reduce costs by up to 50% and put us in a leading cost position. To cover
the high demand for battery cells, Volkswagen plans to build its own gigafactories around the world. The corner-
stone for these activities was laid in Salzgitter/Germany. Using the standard factory concept to optimize invest-
ment, further factories are to follow swiftly in Valencia/Spain and St. Thomas/Canada. The aim is to meet about
half of the rapidly growing need for battery cells ourselves by 2030.

BATTERY, CHARGING & ENERGY - CHARGING AND ENERGY SERVICES

A sustainable, stable charging and energy infrastructure is a key prerequisite for accelerating the transformation
to the battery-electric mobility of the future. It is therefore our intention to also become a comprehensive
charging and energy service provider in future and we are investing heavily in the worldwide development of an
open, fast-charging network. By 2025, we and our partners plan to create around 45,000 high-power charging
points in Europe, China and the USA. The product portfolio also includes the full range of charging solutions for
private customers and companies. In addition to our own wall box and flexible fast-charging station (Flexpole),
the focus is particularly on contract-based charging services and smart green electricity tariffs. The aim is for
charging processes to be controlled in such a way that they tap into renewable energy, thus reducing the
pressure on the power grids. In a next step, Volkswagen intends to use the electric vehicle as a mobile power
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bank, and thus help to enable electric vehicles to act as additional storage units and become an active part of
the energy system in the future. In this way, Volkswagen wishes to make its customers part of the smart-
charging and energy ecosystem for decarbonized mobility. Our goal here is farsighted use of scarce resources in
the electric power industry.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP MOBILITY

In keeping with its mission statement, "Mobility for generations to come”, the Volkswagen Group is developing
mobility solutions for the future, taking into account global trends and changes in customer needs. The Group
plans to bring together all of its brands’ mobility services on one mobility platform over the coming years.
Autonomous driving combined with new mobility solutions is expected to mark Volkswagen's transformation
into a leading provider of sustainable mobility. A vehicle fleet covering all of the many services, from vehicle
rental to car subscription and ride pooling, is to ensure high availability, usage and profitability. With these solu-
tions, we plan to gain market shares and generate long-term competitive and attractive margins.

ESG, DECARBONIZATION AND INTEGRITY

ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) refers to the basic principles of doing business sustainably. The
Group's stakeholders (e.g. investors, employees, customers and non-government organizations) have high
expectations of the Company's ESG performance, including in areas such as decarbonization, circular economy
and integrity, and also of its conduct as an employer and as part of society. The Group's ESG performance
therefore directly affects its market capitalization, cost of capital and investing activities. We aim for a top
position relative to our competitors in sustainability ratings. We are committed to the Paris Climate Agreement
and align our own activities with the 1.5-degree target. We aim to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2050. By
2030, we have also set ourselves the target of reducing CO. emissions from passenger cars and light com-
mercial vehicles over the total life cycle by 30% compared with 2018. As part of this effort, we are looking for
ways to increase the proportion of renewable energy sources used in the product emergence process and the
proportion of recyclable materials in our vehicles. We also wish to be perceived as a benchmark for ethical
corporate conduct. Volkswagen sees itself as an equal opportunities employer. The intention is therefore for at
least a fifth of Group management positions to be held by women by 2025, and for at least a quarter to be held
by international managers.

BUSINESS MODEL 2.0

The Business Model 2.0 base initiative is developing a Group-wide portfolio of services, the purpose of which is
to create a seamless and innovative product experience to connect brands, customers, dealerships, our partners
and whole markets. The aim is for the key technologies needed for this to be integrated into a majority of the
platform-based vehicles by 2030. Using connected vehicles, the Group’s brands are to be able in future to remain
in contact with their customers throughout the entire vehicle life cycle and thus to offer them services and
functions for their individual needs. This will allow us to build a competitive, data-driven service portfolio that
also maintains our strong position in the automotive market in future.

NORTH AMERICA (NAR) REGION
For the Volkswagen Group, the North America region, and particularly the USA, has great growth potential,
especially where e-mobility is concerned. We intend North America to become our third core region alongside
Europe and China by 2030. Our aim there is to achieve a very strong increase in total market share for the Volks-
wagen Group by then.

We aspire to further expand our presence in the region with strong brands and prepare ourselves for the
future with market-specific products.
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We also wish to participate to a disproportionately high extent in the growth of the increasingly electrified
markets in the USA and Canada. We will therefore substantially expand our range of all-electric models across
the Group and develop models specifically for these markets. With our new vehicle brand Scout, we intend to
address the core segments of the North American electric vehicle market with tailor-made products. The pro-
portion of battery-electric vehicles in our sales in the USA and Canada is to increase to 55% by 2030.

In addition, we wish to maximize the potential for synergies in the region and build more expertise, industrial
capacity and vertical value chains in the North America region.

CHINA REGION

China is of major strategic significance to the Volkswagen Group as its largest single market. All key measures
are therefore brought together in this strategic base initiative in order to continue Volkswagen's success story in
China. These include localized development activities that are tailored to the market (the in China for China
approach), competitive products, the deepening of our existing partnerships and forging of new ones, and a
comprehensive program of measures for achieving a permanent reduction of costs to safeguard long-term
profitability.

Our aim for 2030 is to take a leading role in China as an international mobility provider and manufacturer of
fully connected vehicles. As part of our localization strategy (in China for China), we therefore want to pool and
expand our local development capacity to a greater extent in the coming years. In so doing, we want to con-
siderably speed up the development of intelligent connected vehicles (ICVs) and be in a position to offer tailor-
made products to our Chinese customers faster. In the market for vehicles with conventional drive systems, we
want to further strengthen our share of the market with new vehicles and secure it for the long term, as these
vehicles' high unit sales will also make a corresponding contribution to profitability in future.

GROUP STEERING MODEL

To achieve the objectives of the Group strategy and thereby safeguard the Volkswagen Group's long-term
success, we are extensively optimizing our Group Steering Model. It is essential that we establish a consistently
high level of mechanisms that facilitate swift decision-making, the development and use of platform tech-
nologies and the exploitation of synergies, and that we constantly enhance these. The updated Group Steering
Model places the brand groups and technology platforms center stage in order to scale up the latter while
maximizing synergies across the entire Group product portfolio. A new strategy and product planning process
that has been optimized for efficiency is being developed on the basis of this approach. The package of mea-
sures for this initiative hones the definition of roles and responsibilities in the Group and improves transparency
in this respect both inside and outside the Company. It also promotes the entrepreneurship of the independent
units and brands and at the same time strengthens collaboration across the Group.

PEOPLE & TRANSFORMATION

As it becomes a global tech company, the Volkswagen Group will see the biggest transformation of its workforce
in its corporate history. To ensure the Group remains competitive in future, we need to attract top talent and
support existing employees by providing extensive training where required. Our aim is to retain staff for the long
term. It is therefore fundamental that we address the changing needs of our employees and offer them an out-
standing employee experience. To achieve our Group's ambitious objectives, we must also create and promote
an environment for productive teams, resulting in a strong, sustainable and socially responsible corporate
culture that fosters a sense of belonging and loyalty to the Company. A further focus is on aligning the Company
with society and the environment.
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FINANCING THE TRANSFORMATION

The transformation being driven by digitalization and electrification will require extensive investment. To meet
this need for financing, the "Financing the Transformation” base initiative aims to leverage even more Group-
wide synergies across all functional areas along the value chain, focusing on costs and efficiency. The Group has
therefore set itself the objective of lasting improvements to its fixed-cost structure, plant productivity, procure-
ment costs, distribution expenses and working capital management.

STRATEGIC FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2022 Target 2030

Operating return on sales 8.1% 9to11%
Automotive investment ratio 13.6% ~9%
Cash conversion rate in the Automotive Division* 29.2% >60%
~10% of

€43.0 billion? consolidated

Net liquidity in the Automotive Division 15.4% sales revenue
Return on investment (ROI) in the Automotive Division 12.0% >18%

1 Net cash flow as a percentage of the operating result in the Automotive Division
2 Including cash inflows from the IPO of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG.
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Internal Management System and
Key Performance Indicators

This chapter describes how the Volkswagen Group is managed and the key performance
indicators used for this purpose. In addition to financial measures, our management system
also contains nonfinancial key performance indicators.

The Volkswagen Group's performance and success are expressed in both financial and nonfinancial key perfor-
mance indicators.

In the following, we first describe the internal management process and then explain the Volkswagen Group's
most significant performance indicators, known as the core performance indicators.

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT PROCESS IN THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

Consistent, close integration of the Group and brand strategies with the operational planning process ensures
transparency at the Volkswagen Group when it comes to the financial assessment and evaluation of strategic
decisions. The operational medium-term planning that is conducted once a year and generally covers a period of
five years is incorporated into the strategic planning as a key management element of the Group.

Medium-term planning forms the core of our operational planning and is used to formulate and safeguard the
requirements for realizing strategic projects designed to meet Group targets in both technical and economic terms
- and particularly in relation to earnings, cash flow and liquidity effects. In addition, this planning also serves as a
basis to coordinate all business areas with respect to the strategic action areas concerned, namely functions/pro-
cesses, products and markets.

When planning the Company's future, the individual planning components are determined on the basis of the
timescale involved:
> The long-term unit sales plan, which sets out market and segment growth and then derives the Volkswagen

Group's delivery volumes from this
> The product program as the strategic, long-term factor determining corporate policy
> Capacity and utilization planning for the individual sites

The coordinated results of the upstream planning processes are used as the basis for the medium-term finan-
cial planning: the Group's financial planning, including the brands and business fields, comprises the income
statement, cash flow and balance sheet planning, profitability and liquidity, as well as the upfront investments
needed for alternative products and the implementation of strategic options in the future. The first year of the
medium-term planning period is fixed and a budget drawn up for the individual months. This is planned in detail
down to the level of the operating cost centers.

The budget is reviewed each month to establish the target achievement level. Key internal management
instruments comprise target/actual comparisons, prior-year comparisons, variance analyses and, where neces-
sary, action plans to ensure targets are met. For the current fiscal year, detailed revolving monthly forecasts are
prepared for the coming three months and the full year, taking into account the current risks and opportunities.
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The focus of intrayear internal management is therefore on adapting ongoing activities. The current forecast
serves as the starting point for the subsequent medium-term and budget planning.

CORE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS IN THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

As part of our new leadership model, we have adjusted the core performance indicators in the Volkswagen
Group. These now include:

> Deliveries to customers

> Sales revenue

Operating result

Operating return on sales

Automotive investment ratio

\

\

\

Net cash flow in the Automotive Division

> Net liquidity in the Automotive Division

> Return on investment (ROI) in the Automotive Division (until 2023)

Deliveries to customers (including the Chinese joint ventures) are defined as handovers of new vehicles to the

\

end customer. This figure reflects the popularity of our products and is the measure we use to determine our
competitive position in the various markets. Deliveries are closely related to our goal of transforming the
Volkswagen Group into one of the world's leading providers of sustainable mobility. One of the most important
prerequisites for the Company's long-term success is a strong brand portfolio that - on the basis of outstanding
quality - offers tailor-made mobility solutions in the form of safe, connected, resource-efficient and thus largely
emission-free vehicles that meet the diverse needs of customers. Demand for our products and mobility services
guarantees not only unit sales and production, but also full utilization of our sites and the jobs of our employees.
The goals we are striving for cannot be achieved without a skilled, flexible and dedicated workforce along with a
consensus on shared values.

Sales revenue, which does not include the figures for our equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures, reflects
our market success in financial terms. Following adjustment for our use of resources, the operating result reflects
the Company'’s actual business activity and documents the economic success of our core business. The oper-
ating return on sales is the ratio of the operating result to sales revenue.

The automotive investment ratio indicates the ratio of investment to sales revenue and is calculated by
adding the research and development ratio (R&D ratio) and the capex to sales revenue ratio. The research and
development ratio in the Automotive Division shows total research and development costs in relation to sales
revenue. Research and development costs comprise a range of expenses, from futurology to the development of
our marketable products. Particular emphasis is placed on the environmentally friendly orientation and digi-
talization of our product portfolio, the expansion of our battery expertise, the development of software and new
platforms and the creation of new technologies. The R&D ratio reflects the activities we have undertaken to
safeguard the Company’s future viability. The ratio of capex (investments in property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs) to sales revenue in the
Automotive Division reflects both our innovative power and our future competitiveness. It shows our capital
expenditure - largely for modernizing, expanding, electrifying and digitalizing our product range and for environ-
mentally friendly drivetrains, as well as for adjusting production capacities and improving production processes
- in relation to the Automotive Division's sales revenue.
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Net cash flow in the Automotive Division represents the excess funds from operating activities available for
dividend payments, for example. It is calculated as cash flows from operating activities less cash flows from
investing activities attributable to operating activities.

Net liquidity in the Automotive Division is the total of cash, cash equivalents, securities, time deposits and
loans not financed by third-party borrowings. To safeguard our business activities, we have formulated the
strategic target that net liquidity in the Automotive Division should amount to approximately 10% of the consoli-
dated sales revenue.

We use the return on investment (ROI) to calculate the return on invested capital for a particular period in the
Automotive Division, including the equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures on a proportionate basis, by calcu-
lating the ratio of the operating result after tax to average invested capital. If the return on investment (ROI)
exceeds the market cost of capital, the value of the Company has increased. This is how we measure the finan-
cial success of our brands, locations and vehicle projects.

In our Financing the Transformation base initiative, we stepped up our activities to optimize net cash flow. To
achieve the strategic goals, performance programs have also been launched Group-wide in an effort to increase
efficiency and boost earnings.
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Structure and Business Activities

This chapter describes the legal and organizational structure of the Volkswagen Group
and explains the material changes in 2023 with respect to equity investments.

OUTLINE OF THE LEGAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP
Volkswagen AG is the parent company of the Volkswagen Group. It develops vehicles and components for the
Group brands, but also produces and sells vehicles, in particular passenger cars and light commercial vehicles
for the Volkswagen Passenger Cars and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brands. In its capacity as parent com-
pany, Volkswagen AG holds direct or indirect interests in AUDI AG, SEAT S.A,, Skoda Auto a.s., Dr. Ing. h.c. F.
Porsche AG, TRATON SE, Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH and a large number of
other companies in Germany and abroad. More detailed disclosures are contained in the list of shareholdings in
accordance with sections 285 and 313 of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB - German Commercial Code), which can
be accessed at www.volkswagen-group.com/investor-relations and is part of the annual financial statements.

Volkswagen AG is a vertically integrated energy supply company as defined by section 3 no. 38 of the Energie-
wirtschaftsgesetz (EnWG - German Energy Industry Act) and is therefore subject to the provisions of the EnWG.
In the electricity sector, Volkswagen AG generates, sells and distributes electricity as a group together with its
subsidiaries.

The Volkswagen AG Board of Management has sole responsibility for managing the Company. The Super-
visory Board appoints, monitors and advises the Board of Management; it is consulted directly on decisions that
are of fundamental significance for the Company.

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

The Volkswagen Group is one of the leading multibrand groups in the automotive industry. The Company's busi-
ness activities comprise the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. Our core brands within the Automotive
Division - with the exception of the Volkswagen Passenger Cars and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brands -
are independent legal entities.

The Automotive Division comprises the Passenger Cars, Commercial Vehicles and Power Engineering busi-
ness areas.

The Passenger Cars Business Area primarily consolidates the Volkswagen Group's passenger car brands and
the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brand. Activities focus on the development of vehicles, engines and vehi-
cle software, the production and sale of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, and the genuine parts
business. The product portfolio ranges from compact cars to luxury vehicles and also includes motorcycles, and
is supplemented by mobility solutions.
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The Commercial Vehicles Business Area primarily comprises the development, production and sale of trucks and
buses, the corresponding genuine parts business and related services. The commercial vehicles portfolio ranges
from light vans to heavy trucks and buses. The collaboration between the commercial vehicle brands is coordi-
nated within TRATON SE.

The Power Engineering Business Area combines the large-bore diesel engines, turbomachinery and propul-
sion components businesses.

The Financial Services Division's activities comprise dealer and customer financing, leasing, direct banking
and insurance activities, fleet management and mobility services.

With its brands, the Volkswagen Group is present in all of the markets around the world that are relevant for
the Group. The key sales markets currently include Western Europe, China, the USA, Brazil, Turkiye, Mexico,
Poland and Czech Repubilic.

Volkswagen AG and the Volkswagen Group are managed by the Volkswagen AG Board of Management in
accordance with the Volkswagen AG Articles of Association and the rules of procedure for Volkswagen AG's
Board of Management issued by the Supervisory Board.

Accordingly, responsibilities in the Board of Management are currently divided among ten Board functions.
In addition to the “Chair of the Board of Management” function the other Board functions are “Technology”,
“Finance and Operations” (formerly “"Finance"), "Human Resources and Trucks brand group” (formerly "Human
Resources and Truck & Bus"), “Integrity and Legal Affairs”, “Progressive brand group” (formerly “Premium"),
“Sport Luxury brand group” (formerly “Sport & Luxury"), “IT", “China", and “Core brand group” (formerly “Volume").
The Chair of the Board of Management is also responsible for the "Sport Luxury brand group” Board function.

Directly attached to the Board are a number of Group Management functions that act as an extension to the
Board functions. These comprise the "Group Sales", “Group Production”, “Group Procurement” and “Group Research
and Development” functions.

The allocation of responsibilities on the Board of Management is based on the rules of procedure decided by
the Supervisory Board. The way this is structured helps the Board of Management to focus on key tasks such as
strategy, central decisions on the Company's direction, capital allocation and financial requirements. The task of
the extended board-level management functions is to leverage synergies in the Group and to connect the brands
and divisions.

Board of Management committees exist at Group level for the following areas: products, technologies, invest-
ments, digital transformation, integrity and compliance, risk management, human resources and management
issues. In addition to the responsible members of the Board of Management, the relevant central departments
and the relevant functions of the divisions are also represented on the committees. We are continually revising
and optimizing these and other top management committees in the Group in order to verify that they still align
with our corporate strategy and to further increase the efficiency of their decision making. This reduces com-
plexity and reinforces governance within the Group.

As part of the "Group Steering Model” base initiative from the NEW AUTO Group strategy, a new leadership
model for the Group was presented at the Capital Markets Day in June 2023 that will sharpen the focus on
customer orientation, entrepreneurship and team spirit. It follows the "value over volume" principle, prioritizing
sustainable value creation over volume growth. As part of this, the brand groups will receive a new steering
model. In addition, the brand positioning and the product range are to be sharpened. The realignment also
included a renaming of the brand groups: Volume has become Core, Premium is now called Progressive, Sport &
Luxury has been changed to Sport Luxury, and Truck & Bus to Trucks. The Core brand group comprises the
Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Skoda, SEAT/CUPRA and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles brands. The Progres-
sive brand group comprises the Audi, Lamborghini, Bentley and Ducati brands. The Sport Luxury brand group
consists of the Porsche brand. The company responsible for this brand, Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG (Porsche AG),
has been listed on the stock market since the end of September 2022. In the Trucks brand group, TRATON SE
acts as the umbrella for the Scania, MAN, Volkswagen Truck & Bus and Navistar commercial vehicles brands.
TRATON SE is also a listed company.
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In addition to the strengthening of the brand groups, the reorganization and expansion of new units also enabled
substantial progress to be made with the “Architecture”, "Software”, "Battery, Charging & Energy", and "Volks-
wagen Group Mobility” technology platforms in the reporting year. The structures and product processes at the
software subsidiary CARIAD will be optimized further.

We are convinced that our corporate structure, which efficiently connects not only the brand groups but also
the technology platforms, will enable us to make better use of existing expertise and economies of scale,
leverage synergies more systematically and accelerate decision making. Clear responsibilities and a high degree
of business responsibility in the brand groups and technology platforms will enable comprehensive imple-
mentation of the Group’s NEW AUTO strategy.

Each brand within the Volkswagen Group is managed by a brand board of management, which is responsible
for the brand's independent and self-contained development and business operations. To the extent permitted
by law, the board adheres to the Group targets and requirements laid down by the Board of Management of
Volkswagen AG, as well as with the agreements in the brand groups. This allows Group-wide interests to be
pursued, while at the same time safeguarding and reinforcing each brand'’s specific characteristics. Matters that
are of importance to the Group as a whole are submitted to the Volkswagen AG Board of Management to be
agreed upon, to the extent permitted by law. The rights and obligations of the statutory bodies of the relevant
brand company thereby remain unaffected.

The Volkswagen Group companies are managed solely by their respective managements. The management of
each individual company takes into account not only the interest of its own company but also the interests of the
Group, the relevant brand group and the individual brands in accordance with the framework laid down by law.

MATERIAL CHANGES IN EQUITY INVESTMENTS

In May 2023, the Volkswagen Group completed the sale of its shares in OO0 Volkswagen Group Rus (Volks-
wagen Group Rus), Kaluga/Russia, and that company's local subsidiaries (OO0 Volkswagen Components and
Services, Kaluga/Russia, OOO Scania Leasing, Moscow/Russia, OO0 Scania Finance, Moscow/Russia, OO0
Scania Insurance, Moscow/Russia) to OO0 ART-FINANCE, Moscow/Russia, which is supported by the Russian
dealer AO Avilon Automotive Group, Moscow/Russia. With the registration of the transaction, also in May 2023,
ownership of the shares in Volkswagen Group Rus was transferred from the seller to the buyer. The transaction
comprises the production facilities in Kaluga, the importer network of the Group brands Volkswagen Passenger
Cars, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Audi, Skoda, Bentley, Lamborghini and Ducati for possible after-sales
business and warehouse activities, as well as Scania's financial services activities, including all associated
employees.

Bl VOLKSWAGEN AG SHAREHOLDINGS
www.volkswagen-group.com/investor-relations
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LEGAL FACTORS INFLUENCING BUSINESS

Like other international companies, the business of Volkswagen companies is affected by numerous laws in
Germany and abroad. In particular, there are legal requirements relating to services, development, products,
production and distribution, as well as supervisory, data protection, financial, company, commercial, capital
market, anti-trust and tax regulations and regulations relating to labor, banking, state aid, energy, environmental
and insurance law.

GROUP CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DECLARATION
The Group Corporate Governance Declaration can be found in this annual report and is permanently available
on our website at www.volkswagen-group.com/en/corporate-governance.

BFl GROUP CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DECLARATION
www.volkswagen-group.com/en/corporate-governance
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Disclosures Required under
Takeover Law

This chapter contains the Volkswagen Group's disclosures relating
to takeover law required by sections 289a and 315a of the HGB.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Volkswagen AG's share capital amounted to €1,283,315,873.28 (€1,283,315,873.28) on December 31, 2023. It
was composed of 295,089,818 ordinary shares and 206,205,445 preferred shares. Each share conveys a notional
interest of €2.56 in the share capital.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
The shares convey pecuniary and administrative rights. The pecuniary rights include in particular the share-
holders' right to participate in profits (section 58(4) of the Aktiengesetz (AktG - German Stock Corporation Act)),
the right to participate in liquidation proceeds (section 271 of the AktG) and preemptive rights to shares in the
event of capital increases (section 186 of the AktG), which can be disapplied by the General Meeting with the
approval of the Special Meeting of Preferred Shareholders, where appropriate. Administrative rights include the
right to attend the General Meeting, to speak there, to ask questions, to propose motions and to exercise voting
rights. Following a change in the law (section 118a of the AktG), General Meetings can be held without share-
holders or their proxies being present at the venue (virtual General Meeting). The holding of virtual General
Meetings must be provided for in the Articles of Association. The Annual General Meeting on May 10, 2023
therefore resolved to amend the Articles of Association (Article 19(3)) and to authorize the Board of Management
to provide for the option of holding any General Meetings within five years of the entry in the commercial register
of this change in the Articles of Association as a virtual General Meeting. Shareholders can enforce their
pecuniary and administrative rights in particular through actions seeking disclosure and actions for avoidance.

Each ordinary share grants the holder one vote at the General Meeting. The General Meeting elects share-
holder representatives to the Supervisory Board and elects the auditors; in particular, it resolves on the appro-
priation of net profit, formally approves the actions of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board, and
resolves on amendments to the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, capital measures and authorizations
to purchase treasury shares; if required, it also resolves on the performance of a special audit, the removal before
the end of their term of office of Supervisory Board members elected by the General Meeting and the winding-up
of the Company.

Preferred shareholders generally have no voting rights. However, in the exceptional case that they are
granted voting rights by law (for example, when preferred share dividends were not paid in one year and not
compensated for in full in the following year), each preferred share also grants the holder one vote at the General
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Meeting. Furthermore, preferred shares entitle the holder to a €0.06 higher dividend than ordinary shares (further
details on this right to preferred and additional dividends are specified in Article 27(2) of the Articles of Asso-
ciation of Volkswagen AG).

The Gesetz (ber die Uberfiihrung der Anteilsrechte an der Volkswagenwerk Gesellschaft mit beschrinkter
Haftung in private Hand (VW-Gesetz - Act on the Privatization of Shares of Volkswagenwerk Gesellschaft mit
beschrankter Haftung) of July 21, 1960, as amended on July 30, 2009, includes various provisions in derogation
of the German Stock Corporation Act, for example on the exercising of voting rights by proxy (section 3 of the
VW-Gesetz) and on majority voting requirements at the General Meeting (section 4(3) of the VIW-Gesetz).

In accordance with the Volkswagen AG Articles of Association (Article 11(1)), the State of Lower Saxony is
entitled to appoint two members of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG for as long as it directly or indirectly
holds at least 15% of Volkswagen AG's ordinary shares. In addition, resolutions by the General Meeting that are
required by law to be adopted by a qualified majority require a majority of more than four-fifths of the share
capital of the Company represented when the resolution is adopted (Article 25(2)), regardless of the provisions of
the VW-Gesetz.

SHAREHOLDINGS EXCEEDING 10% OF VOTING RIGHTS

Shareholdings in Volkswagen AG that exceed 10% of voting rights are shown in the notes to the annual financial
statements of Volkswagen AG, which are available online at www.volkswagen-group.com/presentations-and-
publications. The current notifications regarding changes in voting rights in accordance with the Wertpapier-
handelsgesetz (WpHG - German Securities Trading Act) are published at www.volkswagen-group.com/distri-
bution-of-voting-rights.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board consists of 20 members, half of whom are shareholder representatives. In accordance
with Article 11(1) of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG, the State of Lower Saxony is entitled to
appoint two of these shareholder representatives for as long as it directly or indirectly holds at least 15% of the
Company's ordinary shares. The remaining shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board are elected by
the General Meeting.

The other half of the Supervisory Board consists of employee representatives elected by the employees in
accordance with the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG - German Codetermination Act). A total of seven of these
employee representatives are Company employees elected by the workforce; the other three employee repre-
sentatives are trade union representatives elected by the workforce.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board is generally a shareholder representative elected by the other mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board. In the event that a Supervisory Board vote is tied, the Chairman of the Supervisory
Board has a casting vote in accordance with the MitbestG.

The goals for the composition of the Supervisory Board and information about its composition are described
in the Group Corporate Governance Declaration.

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION WITH
REGARD TO THE APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF BOARD OF MANAGEMENT MEMBERS AND TO
AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
The appointment and removal of members of the Board of Management are governed by sections 84 and 85 of
the AktG, which specify that members of the Board of Management are appointed by the Supervisory Board for a
maximum of five years. Board of Management members may be reappointed or have their term of office extended
for a maximum of five years in each case. In addition, Article 6 of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG
states that the number of Board of Management members is stipulated by the Supervisory Board and that the
Board of Management must consist of at least three persons. The members of the Volkswagen AG Board of
Management must include at least one woman and at least one man.

The General Meeting resolves amendments to the Articles of Association (section 119(1) of the AktG). In
accordance with section 4(3) of the VIW/-Gesetz as amended on July 30, 2009 and Article 25(2) of the Articles of
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Association of Volkswagen AG, General Meeting resolutions to amend the Articles of Association require a
majority of more than four-fifths of the share capital represented.

POWERS OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT, IN PARTICULAR CONCERNING THE ISSUE OF NEW
SHARES AND THE REPURCHASE OF TREASURY SHARES

Under German stock corporation law, the General Meeting can authorize the Board of Management to issue new
shares for a maximum period of five years. A provision in the Articles of Association is required for this. It can also
authorize the Board of Management to issue bonds on the basis of which new shares are to be issued, also for a
maximum period of five years. The General Meeting also decides the extent to which shareholders have pre-
emptive rights to the new shares or bonds. The maximum amount of authorized share capital or contingent
capital available for these purposes is determined by Article 4 of the Articles of Association of Volkswagen AG,
as amended.

At the Annual General Meeting on May 10, 2023, a resolution was passed authorizing the Board of Manage-
ment to increase the Company's share capital, subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board, on one or more
occasions by a total of up to €227.5 million (corresponding to around 89 million shares) before May 9, 2028 by
issuing new nonvoting preferred shares against cash contributions.

Further details regarding the option of issuing new shares and how these shares may be used can be found in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY IN THE EVENT OF A CHANGE OF CONTROL
FOLLOWING A TAKEOVER BID

At the end of fiscal year 2019, a banking syndicate granted VVolkswagen AG a syndicated line of credit amounting
to €10.0 billion, which currently runs until December 2026. With the line of credit, the syndicate members were
granted the right to call their portion of the syndicated line of credit in the two forms of a change of control
described below. Firstly, a call right exists if one individual or several individuals acting jointly, who as of the date
of this agreement exercise control over the Company, have legal or economic ownership of shares that together
make up more than 90% of the voting rights of the Company. Secondly, a call right also exists if one individual or
several individuals acting jointly, who as of the date of this agreement do not exercise control over the Company,
obtain control over the Company. Such a call right does not exist, however, if one shareholder or several share-
holders of Porsche Automobil Holding SE or one or several legal entities from the Porsche or Piéch family directly
or indirectly obtain control over the Company.

Volkswagen AG and the Ford Motor Company entered into a Master Collaboration Agreement in January 2019.
This agreement sets out a framework of obligations, which are to apply to the further cooperation agreements
entered into between the parties, including those entered into in fiscal year 2021. It also covers the Development
Agreement concluded in January 2019 for the development of the next-generation Amarok. The Master Collab-
oration Agreement provides for a right of termination with immediate effect in the event of a change of control. A
change of control has been defined to mean a change affecting more than 50% of the voting capital of one of the
companies or a change in the ability to directly or indirectly control the management of a company through its
decision-making bodies. The right of termination must be exercised within 90 days of the company becoming
aware of a change of control.
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Business Development

The world economy recorded positive growth in fiscal year 2023. Global demand
for vehicles was noticeably higher than in the previous year. Amid a challenging market
environment, the VVolkswagen Group delivered 9.2 million vehicles to customers.

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY
The Russia-Ukraine conflict led to increased uncertainty in respect of developments in the global economy and
prompted large sections of the community of Western states to impose sanctions on Russia, ranging from
extensive trade embargoes to the partial exclusion of Russia from the global financial system. Russia itself, in its
role as an energy exporter, restricted gas deliveries to Europe. The resulting shortage of supply led particularly in
2022 to rising prices on energy and commodity markets. While prices dropped in the reporting year as a result of
weakening momentum in the global economy, they remain at a relatively high level in some cases. Furthermore,
salary trends in the overheated labor markets, among other factors, pose the threat of continued high inflation.
After the slump in global economic output in 2020 and the incipient recovery due to baseline and catch-up
effects in 2021, followed by a further normalization of economic activity in 2022 despite the Russia-Ukraine
conflict, the global economy recorded positive overall growth of +2.7 (+3.1)% in 2023. The slowdown in economic
momentum versus the previous year was mainly due to weaker growth in the advanced economies, whereas the
overall rate of change in the emerging markets increased somewhat. At national level, developments depended
on the one hand on the intensity with which central banks had to tighten monetary policy to curb the higher
inflation - mainly by raising interest rates and reducing bond holdings - which had a negative impact on con-
sumer spending and investment activity. On the other hand, the extent to which national economies were affected
by the consequences of the Russia-Ukraine conflict was a decisive factor. Prices for energy and many other raw
materials were lower than in the previous year, and shortages of intermediate products and commodities eased
somewhat. Global trade in goods expressed in nominal terms decreased in the reporting year.

Europe/Other Markets

The economy in Western Europe recorded positive, yet low overall growth of +0.4 (+3.5)% in 2023. This trend
was seen in many countries in Northern and Southern Europe. The main reasons for this were the momentary
and in some cases significant increases in energy and commodity prices, which had substantially pushed up
inflation rates in the previous year and thus had a negative impact on consumer confidence. Business sentiment
also deteriorated on average across all sectors. In addition, the restrictive monetary policy measures taken to
rein in inflation impacted both consumer spending and investment.
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ECONOMIC GROWTH
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The economies in Central and Eastern Europe recorded real growth in absolute gross domestic product (GDP) of
+2.6 (+1.1)% in the reporting year. While economic output in Central Europe saw positive, albeit less dynamic
growth of +1.7 (+4.5)%, GDP in the Eastern Europe region rose again in 2023 compared with the prior year for the
first time since the outbreak of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, with a growth rate of +3.6 (-2.8)%. Inflation rates
across the entire Central and Eastern Europe region declined on average in the reporting year, but remained at a
high level.

In TUrkiye, economic output for the year 2023 as a whole rose by +3.8 (+5.3)% amid very high inflation and a
fall in the value of the local currency. South Africa saw slight GDP growth of +0.6 (+1.9)% in the reporting year,
amid persistent structural deficits and political challenges.

Germany

Germany's economic output recorded a negative growth rate of -0.2 (+1.9)% in the reporting year. Compared
with the prior year, the seasonally adjusted unemployment figures rose on average. After reaching historically
high levels in 2022, monthly inflation rates fell on average over the year, but remained relatively high.

North America

US economic output grew by +2.4 (+1.9)% in the reporting year. In view of high inflation and the tight labor
market, the US Federal Reserve maintained its restrictive monetary policy and raised its key interest rate four
times over the course of the reporting year. Unemployment remained at a low level in the reporting year. GDP
rose by +1.1 (+3.8)% in neighboring Canada and by +3.3 (+3.9)% in Mexico.

South America

Brazil's economy posted GDP growth of +3.0 (+3.1)% in 2023. Argentina registered a negative economic per-
formance with a year-on-year decline in GDP of -1.7 (+5.0)% amid very high inflation and continued depreciation
of the local currency.
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EXCHANGE RATE MOVEMENTS FROM DECEMBER 2022 TO DECEMBER 2023
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Asia-Pacific

China's economic output rose faster in the reporting year at +5.4 (+3.0)% compared with the previous year,
positively influenced by the revocation of the zero-Covid strategy by the Chinese government. India registered
strong growth of +6.9 (+7.3)%. Japan recorded positive growth of +1.9 (+0.9)% year-on-year.

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR PASSENGER CARS AND LIGHT COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

In fiscal year 2023, the volume of the passenger car market worldwide was noticeably higher than in the prior
year at 76.6 million vehicles. Most markets registered growth, which together with weak prior-year figures was
attributable to the fact that shortages and disruption in global supply chains eased restricting vehicle availability
to a lesser extent. While the supply situation for intermediates improved compared with 2022, the trend in new
registrations in individual markets dampened at the end of the previous year, partly as a consequence of the
Russia-Ukraine conflict and pull-forward effects generated by state subsidies expiring.

Significant or strong growth was recorded in the overall markets of the Western Europe, Central and Eastern
Europe, Middle East and North America regions. The markets of the South America region were slightly higher
and the markets of the Asia-Pacific region noticeably higher than the prior-year level. The market in Africa fell
slightly short of the prior-year volume.

In the reporting year, the global volume of new registrations for light commercial vehicles was on a level with
the previous year (-0.2%).

Sector-specific environment

Along with fiscal policy measures, the sector-specific environment was considerably affected by the economic
situation, which contributed to the mixed trends in unit sales in the markets in the fiscal year now ended. While
real purchasing power fell in many places and vehicle prices stagnated at a high level, it was possible to reduce
the backlog of orders on a large scale due to increased vehicle availability worldwide. The fiscal policy measures
included tax cuts or increases, the introduction, expiry and adjustment of incentive programs and sales incen-
tives, as well as import duties. In addition, non-tariff trade barriers to protect the respective domestic automotive
industries made the movement of vehicles, parts and components more difficult.
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Europe/Other Markets

In Western Europe, the number of new passenger car registrations in the reporting year was significantly higher
than the previous year's weak level, increasing by 13.8% to 11.6 million vehicles. The performance of the large
individual passenger car markets was consistently positive in fiscal year 2023: France (+16.1%), the United
Kingdom (+17.9%), Italy (+18.8%) and Spain (+15.8%) significantly exceeded their respective prior-year levels.

The volume of new registrations for light commercial vehicles in Western Europe was significantly higher
than in the previous year, increasing by 16.3%.

The passenger car market volume in the Central and Eastern Europe region increased strongly by 23.6% in
fiscal year 2023 to 2.3 million vehicles after a very strong dip in the previous year. The number of sales was also
predominantly positive in the individual markets of Central Europe. The Czech Republic and Poland recorded
significant growth of 15.3% and 13.0%, respectively.

The market volume of light commercial vehicles in Central and Eastern Europe in the reporting year was
noticeably higher than the previous year's figure (+7.3%).

The volume of the passenger car market in TUrkiye in the reporting year was up more than 50% on the prior-
year level. In South Africa, the growth trend that had persisted since 2021 came to an end, with the number of
passenger car sales falling slightly by 3.8%.

The volume of new registrations of light commercial vehicles in Tirkiye was very strongly (+38.1%) and in
South Africa significantly (+16.5%) higher in the reporting year than the 2022 level.

Germany
At 2.8 million units, the total number of new passenger car registrations in Germany in fiscal year 2023 was
noticeably higher than the weak prior-year level (+7.3%). Shortages and disruption in global supply chains eased,
improving vehicle availability and allowing the backlog of orders from the previous year to be cleared. The
number of passenger cars produced rose by 18.3% to 4.1 million vehicles and exports of passenger cars grew by
17.5% to 3.1 million units.

The number of sales of light commercial vehicles in Germany in the reporting year was significantly up on the
2022 figure (+15.7%).

North America

At 18.6 million vehicles, sales of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles (up to 6.35 tonnes) in the North
America region in fiscal year 2023 were significantly higher than in the prior year (+13.1%). Market growth in the
USA, which increased by 12.3% to 15.6 million units, was slightly below the average for this region. The Canadian
automotive market also registered a significant increase in sales figures to 1.7 million units (+12.5%) in the
reporting year, while new registrations of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles in Mexico saw a strong
rise of 25.1% year-on-year to 1.4 million vehicles.

South America

In the South America region, the volume of new passenger car and light commercial vehicle registrations in the
reporting year was slightly higher than the prior-year level at 3.7 million units, continuing the positive growth
trend that had begun in 2021. In Brazil, the number of new vehicle registrations was significantly higher than the
prior-year figure at 2.2 million units (+11.0%). In the Argentinian market, demand for passenger cars and light
commercial vehicles in the reporting year also rose significantly by 11.7% to 425 thousand units.

Asia-Pacific

In the Asia-Pacific region, the volume of the passenger car market in fiscal year 2023 was noticeably higher than
the previous year's figure at 36.2 million units (+6.6%). The increased demand for passenger cars in the region
was primarily determined by the trend in the Chinese passenger car market. Here, state subsidies and incentive
programs expired at the end of 2022, causing pull-forward effects in vehicle purchases and consequently
reducing the number of vehicle registrations at the beginning of 2023. Since then, demand has recovered, partly
as a result of discounts and continuing regional incentive programs, while competition has intensified. Overall,
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the volume of demand in China totaled 22.2 million units (+5.5%), noticeably higher than the previous year's
level. In India, passenger car sales also rose noticeably by 9.9% year-on-year to 4.0 million units. New registra-
tions in the Japanese passenger car market in the reporting year were significantly up on the prior-year level at
4.0 million units (+15.4%).

The volume of demand for light commercial vehicles in the Asia-Pacific region in 2023 was noticeably lower
than the previous year's level (-7.1%). Registration volumes in China, the region’s dominant market and the
largest market worldwide, experienced a slight rise of 1.4% compared to the prior year. The number of new vehi-
cle registrations in India was slightly below the prior-year level (-3.8%); in Japan this figure was slightly higher
than in the previous year (+4.2%).

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

In the markets that are relevant for the Volkswagen Group, demand for mid-sized and heavy trucks with a gross
weight of more than six tonnes experienced noticeable growth in fiscal year 2023 versus the comparison period
(+8.5%). Global truck markets grew significantly, due in particular to a recovery of the Chinese market following
the end of the country’'s zero-Covid strategy.

In the 27 EU states excluding Malta, but including the United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland (EU27+3),
the number of new truck registrations was significantly up on the prior-year level, increasing by 15.1% to a total
of 387 thousand vehicles. Growth could be observed in many truck markets in the region, albeit to differing
degrees. The noticeable market recovery seen in 2022 accelerated during the reporting year to a significant level
of growth. New registrations in Germany, the largest market in this region, were up strongly on the previous year
(+23.6%). The United Kingdom recorded a significant increase of 13.6%, and demand in France was also signifi-
cantly higher than in the previous year (+10.7%). Turkiye recorded a strong rise in new registrations of 17.8%. In
the South African market, demand rose noticeably (+9.3%). The truck market in North America is divided into
weight classes 1to 8. In the segments relevant for Volkswagen - Class 6 to 8 (8.85 tonnes or heavier) - new
registrations were noticeably higher (+9.7%) than the previous year’s figure. In Brazil, the largest market in the
South America region, demand for trucks in the reporting year was significantly down on the previous year
(-16.5%) due to the introduction of a new emissions standard at the beginning of 2023.

Demand in the bus markets relevant for the Volkswagen Group was strongly higher than in the previous year
(+23.2%). Total demand for buses in the EU27+3 markets in the reporting year was up significantly on the
previous year (+18.7%), with the picture varying from country to country. The school bus segment in the USA and
Canada recorded a strong increase (+22.6%) compared with the prior year. Demand for buses in Mexico was
even much stronger than in the previous year (+70.3%). In Brazil, demand was significantly higher than the prior-
year level (+17.7%).

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR POWER ENGINEERING
The markets for power engineering are influenced by varying regional and economic factors. Consequently, the
business growth trends of the respective markets develop mostly independently of one another.

In 2023, the marine market remained at a similar level to the previous year. Demand in merchant shipping
was mostly stable despite higher ship prices, and long waiting times due to high shipyard utilization rates. In this
segment, in particular the market for tankers recorded a positive trend while the markets for container ships,
LNG tankers and bulk cargo carriers saw a year-on-year decline. The market for cruise ships remained at a stable
level overall due to positive developments in the last quarter of the reporting year. By contrast, the market for
passenger ferries contracted. The special market for government vessels, which is funded by state investment,
continued to be active due to the current geopolitical situation. The uncertainty regarding future fuel and
emissions regulations persisted in the marine market in 2023, but in general a clear trend towards new fuel
technologies was confirmed. Owing to the continued uncertainty about future fuels, demand regarding dual-fuel
engines and retrofits increased in particular in the market for two-stroke engines.
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There was reticence in the market for energy generation in 2023, particularly in Europe. This was due to the gas
supply issues and the continued lack of a finalized framework for the future operation of power plants on the part
of policymakers. The current focus on the expansion of renewable energy sources was reflected in corresponding
potential in the demand for grid balancing facilities. Such facilities are used to meet power requirements if the
share of renewables is not sufficient to ensure security of supply. A very positive trend was observed in the
demand for power-to-methane plants. In the engines segment, there is a continuously rising demand for flexible
dual-fuel engines. There is also a clear demand on the market for engines that can be converted for use with
synthetic fuels such as hydrogen and green ammonia. Demand for new energy solutions such as hydrogen and
long-term energy storage continued to be strong, with a clear trend towards greater flexibility and decentralized
availability. However, the risks of a continued lack of price stability in the markets and the bottlenecks in supply
chains were undiminished in the reporting period, as was the strong competitive and price pressure.

There was more movement in the turbomachinery market than in the previous year. Prices for raw materials
continued to be high, leading to solid demand in the raw materials and processing industry for production
facilities with turbo compressors. Sales of turbo compressors for oil and gas production were up year-on-year,
bolstered by the persistently high demand for security of supply, as well as by an investment backlog. Among the
new business fields, in the area of decarbonization sales of turbomachinery were up year-on-year. Demand for
steam turbines used for power generation and gas turbines used for decentralized, industrial combined-heat-
and-power installations was lower than in the previous year.

In 2023, the after-sales market for engines in the marine and power plant business was at the same high level
as in the previous year.

In the after-sales market for turbomachinery, demand in the reporting year was up on the prior-year level.

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES
Demand for automotive financial services was at a high level in fiscal year 2023; however, higher interest rates
put pressure on demand for financial services in almost all regions.

The European passenger car market was still affected by shortages in the reporting year. Vehicle deliveries
nevertheless increased and were up on the prior-year period. Demand for financial services products also grew;
however, as a percentage of vehicle deliveries, the figure was down on the equivalent figure for 2022. The posi-
tive trend in the financing of used vehicles continued. The sale of after-sales products such as servicing, main-
tenance and spare parts agreements continued to expand.

In Germany, the persistent challenges presented by parts supply in vehicle production and by logistics chains
continued to impact vehicle sales and the financial services business. Nevertheless, the increase in deliveries of
new vehicles led to a higher volume of contracts in 2023. New vehicle penetration was down on the comparative
figure for 2022, however. New contracts for used vehicles were on a level with the previous year. The number of
new after-sales contracts increased and in the reporting year was above the level seen in 2022.

The Turkish market experienced considerable volatility. A combination of sharp interest rate hikes, the weak
currency, persistently high inflation and a refinancing environment that continued to be challenging kept lending
practices restrictive. Used cars continued to command high prices, despite the first signs of a decline.

In South Africa, financed vehicle purchases remained at a comparatively low level due to the subdued eco-
nomic conditions, higher vehicle prices and increased energy prices. However, inflation eased, and after increasing
interest rates ten times in succession from November 2021 onwards, the South African Reserve Bank did not
raise interest rates again.

Compared with the previous year, the markets in the North America region developed positively on the whole
in 2023, with demand for vehicles rising. Despite higher interest rates, new vehicle penetration in the USA and
Canada was also above the previous year's level, particularly in the leasing business. In Mexico, meanwhile, the
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penetration of leasing and financing contracts declined. The number of new contracts for after-sales products
was up year-on-year throughout the entire region.

In the South America region, the positive growth trend in the volume of new vehicle sales continued. The
market for financial services benefited from increased deliveries and growth was registered in the number of
financing contracts. In Argentina, the level of financing contracts was stable in spite of challenging macro-
economic conditions. In Brazil, the number of new contracts rose thanks to the range of attractive financial
services offered. The number of car subscriptions entered into also rose.

The Chinese automotive market witnessed a rise in demand for electrified and used vehicles. This in turn also
affected demand for automotive financial services. At the same time, banks with attractive products are gaining
a foothold in the market. In Japan, there was a positive trend in demand for automotive financial services thanks
to a rise in vehicle availability. Interest rates that were relatively low by international comparison and attractive
financial service offerings in many places were key features of this market.

The financial services business in the market for heavy commercial vehicles was slightly up on the prior-year
level in fiscal year 2023. The lengthy delivery times for commercial vehicles are gradually beginning to return to
normal. The borrowing habits of commercial vehicle customers changed due to the rise in interest rates: the
decision on financing is moving closer to the time of vehicle delivery because customers are counting on falling
interest rates.

NEW GROUP MODELS IN 2023

The Volkswagen Group offers a broad portfolio of products covering almost all key segments and body types so
that its customers can choose the right vehicle for their needs. In fiscal year 2023, we added further attractive
vehicles, not only systematically expanding our portfolio of all-electric and hybrid vehicles, but also bringing
compelling products with conventional combustion engines onto the market.

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand expanded its portfolio of all-electric vehicles in 2023, adding a further
product line with the new ID.7 saloon, crowned “"German Car of the Year 2024". The second generation of the
ID.3 was given an extensive facelift, whilst the Touareg also benefited from a product upgrade. In China, the
upgraded Tharu and T-Roc came onto the market amongst the vehicles with conventional drive systems. The
newly developed Lavida XR saloon and the all-electric ID.7 VIZZION rounded off the range of new products. In
the United States, the Atlas SUV was upgraded. The Track, a particularly attractive entry-level model from the
important Polo product line, was launched in Brazil.

At Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, the all-electric ID. Buzz product line was expanded in 2023 with the
addition of the ID. Buzz Pro and ID. Buzz Cargo derivatives for commercial use.

In the reporting year, Audi launched the Q8 e-tron, the successor to its electric pioneer, the Audi e-tron. Of the
vehicles with conventional drive systems, the A6 and A7 model ranges and the Q8 also received an upgrade.

Bentley completed its Mulliner line, rolling out the luxury flagship Bentayga EWB Mulliner. The Continen-
tal GT, Flying Spur and Bentayga model lines were all updated. A strictly limited number of the new Grand Tourer
Bentley Batur was also available.

Lamborghini unveiled the Revuelto, its first hybrid super sports car. The Huracan Sterrato also came on the
market.

Porsche expanded its 911 series in 2023 to include the new Carrera T and Dakar models. The third generation
of the Cayenne SUV received an extensive product upgrade, thus increasing the number of hybrid vehicles in the
product line to three models.

The TRATON Group moved ahead with the electrification and digitalization of its model range in 2023.

Scania rolled out all-electric solutions for regional distribution transport which use battery cells developed in
partnership with Northvolt. Smart Dash, a new digital cockpit from Scania, was also launched.
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Navistar electrified American school transportation with the CE school bus from IC Bus.

In 2023, Volkswagen Truck & Bus adapted its models in line with Brazil's new emissions legislation and rolled
out its first zero-emission vehicle in South America, the eDelivery.

Ducati presented the new Panigale V4 R, the Monster SP and the Multistrada V4 Rally. The Streetfighter and
the Diavel are now also available as V4 models. The second generation of the Scrambler family ushered in three
new models: the Icon, Full Throttle and Nightshift.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP DELIVERIES

The Volkswagen Group delivered 9,239,512 vehicles to customers worldwide in fiscal year 2023. This was
11.8% or 976,751 units more than in the previous year, which had suffered in particular from the limited
availability of Group models caused by the continued shortage of semiconductors, and from the Russia-Ukraine
conflict. Parts supply shortages continued to have an adverse effect in the reporting year. In addition, disruptions
in logistics chains had a negative effect; however, this effect diminished in the course of the year. Sales of both
passenger cars and commercial vehicles were up year-on-year. In the following, we report separately on deliv-
eries in the Passenger Cars Business Area and the Commercial Vehicles Business Area.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP DELIVERIES?

2023 2022 %
Passenger Cars 8,901,338 7,957,274 +11.9
Commercial Vehicles 338,174 305,487 +10.7
Total 9,239,512 8,262,761 +11.8

1 The figures include the equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures. Prior-year deliveries have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends.

GLOBAL DELIVERIES BY THE PASSENGER CARS BUSINESS AREA

With its passenger car brands, the Volkswagen Group is present in all relevant automotive markets around the
world. The key sales markets currently include Western Europe, China, the USA, Brazil, Tirkiye, Mexico, Poland
and Czech Republic.

Sales of Volkswagen Group passenger cars and light commercial vehicles worldwide increased to 8,901,338
units in fiscal year 2023. This was 11.9% or 944,064 vehicles more than in the previous year, which had suffered
in particular from the limited availability of Group models caused by the continued shortage of semiconductors,
and from the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Parts supply shortages continued to have an adverse effect in the
reporting year. In addition, disruptions in logistics chains had a negative effect; however, this effect diminished in
the course of the year. With the exception of Bentley, all Volkswagen Group brands delivered more vehicles to
customers than in the previous year. We recorded an increase in deliveries to customers in all major individual
markets as well as in all sales regions around the world.

The Group's e-mobility campaign continued to move ahead successfully; we delivered 771,062 all-electric
vehicles to customers worldwide in the reporting year. This was 198,590 or 34.7% more units than in the pre-
vious year. Their share of the Group's total deliveries rose to 8.3 (6.9)%. Deliveries to customers of our plug-in
hybrid models amounted to 256,449 (+4.4%). Total electric vehicle deliveries went up by 25.6% and their share of
total Group deliveries rose year-on-year to 11.1(9.9)%. The Group's most successful all-electric vehicles
included the ID.4 and ID.3 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the Skoda Enyaq iV, the CUPRA Born, the ID. Buzz
from Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, the Audi Q4 e-tron and Audi Q8 e-tron, as well as the Porsche Taycan
and Taycan Cross Turismo.

In an overall global market that saw noticeable growth, we achieved a passenger car market share of 11.1
(11.0)%.
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VOLKSWAGEN GROUP DELIVERIES BY MONTH
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The table at the end of this section gives an overview of passenger car deliveries to customers of the Volks-
wagen Group in the regions and the key individual markets. The sales figures for Group models in these markets
and regions are explained below.

Deliveries in Europe/Other Markets

In Western Europe, the Volkswagen Group delivered 3,141,434 vehicles to customers in 2023 in an overall
market experiencing significant growth. This was 20.1% more than in the weak prior-year, which had suffered in
particular from the limited availability of Group models caused by the continued shortage of semiconductors,
and from the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Parts supply shortages continued to have an adverse effect in the
reporting year. In addition, disruptions in logistics chains had a negative effect; however, this effect diminished in
the course of the year.

Customer interest in the Volkswagen Group's electrified vehicles was strongest in Western Europe, where we
delivered almost three-quarters of our plug-in hybrids and more than half of our all-electric models to customers
in fiscal year 2023. In this region, electrified vehicles accounted for 19.8 (19.1)% of the Group's total deliveries;
the share of all-electric vehicles stood at 14.0 (12.6)%. The Group models with the highest sales volume were
the T-Roc, Polo, Tiguan and Golf from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand. Other models that witnessed
encouraging demand included the ID.4, Taigo, Passat Estate and ID.3 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the
Octavia Combi, Enyaq iV and Kamiq from Skoda, the Arona and Ibiza from SEAT, the CUPRA Formentor, CUPRA
Born and CUPRA Leon, the ID. Buzz from Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, the A3 Sportback, Al Sportback, Q2,
Q3 Sportback and Q4 e-tron from Audi, as well as the Porsche Macan and the Porsche 911 coupé. In the
reporting year, the ID.3, ID.7 and the Touareg from the VVolkswagen Passenger Cars brand, the Audi Q8 e-tron and
the Porsche Cayenne were among the models that were successfully introduced to the market as new or
successor models. The Volkswagen Group's share of the passenger car market in Western Europe increased to
24.5 (23.3)%.

In the Central and Eastern Europe region, the number of vehicles handed over to customers in 2023 was up
13.3% year-on-year. The market as a whole recorded strong volume growth at the same time. Demand devel-
oped encouragingly for a number of models, including the Taigo from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, as well as for
the Skoda Octavia and Skoda Kamiqg. The Volkswagen Group's share of the passenger car market in the Central
and Eastern Europe region declined to 19.4 (21.5)%.
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WORLDWIDE DELIVERIES OF THE MOST SUCCESSFUL GROUP MODEL RANGES IN 2023

Tiguan | 499
Passat I 490
Polo I 441
Jetta I 362
Q5 I 332
T-Roc I 312
Lavida I 290
Golf I 289

In Turkiye, where the overall passenger car market expanded very strongly, the Volkswagen Group delivered
61.6% more vehicles to customers in the past fiscal year than in 2022. The Polo from Volkswagen Passenger
Cars was the most sought-after Group model. In the South African market, the number of Group models sold
decreased by 3.2%, while the overall market likewise narrowed slightly. The Polo from the Volkswagen Passen-
ger Cars brand was also the most sought-after Group model in this region.

Deliveries in Germany

In Germany, the number of vehicles delivered to VVolkswagen Group customers in an overall market registering
noticeable growth was up 14.4% in 2023 on the weak prior-year period, which had suffered in particular from
the limited availability of Group models attributable to the continued shortage of semiconductors, and from the
Russia-Ukraine conflict. Parts supply shortages continued to have an adverse effect in the reporting year. In
addition, disruptions in logistics chains had a negative effect; however, this effect diminished in the course of the
year.

The Group models with the highest sales volume were the T-Roc, Golf, Passat and Tiguan from the Volks-
wagen Passenger Cars brand. In addition, models such as the ID.4 and ID.5 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars,
Skoda's Octavia Combi and Enyaq iV, SEAT's Arona, the CUPRA Born and CUPRA Leon, the ID. Buzz from
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, and the A4 Avant, Q2, Q4 e-tron and Al Sportback from the Audi brand all
saw encouraging demand. Seven Group models led the Kraftfahrt-Bundesamt (KBA - German Federal Motor
Transport Authority) registration statistics in their respective segments: the Golf, T-Roc, Tiguan, Passat, Audi A6,
Multivan/Transporter and Porsche 911. The Golf was again the most popular passenger car in Germany in terms
of registrations in 2023.

Deliveries in North America

In the reporting year, the number of Volkswagen Group models delivered to customers in North America increased
by 18.4% year-on-year in an overall market experiencing significant growth. The share of all-electric vehicles in
the Group's total deliveries rose to 8.5 (5.9)% in this region. The Tiguan Allspace and Taos from Volkswagen
Passenger Cars were the most sought-after Group models in North America, along with the Audi Q5. The Atlas
from Volkswagen Passenger Cars, the Audi Q8 e-tron and the Porsche Cayenne were among the successor
models that were successfully launched on the market during the reporting year. The Group's share of the market
in this region amounted to 4.8 (4.6)%.
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In fiscal year 2023, the Volkswagen Group delivered 13.3% more vehicles to customers in the significantly
expanding US market than in the previous year, in which parts supply shortages in particular had likewise had an
adverse effect. The Group models to record the greatest increases in absolute terms included the ID.4 from
Volkswagen Passenger Cars as well as the Audi Q5 and the Audi Q7. In addition, the Atlas from Volkswagen
Passenger Cars, the Audi Q4 e-tron and the Porsche Macan, among others, performed encouragingly. The vol-
ume of all-electric vehicles delivered in the United States went up by 60.8% year-on-year to 71,041 units.

In Canada, the number of vehicles delivered to Volkswagen Group customers was up 28.1% in the reporting
year compared with 2022. The market as a whole recorded significant growth at the same time. The Group
models with the highest volume of demand were the Tiguan Allspace and the Taos from the Volkswagen Pas-
senger Cars brand, along with the Audi Q5.

In Mexico, where the market as a whole saw strong growth, we sold 37.3% more vehicles to customers in the
past fiscal year than in 2022. Demand developed encouragingly for, among others, the Taos, Virtus and Jetta
from Volkswagen Passenger Cars.

Deliveries in South America

In the South American market for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, which was slightly higher than
in the previous year, the number of Group models handed over to customers in 2023 was up 17.2% on the prior-
year figure. The Polo, T-Cross and Nivus from Volkswagen Passenger Cars were the Group models with the
highest sales volumes. The new Polo Track was successfully introduced to the market in the reporting year. The
Group's share of the market in South America rose to 12.6 (11.1)%.

In the Brazilian market, which performed significantly better than in the previous year, the Volkswagen Group
delivered 28.4% more vehicles to customers in the reporting year. The development of the sales of the Polo,
Saveiro and Virtus models from VVolkswagen Passenger Cars was particularly encouraging.

In Argentina, the number of VVolkswagen Group vehicles handed over to customers in 2023 increased by
20.0% year-on-year in an overall market exhibiting significant growth. Group models with the highest sales
volume were the Taos from VVolkswagen Passenger Cars and the Amarok from VVolkswagen Commercial Vehicles.

Deliveries in the Asia-Pacific region

In the past fiscal year, the Volkswagen Group saw deliveries to customers in the Asia-Pacific region rise by 2.3%
compared with 2022 in a market that experienced noticeable growth overall. The Group's share of the passenger
car market in this region amounted to 9.9 (10.3)%.

In China, the overall market volume likewise recorded noticeable growth compared with the previous year, in
which parts supply shortages, in particular of semiconductors, and local lockdowns intended to curb the spread
of the SARS-CoV-2 virus had an adverse effect. The Volkswagen Group delivered 1.6% more vehicles to
customers there than in 2022. In addition to parts supply shortages, the increasing intensity of competition,
especially for electrified vehicles, had a negative impact in the reporting year. The number of all-electric vehicles
delivered to customers in China was 23.2% higher year-on-year at 191,781 units. Their share of the Group's total
deliveries in China rose to 5.9 (4.9)%. The Group models with the highest sales volume were the Lavida, Sagitar,
Passat and Magotan from Volkswagen Passenger Cars and the Audi A6. In addition, the Tiguan Allspace, Tyron,
ID.3 and Tavendor from Volkswagen Passenger Cars and the Q4 e-tron, A7 saloon, Q7, Q5 e-tron and Q6 from
Audi saw an encouraging increase in demand. The Tharu, T-Roc, Lavida XR and ID.7 VIZZION from Volkswagen
Passenger Cars, the Audi Q3 and the Porsche Cayenne, among others, were introduced to the market as new or
successor models in the reporting year.
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In the Indian passenger car market, which registered noticeable growth, the Volkswagen Group recorded a 4.0%
year-on-year increase in demand in fiscal year 2023. The Taigun from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand as
well as the Kushaq from Skoda were the most sought-after Group models there. In addition, the Virtus from
Volkswagen Passenger Cars and the Kodiaq from Skoda, which were introduced to the market as new or suc-
cessor models during the previous year, saw encouraging development in demand.

In Japan, the number of Group vehicles delivered to customers in 2023 was up 7.4% year-on-year in an
overall market that performed significantly better than in the previous year. The Group models with the highest
sales volume were the T-Roc, the Golf and the T-Cross from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand.

PASSENGER CAR DELIVERIES TO CUSTOMERS BY MARKET!

DELIVERIES (UNITS) CHANGE
2023 2022 (%)
Europe/Other Markets 3,953,397 3,297,388 +19.9
Western Europe 3,141,434 2,615,863 +20.1
of which: Germany 1,141,418 998,000 +14.4
France 263,643 211,430 +24.7
United Kingdom 489,088 377,449 +29.6
Italy 269,479 223,864 +20.4
Spain 232,483 192,310 +20.9
Central and Eastern Europe 474,357 418,513 +13.3
of which: Czech Republic 123,471 103,223 +19.6
Russia 3,504 41,864 -91.6
Poland 140,518 112,389 +25.0
Other Markets 337,606 263,012 +28.4
of which: Turkiye 166,001 102,735 +61.6
South Africa 69,150 71,437 -3.2
North America 899,652 759,791 +18.4
of which: USA 639,622 564,705 +13.3
Canada 110,019 85,860 +28.1
Mexico 150,011 109,226 +37.3
South America 465,842 397,539 +17.2
of which: Brazil 356,682 277,806 +28.4
Argentina 57,931 48,263 +20.0
Asia-Pacific 3,582,447 3,502,556 +2.3
of which: China 3,233,933 3,182,428 +1.6
India 101,553 97,610 +4.0
Japan 65,635 61,112 +7.4
Worldwide 8,901,338 7,957,274 +11.9
Volkswagen Passenger Cars 4,866,803 4,563,327 +6.7
Skoda 866,820 731,262 +18.5
SEAT 519,176 385,591 +34.6
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles 409,406 328,572 +24.6
Audi 1,895,240 1,614,231 +17.4
Lamborghini 10,112 9,233 +9.5
Bentley 13,560 15,174 -10.6
Porsche 320,221 309,884 +3.3

1 The figures include the equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures. Prior-year deliveries have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends.
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COMMERCIAL VEHICLE DELIVERIES

In fiscal year 2023, the Volkswagen Group delivered +10.7% more commercial vehicles to customers worldwide
than in the previous year. We handed over a total of 338,174 commercial vehicles to customers. Trucks accounted
for 281,280 units (+10.6%) and buses for 30,267 (+2.2%). Deliveries of the MAN TGE van series saw a strong
increase compared with the prior-year period, rising to 26,627 (+23.4%) vehicles. Due to the very high order
backlog, a further stabilization of supply chains and higher production volume, the deliveries increased signifi-
cantly in the reporting year.

In the 27 EU states excluding Malta, but including the United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland (EU27+3)
sales in the reporting year were up by 34.8% on the same period of the previous year and amounted to a total of
155,726 units, of which 123,525 were trucks and 6,308 were buses. Here, the MAN brand delivered 25,893
vehicles from the MAN TGE van series.

In fiscal year 2023, deliveries in Turkiye were much stronger than in the previous year, at 5,737 (4,413)
vehicles. Trucks accounted for 5,126 units and buses for 292 units, while 319 vehicles from the MAN TGE van
series were sold. In South Africa, deliveries of Volkswagen Group commercial vehicles increased by 32.9% year-
on-year to a total of 4,891 units; of this figure 4,407 were trucks and 484 were buses.

Sales in North America rose to 93,430 (82,828) vehicles in the reporting year; this included 78,277 trucks and
15,153 buses.

Deliveries in South America decreased to a total of 52,330 vehicles (-31.3%) in 2023, of which 46,083 were
trucks and 6,247 were buses. Due to the introduction of a new emissions standard at the beginning of 2023,
sales in Brazil, the biggest market in this region, were down by 30.3% in the reporting year, falling to 41,578
units. Of the units delivered, 36,671 were trucks and 4,907 were buses.

In the Asia-Pacific region, the VVolkswagen Group sold 12,057 vehicles in the reporting year, including 11,077
trucks and 937 buses. Overall, this was 5.4% more than in the previous year.

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE DELIVERIES TO CUSTOMERS BY MARKET*

DELIVERIES (UNITS) CHANGE
2023 2022 (%)
Europe/Other Markets 180,357 135,063 +33.5
of which: EU27+3 155,726 115,535 +34.8
of which: Germany 43,711 31,642 +38.1
Turkiye 5,737 4,413 +30.0
South Africa 4,891 3,681 +32.9
North America 93,430 82,828 +12.8
of which: USA 73,473 66,403 +10.6
Mexico 14,478 11,131 +30.1
South America 52,330 76,152 -31.3
of which: Brazil 41,578 59,630 -30.3
Asia-Pacific 12,057 11,444 +5.4
Worldwide 338,174 305,487 +10.7
Scania 96,568 85,232 +13.3
MAN 115,653 84,372 +37.1
Navistar 88,880 81,892 +8.5
Volkswagen Truck & Bus 37,073 53,991 -31.3

-

Prior-year deliveries have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends.
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DELIVERIES IN THE POWER ENGINEERING SEGMENT

Orders in the Power Engineering segment are usually part of major investment projects. Lead times typically

range from just under one year to several years, and partial deliveries as construction progresses are common.

Accordingly, there is a time lag between incoming orders and sales revenue from the new construction business.
In 2023, sales revenue in the Power Engineering segment was largely driven by Engines & Marine Systems

and Turbomachinery, which together generated more than three quarters of overall sales revenue.

ORDERS RECEIVED IN THE PASSENGER CARS SEGMENT IN WESTERN EUROPE

Orders received in Western Europe in the reporting year were down 15.7% on the 2022 level. Demand for models
with combustion engine or plug-in hybrid drivetrains performed somewhat better by comparison - in some
markets such as the United Kingdom and Spain, orders increased year-on-year. For battery-electric vehicles by
contrast, there was a stronger decrease in orders for battery-electric vehicles than in the prior year. The buyer
reluctance seen across the industry, partly due to worsening underlying economic conditions and the expiry of
state subsidies, contributed to lower demand in key markets.

ORDERS RECEIVED FOR COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

Orders received for mid-sized and heavy trucks, for buses and for commercial vehicles from the MAN TGE van
series declined by 21% year-on-year to 264,798 vehicles in 2023. Prevailing uncertainty about economic
development and more difficult financing conditions led to a normalization of demand, particularly in Europe. In
North America, incoming orders were down sharply on the previous year, due mainly to continuing restrictive
order acceptance caused by the very high order backlog. Incoming orders in South America were strongly below
the prior-year figure as a result of pull-forward effects in connection with the introduction of a new emissions
standard in Brazil at the beginning of 2023. The MAN TGE van series segment likewise recorded a significant
downturn.

Order intake in the bus business recorded a noticeable decrease year-on-year. A noticeably higher order
intake was recorded in the EU27+3 region. This is attributable, among other things, to the continued slow
recovery in the coach market. In contrast, incoming orders in South America were sharply below the previous
year's figures.

ORDERS RECEIVED IN THE POWER ENGINEERING SEGMENT

The long-term performance of the Power Engineering business is determined by the macroeconomic environ-
ment. Individual major orders lead to fluctuations in incoming orders during the year that do not correlate with
these long-term trends.

Orders received in the Power Engineering segment in 2023 amounted to €5.0 (4.3) billion. Engines & Marine
Systems and Turbomachinery generated more than three quarters of the order volume in a persistently difficult
market environment.

In the marine business, for example, twelve 32/44CR engines and twenty-four 175D engines were ordered
for six ships in 2023. In the power plant business, orders were secured for 81 engines and component sets for 22
completely knocked down engines of different types with an aggregate output of 1,409 MW. For turbomachinery,
we received several orders for new applications which were driven by the energy transition and decarbonization
such as carbon capture and storage in the Netherlands and a large-scale heat pump for Denmark. A further order
was also placed for compression of hydrogen from electrolysis installations for use in industrial processes. We
also recorded successes for remote-controlled machinery trains in the North Sea equipped with digital packages
and a major order for eleven compressors on a floating oil and gas production facility.
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VOLKSWAGEN GROUP FINANCIAL SERVICES

The activities in the Financial Services Division cover the Volkswagen Group's dealer and customer financing,
leasing, banking and insurance activities, fleet management and mobility services. The division comprises
Volkswagen Financial Services and the financial services activities of Scania, Navistar and Porsche Holding
Salzburg and also extends to the contracts concluded by our international joint ventures.

The Financial Services Division's products and services were popular in fiscal year 2023. However, limited
vehicle availability caused by parts supply shortages and disruptions in logistics chains weighed on demand.
The number of new financing, leasing, service and insurance contracts signed worldwide increased by 11.3% to
9.5 million. The ratio of leased and financed vehicles to Group deliveries (penetration rate) in the Financial Ser-
vices Division's markets stood at 32.8% in the reporting year, on a level with the previous year. The total number
of contracts stood at 24.6 (24.5) million on December 31, 2023.

At 6.9 million, the number of new contracts signed was up 12.0% on the previous year's figure in the Europe/
Other Markets region even though the financial services business was impacted by limited vehicle availability in
2023. The total number of contracts at the end of the reporting year was 18.4 (18.1) million, putting it on
a level with the figure for December 31, 2022. The customer financing/leasing area was responsible for
7.1 (7.2) million of these contracts.

The number of new contracts signed in North America in 2023 increased to 1.0 (0.8) million. At 2.9 (3.0) mil-
lion, the number of contracts as of December 31, 2023 was on a level with the end of the previous year. The
customer financing/leasing area recorded 1.6 (1.7) million contracts.

In the South America region, 543 (360) thousand new contracts were concluded in the reporting year.
Compared with December 31, 2022, the total number of contracts at the end of the reporting year rose to
933 (828) thousand. Existing contracts mainly related to the customer financing/leasing area.

The number of new contracts signed in the Asia-Pacific region in 2023 declined to 1.0 (1.2) million, falling
short of the comparative prior-year figure. At the end of December 2023, the total number of contracts stood at
2.4 (2.6) million. The customer financing/leasing area was responsible for 1.5 (1.6) million of these contracts.

SALES TO THE DEALER ORGANIZATION

The Volkswagen Group's unit sales to the dealer organization increased in the reporting year by 10.4% to
9,362,441 units (including the equity-accounted companies in China). The prior-year figure had been impacted
in particular by the limited vehicle availability due to bottlenecks in the supply of parts caused by the shortage of
semiconductors and the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Persistent parts supply shortages had a negative effect in the
reporting year and disruption in the global logistics chains also led to delays, though these eased as the year
progressed. Unit sales outside Germany rose by 9.5% to 8,184,399 vehicles. Growth was seen above all in the
United States, the United Kingdom and TUrkiye, while fewer vehicles were sold in China. Unit sales in Germany
increased by 17.2% year-on-year. The proportion of the Group's total unit sales attributable to Germany
increased to 12.6(11.9)%.

The Tiguan, Polo, Passat, Jetta, T-Roc, Golf and T-Cross from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand were our
biggest sellers last year. The largest increases in unit sales were recorded for the Polo, ID.3, Jetta and Passat
models from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand, the Q4 e-tron, A6 and Q5 from Audi, the SEAT Leon and the
Skoda Octavia. The Porsche 911 and the ID. Buzz also achieved a strong growth rate.
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PRODUCTION

The Volkswagen Group produced 9,309,273 vehicles (including the equity-accounted companies in China) in the
period from January to December 2023, 6.8% more than in the comparative prior-year period, which had seen
production being halted due to the disruption of supply chains caused by the Russia-Ukraine conflict and the
Covid-19 pandemic. Parts supply shortages impacted production in fiscal year 2023. Production in Germany
increased by 16.2% to 1,914,368 vehicles. The proportion of the Group's total production accounted for by
Germany increased to 20.6 (18.9)%.

INVENTORIES

Global inventories of new vehicles at Group companies and in the dealer organization were higher at the end of
the reporting year than at year-end 2022. The effect of disruption in the logistics chains continued to have a
negative impact in the reporting year which eased as the year progressed.

EMPLOYEES
Including the Chinese joint ventures, the VVolkswagen Group employed an average of 678,825 people in fiscal
year 2023, an increase of 1.4% year-on-year. In Germany, we employed 296,134 people on average; at
43.6(43.3)%, their share of the total headcount was on a level with the previous year.

The number of active employees in the Volkswagen Group rose by 1.2% to 654,359 as of December 31, 2023.
In addition, 12,585 employees were in the passive phase of their partial retirement and 17,081 young people
were in vocational traineeships. At the end of the reporting year, the Volkswagen Group had a total of 684,025
employees worldwide. This represented an increase of 1.2% since the end of 2022. The workforce in Germany
rose to 298,687 people (+1.6%) and the workforce outside Germany -including the sale of OO0 Volkswagen
Group Rus, Kaluga/Russia - increased to 385,338 (+0.9%).

EMPLOYEES BY DIVISION/BUSINESS AREA

B Passenger Cars 543,745
B Commercial Vehicles 106,250

- Power Engineering 15,478
B Financial Services 18,552
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Shares and Bonds

The intensifying competition in the automotive sector with increasingly aggressive pricing,
particularly in China, put pressure on the price of Volkswagen AG's ordinary and preferred
shares in the reporting year.

EQUITY MARKETS AND PERFORMANCE OF THE PRICE OF VOLKSWAGEN'S SHARES

In fiscal year 2023, thanks to positive economic data, the international stock markets initially continued the
upward trend that they had begun in October 2022 and recorded significant gains. Over time, however, hopes
that national central banks would ease back on the pace of interest rate increases changed to growing concerns
about further hikes to rein in persistently high inflation. What is more, the crisis in the international banking
sector triggered by the higher interest rates deeply unsettled the financial markets, a situation that was exacer-
bated among other things by the debt ceiling debates in the United States. Encouraging economic and corporate
data initially bolstered the stock markets as the year progressed, before prices came under pressure again. By the
end of the reporting year, prices had recovered once more in anticipation of interest rate cuts in the year 2024.

The German stock market index (DAX) got off to a tremendous start in 2023, initially recording significant
gains over the 2022 year-end closing price. Sentiment brightened on the back of falling energy prices, expec-
tations of declining inflation rates and improved leading economic indicators. However, in the months that
followed, stock prices were hit by continued interest rate hikes on the part of the European Central Bank in light
of continued high inflationary pressure. The DAX transitioned into sideways movement. As the year went on, the
turbulence at several international banks triggered by rising interest rates and the US debt ceiling dispute had an
adverse effect on share prices. This was compounded by economic woes caused among other things by the
muted economic data coming from China. Supported by receding inflation and speculation about interest rate
cuts, market sentiment improved in the last trading weeks of the reporting year, with the DAX rising to a new
record high in mid-December and ending 2023 up 20.3% on the previous year's level.

The prices of Volkswagen AG's preferred and ordinary shares initially developed very positively at the
beginning of the reporting year. The sound results for the 2022 fiscal year published at the beginning of March
2023, the dividend proposed for 2022 and a favorable outlook for 2023 caused a temporary rally. The investment
plans announced when the annual report was presented were received critically by the capital markets due to
the high level of capital required for the transformation of the company. The intensifying competition in the auto-
motive sector likewise acted as a damper on the share price. Price cuts by competitors, especially for electric
vehicles, and concerns about increasingly aggressive pricing generated further uncertainty among investors.
Declining market shares in China combined with the assessment by market participants regarding the Group's
high dependence on developments in this country also weighed on the share price. Expectations of falling
margins in the automotive industry and lower demand for electric vehicles, which led to stiffer competition,
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PRICE DEVELOPMENT FROM DECEMBER 2022 TO DECEMBER 2023

m VVolkswagen ordinary share -19.8%

m Volkswagen preferred share -4.0%

DAX +20.3%

M EURO STOXX Automobiles & Parts +19.7%
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initially pushed down prices further. Buoyed by a positive overall market environment, the shares then regained
some ground before stabilizing at a low level in the last trading weeks of the year. The 2023 year-end closing
price was down 4.0% for the preferred share and 19.8% for the ordinary share compared with the prior-year
figure. Assuming that the regular dividend (before deduction of taxes) was reinvested in Volkswagen shares at
the time of distribution, the total return on the preferred shares was +3.1% and the total return on the ordinary
shares was -15.1%. The return on the preferred shares was therefore lower than that of the benchmark indices,
DAX and EURO STOXX Automobiles & Parts.

VOLKSWAGEN SHARE KEY FIGURES AND MARKET INDICES
FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2023

High Low Closing

Ordinary share Price (€) 181.65 106.40 118.45
Date Mar. 3 Oct. 27 Dec. 29

Preferred share Price (€) 142.20 99.14 111.80
Date Mar. 3 Oct. 30 Dec. 29

DAX Price 16,794 14,069 16,752
Date Dec. 11 Jan. 2 Dec. 29

EURO STOXX Automobiles & Parts Price 634 522 606
Date Jul. 28 Jan. 2 Dec. 29
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CAPITAL MARKETS DAY
At the Capital Markets Day held in June 2023, the Volkswagen Group presented the Group's newly focused
strategic alignment to the over 200 international financial analysts, institutional investors and representatives of
rating agencies and banks in attendance. Its core element is a new leadership model based on customer orien-
tation, entrepreneurship and team spirit. The “value over volume"” principle thereby prioritizes sustainable value
creation over volume growth. The shift in focus will give the brand groups a new steering model and sharpen brand
positioning and the product range. Responsibility for return targets has been transferred to the brands, which
will each implement an earnings improvement program to shore up profitability and cash flows and reduce
capital intensity. The Group will reposition the "Architecture”, “Software”, "Battery, Charging & Energy” and
“Volkswagen Group Mobility” technology platforms so that their economies of scale can be leveraged for the
strengthened brands. Regionally, the Group is focusing its investments on the world’'s most attractive profit
pools. In this context, the refined strategies for the important growth markets of China and North America were
also presented. In addition, Volkswagen has updated its medium-term and strategic financial targets. Along with
the presentations and discussions with the members of the Group Board of Management, visitors to the Capital
Markets Day had the chance to experience the Group's vehicles and technologies for themselves. The Volks-
wagen Group also gave the general public the opportunity to follow the event online via a live webcast, with
some 16,000 internal and external viewers watching the presentations live.

Capital Markets Day was the start of deeper dialogue with the capital markets. Further events are planned for
the coming years at which investors and analysts will be briefed in detail on the strategies for the brand groups,
technology areas and regional strategies.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our dividend policy matches our financial strategy. In the interests of all stakeholders, we aim for continuous
dividend growth that allows our shareholders to participate appropriately in our business success. The proposed
dividend therefore reflects our financial management objectives - in particular, ensuring a solid financial founda-
tion as part of the implementation of our strategy.

The current dividend proposal can be found in the chapter entitled “Volkswagen AG (condensed, in accor-
dance with the German Commercial Code)" of this annual report. The Board of Management and Supervisory
Board of Volkswagen AG are proposing a dividend of €9.00 per ordinary share and €9.06 per preferred share for
fiscal year 2023. On this basis, the total dividend amounts to €4.5 (4.4) billion. The payout ratio is based on the
Group's earnings after tax attributable to Volkswagen AG shareholders. This amounts to 28.3% for the reporting
year and stood at 29.4% for the previous year; the special dividend due to the IPO of Porsche AG is not included
in either of these figures. We strive to achieve a payout ratio of at least 30%.

DIVIDEND YIELD

Based on the dividend proposal for the reporting year, the dividend yield on Volkswagen ordinary shares is
7.6 (5.9)%, measured by the closing price on the last trading day in 2023. The dividend yield on preferred shares
is 8.1 (7.5)%.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per ordinary share were €31.92 (29.66) in fiscal year 2023. Basic earnings per preferred share
were €31.98 (29.72). In accordance with IAS 33, the calculation is based on the weighted average number of
ordinary and preferred shares outstanding in the reporting year. Since the number of basic and diluted shares is
identical, basic earnings per share correspond to diluted earnings per share.

See also "Earnings per share” in the notes to the 2023 consolidated financial statements for the calculation of
earnings per share.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023
At the end of the reporting year, Volkswagen AG's subscribed capital amounted to €1,283,315,873.28. The chart
below shows the shareholder structure of Volkswagen AG as of December 31, 2023.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023

B Porsche Automobil Holding SE 31.9%
B Foreign institutional investors 20.0%

u Qatar Holding LLC 10.0%
M State of Lower Saxony 11.8%

Private shareholders/Others 24.1%

B German institutional investors 2.2%

\__J

The distribution of voting rights for the 295,089,818 ordinary shares was as follows at the reporting date:
Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart, held 53.3% of the voting rights. The second-largest shareholder was
the State of Lower Saxony, which held 20.0% of the voting rights. Qatar Holding LLC was the third-largest
shareholder with 17.0%. The remaining 9.7% of ordinary shares were in free float.

Notifications of changes in voting rights in accordance with the Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG - German
Securities Trading Act) are published on our website at www.volkswagen-group.com/distribution-of-voting-rights.

VOLKSWAGEN SHARE DATA

Ordinary share Preferred share

ISIN DE0007664005 DE0007664039
WKN 766400 766403
Deutsche Borse/Bloomberg VOW VOW3
Reuters VOWG.DE VOWG_p.DE
DAX, CDAX, EURO STOXX, EURO STOXX 50,

CDAX, Prime All Share, MSCI Euro, EURO STOXX Automobiles & Parts,

Primary market indices S&P Global 100 Index Prime All Share, MSCI Euro
Exchanges Berlin, Dusseldorf, Frankfurt, Hamburg, Hanover, Munich, Stuttgart, Xetra
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VOLKSWAGEN SHARE KEY FIGURES

Dividend development 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Number of no-par value shares at Dec. 31

Ordinary shares thousands 295,090 295,090 295,090 295,090 295,090

Preferred shares thousands 206,205 206,205 206,205 206,205 206,205
Dividend?*

per ordinary share € 9.00 8.70 7.50 4.80 4.80

per preferred share € 9.06 8.76 7.56 4.86 4.86
Dividend paid* € million 4,524 4,374 3,772 2,419 2,419

on ordinary shares € million 2,656 2,567 2,213 1,416 1,416

on preferred shares € million 1,868 1,806 1,559 1,002 1,002
Share price development? 2023 20223 2021 2020 2019

Ordinary share

Closing € 118.45 147.65 258.40 170.10 173.25
Price performance % -19.8 -42.9 +51.9 -1.8 +24.6
Annual high € 181.65 279.40 327.20 183.10 182.50
Annual low € 106.40 145.00 165.70 101.50 135.60
Preferred share
Closing € 111.80 116.42 177.48 152.42 176.24
Price performance % -4.0 -34.4 +16.4 -13.5 +26.9
Annual high € 142.20 193.10 246.55 185.52 184.24
Annual low € 99.14 114.88 144.80 87.20 134.76
Beta factor® factor 1.13 1.15 1.16 1.26 1.17
Market capitalization at Dec. 31 € billion 58.0 67.6 112.8 81.6 87.5

Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG
shareholders and hybrid capital investors

at Dec. 31 € billion 175.7 165.4 144.4 127.0 121.8
Ratio of market capitalization to equity factor 0.33 0.41 0.78 0.64 0.72
Key figures per share 2023 20223 2021 2020 2019

Earnings per ordinary share®
basic € 31.92 29.66 29.59 16.60 26.60
diluted € 31.92 29.66 29.59 16.60 26.60

Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG
shareholders and hybrid capital investors

at Dec. 31 € 350.48 329.90 288.15 253.44 242.93
Price/earnings ratio®
Ordinary share factor 3.7 5.0 8.7 10.2 6.5
Preferred share factor 3.5 3.9 6.0 9.1 6.6
Dividend yield”
Ordinary share % 7.6 5.9 2.9 2.8 2.8
Preferred share % 8.1 7.5 43 3.2 2.8
Stock exchange turnover® 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Turnover of Volkswagen ordinary shares € billion 1.4 2.7 6.1 3.1 3.3
million shares 10.2 13.5 23.3 21.6 20.9
Turnover of Volkswagen preferred shares € billion 314 44.9 58.8 49.8 41.0
million shares 263.2 302.2 300.4 361.2 266.0
Volkswagen share of total DAX turnover % 41 4.7 6.6 4.7 4.6
1 Figures for the years 2019 to 2022 relate to dividends paid in the following year. For 2021, the figures exclude the special dividend due to the IPO of Porsche AG. For 2023, the

figures relate to the proposed dividend.

Xetra prices.

Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).

For the calculation see chapter “Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets” of this annual report, prior-year figures adjusted.
For the calculation see “Earnings per share” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Ratio of year-end-closing price to earnings per share.

Dividend per share based on the year-end-closing price.

Order book turnover on the Xetra electronic trading platform (Deutsche Bérse).

0N b WN
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REFINANCING STRUCTURE OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

Commercial paper Bonds Asset-backed
7% 62% securities
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market instruments
<1lyear >1to < 5years = 5years
28% 56% 16%

Maturities |
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REFINANCING
The Volkswagen Group further diversified its refinancing activities in 2023 and carried out several successful
transactions in the international capital markets amid a challenging market environment.

With the growing electrification of the vehicle portfolio, sustainable financial instruments are an increasing
focus of the refinancing strategy. In March 2023, Volkswagen International Finance N.V. placed two green bonds
with a total volume of €1.75 billion. In August 2023, the company successfully issued its first green hybrid notes
with a total principal amount of €1.75 billion after duly calling a hybrid note with a principal amount of €750 mil-
lion to be redeemed as of September 4, 2023. These green bonds are based on the Volkswagen Group's Green
Finance Framework presented in November 2022. This allows the Company to refinance capital expenditures
that are aligned with the EU Taxonomy, whereby Volkswagen will limit itself to all-electric vehicles. Volkswagen
Financial Services AG also published its first Green Finance Framework in August 2023, which is to be used exclu-
sively for refinancing financial products for all-electric vehicles. In September 2023, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH
placed its first green bonds on the capital market with a total volume of €2.0 billion.

In the US capital market, Volkswagen Group of America Finance, LLC placed bonds with a total volume of
USD 5.65 billion in September and November 2023. Notes with a volume of CAD 750 million were issued in the
Canadian refinancing market.

The Volkswagen Group was active locally on the Chinese capital market for the first time through Volkswagen
International Finance N.V. and issued what is known as a Panda bond worth CNY 1.5 billion in September 2023.

In May and November 2023, TRATON Finance Luxembourg S.A., an indirect subsidiary of TRATON SE, issued
bonds in three tranches with a total volume of €1.75 billion.
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In addition to this, the Volkswagen Group issued private placements in various currencies.

As well as the green bonds, official euro benchmark bonds were issued for a further €2.0 billion for the Finan-
cial Services Division. Securities were also issued in various currencies and regions.

Alongside the placement of senior, unsecured bonds, asset-backed securities (ABS) transactions were another
element of our refinancing activities. In Europe, public ABS transactions with a total volume of €2.75 billion were
placed. Public ABS transactions were also issued in the United Kingdom, Australia, Japan and Brazil.

The Volkswagen Group was also actively involved in the commercial paper market with several issuing com-
panies.

The proportion of fixed-rate instruments in the past year was about 2.5 times as high as the proportion of
floating-rate instruments.

In our refinancing arrangements, we generally aim to exclude interest rate and currency risk as far as possible
with the simultaneous use of derivatives.

The following table shows which financial instruments were utilized on the money and capital markets as of
December 31, 2023 and illustrates the financial flexibility of the Volkswagen Group:

Authorized ~ Amount utilized
volume on Dec. 31,2023

Financial instruments € billion € billion
Commercial paper 40.3 10.4
Bonds 192.4 98.6

of which hybrid issues 14.9
Asset-backed securities 104.3 48.2

Volkswagen AG's syndicated credit line of €10.0 billion agreed in December 2019 was unused at the end of 2023.

Of the syndicated credit lines with a total of €15.1 billion at other Group companies, €0.1 billion has been
drawn down. The Volkswagen Group continued to have bilateral confirmed credit lines with national and inter-
national banks in various countries for a total of €6.2 billion, of which €0.3 billion was drawn down.
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RATINGS

In November 2023, rating agency Standard & Poor's confirmed its short-term and long-term ratings for Volks-
wagen AG, Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH at A-2 and BBB+ respectively. The
outlook for all companies remains unchanged at “stable”. In September 2023, Standard & Poor's also issued a
short-term rating of A-2 for TRATON SE. In November 2023, the short- and long-term ratings for TRATON SE
were confirmed at A-2 and BBB respectively with a "stable” outlook.

In July and October 2023, Moody's Investors Service confirmed the short-term and long-term ratings for
Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Financial Services AG at P-2 and A3, respectively, and those for Volkswagen
Bank GmbH at P-1 and Al. The outlook was left unchanged at “stable”. For TRATON SE, the long-term rating of
Baa2 with an outlook of “stable” was confirmed in September 2023. TRATON SE was also given a short-term
rating of P-2.

VOLKSWAGEN
FINANCIAL VOLKSWAGEN
VOLKSWAGEN AG SERVICES AG BANK GMBH TRATON SE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Standard & Poor's
short-term A-2 A-2 A-2 A-2 A-2 A-2 A-2 -
long-term BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB BBB
outlook stable stable stable stable stable stable stable stable
Moody's Investors Service
short-term pP-2 P-2 P-2 P-2 P-1 P-1 P-2 -
long-term A3 A3 A3 A3 Al Al Baa2 Baa2
outlook stable stable stable stable stable stable stable stable

ESG RATINGS

Analysts and investors are referring increasingly to companies' sustainability profiles as well when making their
recommendations and decisions. They draw on ESG ratings, among other things, to evaluate a company's environ-
mental, social and governance performance. At the same time, these ratings are instrumental in determining
whether we are meeting our goal in relation to the Group's NEW AUTO strategy, and they are used to establish
internal measures.

In fiscal year 2023, our ESG rating from ISS ESG improved from C to C+ compared with the previous year. In
the Sustainalytics rating, the Volkswagen Group remained stable with a “medium risk” score. Volkswagen also
retained its B rating from MSCI and kept its score of A- in the CDP Climate Rating in 2023. Volkswagen reported
key information as part of the Water Disclosure Project (WDP) but did not undergo rating in 2023.
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Results of Operations, Financial
Position and Net Assets

Against the backdrop of a challenging market environment and intensifying competition
in the automotive sector, the Volkswagen Group generated significantly higher sales
revenue in the reporting year while maintaining its operating result at the same level

as in the previous year.

The Volkswagen Group's segment reporting comprises the four reportable segments of Passenger Cars and
Light Commercial Vehicles, Commercial VVehicles, Power Engineering and Financial Services, in compliance with
IFRS 8 and in line with the Group's internal financial management and reporting structures.

The reconciliation covers activities and other operations that do not, by definition, constitute segments.
These include the unallocated Group financing activities. Consolidation adjustments between the segments
(including the holding company functions) are also contained in the reconciliation. The purchase price alloca-
tions for Porsche Holding Salzburg and Porsche, Scania, MAN and Navistar are allocated to their corresponding
segments.

The Automotive Division comprises the Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles segment, the Com-
mercial Vehicles segment and the Power Engineering segment, as well as the figures from the reconciliation. The
Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles segment is combined with the reconciliation to form the Pas-
senger Cars Business Area, while the Commercial Vehicles and Power Engineering segments are identical to the
business areas of the same name. The Financial Services Division corresponds to the Financial Services segment.

At Volkswagen, segment profit or loss is measured on the basis of the operating result.

KEY FIGURES FOR 2023 BY SEGMENT

Passenger Cars
and Light
Commercial Commercial Power Financial Volkswagen
€ million Vehicles Vehicles Engineering Services Total segments Reconciliation Group
Sales revenue 245,680 45,731 4,044 54,128 349,584 -27,300 322,284
Segment profit or loss
(operating result) 19,474 3,714 366 3,792 27,345 -4,769 22,576
as a percentage of sales
revenue 7.9 8.1 9.0 7.0 7.0
Capex, including capitalized
development costs 22,636 2,205 134 282 25,257 538 25,795
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IFRS 17 - INSURANCE CONTRACTS

IFRS 17 specifies new accounting rules for insurance contracts. First-time application resulted in an insignificant
change in equity as of January 1, 2023 and January 1, 2022, respectively. This is due primarily to the changed
system for calculating provisions related to the insurance business. In addition, netting cash flows when mea-
suring the provisions also led to a reduction of €0.7 billion each in assets and provisions related to the insurance
business as of January 1, 2023. The change in the system for recognizing income and expenses has no material
effect on the income statement. Prior-year figures have been adjusted accordingly.

SCOUT MOTORS INC.

Under the Volkswagen Group’s North America strategy, Scout Motors Inc., Arlington, Virginia/USA, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Volkswagen Finance Luxemburg, Strassen/Luxembourg, was established in fiscal year 2022. A new
vehicle brand is to be created under the name of Scout to distribute electrified all-terrain vehicles and pickups in
the USA from 2026. In order to finance the creation of the Scout brand, as well as vehicle development and
production planning, an amount of around USD 493 million was contributed to the company in fiscal year 2023.
The company has been included in the Volkswagen consolidated financial statements since January 1, 2023.

ACQUISITION OF SHARES IN XPENG INC.

On December 6, 2023, Volkswagen acquired 4.99% of the ordinary shares of the electric vehicle company
XPeng Inc., Cayman Islands, (XPeng) at a purchase price totaling USD 706 million. The realization of a forward
purchase transaction dating from July 26, 2023 resulted in a non-cash gain of €74.2 million in fiscal year 2023,
which is recognized in the other financial result. Along with the agreement to acquire the shares, a technological
framework agreement was signed with Guangdong Xiaopeng Motors Technology Co. Ltd., Guangzhou/China, a
subsidiary of XPeng, for the joint development of electric vehicles in China, among other things. The equity
investment in XPeng is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

HORIZON ROBOTICS INC.

On December 7, 2023, VVolkswagen acquired preferred shares of Horizon Robotics Inc., Cayman Islands (Horizon
Robotics), a leading provider of energy-efficient computing platforms for autonomous driving in China, from
Horizon Robotics at a purchase price of USD 200 million and issued a convertible loan to Horizon Robotics in an
amount of USD 800 million. Both investments are classified as debt instruments in the financial statements and
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The measurement resulted in non-cash gains of €0.7 million in
fiscal year 2023, which are recognized in the other financial result.

To promote the development of highly automated and autonomous driving in China, Volkswagen has also
agreed the establishment of a joint venture with Horizon Robotics. On December 14, 2023, Volkswagen invested
an amount of CNY 2 billion to this end in exchange for an interest of 60% in the new company, CARIZON (Beijing)
Technology Company Limited, Beijing/China (CARIZON). In addition, Volkswagen has undertaken to make future
capital contributions of up to CNY 8.4 billion to the joint venture.

SALE OF OO0 VOLKSWAGEN GROUP RUS

On May 18, 2023, the Volkswagen Group completed the sale of its shares in OO0 Volkswagen Group Rus (Volks-
wagen Group Rus), Kaluga/Russia, and that company’s local subsidiaries (OO0 Volkswagen Components and
Services, Kaluga/Russia, OO0 Scania Leasing, Moscow/Russia, OO0 Scania Finance, Moscow/Russia, OO0 Scania
Insurance, Moscow/Russia) to OO0 ART-FINANCE, Moscow/Russia, which is supported by the Russian dealer
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AO Avilon Automotive Group, Moscow/Russia. On registration of the transaction on May 22, 2023, ownership of
the shares in Volkswagen Group Rus was transferred from the seller to the buyer. The transaction comprises the
production facilities in Kaluga, the importer structure of the Group brands Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Volks-
wagen Commercial Vehicles, Audi, Skoda, Bentley, Lamborghini and Ducati for potential after-sales business and
the warehouse activities, as well as Scania's financial services activities, including all associated employees.

In this context, the Volkswagen Group had already made significant impairments in fiscal year 2022 and
recognized appropriate provisions. The selling price amounted to €0.1 billion. The deconsolidation of the
affected companies resulted in a loss of €0.4 billion in fiscal year 2023, which is reported in the other operating
result. This result is split between the Automotive Division (€-0.4 billion) and the Financial Services Division
(€0.1 billion). The loss is mainly attributable to the realization of currency translation effects of €-0.3 billion,
which have been reclassified from the currency translation reserve to other operating expenses.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS HELD FOR SALE

The assets and liabilities held for sale of the Russian subsidiaries of Volkswagen Financial Services and Porsche,
as well as those of MAN Energy Solutions in connection with the gas turbine business were recognized in accor-
dance with IFRS 5 at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less expected disposal costs.

SPECIALITEMS
Special items consist of certain items in the financial statements whose separate disclosure the Board of Man-
agement believes can enable a better assessment of our economic performance.

No material special items in connection with the diesel issue were recognized in fiscal year 2023.

INCOME STATEMENT BY DIVISION

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP AUTOMOTIVE? FINANCIAL SERVICES
€ million 2023 20222 2023 20222 2023 20222
Sales revenue 322,284 279,050 268,156 232,392 54,128 46,657
Cost of sales -261,262 -226,866 -214,996 -189,572 -46,266 -37,294
Gross profit 61,022 52,184 53,160 42,820 7,862 9,363
Distribution expenses -21,340 -19,840 -20,308 -18,794 -1,032 -1,046
Administrative expenses -12,724 -11,655 -10,007 -9,074 -2,717 -2,582
Net other operating result -4,382 1,421 -4,061 1,518 -321 -97
Operating result 22,576 22,109 18,784 16,471 3,792 5,638
Operating return on sales (%) 7.0 7.9 7.0 7.1 7.0 12.1
Share of profits and losses of equity-
accounted investments 2,291 2,403 2,236 2,287 55 116
Interest result and Other financial result -1,673 -2,442 -1,602 -2,283 -71 -159
Financial result 618 -40 635 3 -17 -43
Earnings before tax 23,194 22,070 19,419 16,474 3,775 5,595
Income tax expense -5,266 -6,217 -4,182 -4,249 -1,084 -1,969
Earnings after tax 17,928 15,852 15,236 12,226 2,692 3,627
Noncontrolling interests 1,329 395 1,209 270 120 125
Earnings attributable to Volkswagen AG hybrid
capital investors 586 576 586 576 0 0
Earnings attributable to Volkswagen AG
shareholders 16,013 14,881 13,442 11,380 2,572 3,502

1 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.
2 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
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SHARE OF SALES REVENUE BY DIVISION/
SHARE OF SALES REVENUE BY MARKET 2023 BUSINESS AREA 2023

B Europe (excluding Germany)/ M Passenger Cars 68%
Other Markets 40% ® Commercial Vehicles 14%
B Germany 18% Power Engineering 1%
North America 21% ® Financial Services 17%
® South America 5%
Asia-Pacific 16%
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of operations of the Group

In the period from January to December 2023, the Volkswagen Group's sales revenue amounted to €322.3 bil-
lion, up 15.5% on the prior-year figure. This was mainly attributable to a rise in volume and beneficial changes in
the price positioning and in the mix. These factors were offset by exchange rate effects. The prior-year period
had been impacted to an even greater extent by limited vehicle availability due to parts supply shortages. The
Volkswagen Group generated 81.5 (82.6)% of its sales revenue abroad. Gross profit increased by €8.8 billion to
€61.0 billion. The gross margin was 18.9 (18.7)%.

In fiscal year 2023, the Volkswagen Group's operating result of €22.6 (22.1) billion was on a level with the
previous year. The operating return on sales was 7.0 (7.9)%. In particular, higher vehicle sales and improved price
positioning were set against a rise in product costs (in particular for commodities). The fair value measurement of
derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied (especially commodity hedges) had a negative effect
of €-3.2 billion on the operating result in the period from January to December 2023; it had boosted the Group's
earnings by €1.8 billion in the prior-year period, as had beneficial effects of €0.8 billion from derivatives in the
Financial Services Division. The deconsolidation of Volkswagen Group Rus and its subsidiaries led to a loss of
€0.4 billion in 2023. In the previous year, the result had been impacted mainly by expenses relating to loss
allowances and risk provisions due to the direct impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict and special items in
connection with the diesel issue. The financial result increased by €0.7 billion to €0.6 billion. The share of the
result of equity-accounted investments was slightly below that of the prior year. In the interest result, higher
interest income was not sufficient to offset the rise in interest expenses resulting primarily from changes in the
interest rates used to measure provisions. The other financial result was affected in the reporting year among
other things by adverse exchange rate effects, especially as a result of the sharp depreciation of the Argentinian
peso. This was set against lower non-cash expenses from adjustments to the carrying amounts of investees
because of changes in share prices and impairment tests, and against positive net income from securities and
funds. In the prior-year period, the impairment loss recognized on the equity investment in Argo Al and changes
in share prices affecting net income from securities and funds, particularly as a result of the Russia-Ukraine
conflict, had both had a negative impact.

The Volkswagen Group's earnings before tax were up €1.1 billion to €23.2 billion in fiscal year 2023. The return
on sales before tax declined to 7.2 (7.9)%. Income taxes resulted in an expense of €5.3 (6.2) billion, which in turn
led to a tax rate of 22.7 (28.2)%. Earnings after tax were noticeably up on the previous year, at €17.9 (15.9) billion.
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Results of operations in the Automotive Division

The Automotive Division generated sales revenue of €268.2 (232.4) billion in the reporting year. Higher vehicle
sales together with improvements in the price positioning and in the mix offset adverse exchange rate effects. In
the prior-year period, the adverse impact had by parts supply shortages had been even stronger. Sales revenue
in the Passenger Cars, Commercial Vehicles and Power Engineering Business Areas was significantly up on the
respective prior-year values. As our Chinese joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, the Group's
business performance in the Chinese passenger car market is essentially reflected in the Group's sales revenue
only through deliveries of vehicles and vehicle parts.

Cost of sales was up, primarily because of higher volumes, a rise in product costs (in particular for com-
modities), and an increase in research and development costs recognized in profit or loss; these changes were
set against lower depreciation charges of around €1.4 billion following the reassessment and extension of the
useful lives of certain items of property, plant and equipment. The ratio of cost of sales to sales revenue declined
in the reporting year. Since research and development costs and sales revenue increased by similar percentages
in the Automotive Division in the reporting year, their ratio to each other - the research and development ratio
(R&D ratio) - was on a level with 2022 at 8.1 (8.1)%. The automotive investment ratio, which combines the R&D
and capex ratios, amounted to 13.5 (13.6)% in fiscal year 2023.

In the period from January to December 2023, there was a year-on-year increase in distribution expenses due
to factors such as higher logistics costs, as well as in administrative expenses; their respective share of sales
revenue went down. The other operating result stood at €-4.1 (1.5) billion. Fiscal year 2023 was weighed down
by adverse effects from the fair value measurement of derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied,
especially for commodities. These factors had had a positive impact in the prior-year period.

In the period from January to December 2023, the Automotive Division's operating result amounted to
€18.8 billion, up €2.3 billion on the previous year. The rise is primarily attributable to a rise in vehicle sales and
improvements in the price positioning. Effects from the measurement of derivatives to which hedge accounting
is not applied, higher product costs, in particular for commodities, and negative exchange rate trends weighed
on the operating result. The prior-year period had been marked by positive effects from the fair value mea-
surement of derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied and by expenses in connection with the
Russia-Ukraine conflict. The operating return on sales stood at 7.0 (7.1)%. Our operating result largely benefits

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS IN THE PASSENGER CARS, COMMERCIAL VEHICLES AND
POWER ENGINEERING BUSINESS AREAS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31

€ million 2023 2022
Passenger Cars

Sales revenue 218,380 189,312
Operating result 14,704 14,603
Operating return on sales (%) 6.7 7.7

Commercial Vehicles

Sales revenue 45,731 39,516
Operating result 3,714 1,588
Operating return on sales (%) 8.1 4.0

Power Engineering

Sales revenue 4,044 3,565
Operating result 366 281
Operating return on sales (%) 9.0 7.9

1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
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from the business performance of our equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures only through deliveries of vehi-
cles and vehicle parts and through license income, as these joint ventures are included in the financial result.

Results of operations in the Financial Services Division

In the period from January to December 2023, the Financial Services Division's sales revenue amounted to
€54.1 billion, an increase of 16.0% over the prior-year figure. Compared with the previous year, cost of sales
increased faster than sales revenue, driven in particular by a very strong rise in interest expenses and higher
depreciation of the residual values of leased vehicles. As a result, gross profit went down by €1.5 billion to
€7.9 billion.

The Financial Services Division's operating result of €3.8 (5.6) billion was down on the previous year. The
decline was mainly the result of higher interest expenses. In addition, derivatives, which had had a beneficial
effect in the previous year, had a negative impact in the reporting year. The prior year had been weighed down
especially by expenses relating to loss allowances as a direct impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. The oper-
ating return on sales decreased to 7.0 (12.1)%. The return on equity before tax was 8.8 (14.1)%.

Principles and goals of financial management

Financial management in the Volkswagen Group covers liquidity management, the management of currency,
interest rate and commodity price risks, and credit and country risk management. It is performed centrally for all
Group companies by Group Treasury, based on internal guidelines and risk parameters. Some functions of the
MAN Energy Solutions, Porsche AG, Porsche Holding Salzburg and TRATON GROUP subgroups and of the
Financial Services Division are included in the financial management and, in addition, have their own financial
management structures.

The goal of financial management is to ensure that the Volkswagen Group remains solvent at all times and, at
the same time, to generate an adequate return from the investment of surplus funds. We use a liquidity pooling
system to optimize the use of existing liquidity between the significant companies. Among other features of this
system, the balances, either positive or negative, accumulating in cash pooling accounts are swept daily into a
regional target account and thus pooled. The overriding aim of currency, interest rate and commodity risk
management is to hedge, using derivative financial instruments and commodity forwards, the prices on which
investment, production and sales plans are based when making planning assumptions and to mitigate interest
rate risks incurred in financing transactions. In the management of credit and country risk, diversification is used
to limit the Volkswagen Group's exposure to the so-called counterparty risk. To achieve this, counterparty risk
management imposes internal limits on the volume of business allowed per counterparty when financial
transactions are entered into. Various credit rating criteria are applied in this process. These focus primarily on
the capital resources of potential counterparties, as well as the ratings awarded by independent agencies. The
relevant risk limits and the authorized financial instruments, hedging methods and hedging horizons are
approved by the Group Board of Management Committee for Risk Management. For additional information on
the principles and goals of financial management, please refer to the chapter on “Financial risk management and
financial instruments” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

Financial position of the Group

In the period from January to December 2023, the Volkswagen Group recorded gross cash flow of €48.5 (49.3)
billion. The non-cash measurement effects in connection with hedging transactions, which are included in
earnings, must be eliminated from the cash flow statement. Cash outflows of around €1.5 billion for tax pay-
ments relating to prior assessment periods had an adverse impact. The change in working capital amounted to
€-29.1 (-20.8) billion, driven primarily by a higher increase in receivables and lease assets and a smaller rise in
liabilities compared to the prior year. A smaller increase in inventories and higher other provisions had an
offsetting effect. Cash outflows resulting from the diesel issue were lower than in 2022. Cash flows from oper-
ating activities went down by €9.1 billion to €19.4 billion in fiscal year 2023.

The Volkswagen Group's investing activities attributable to operating activities grew by €2.6 billion to
€28.0 billion in the reporting year, mainly as a result of higher investments in capex and additions to capitalized
development costs. In the previous year, this item had included the full portion of the purchase price payable by
Volkswagen for the acquisition of Europcar, which was contributed to Green Mobility Holding and amounted to
€1.7 billion.

The Volkswagen Group's financing activities produced a cash inflow of €16.0 (4.2) billion. Financing activities
primarily include the issuance and redemption of bonds as well as changes in other financial liabilities. This also
included the issuance of green hybrid notes with a total nominal value of €1.75 billion, which were successfully
placed in August 2023. The redemption of the hybrid note of €0.75 billion called as of September 2023 reduced
cash flows from financing activities accordingly. Financing activities also included cash inflows and outflows in
connection with the IPO of Porsche AG completed in 2022 (primarily the payment of a special dividend to the
shareholders of Volkswagen AG) and the dividend to the shareholders of Volkswagen AG; together, these
amounted to around €11 billion. At the end of December 2023, the Volkswagen Group reported cash and cash
equivalents of €43.5 (29.7) billion in its cash flow statement.

At the end of fiscal year 2023, the Volkswagen Group's net liquidity stood at €-147.4 billion, compared with
€-125.8 billion on December 31, 2022.

Financial position of the Automotive Division

In the reporting year, the Automotive Division's gross cash flow was €35.8 billion, an earnings-related rise of
€2.6 billion compared with the previous year. The non-cash measurement effects in connection with hedging
transactions, which are included in earnings, must be eliminated from the cash flow statement. Cash outflows of
around €1.5 billion for tax payments relating to prior assessment periods had an adverse impact. The change in
working capital amounted to €2.1 (-3.3) billion. The year-on-year change was primarily attributable to a smaller
rise in inventories and higher other provisions. These effects were set against a smaller increase in liabilities than
in the previous year. As a consequence, cash flows from operating activities in an amount of €37.9 billion were
26.7% higher than in the previous year.

In the period from January to December 2023, investing activities attributable to operating activities
amounting to €27.2 (25.1) billion were up on the prior-year figure. Within this figure, investments in property,
plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs
(capex) increased by €1.6 billion to €14.4 billion. The ratio of capex to sales revenue was 5.4 (5.5)%.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT BY DIVISION

Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

AUTOMOTIVE? FINANCIAL SERVICES

€ million 2023 20222 2023 20222 2023 20222
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 29,738 39,123 23,042 24,899 6,695 14,224
Earnings before tax 23,194 22,070 19,419 16,474 3,775 5,595
Income taxes paid -7.716 -4,416 -6,328 -3,662 -1,389 -854
Depreciation and amortization expense? 28,282 30,670 17,729 20,854 10,552 9,816
Change in pension provisions 262 898 251 857 11 41
Share of the result of equity-accounted investments 271 568 244 639 27 -71
Other non-cash income/expense and reclassifications® 4,161 -509 4,474 -2,086 -313 1,577
Gross cash flow 48,453 49,280 35,789 33,177 12,665 16,104
Change in working capital -29,097 -20,784 2,062 -3,312 -31,160 -17,472
Change in inventories -2,071 -8,385 -651 -8,262 -1,419 -123
Change in receivables -4,361 -3,065 -1,250 -526 -3,111 -2,539
Change in liabilities 5,272 8,713 3,179 8,179 2,094 535
Change in other provisions 358 -3,042 236 -2,950 123 -92
Change in lease assets (excluding depreciation) -14,964 -8,711 558 406 -15,522 -9,117
Change in financial services receivables -13,332 -6,294 -8 -158 -13,324 -6,136
Cash flows from operating activities 19,356 28,496 37,851 29,865 -18,495 -1,369
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating
activities -28,031 -25,454 -27,153 -25,058 -878 -396
of which: investments in property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets,
excluding capitalized development costs (capex) -14,653 -12,948 -14,371 -12,731 -282 -217
capitalized development costs -11,142 -9,723 -11,142 -9,723 - -
acquisition and disposal of equity investments -2,738 -3,219 -2,115 -2,997 -622 -222
Net cash flow® -8,675 3,042 10,698 4,807 -19,373 -1,765
Change in investments in securities and time deposits, as well
as in loans 8,219 -16,368 9,512 -15,052 -1,293 -1,316
Cash flows from investing activities -19,812 -41,822 -17,641 -40,110 -2,171 -1,712
Cash flows from financing activities 16,008 4,225 -12,927 8,621 28,934 -4,396
of which: capital transactions with noncontrolling interests -8 16,198 -8 16,198 - -
capital contributions/capital redemptions 1,003 -235 -2,919 -235 3,922 -0
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -1,765 -285 -1,620 -233 -145 -52
Change of loss allowance within cash and cash equivalents -2 1 -2 1 0 -0
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 13,785 -9,385 5,661 -1,856 8,124 -7,529
Cash and cash equivalents at Dec. 31° 43,522 29,738 28,704 23,042 14,819 6,695
Securities and time deposits, as well as loans 41,858 49,771 20,994 30,891 20,864 18,880
Gross liquidity 85,380 79,509 49,698 53,934 35,683 25,575
Total third-party borrowings -232,813 -205,312 -9,409 -10,919 -223,404 -194,393
Net liquidity at Dec. 317 -147,433 -125,803 40,289 43,015 -187,722 -168,818

Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
Net of impairment reversals.
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investing activities.

o

investments in securities, time deposits and loans).

N o

liabilities).

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, checks, cash-in-hand and call deposits.
The total of cash, cash equivalents, securities and time deposits, as well as loans to affiliates and joint ventures net of third-party borrowings (noncurrent and current financial
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Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions.

These relate mainly to the fair value measurement of financial instruments and the reclassification of gains/losses on disposal of noncurrent assets and equity investments to

Net cash flow: cash flows from operating activities, net of cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities (investing activities excluding change in
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FINANCIAL POSITION IN THE PASSENGER CARS, COMMERCIAL VEHICLES AND
POWER ENGINEERING BUSINESS AREAS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31

€ million 2023 2022
Passenger Cars

Gross cash flow 30,102 28,753
Change in working capital 2,833 -457
Cash flows from operating activities 32,935 28,296
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities -25,223 -23,060
Net cash flow 7,712 5,236

Commercial Vehicles

Gross cash flow 5,214 4,079
Change in working capital -682 -2,877
Cash flows from operating activities 4,532 1,201
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities -1,800 -1,953
Net cash flow 2,732 -752

Power Engineering

Gross cash flow 472 345
Change in working capital -88 23
Cash flows from operating activities 384 368
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities -130 -44
Net cash flow 254 323

1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).

A considerable portion of capex was above all allocated to our production facilities and to models that we
launched in 2023 or are planning to launch in 2024. They relate to both new vehicles to expand our model range
and product upgrades for established models. Other investment priorities include the electrification and digi-
talization of our products, technologies of the future and enhancements to the modular and all-electric toolkits
and platforms. Additions to capitalized development costs rose by €1.4 billion to €11.1 billion in the reporting
year. The "Acquisition and disposal of equity investments” item amounted to €-2.1 (-3.0) billion; it included pri-
marily strategic investments in a variety of companies, in particular XPeng. In the previous year, this had included
the full portion of the purchase price payable by Volkswagen for the acquisition of Europcar, which was con-
tributed to Green Mobility Holding and amounted to €1.7 billion.

The Automotive Division's investing activities also include the convertible loan granted to Horizon Robotics.

In the period from January to December 2023, the Automotive Division's net cash flow of €10.7 billion was
€5.9 billion up on the prior-year figure. The cash conversion rate, which is the ratio of the Automotive Division's
net cash flow to operating result, stood at 57.0 (29.2)% at the end of 2023.

In fiscal year 2023, the Automotive Division's financing activities led to a cash outflow of €12.9 billion, com-
pared with a cash inflow of €8.6 billion in the previous year. These mainly reflect the cash inflows and outflows in
connection with the IPO of Porsche AG completed in the previous year (primarily the payment of a special
dividend to the shareholders of Volkswagen AG) as well as the dividend distributed to the shareholders of
Volkswagen AG from the appropriation of net profit for fiscal year 2022 and the redemption of the hybrid note
called as of September 2023. A cash inflow was generated in fiscal year 2023 by the green hybrid notes with a
total nominal value of €1.75 billion that were successfully placed via Volkswagen International Finance N.V. in
August 2023. These notes comprise a €1.0 billion note with a coupon of 7.5%, which is noncallable for five years,
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AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION NET CASH FLOW 2023
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and a €0.75 billion note with a coupon of 7.875%, which is noncallable for nine years. Both notes are perpetual
and increase net liquidity and equity by the nominal amount less transaction and other costs. Financing activities
also include the issuance and redemption of bonds and changes in other financial liabilities.

Despite the cash outflows due to the special dividend in connection with Porsche AG's IPO, the Automotive
Division's net liquidity was robust, at €40.3 billion, on December 31, 2023, compared with €43.0 billion at the
end of 2022. The Automotive Division's net liquidity as a proportion of consolidated sales revenue decreased to
12.5(15.4)% in the reporting year, mainly because sales revenue rose faster than net liquidity.

Financial position in the Financial Services Division

In fiscal year 2023, the Financial Services Division recorded a gross cash flow of €12.7 billion, down €3.4 billion
on the prior-year figure for reasons such as lower earnings. The change in working capital amounted to €-31.2
(-17.5) billion. Higher growth in lease assets and receivables and a rise in inventories led to a higher level of funds
tied up in working capital than in the previous year. This was offset by a larger increase in liabilities. Conse-
quently, cash flows from operating activities decreased by €17.1 billion to €-18.5 billion.

Investing activities attributable to operating activities amounted to €0.9 (0.4) billion.

The Financial Services Division's financing activities generated a cash inflow of €28.9 billion in the reporting
year. This figure relates primarily to the issuance and redemption of bonds and to other financial liabilities. In the
prior-year period, there had been a cash outflow of €4.4 billion.

On December 31, 2023, the Financial Services Division's negative net liquidity, which is common in the
industry, was €-187.7 billion as against €-168.8 billion at the end of 2022.
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NET ASSETS

Consolidated balance sheet structure

At the end of the reporting year, the Volkswagen Group had total assets of €600.3 billion, 6.4% more than at the
end of 2022. Total assets as of the reporting date reflected the implementation of the new guidance on accounting
for insurance contracts (IFRS 17), which led to a decrease in total assets and liabilities. A corresponding retro-
spective adjustment was made to the 2022 year-end figure. Equity was up by €11.6 billion to €189.9 billion,
mainly because of the encouraging earnings. The equity ratio of 31.6 (31.6)% was on a level with the figure
recorded at the end of the previous year.

On December 31, 2023, the Group had off-balance-sheet commitments in the form of contingent liabilities in
the amount of €10.4 (10.6) billion and in the form of financial guarantees in the amount of €0.9 (1.2) billion. In
addition, there were other financial obligations of €38.2 (35.4) billion. The contingent liabilities relate primarily to
legal risks in connection with the diesel issue, as well as to potential liabilities from tax risks in the Commercial
Vehicles Business Area in Brazil. Other financial obligations primarily result from purchase commitments for
property, plant and equipment and services, irrevocable credit commitments to customers and from develop-
ment and supply contracts. In addition to the other financial obligations, there are purchase commitments for
inventories with a short turnover period, which arise primarily from the Master Collaboration Agreement with
Ford Motor Company for the joint development of vans and mid-sized pickups for the global market. Moreover,
there are long-term purchase obligations under battery purchase agreements with Northvolt Group companies.

Automotive Division balance sheet structure

The noticeable increase in the Automotive Division's intangible assets at the end of 2023 as against Decem-
ber 31, 2022 was driven in particular by a rise in capitalized development costs. Property, plant and equipment
was up slightly, with investments in property, plant and equipment set against lower depreciation. Equity-
accounted investments declined for reasons that included dividend resolutions as well as impairment losses as a
result of changes in share prices and in response to impairment tests. The intragroup reclassification of the
equity investment in Europcar, which is held via Green Mobility Holding, to the Financial Services Division also
contributed to this downturn. Noncurrent other receivables and financial assets decreased, due mainly to a
decline in positive effects from the measurement of derivatives compared to year-end 2022. Total noncurrent
assets amounted to €186.0 (178.7) billion, driven by higher volumes.

Current assets stood at €120.2 (122.7) billion on December 31, 2023, down from the prior-year figure.
Current other receivables and financial assets went up, buoyed primarily by the volume-related rise in trade
receivables. Total securities were down €10.7 billion to €22.2 billion, while cash and cash equivalents in the
Automotive Division increased by €5.7 billion to €28.7 billion at the end of December 2023. The “Assets held for
sale" item comprises the carrying amounts of the assets of subsidiaries of Porsche earmarked for divestment, as
well as assets of MAN Energy Solutions. The “Liabilities held for sale” item comprises the carrying amounts of
the corresponding liabilities.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET BY DIVISION AS OF DECEMBER 31

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP AUTOMOTIVE? FINANCIAL SERVICES

€ million 2023 20222 2023 20222 2023 20222
Assets
Noncurrent assets 360,694 339,853 186,042 178,667 174,653 161,187
Intangible assets 89,109 83,241 88,504 82,846 605 394
Property, plant and equipment 66,880 63,890 65,918 62,908 962 982
Lease assets 64,094 59,380 377 1,279 63,717 58,100
Financial services receivables 94,474 86,944 -726 -767 95,200 87,711
Investments, equity-accounted investments
and other equity investments, other
receivables and financial assets 46,137 46,399 31,969 32,400 14,168 13,999
Current assets 239,644 224,159 120,204 122,730 119,439 101,430
Inventories 53,601 52,274 48,692 48,768 4,909 3,506
Financial services receivables 66,381 61,549 -832 -799 67,213 62,348
Other receivables and financial assets 49,250 43,226 21,348 18,764 27,902 24,462
Marketable securities and time deposits 26,772 37,206 22,211 32,867 4,561 4,338
Cash and cash equivalents 43,449 29,172 28,698 23,034 14,751 6,137
Assets held for sale 190 733 88 95 103 638
Total assets 600,338 564,013 306,246 301,396 294,092 262,616
Equity and liabilities
Equity 189,912 178,328 146,305 135,954 43,607 42,375

Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG

shareholders 160,539 151,255 117,489 109,565 43,050 41,690

Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG hybrid

capital investors 15,155 14,121 15,155 14,121 0 0
Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG
shareholders and hybrid capital investors 175,694 165,376 132,644 123,686 43,050 41,690
Noncontrolling interests 14,218 12,952 13,661 12,267 557 684
Noncurrent liabilities 204,552 202,961 86,868 88,316 117,684 114,646
Financial liabilities 122,323 121,737 18,046 21,871 104,277 99,866
Provisions for pensions 29,672 27,553 29,174 27,104 498 449
Other liabilities 52,557 53,671 39,648 39,341 12,908 14,330
Current liabilities 205,874 182,723 73,073 77,127 132,801 105,596
Financial liabilities 110,476 83,448 -8,637 -10,953 119,113 94,401
Trade payables 30,901 28,738 26,836 26,106 4,064 2,631
Other liabilities 64,467 70,380 54,869 61,961 9,597 8,418
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 31 158 5 12 26 146
Total equity and liabilities 600,338 564,013 306,246 301,396 294,092 262,616

1 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions, primarily intragroup loans.
2 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE 2023
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At €146.3 billion, the Automotive Division's equity on December 31, 2023 was 7.6% higher than at the end
of 2022. The main contributing factors were encouraging earnings in the reporting year and the green hybrid
notes issued in August 2023. The dividend distributed to the shareholders of Volkswagen AG, adverse currency
translation effects, higher actuarial losses from the remeasurement of pension plans because of the change in
the discount rate, and the redemption of the hybrid note called as of September 2023 resulted in a reduction in
equity. Noncontrolling interests, which increased noticeably, were mostly attributable to the noncontrolling
interest shareholders of the Porsche AG Group and of the TRATON Group. The equity ratio climbed to
47.8 (45.1)%.

Noncurrent liabilities were on a level with the previous year, amounting to €86.9 (88.3) billion at the end of
the reporting year. The noncurrent financial liabilities included in this item decreased, mainly because of reclas-
sifications from noncurrent to current liabilities reflecting shorter remaining maturities. Pension provisions
increased, driven primarily by actuarial remeasurement following a change in the discount rate.

At €73.1 (77.1) billion, current liabilities on December 31, 2023 were also down on the previous year. Current
financial liabilities amounted to €-8.6 (-11.0) billion. The figures for the Automotive Division also contain the
elimination of intragroup transactions between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. As the current
financial liabilities for the primary Automotive Division were lower than the loans granted to the Financial
Services Division, a negative amount was disclosed in both periods. Current other liabilities were down, primarily
because of the special dividend, which was resolved in connection with the IPO of Porsche AG in Decem-
ber 2022 and distributed in January 2023. This was offset by the netting of the right to payment from Porsche SE
arising from the second tranche of the ordinary shares of Porsche AG.

At the end of fiscal year 2023, the Automotive Division had total assets of €306.2 billion, 1.6% more than at
the end of 2022.

Financial Services Division balance sheet structure

On December 31, 2023, the Financial Services Division's total assets were €294.1 billion, 12.0% more than at the
end of 2022. The figure as of the reporting date reflects the implementation of the new guidance on accounting
for insurance contracts (IFRS 17), which led to a decrease in total assets and liabilities. A corresponding retro-
spective adjustment was made to the previous year-end figure.
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BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE OF THE PASSENGER CARS, COMMERCIAL VEHICLES AND
POWER ENGINEERING BUSINESS AREAS

€ million Dec. 31,2023 Dec. 31,2022
Passenger Cars

Noncurrent assets 149,881 142,467
Current assets 100,013 105,055
Total assets 249,894 247,522
Equity 127,684 119,654
Noncurrent liabilities 69,259 71,632
Current liabilities 52,952 56,236

Commercial Vehicles

Noncurrent assets 34,530 34,620
Current assets 16,237 14,184
Total assets 50,767 48,804
Equity 15,918 13,804
Noncurrent liabilities 17,077 16,252
Current liabilities 17,772 18,748

Power Engineering

Noncurrent assets 1,631 1,579
Current assets 3,955 3,491
Total assets 5,585 5,070
Equity 2,703 2,495
Noncurrent liabilities 532 432
Current liabilities 2,350 2,143

1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).

Noncurrent assets grew to €174.7 (161.2) billion. The equity-accounted investments included in this item were
up for reasons that included the intragroup transfer of the equity investment in Europcar, which is held via Green
Mobility Holding to the Financial Services Division. Noncurrent financial services receivables were higher than in
the prior-year period.

Current assets climbed by 17.8% to €119.4 billion. The current other receivables and financial assets included
in this item were higher than at the end of 2022, due among other factors to the rise in trade receivables. At the
end of fiscal year 2023, the Financial Services Division held cash and cash equivalents of €14.8 (6.1) billion. The
“Assets held for sale” item comprises the carrying amounts of the assets of subsidiaries of Volkswagen Finan-
cial Services and Porsche earmarked for divestment. The “Liabilities held for sale” item comprises the carrying
amounts of the corresponding liabilities.

On December 31, 2023, the Financial Services Division accounted for 49.0 (46.6)% of the Volkswagen Group's
assets.

Equity in the Financial Services Division stood at €43.6 billion at the end of 2023, 2.9% more than at the end
of the previous year's reporting date. The equity ratio dropped to 14.8 (16.1)%.

Noncurrent liabilities in the Financial Services Division increased to €117.7 (114.6) billion compared with
December 31, 2022. The noncurrent financial liabilities included in this item increased. Current liabilities rose,
driven above all by higher current financial liabilities. Other current liabilities and trade payables were likewise
up on the previous year.

Deposits from the direct banking business amounted to €38.8 billion on December 31, 2023, compared with
€26.7 billion at the end of 2022.
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RETURN ON INVESTMENT (ROI) AND VALUE CONTRIBUTION
The central focus of the Volkswagen Group's financial target system is to continuously and sustainably increase
the value of the Company. In order to make efficient use of resources in the Automotive Division and to measure
the success of this, we have been using a value-based management system for a number of years, with return on
investment (ROI) as a relative indicator and value contribution?, a key performance indicator linked to the cost of
capital, as an absolute performance measure.

The return on investment serves as a constant target in strategic and operational management. If the return
on investment exceeds the market cost of capital, there is an increase in the value of the invested capital and a
positive value contribution. The concept of value-based management makes it possible to assess the success of
the Automotive Division and individual business units. It also enables the earning power of our products, product
lines and projects - such as new plants - to be measured.

Components of value contribution
Value contribution is calculated on the basis of the operating result after tax and the opportunity cost of invested
capital.

The operating result shows the economic performance of the Automotive Division and is initially a pre-tax
figure. Based on our companies’ income tax rates, which vary from country to country, we assume an overall
average tax rate of 30% when calculating the operating result after tax.

The cost of capital is multiplied by the average invested capital to give the opportunity cost of capital.
Invested capital is calculated as total operating assets reported in the balance sheet (property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, lease assets, inventories and receivables) less non-interest-bearing liabilities
(trade payables and payments on account received). Average invested capital is derived from the balance at the
beginning and the end of the reporting year.

As the concept of value-based management only comprises our operating activities, assets relating to
investments in subsidiaries and associates and the investment of cash funds are not included when calculating
invested capital. Interest charged on these assets is reported in the financial result.

1 The value contribution corresponds to the Economic Value Added (EVA®). EVA® is a registered trademark of the consulting firm Stern Value Management.
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Determining the current cost of capital
The cost of capital is the weighted average of the required rates of return on equity and debt.

The cost of equity is determined using the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). This model uses the yield on
long-term risk-free Bunds, increased by the risk premium attaching to investments in the equity market. The risk
premium comprises a general market risk and a specific business risk. The general risk premium of 7.5% reflects
the general risk of a capital investment in the equity market. The specific business risk - price fluctuations in
VVolkswagen preferred shares - is modeled in comparison to the MSCI World Index when calculating the beta
factor. The MSCI World Index is a global capital market benchmark for investors.

The analysis period for the beta factor calculation spans five years with annual beta figures calculated on a
weekly basis followed by the subsequent calculation of the average. A beta factor of 1.13 (1.15) was determined
for 2023.

The cost of debt is based on the average yield for long-term corporate bonds. As borrowing costs are tax-
deductible, the cost of debt is adjusted to account for the tax rate of 30%.

A weighting on the basis of a fixed ratio for the fair values of equity and debt results in an effective cost of
capital for the Automotive Division of 8.5 (8.3) % for 2023.

COST OF CAPITAL AFTER TAXIN THE AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION

% 2023 2022
Risk-free rate 2.7 2.0
Market risk premium 7.5 7.5
Volkswagen-specific risk premium 1.0 11
(Volkswagen beta factor)* (1.13) (1.15)
Cost of equity after tax 11.2 10.7
Cost of debt 43 5.0
Tax -1.3 -15
Cost of debt after tax 3.0 3.5
Proportion of equity 66.7 66.7
Proportion of debt 33.3 33.3
Cost of capital after tax 8.5 8.3

1 Prior-year figure adjusted.
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Return on investment (ROI) and value contribution in the reporting year

At €15,218 (14,080) million for fiscal year 2023, the operating result after tax for the Automotive Division,
including the proportionate operating result of the equity-accounted Chinese joint ventures, was up on the prior-
year figure. Higher vehicle sales and improved price positioning were set against a rise in product costs (in
particular for commodities). In addition, the fair value measurement of derivatives to which hedge accounting
is not applied (especially commodity hedges) had a negative effect on the operating result in the reporting year
(€-3.2 billion), in contrast to the prior-year period, when it had boosted earnings by €1.8 billion. The effect of
purchase price allocation on earnings and assets is not taken into account as this cannot be influenced by man-
agement in the course of business operations.

At €123,887 (117,402) million, invested capital increased noticeably in the reporting year compared with the
prior year. The return on investment (ROI) is the return on invested capital for a particular period based on the
operating result after tax. Due to the improved operating result, the ROl of 12.3 (12.0)% exceeded both the prior-
year figure and our minimum required rate of return on invested capital of 9%.

At €10,491 (9,701) million, the opportunity cost of capital - invested capital multiplied by the cost of capital -
was noticeably up on the previous year. Improvements in the operating result after tax, net of the opportunity
cost of invested capital, led to a positive value contribution of €4,727 (4,379) million.

More information on value-based management is contained in our publication entitled “Financial Control
System of the Volkswagen Group”, which can be downloaded from our Investor Relations website: www.volks-
wagen-group.com/more-publications.

RETURN ON INVESTMENT (ROI) AND VALUE CONTRIBUTION IN THE AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION®

€ million 2023 20222
Operating result after tax 15,218 14,080
Invested capital (average) 123,887 117,402
Return on investment (ROI) in % 12.3 12.0
Cost of capital in % 8.5 8.3
Cost of invested capital 10,491 9,701
Value contribution 4,727 4,379

1 Including proportionate inclusion of the Chinese joint ventures (including the relevant sales and component companies) and allocation of consolidation adjustments between
the Automotive and Financial Services Divisions.
2 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
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SUMMARY OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC POSITION

In view of the political and economic developments in 2023 and the transformation of the industry, the Board of
Management of Volkswagen AG considers business development and the economic position challenging, but
positive overall.

In the reporting year, the Volkswagen Group's business was impacted by the challenging global market environ-
ment, parts supply shortages and disruptions in the logistics chain. In this environment, we delivered 9.2 million
vehicles to customers in the past fiscal year, which was within the corridor we last forecast.

Group sales revenue increased by 15.5% and was thus at the upper end of the expected corridor.

At €22.6 billion, the operating result was in the range of our adjusted forecast and thus level with the prior-
year figure before special items.

Research and development costs reflect our activities undertaken to safeguard the Company's future via-
bility. The R&D ratio in the Automotive Division was in the range of our adjusted expectations at 8.1%.

The ratio of capex to sales revenue for the Automotive Division was below the forecast corridor at 5.4%.

Net cash flow of €10.7 billion was more than double the prior-year level and thus higher than our adjusted
forecast. Above all, a stronger-than-expected reduction in inventories also had a positive effect at the end of the
reporting year.

On December 31, 2023, net liquidity had reached a solid level of €40.3 billion, which was at the upper end of
our expected range.

The return on investment (ROI) in the Automotive Division was 12.3%, which was within the forecast corridor
and, as expected, thus exceeded our minimum required rate of return on invested capital.
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FORECAST VERSUS ACTUAL FIGURES

Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets

Actual 2022

Original Forecast
for 2023

Adjusted Forecast
for 2023

Actual 2023

Deliveries to customers (units)

8.3 million

~9.5 million

9.0-9.5million

9.2 million

Volkswagen Group

Sales revenue

€279.0 billion

10-15% increase

10-15% increase

€322.3 billion

Operating return on sales before special items 8.1% 7.5-8.5% in forecast range 7.0%
Operating return on sales 7.9% 7.5-8.5% in forecast range 7.0%
Operating result before special items €22.5 billion in forecast range ~€22.5 billion €22.6 billion
Operating result 22.1 billion in forecast range ~€22.5 billion €22.6 billion

Passenger Cars Business Area

Sales revenue

€189.3 billion

7-13% increase

7-13% increase

€218.4 billion

Operating return on sales before special items 7.9% 8.0-9.0% 6.5-7.5% 6.7%
Operating return on sales 7.7% 8.0-9.0% 6.5-7.5% 6.7%
Operating result before special items €15.0 billion in forecast range in forecast range €14.7 billion
Operating result €14.6 billion in forecast range in forecast range €14.7 billion
Commercial Vehicles Business Area
Sales revenue €39.5 billion 5-15% increase 5-15% increase €45.7 billion
Operating return on sales 4.0% 6.0-7.0% 7.0-8.0% 8.1%
Operating result €1.6 billion in forecast range in forecast range €3.7 billion
Power Engineering Business Area
Sales revenue €3.6 billion slight increase noticeable increase €4.0billion
positive low three- positive mid three-
Operating result €281 million digit-million euro range  digit-million euro range €366 million
Financial Services Division
Sales revenue €46.7 billion strong increase significant increase €54.1 billion
Operating result €5.6 billion ~€3.5 billion ~€4 billion €3.8billion
R&D ratio in the Automotive Division 8.1% ~8.0% 8.0-8.5% 8.1%
Ratio of capex to sales revenue
in the Automotive Division 5.5% ~6.5% 6.0-6.5% 5.4%
significant to
Net cash flow in the Automotive Division €4.8 billion very strong increase strong increase €10.7 billion
Net liquidity in the Automotive Division €43.0 billion €35-40 billion €35-40billion €40.3 billion
Return on investment (ROI)
in the Automotive Division 12.0% 12-15% 12-15% 12.3%

1 Prior-year figures adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
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\VVolkswagen AG

(CONDENSED, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE)

Fiscal year 2023 was impacted by the challenging global market environment and the
transformation of the industry.

ANNUAL RESULT
No material special items in connection with the diesel issue were recognized in fiscal year 2023.

In the fiscal year under review, the Russia-Ukraine conflict negatively affected VVolkswagen AG in an amount
of €0.1 billion (previous year: approximately €1 billion). This arose from the loss on the disposal of the shares in
000 Volkswagen Group Rus, Kaluga, which was reported in the financial result.

Sales increased by 16.3% year-on-year to €92.4 billion in 2023, driven particularly by higher sales volumes
and a more favorable price-product mix. Sales generated abroad accounted for a share of €53.6 billion or 58.0%.
Cost of sales increased by 9.1% to €86.7 billion due to higher vehicle sales in the reporting year, among other
reasons.

Gross profit on sales rose accordingly to €5.7 (-0.0) billion.

INCOME STATEMENT OF VOLKSWAGEN AG

€ million 2023 2022
Sales 92,413 79,491
Cost of sales -86,748 -79,499
Gross profit on sales 5,665 -8
Distribution, general and administrative expenses -7.452 -7,292
Net other operating result 64 1,997
Financial result? 9,091 16,825
Taxes on income -1,125 955
Earnings after tax 6,243 12,477
Net income for the fiscal year 6,243 12,477
Retained profits brought forward 2 5774
Release of/appropriation to revenue reserves -1,720 -6,230
Net retained profits 4,526 12,021

1 Including write-downs of financial assets.
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The net other operating result amounted to €0.1 billion in the reporting year, down €1.9 billion on the previous
year. This decline was driven in particular by negative measurement effects and the profit or loss from the settle-
ment of hedging transactions that was less positive than in the prior year.

A reassessment and extension of the useful lives of certain items of property, plant and equipment gave rise
to a positive effect on profit or loss of around €0.4 billion in the 2023 reporting year.

The financial result fell by €7.7 billion to €9.1 billion, mainly because of lower income from profit transfers. In
the previous year, this item had included income of €13.2 billion from profit transferred by Porsche Holding
Stuttgart GmbH, Stuttgart, in connection with the IPO of Porsche AG.

Taxes on income amounted to €-1.1 (1.0) billion. The higher tax expenses in the reporting year were due
mainly to foreign withholding tax and to tax expenses for prior years.

Net income for fiscal year 2023 amounted to €6.2 (12.5) billion.

NET ASSETS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets amounted to €197.8 billion on December 31, 2023, down €27.5 billion on the comparative 2022
figure. Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment were up by €0.6 billion because investments
exceeded depreciation and amortization charges. Financial assets rose to €145.5 (138.9) billion as a result of a
number of capital increases.

To finance the restructuring of companies of Volkswagen Financial Services under company law, Volks-
wagen AG paid contributions of €3.8 billion to the capital reserves of Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Braun-
schweig, in the reporting year. To finance the capital requirements of CARIAD SE, Wolfsburg, Volkswagen AG
paid contributions of €1.5 billion to the capital reserves of Porsche Siebte Vermdgensverwaltung GmbH, Wolfs-
burg (Porsche Siebte). In addition, PowerCo SE, Salzgitter, made contributions of €0.6 billion to the capital
reserves of Porsche Siebte to finance the set-up of battery cell production. To finance the acquisition of an invest-
ment in the electric vehicle company XPeng Inc., Cayman Islands, Volkswagen AG paid contributions of €0.7 bil-
lion to the capital reserves of Volkswagen Finance Luxemburg S.A., Strassen (Volkswagen Finance Luxembourg)
in the reporting year. Also in the reporting year, Volkswagen AG paid further contributions totaling €0.5 billion to
the capital reserves of Volkswagen Finance Luxembourg to finance the establishment of business operations at
Scout Motors Inc., Arlington, Virginia. On June 7, 2023, the shareholders’ meeting of Volkswagen Vermdégens-
verwaltungs-GmbH, Wolfsburg, resolved to reduce the company's capital reserves by €0.7 billion, which was
paid out to Volkswagen AG in the reporting year.

Fixed assets accounted for a share of 78.7 (65.9)% of total assets.

BALANCE SHEET OF VOLKSWAGEN AG AS OF DECEMBER 31

€ million 2023 2022
Fixed assets 155,652 148,516
Inventories 6,786 7,816
Receivables® 28,336 59,773
Cash-in-hand and bank balances 6,980 9,122
Total assets 197,754 225,227
Equity 42,193 40,323
Special tax-allowable reserves 17 17
Long-term debt 29,101 33,717
Medium-term debt 44,101 38,647
Short-term debt 82,342 112,523

1 Including prepaid expenses.
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Current assets (including prepaid expenses) amounted to €42.1 (76.7) billion as of December 31, 2023. Inven-
tories were down by €1.0 billion to €6.8 billion. In addition to the decrease in raw materials, consumables and
supplies, which is largely attributable to a reduction in precious metals due to volume and price effects, finished
goods and purchased merchandise in particular fell as transport capacity returned to normal levels. Receivables
and other assets declined to €28.3 (59.8) billion. Their decrease is attributable to lower receivables from loans
and receivables from profit transfers from subsidiaries and a decline in time deposits with maturities of more than
three months without call right. Cash instruments were down, driven particularly by the decrease in restricted
short-term time deposits at the reporting date.

Equity at the end of the reporting year was €42.2 (40.3) billion. The equity ratio was 21.3 (17.9)%.

Other provisions decreased by €0.5 billion to €17.1 (17.7) billion, due mainly to the reduction in provisions for
litigation risks and other provisions. Provisions for pensions fell by €0.7 billion to €24.6 billion, particularly as a
result of a change in measurement inputs, and provisions for taxes decreased by €0.9 billion to €2.5 billion.

The €27.2 billion decrease in liabilities, including deferred income, to €111.4 billion was mainly the result of
lower loan liabilities to affiliated companies and the liabilities for the special dividend in connection with the IPO
of Porsche AG, Stuttgart, included in the prior-year figure.

Volkswagen AG's cash funds, comprising cash instruments with a maturity of less than three months, less
bank liabilities repayable on demand and cash pooling liabilities, deteriorated year-on-year from €-1.2 billion to
€-4.4 billion. The interest-bearing portion of debt amounted to €92.3 (107.7) billion. In our assessment, given
the context created by political and economic developments in 2023 and the transformation of the industry, the
economic position of Volkswagen AG is challenging, but just as positive overall as that of the Volkswagen Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY
Our dividend policy matches our financial strategy. In the interests of all stakeholders, we aim for continuous
dividend growth that allows our shareholders to participate appropriately in our business success. The proposed
dividend therefore reflects our financial management objectives - in particular, ensuring a solid financial foun-
dation as part of the implementation of our strategy.

In our Group strategy, we have set ourselves the goal of achieving a payout ratio of at least 30%. The payout
ratio is based on the Group's earnings after tax attributable to Volkswagen AG shareholders. This amounts to
28.3% for the reporting year and stood at 29.4% in the previous year.

SPECIAL DIVIDEND FOLLOWING PORSCHE AG IPO

The resolution of the extraordinary General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on December 16, 2022 gave rise to the
obligation to pay a special dividend and led to a total obligation to the shareholders of Volkswagen AG amounting
to €9.6 billion. The cash outflow was slated for January 9, 2023 and occurred on that day.

DIVIDEND PROPOSAL

In fiscal year 2023, net retained profits amounted to €4.5 billion. The Board of Management and Supervisory
Board are proposing to pay a total dividend of €4.5 billion, i.e. €9.00 per ordinary share and €9.06 per preferred
share.
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PROPOSAL ON THE APPROPRIATION OF NET PROFIT

€ 2023
Dividend payout on subscribed capital (€1,283 million) 4,524,029,693.70
of which: ordinary shares 2,655,808,362.00

preferred shares 1,868,221,331.70
Balance (carried forward to new account) 1,492,829.91
Net retained profits 4,525,522,523.61

EMPLOYEE PAY AND BENEFITS AT VOLKSWAGEN AG

€ million 2023 % 2022 %
Direct pay including cash benefits 8,595 69.5 8,231 56.7
Social security contributions 1,591 12.9 1,510 10.4
Compensated absence 1,273 10.3 1,208 8.3
Retirement benefits 910 7.4 3,557 24.5
Total expense 12,369 100.0 14,506 100.0

VEHICLE SALES

Volkswagen AG sold a total of 2,162,652 (1,882,535) vehicles in fiscal year 2023. The prior year had been
impacted in particular by the limited vehicle availability due to parts supply shortages caused by the shortage of
semiconductors and the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Persistent parts supply shortages had a negative effect in the
reporting year and disruption in the logistics chains also led to delays, though these eased as the year pro-
gressed. Vehicles sold abroad accounted for a share of 64.1 (64.1)%.

PRODUCTION
Volkswagen AG manufactured a total of 816,016 vehicles (+22%) in the reporting year at its vehicle production
plants in Wolfsburg, Hanover and Emden. Parts supply shortages restricted production in fiscal year 2023.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2023, a total of 116,063 (116,677) people were employed at the sites of Volkswagen AG,
excluding staff employed at subsidiaries; of this figure, 4,374 (4,452) were vocational trainees. 7,724 (7,528)
employees were in the passive phase of their partial retirement.

Female employees accounted for 18.6 (18.3)% of the workforce. Volkswagen AG employed 8,110 (7,908)
part-time workers. The percentage of foreign employees was 6.4 (6.5)%. In the reporting year, 83.2 (83.3)% of the
employees in Volkswagen AG's production area had completed vocational or additional training. The proportion
of graduates was 22.8 (21.9)% in the same year. The average age of employees in fiscal year 2023 was
45.1 (45.1) years.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Volkswagen AG's research and development costs as defined in the German Commercial Code amounted to
€4.7 (4.6) billion in the reporting year. 15,422 (+2.5%) people were employed in this area at the end of the reporting
year.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF VOLKSWAGEN AG

As the parent of the Volkswagen Group, Volkswagen AG is fundamentally subject to the same expected develop-
ments and risks and opportunities. The forecast is explained in the chapter entitled “"Report on Expected Devel-
opments” and the risks and opportunities in the chapter entitled “Report on Risks and Opportunities” of this
annual report.

RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Risks for Volkswagen AG arising from the use of financial instruments are generally the same as those to which
the Volkswagen Group is exposed. An explanation of these risks can be found in the chapter "Report on Risks
and Opportunities” of this annual report.

DEPENDENT COMPANY REPORT
The Board of Management of Volkswagen AG has submitted to the Supervisory Board the report required by sec-
tion 312 of AktG and issued the following concluding declaration:

"We declare that Volkswagen AG received appropriate consideration in the period from January 1 to Decem-

ber 31, 2023 for all transactions entered into with affiliated companies within the meaning of section 312 of the
AktG. This assessment is based on the circumstances known to us at the date of the reportable transactions.”

The Annual Financial Statements of Volkswagen AG (in accordance with the German Commercial Code) can be accessed from the electronic company register
at www.unternehmensregister.de.
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Sustainable Value Enhancement

Our goal is to run our business responsibly along the entire value chain. Everyone should
benefit from this - our customers, our employees, the environment and society. Even in our
Group strategy "NEW AUTO - Mobility for generations to come”, we aim to make mobility
sustainable for present and future generations.

The main financial performance indicators for the Volkswagen Group are described in the "Results of Operations,
Financial Position and Net Assets” chapter. Nonfinancial key performance indicators also provide information on
the efficiency of our Company's value drivers. These include the processes in the areas of research and devel-
opment, procurement, technology, production, marketing and sales, human resources, information technology
and quality assurance. In all of these processes, we are aware of our responsibility towards our customers, our
employees, the environment and society. In this chapter we provide examples of how we want to increase the
value of our Company in a sustainable way.

SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainability means maintaining intact environmental, social and economic systems with long-term viability at
a global, regional and local level. The VVolkswagen Group can influence these systems in various ways, and actively
takes responsibility to make a contribution to their sustainability. We have thus developed a sustainable style of
company management and put in place the necessary management structures.

We have also anchored our goal to sustainably shape mobility for present and future generations in our Group
strategy NEW AUTO. Especially the Group's "ESG, Decarbonization and Integrity” base initiative will drive this
topic further.

The materiality process is used to identify and evaluate the most important sustainability issues for the Group.
Based on the business model of Volkswagen AG and its social impacts, the focus is on key ESG requirements,
stakeholder expectations and adherence to legal regulations and internationally established reporting
standards.

The Company conducted a materiality analysis in 2022. In reviewing potentially material issues, we con-
sidered both external and internal company perspectives. As a result of this process, the focus areas of decar-
bonization, circular economy, supply chain and human rights, people & transformation, diversity, and integrity
were classified as material by the Group Sustainability Steering Committee. The focus topics identified were
reviewed in 2023, taking into account the requirements of the Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz (LkSG -
German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act) and changes in the material ESG ratings. As a result of this, the six
focus areas were reconfirmed. They cover most of the requirements formulated in the ESG ratings for assess-
ment criteria applied. Wherever this is already possible, each focus area is linked to clear goals and milestones,
KPIs and appropriate packages of measures. ESG-related KPIs such as the decarbonization index and the
diversity index are already today reflected in the remuneration of members of the Board of Management.
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Decarbonization

The decarbonization of the Group and in particular its portfolio of products is a major part of the NEW AUTO
Group strategy, where it has been defined as one of the focus areas in the base initiative. We have established
the decarbonization index (DKI) as a key performance indicator: the decarbonization index measures the emis-
sions of CO2 and CO: equivalents (jointly referred to as CO:e) by the brands that produce passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles in the regions of Europe (EU27, United Kingdom, Norway and Iceland), China (including
the Chinese joint ventures) and the USA over the entire life cycle. In this index, the use phase is calculated over
200,000 km and with reference to region-specific fleet values without statutory flexibilities. The COze intensity
of the charging current of the electric vehicles is also calculated based on region-specific electricity mixes. Our
vehicle life cycle assessments, which are used as the data basis for calculating supply chain and recycling
emissions, have been verified externally and independently in accordance with ISO 14040 and ISO 14044. The
DKI gives us an informative measuring tool that makes our progress and interim results public and verifiable.

The DKI calculation methodology is regularly adapted according to internal and external requirements, such
as new test cycles for fleet emissions. Published DKI values can therefore also be adjusted to the new method-
ology and thus changed to facilitate the presentation of a time series that is methodologically consistent. The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol requires the recalculation of corporate emissions in the event of material new infor-
mation or if changes occur. There may be various reasons to remeasure previous years' emissions to enable a fair
comparison with current emissions. These may include structural changes in the Company, for example. At the
Volkswagen Group, changes to the calculation are decided on annually in a set process. Based on these deci-
sions, we are currently working on recalculating historical emissions for the base years used in the current
climate protection targets and on having these audited.

By 2030, the DKl is to be reduced by 30% compared with the base year 2018, and emissions offsetting will
not be included in the figure. In the reporting year, the DKI value averaged 47.3 t COze/vehicle. This represents a
reduction of 0.5t COze/vehicle compared with the figure adjusted for 2022 due to a change in the assumption
on which the calculation is based, for example the first-time inclusion of region-specific life cycle assessments
for Chinese models.

Circular economy

The finite nature of natural resources and the social and environmental consequences of mining raw materials
make decoupling economic growth from resource consumption and the development of a circular economy key
sustainability topics. Policymakers at both international and national level have addressed these challenges and
made it their mission to regulate markets more aggressively in the future in an effort to speed up the trans-
formation towards resource efficiency and a circular economy. Another important driver of the circular economy
is the progress in decarbonization at the Volkswagen Group. The growing use of secondary materials and estab-
lishment of closed material cycles can help to further reduce our CO2 emissions. Recognizing the importance of
the topic, Volkswagen anchored the topic of circular economy in the NEW AUTO Group strategy through its "ESG,
Decarbonization and Integrity” base initiative.

The Volkswagen Group created and implemented concepts for the reconditioning and recycling of vehicle
components from an early stage. These concepts are being constantly refined and are also adapted to the
requirements of e-mobility. To intensify our efforts for a transition to a loop-oriented and resource-conserving
approach to doing business, we have pooled expertise within the Group and are working on projects and
measures on a cross-brand basis.

We are stepping up efforts to use recyclable materials in our vehicle projects. These currently include raw
materials from production residues as well as renewable raw materials or natural fibers such as flax, cotton,
wood and cellulose, provided they comply with all the technical requirements. In the future, the use of raw
materials from end-of-life vehicles will be increasingly taken into account.
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To preserve recyclable materials from electric vehicles, Volkswagen opened the Group's first pilot facility for
recycling high-voltage vehicle batteries at the Salzgitter site in early 2021. The objective is industrialized
recovery of valuable raw materials such as lithium, nickel, manganese and cobalt.

More information on the focus areas can be found in the sections on integrity and compliance, procurement,
production and employees, as well as in our Group Sustainability Report for fiscal year 2023.

Management and coordination

The Volkswagen Group has established a Group-wide sustainability management. The related structures, pro-
cesses and responsibilities are codified in a specific Group policy. We view sustainability management as a
continuous improvement process. The core elements include assumption of cross-functional overall respon-
sibility for sustainability by the Chair of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG as well as specification of
the competence of the responsible Board members for specific sustainability management concepts and the
newly appointed Chief Sustainability Officer at Group level. Sustainability is part of the Top 10 program at Group
level and is managed through the strategic management structure of the NEW AUTO strategy. The content is
regularly evaluated and reported to the Board of Management.

UN Global Compact

Volkswagen AG is a participant in the UN Global Compact (UNGC), the world's largest initiative for sustainable
corporate governance, and is involved in national and international initiatives together with other companies
from the Group such as AUDI AG, MAN Truck & Bus SE, Porsche AG, Scania AB and TRATON SE. Fund managers
in the capital markets view membership of the UNGC as an important factor when deciding to invest in shares
and bonds. ESG funds have become very popular in recent years and indispensable for stakeholders. As part of
the annual Communication on Progress, the Volkswagen Group and its brands report on their progress in
implementing the ten UNGC principles and their activities to support the Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs).

Strategic stakeholder management

Our stakeholders are individuals, groups, or organizations who have an influence on or are influenced by the
course or the result of corporate decisions. Our customers and employees are at the center of our stakeholder
network. Based on continuous stakeholder analysis, we have also identified eight more stakeholder groups.
Some of the Group's bodies - currently including the Supervisory Board and Works Council - perform an over-
sight and advisory role and also act as interfaces between internal and external stakeholder groups.

We understand stakeholder management as systematic interaction with key interest and stakeholder groups
within society on the key topics and objectives of our NEW AUTO Group strategy. Our goal is an open, con-
structive and also critical exchange with the stakeholder groups shown in the following chart. We aim to pro-
mote implementation of their requirements and expectations and to actively shape central strategic issues.

After restarting our interaction activities in 2022, we began to restructure our stakeholder management in the
reporting year with the aim of listening to and integrating the suggestions and recommendations of our stake-
holders even more effectively in future. Alongside the traditional forms of interaction, which include surveys and
regular dialog with our stakeholders, new formats are to be added to create opportunities for interactive and
transparent discussion of important, strategic and socially relevant sustainability topics.
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Sustainability Council

At Group level, the Sustainability Council has a prominent position. This advisory body provides assistance to the
Volkswagen Group with important, strategic sustainability issues and is made up of internationally renowned
experts from the academic world, politics and society. It establishes its own working methods and areas of focus
independently, has far-reaching rights for the purposes of exchanging information, consultation and initiating
action, and consults regularly with the Board of Management, top management and the employee represent-
tatives. The term of office of the existing members expired at the end of 2022. In the reporting year, we began to
reorganize the strategy and composition of the Sustainability Council. Further information is available on the
Sustainability Council's website at www.volkswagen-group.com/sustainability-council.

Corporate citizenship

As a globally operating company and good corporate citizen, we aim to be a source of economic impetus for
local structural development and equal opportunities. We have always believed in the importance of recognizing
our social responsibilities toward our stakeholders. The main focus of our corporate social engagement activities
is on supporting future, environmental, educational and community projects at many of our sites across the
world.

Environmental Strategy

As one of the largest automobile manufacturers, Volkswagen takes responsibility for the environmental impact of
its activities. Based on the NEW AUTO Group strategy, we have put greater focus on our environmental targets.
With our environmental mission statement goTOzero, we aspire to reduce environmental impact along the entire
life cycle - from raw material extraction until end-of-life - for all our products and mobility solutions in order to
keep ecosystems intact. Compliance with environmental regulations, standards and voluntary commitments is a
basic prerequisite of our actions.
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Our focus is on four prioritized action areas:

> Climate
We are committed to the Paris Climate Agreement and are aiming for the 1.5-degree target. We consistently
focus on the electrification of our products, decarbonization of our entire value chain and expansion of renew-
able energy generation to supply our sites and customers. We intend to be a net-carbon-neutral company by
2050 at the latest.

> Resources
We reduce the volumes of primary raw materials needed by using recycled material and renewable raw
materials. We maximize our energy and resource efficiency and establish loops for materials and water.
Together with our business partners we cut down on the amount of natural resources utilized throughout our
supply chain.

> Ecosystems
We reduce harmful emissions in air, soil and water. We mitigate the impact of our business operations on bio-
diversity and ecosystems and support projects to conserve these.

> Environmental compliance

Where integrity and compliance are concerned, we aim to be a role model for a modern, transparent, successful

enterprise. We use effective environmental compliance management systems to identify and manage environ-

mental risks and opportunities throughout the lifetime of our mobility solutions. We conduct open dialog with

our stakeholders and incorporate their expectations into our decisions.

Organization of environmental protection

Volkswagen has created an environmental policy that sets out guidelines for environmental decision-making, for
the management of projects and for the Group's environmental stewardship. Thus, parameters are set for the
conduct and working methods of management and staff in five areas: management behavior, compliance,
environmental protection, collaboration with stakeholders and continuous improvement.

The Board of Management of Volkswagen AG is the highest internal decision-making body for environmental
issues. Both it and the brands’ boards of management take not only business, but also social and environmental
criteria into account when making key company decisions. The Group-wide management of environmental
protection is the responsibility of the Group Steering Committee for the Environment and Energy. Other bodies
take responsibility for steering key individual aspects. They include the Group CO, Steering Committee and the
Group Steering Committee for Fleet Compliance.

The Volkswagen Group coordinates the activities of the brands, which in turn steer the measures in the
regions. The brands and companies are responsible for their own environmental organization. They base their
own environmental protection activities on the targets, guidelines and principles that apply throughout the
Group.

Achieving compliance with environmental laws and regulations at all of our sites is a top priority for Volks-
wagen. Furthermore, we are guided by Company standards and targets. We regularly train our employees on
environmental protection and environmental compliance. The intention of our environmental compliance
management systems is to ensure that environmental aspects and obligations are given appropriate consider-
ation in our business operations. Disregard for environmental obligations, fraud and misconduct are treated as a
severe compliance violation and penalized accordingly. Compliance with our Environmental Policy Statement
and with other Group environmental requirements is evaluated annually and reported to the Board of Man-
agement of Volkswagen AG and the respective brand boards of management.
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HOLISTIC INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Integrity and compliance are major priorities in the Volkswagen Group. We firmly believe that, for long-term
commercial success, it is important that each and every individual complies with laws, regulations and commit-
ments. Compliant behavior must be a matter of course for all Group employees. This is why integrity and compli-
ance remain key elements of our Group's NEW AUTO strategy and a focus topic in matters of sustainability.

Our objective is to be a role model and deepen the trust of our employees, customers, shareholders and
partners in our Company. Our regulations, processes and corporate culture are designed in such a way that all
employees are able to act with integrity and comply with the rules at all times. As performance indicators,
integrity and compliance must have the same strategic and operational priority in our Company as sales revenue,
profit, product quality and employer attractiveness.

With the Togetherdintegrity (T4l) program, we have built a holistic integrity and compliance management
system (ICMS) for all Group and brand companies, which brings together virtually all the Company's integrity and
compliance activities under one roof. This system was set up in line with the five internationally recognized ECI
(Ethics and Compliance Initiative) principles: strategy, risk management, a culture of integrity, a speak-up
environment and resolute accountability. The aim of T4l is not only to strengthen uniform corporate governance
throughout the Group in relation to integrity and compliance, but also to advance the culture of integrity. This
includes steadfastness in adhering to principles of integrity regardless of economic or social pressures. T4l and
the ICMS therefore contribute significantly to increasing sustainability in the Volkswagen Group. Implementation
by 2025 was originally planned. However, given that the roll-out had already made more progress than expected
at the beginning of the reporting year and that the consistently high approval scores for the question on integrity
in the annual Stimmungsbarometer employee survey pointed to the program’s success, we decided in the
reporting year to bring the centralized management and control of the program to an early end during 2023.
Responsibility for continuing to implement the measures and embedding them now lies with the Group brands
and companies and with the responsible Group departments.

Focus areas

Compliance with the rules must be a matter of course for all employees of the Volkswagen Group. The Group
Integrity & Compliance organization provides support with this worldwide in the form of programs, guidelines,
processes and practical advice. It helps the Group and brand companies to comply with the rules when carrying
out their business activities and to comply with the relevant laws and internal regulations. Among other things,
its work concentrates on anti-corruption and preventing embezzlement, fraud and money laundering.

The starting point for this is the Internal Compliance Risk Assessment (ICRA), which identifies compliance
risks in the Group. Compliance measures are developed and defined for each controlled company on the basis of
the risk profiles derived from the ICRA, which the companies have to implement depending on their risk clas-
sification. The ICRA also sets standards relating to the Code of Conduct (CoC), the whistleblower system, com-
pliance training and communication.

HR (Human Resources) Compliance Policies and Procedures

The aim of this key initiative is the integration of integrity and compliance into the standard HR processes such
as recruitment, training, promotion and remuneration (bonus payments). Integrity and compliance are also a
compulsory topic in annual employee appraisals and are a component of the training measures for employees
across all levels of the Company.
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REPORTING CHANNELS IN THE WHISTLEBLOWER SYSTEM

External reporting channel
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e-mail, by post, in person

’;‘ Reporting channels in the Volkswagen Group

Awareness-raising and Communication

The Code of Conduct (CoC) forms the basis for integrity and compliance in the Volkswagen Group. It serves as
the main tool for reinforcing awareness of responsible conduct and decision-making and can be used as an aid
and as a way of finding the right contact persons. The CoC is binding for all employees and has been part of
every employment contract since 2019. We and our employees undergo regular mandatory training on its key
contents.

Events in the departments round off the offerings of the Group Integrity & Compliance organization. The com-
munication team regularly examines practical compliance tasks and case studies. Awareness-raising on
compliance topics is supported by information and communication activities such as awareness campaigns, film
and dialogue formats, newsletters and interactive games.

The Compliance Infopoint has established itself as the central help center. The team there answers com-
pliance-related questions, establishes internal guidelines and directives and gives advice on process standards.

Training Courses and Standards

With the ICMS, the Group Integrity & Compliance organization sets uniform standards for compliance training
across the Group. This is to enable brands and companies to provide their employees with a consistent quality of
risk-based and target group-specific training that includes predetermined core content. The training courses
address two key topics: the Code of Conduct and anti-corruption.

Protection and Prevention: the Whistleblower System

The whistleblower system is the central point of contact for reporting cases of rule-breaking by Group employ-
ees or by direct and indirect suppliers. This includes white collar crimes, acts of corruption, tax offenses, environ-
mental offenses, human rights violations, infringements of antitrust and competition legislation, money
laundering and terrorism financing, breaches of product safety and licensing regulations, and serious breaches
of data privacy. Employees and third parties can report misconduct at any time and in many languages. A wide
range of channels is available for this purpose, and the information can be lodged completely anonymously, if
preferred. The aim is to use binding principles and a clearly governed process to avert damage to the Company
and its employees.

M&A and NCS Compliance

In the event of planned mergers and acquisitions (M&A transactions), we audit the relevant companies for com-
mercial risks such as corruption, breaches of trust or fraud, and for human rights risks. This also applies to joint
ventures and to industrialization and cooperation projects with external partners. The analyses provide recom-
mendations for the mitigation of the risks identified. The Group Integrity & Compliance organization also
supports compliance management in non-controlled shareholdings (NCS), i.e. companies that are not controlled
by a Volkswagen Group company as the majority shareholder. This includes the Chinese joint ventures.
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Business Partner Due Diligence

In the business partner due diligence process, the integrity of business partners and suppliers is reviewed,
especially with regard to corruption risks and compliance with ethical standards. The aim is to identify these
risks at an early stage, to avoid such business partners, and to define measures to minimize risk and implement
these with the business partner. If this is not possible, we refrain from entering the business relationship or
terminate it as the law allows.

Product Compliance

The product compliance management system (PCMS) helps our products comply with the legal and regulatory
requirements of the exporting and importing country, internal and external standards, contractually agreed cus-
tomer requirements and externally communicated voluntary commitments over their life cycle.

Environmental Compliance

Statutory environmental regulations and voluntary commitments are binding at all locations and in all business
fields. The Group's environmental policy and the environmental compliance management system stipulate the
relevant requirements and responsibilities. They apply to all strategy, planning and decision-making processes in
the Group brands and companies. This includes a system of key indicators to determine progress in meeting
environmental targets in the fields of renewable energy, CO2 emissions and resource efficiency.

Anti-Corruption

The Volkswagen Group has a zero-tolerance policy on active or passive corruption. This is anchored in both our
internal Code of Conduct and our Code of Conduct for Business Partners. Our investigation offices look into and
process any reported violations of our principles, and sanctions are imposed on the employees concerned.
Tackling corruption also includes developing and implementing mandatory training for employees in divisions or
companies with a high risk exposure.

For more information on integrity and compliance, as well as the topic of business and human rights, please see
our 2023 Group Sustainability Report.

Bl WHISTLEBLOWER SYSTEM
www.volkswagen-group.com/whistleblowersystem
Phone: +49 5361 9 46300
E-mail: io@volkswagen.de
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CO,EMISSIONS OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP'S EUROPEAN (EU27+2) NEW PASSENGER CAR FLEET
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1 The European Commission switched its calculation of CO. fleet emissions from NEDC to WLTP in 2021.
2 Subject to confirmation of CO, data within the scope of official publication by the European Commission.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Forward-looking mobility solutions with brand-defining products and services would be unthinkable without
innovation. This makes our research and development work essential for sustainably increasing the value of the
Company.

Together with our Group brands, we have launched measures based on our NEW AUTO strategy to link
development activities across the Group. At the heart of this is an efficient, cross-brand development alliance
characterized by a close network of our experts, collaboration on an equal footing, an innovative working
environment and the pooling of development activities. The aim is to make use of synergies across the Group
and act as a role model for the environment, safety and integrity. The development alliance plays a major part in
driving the Volkswagen Group's transformation and helping to make it fit for the future.

In view of this strategic focus, we concentrated in the reporting year on continuing to develop forward-
looking mobility solutions, establishing technological expertise to strengthen our competitiveness, expanding
our range of products and services and improving the functionality, quality, safety and environmental compat-
ibility of our products and services.

CO: fleet emissions
We use the strategic indicator of CO: fleet emissions in Europe and the United States to evaluate the effective-
ness of our measures to reduce CO2 emissions emitted by our vehicles.

The Volkswagen Group's new passenger car fleet in the 27 EU member states excluding Malta but including
Norway and Iceland (EU27+2) emitted an average of 119 g CO2/km (WLTP - Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehi-
cles Test Procedure)! in the reporting year in accordance with the statutory measurement bases. The statutory
target is 122 g COz/km (WLTP). The Volkswagen Group thus more than met the EU's CO: fleet target. All figures
are subject to confirmation of CO2 data within the scope of official publication by the European Commission. The
targets will be tightened as from 2025: the European Commission has thus set a target of a 15% reduction in CO-
emissions compared with 2021, which corresponds to a CO target of less than 100 g CO2/km for our new pas-
senger car fleet in the EU. A reduction of 55% has been defined for 2030, equivalent to a CO: target of less than
50 g CO2/km. We assume that our new passenger car fleet in the EU will meet the target for 2025 and more than
meet the target for 2030. A CO2 reduction target of 100% for passenger cars has been set for 2035.
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CO,EMISSIONS OF VOLKSWAGEN GROUP PASSENGER CARS AND LIGHT COMMERCIAL VEHICLES
UNDER GHG STANDARDS IN THE USA
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The Volkswagen Group's new light commercial vehicles fleet in the EU emitted an average of 187 g CO2/km
(WLTP)! in the reporting year according to the statutory measurement bases. The statutory target is
204 g COz/km (WLTP)!. The Volkswagen Group thus more than met the EU's CO: fleet target. All figures are
subject to confirmation of CO2 data within the scope of official publication by the European Commission. The
targets will be tightened as from 2025: the European Commission has thus stipulated a 15% reduction of CO:
emissions compared with 2021, which corresponds to a CO: target of less than 180 g CO2/km for our new light
commercial vehicle fleet in the EU. A reduction of 50% has been defined for 2030, equivalent to a CO: target of
less than 105 g CO2/km. We assume that our new light commercial vehicles fleet in the EU will meet this target
for 2025 and more than meet the target for 2030. A CO- reduction target of 200% for light commercial vehicles
has been set for 2035. In the United Kingdom and Switzerland/Liechtenstein markets, the Volkswagen Group's
new passenger car fleet met the statutory requirements for the reporting year. The Volkswagen Group's new light
commercial vehicle fleet met the statutory requirements for the reporting year in the United Kingdom but fell just
short of those for Switzerland.

In the United States, the emission pool - comprising the Group brands Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Audi,
Lamborghini, Bentley and Porsche - commits to the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) and Corporate Average Fuel
Economy (CAFE) regulations. Due to a model year - the accounting period used in the USA - differing in length
from the calendar year, internal calculations are used to determine the figures for the current and preceding
model year. The average GHG CO: value (internal data as of September 2023) for the passenger car and light
commercial vehicle fleets in model year 2023 is 133 g CO2/km (model year 2022: 142 g CO2/km). The statutory
target is 122 g CO2/km (model year 2022: 136 g CO2/km). Compliance with the statutory requirements of the
GHG and CAFE regulations together with externally acquired credits enabled the Volkswagen Group to comply
with the applicable requirements - subject to recognition by the authorities. The figure given for model year
2023 is also subject to recognition by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). For 2025, we anticipate a
CO: target in the USA of approximately 110 g CO2/km and expect to meet this target. For 2030, we aim to
increase the share of electric vehicles in our new vehicle fleet to significantly more than 50%, which would put us
within the target range of the current administration.

166



Group Management Report Sustainable Value Enhancement

Fuel and drivetrain strategy

With a view to the legal regulations on emissions, we are currently developing a forward-looking vehicle and
drivetrain portfolio: we have set ourselves the objective of increasing drive system efficiency with each new
model generation - irrespective of whether it is a combustion engine, a hybrid or a purely electric drive system.
The Volkswagen Group closely coordinates technology and product planning with its brands so as to avoid
breaches of fleet fuel consumption limits. As part of our electrification campaign, we aim to offer our customers
worldwide around 50 completely battery-electric models by 2030. By then, more than half of our new vehicles
worldwide are to be fully electric. By 2030, the Volkswagen Group aims to have electrified its entire model
portfolio, from high-volume models to premium vehicles. To this end, in addition to the Modular Electric Drive
Toolkit (MEB), we have also developed an all-electric platform for our premium and sports brands - the Premium
Platform Electric (PPE). Furthermore, we are currently concentrating our energies on designing the Scalable
Systems Platform (SSP), the successor platform for our future all-electric vehicles, in the Architecture tech-
nology initiative within the Group's NEW AUTO strategy. The strategic goals of this SSP platform are to further
reduce variance by consistently enhancing synergies and thus tapping into considerable savings potential.

To offer sustainable, affordable mobility in the future for as many people around the world as possible, we
offer a range of drivetrains with a focus on electrification. From today's perspective, conventional combustion
engines will still continue to make up a large share of the drive portfolio in the coming years. In the interest of
using resources responsibly, it is therefore essential to further enhance this engine segment and systematically
consolidate it for specific markets. Powertrain measures such as significantly more sophisticated exhaust gas
purification or mild hybridization of our vehicles, as well as vehicle measures such as optimized aerodynamics or
reduced rolling resistance will be necessary to fulfill future emissions standards. We are preparing intensively for
this as we develop our product portfolio.

It is more important to us than ever to rigorously pursue the modular approach. We are reducing the number
of individual modules so that we can make a large product portfolio economically viable. For example, we are
reducing the number of versions of conventional combustion engines in the Group in the long term as part of our
transformation towards e-mobility. This will create capacity for the development and production of new electric
drives.

Life cycle engineering and recycling

Technological innovation for reducing fuel consumption is not enough on its own to minimize the effect of
vehicles on the environment. We consider the environmental impact caused by our products throughout the
entire vehicle life cycle and at all stages of the value chain. This includes the manufacturing process with the
associated extraction of raw materials, the production of materials, the processes at our suppliers and our own
production operations at our sites, the use phase with the resulting vehicle emissions and the necessary supply
of fuel and charging current, and ultimately the recycling of the vehicle at the end of its life cycle. Using life cycle
engineering, we identify the stages of the life cycle at which improvements will have the greatest effect and
develop appropriate solutions. Recycling, for example, is an important means of reducing environmental impact
and conserving resources. When developing new vehicles, we therefore pay attention to the recyclability of the
required materials and give recommendations that enable good separability of materials. We require the use of
secondary materials, if these meet the same quality standards as primary materials. Under the European
Directive on end-of-life vehicles, passenger cars and light commercial vehicles must be 85% recyclable and 95%
recoverable. Our vehicles registered in Europe comply with these standards. We use the life cycle approach to
monitor our climate protection targets as well. For this purpose, we have developed the decarbonization index
(DKI) as a parameter, which also recognizes the emissions of an average Group passenger car throughout its life
cycle.
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Leveraging synergies increases efficiency

When developing vehicles, we cooperate closely with our brands to leverage synergies. The joint strategy of our
development alliance involves, for example, making the Group more competitive and viable in the long term by
deploying resources more effectively and efficiently in the research and development of new mobility-related
technologies, products and services. In our Group-wide development alliance, the brands therefore not only
work with each other, but also for each other on key technologies, forming cross-brand networks of expertise to
address topics of importance for the future.

The Volkswagen Group further streamlined its innovation portfolio, gearing it towards multibrand technol-
ogies of the future in order to provide effective support for the brands' capacity for innovation. In the reporting
year, the new leading roles assigned to the brands in Technical Development in 2020 to increase efficiency and
leverage synergies in module variance, components, parts and processes were applied to advance development
to ensure the consistency of the innovation process.

We coordinate the use of modules centrally to reduce costs, capital expenditure and complexity. We are
seeking to reduce expenditure in the modular toolkits, while at the same time facilitating widespread electri-
fication and a focus on autonomous systems. We wish to achieve this through a considerable reduction in com-
plexity using streamlined platforms that synergize but do not overlap. To this end, the individual Group brands
draw on the modular toolkits, thus creating synergies between the various models of a product line, as well as
across the product lines. By optimizing the toolkits, we are giving ourselves the financial leeway needed for
developments in topics of importance for the future.

Connectivity and automated driving

The mobility of people and goods is a prerequisite for economic growth and social development. But natural
resources are dwindling and climate change is advancing. Customers call for comprehensive mobility concepts
to minimize the environmental impact. Such solutions need to be efficient, sustainable, crisis-proof, customer-
oriented and accessible anytime and anywhere.

We are researching and developing such concepts in our Group-wide alliance: when shaping the future of
mobility, we are looking not only at the automobile and related services, but at all modes of transport, transport
infrastructures and people's mobility habits. Digital connectivity and automated driving allow for completely
new approaches to solving problems. They can help us play our part in a comprehensive mobility system for the
future and drive forward our industry's transformation.

New software solutions are the basis for this. This is why the Volkswagen Group has declared software devel-
opment to be one of its target core competencies in its NEW AUTO strategy. Our software subsidiary CARIAD is
responsible for this. It is to develop a sustainable, convenient, connected, safe automotive experience for the
customers of our Group brands. CARIAD aims to provide answers to the strategic aspects of digitalization and
pool the Group's software expertise.

CARIAD's developers work in innovation centers at sites in Germany, Europe, China and the USA. The German
parent company CARIAD SE employs around 6,000 specialists who are developing the following solutions in the
Group:
> VW.OS, a uniform software platform for all Group vehicles
> Uniform end-to-end electronics architectures
> Connection to a uniform cloud platform
> An infotainment platform with an application store for third-party providers
Driver assistance systems, automated parking functions and highly automated driving for private mobility
A data marketplace
New mobility services and digital business models

\
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\

168



Group Management Report Sustainable Value Enhancement

In 2023, the focus for CARIAD's developer teams, together with the Audi and Porsche brands, was on delivering
the software for the new E? 1.2 architecture, which optimizes the harmonization of hardware with the vehicle
software from CARIAD. This is designed not only to improve the performance of vehicle computers but also to
act as a key lever for the introduction of new services - even after vehicle production has begun.

CARIAD already supplies updatable software and updates for current vehicle generations, brands and
markets, for example as part of its E3 1.1 architecture, with the goal of making the software secure and traceable.

In the long term, CARIAD is to pool all of its solutions in an enhanced, scalable software platform that will be
made available to the Group brands, from the volume segment up to the premium platform. This is expected to
generate economies of scale and to lower the cost of growing software requirements in the vehicle for all brands.
In 2023, CARIAD started to realign itself with an extensive transformation program. A new Board of Management
team began by implementing a five-point plan. The aim is to accelerate the development and delivery of soft-
ware for the platforms. The reorganization will also lead to even closer collaboration between CARIAD and the
Group brands. In 2023, for example, CARIAD, together with the Volkswagen Group, presented a new approach to
the development of its E3 2.0 architecture. This is to form the basis for software-defined vehicles (SDV). In
addition, the development of architecture for two Audi and Volkswagen vehicle projects will be bundled in future
in a specially created SDV Hub. Further changes as part of the transformation program are set to materialize in
2024.

E3 2.0 is also set to pave the way for the autonomous driving functions of the future. The development of
autonomous driving is a core element of the NEW AUTO strategy, with CARIAD responsible for developing
partially and highly automated driving functions (up to Level 4) for the Volkswagen Group's brands. These appli-
cations will be progressively introduced in the new vehicle models at different performance levels. Volkswagen
Commercial Vehicles is responsible specifically for the areas of Mobility as a Service and Transportation as a
Service (MaaS/TaaS). The strategic technology initiative VVolkswagen Group Mobility is promoting autonomous
driving in conjunction with new service models, i.e. shared mobility in these areas using robotic shuttles and
vans.

CARIAD and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles will continue to drive the future rollout of automated and
autonomous drive technologies together with development partners.

Pooling strengths with strategic alliances

The aim of our NEW AUTO strategy is to transform our core business activities and to expand the mobility
solutions business area at the same time. It is decisive to the success of this plan that we place our innovative
strength on even broader foundations.

Within the Volkswagen Group, we combine our technological innovation activities in the Volkswagen Group
Innovation unit. At seven locations worldwide in the USA, Europe and Asia, employees are working on sustain-
able solutions for urban and interurban mobility systems in line with our motto "Mobility for generations to
come”. Technologies and activities that are ready for pre-development are regularly transferred from VVolkswagen
Group Innovation to our Group brands to ensure that the areas of digitalization, sustainability and e-mobility
receive continuous support in innovative projects. In this way, we are creating an agile innovation structure that
allows us to initiate new milestone projects with innovative international partners, even at short notice.
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Growth in the mobility sector is strongly defined through regional innovation activities. Volkswagen therefore
concentrates its strategic venture-capital activities and partnerships in the Group's international innovation
ecosystem. This helps us to identify the regional needs of customers more precisely, to adjust our product range
accordingly and to establish competitive cost structures. In doing so, we rely to a greater extent than in the past
on partnerships, acquisitions and venture-capital investments and manage investment selection centrally so as
to generate maximum value for the Group and its brands. It is against this backdrop that we formed an alliance
with Ford Motor Company. At the beginning of June 2020, Ford Motor Company and Volkswagen AG signed
additional contracts within their existing global alliance for light commercial vehicles and electrification. Among
other things, these contracts define the basis for a total of three vehicle projects: a city van (Ford Tourneo
Connect based on the VVolkswagen Caddy), a mid-size pickup (Volkswagen Amarok based on the Ford Ranger)
and a one-tonne cargo van. The Ford Tourneo Connect and the Amarok have been on the market since 2022. The
New Transporter will celebrate its world premiere in 2024. In addition, Ford will use the Modular Electric Drive
Toolkit (MEB) developed by Volkswagen for two electric volume models. The aim of the cooperation is to place
both Volkswagen and Ford in a position that enables them to improve their competitiveness, tailor their products
to better meet the needs of customers worldwide and at the same time to leverage synergies related to cost and
investment.

To design the framework conditions for the approval and introduction of our own self-driving system, we are
actively involved in public projects. The experience we are gathering here benefits the Group brands and thus
our customers.

The software subsidiary CARIAD is responsible throughout the Group for developing automated driving func-
tions for our brands' customers. In the Automated Driving Alliance, CARIAD and Bosch are striving to make
partially and highly automated driving suitable for the volume segment. The aim is to provide functions for Group
vehicles that allow drivers to take their hands off the steering wheel at times if regulations allow this. In the
alliance, both companies are jointly developing Level 2 hands-free systems for driving in cities, the countryside
and on the highway, and a Level 3 system which will enable drivers to look away from the task of driving on the
highway at times and perform certain other tasks.

CARIAD is using a local partnership with Horizon Robotics to further consolidate development expertise in
highly automated driving functions in the Chinese market. The companies also plan to develop specially modi-
fied high-tech semiconductor chips, so-called systems on a chip (SoCs), as part of a joint venture to implement
key functions and features for highly automated driving on a single chip and to integrate these chips into the
Group's hardware and software architecture.

CARIAD entered into a new partnership in China with the software provider ThunderSoft in 2023. The focus
of the joint venture is a new customer experience when it comes to infotainment and connectivity.

Over and above this, CARIAD is committed to open collaboration in the global developer community. For
example, as a strategic member of the Software Defined Vehicle working group run by the Eclipse Foundation
open-source community, CARIAD is involved in developing automotive software more efficiently and promoting
innovation.
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Key R&D figures

In fiscal year 2023, we filed 5,792 (5,305) patent applications worldwide for employee inventions, the majority of
them in Germany. The fact that an ever-increasing share of these patents is for important cutting-edge fields
underscores our Company's innovative power. These fields include driver assistance systems and automation,
digitalization, connectivity and alternative drive systems.

The Automotive Division's total research and development costs in the reporting year amounted to €21.8
(18.9) billion and were 15.2% higher than in the previous year; their share of the Automotive Division's sales
revenue - the R&D ratio - was unchanged at 8.1 (8.1)%. In addition to new models, our activities focused above
all on the electrification of our vehicle portfolio, digitalization, new technologies and enhancements of our modu-
lar and all-electric toolkits and platforms. The capitalization ratio was 51.2(51.4)%. Research and development
expenditure recognized in profit or loss in accordance with the IFRSs increased to €15.8 (14.3) billion.

As of December 31, 2023, our Research and Development departments - including the equity-accounted
Chinese joint ventures - employed 59,626 people (+1.2%) Group-wide, corresponding to 8.7% of the total work-
force.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS IN THE AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION

€ million 2023 2022
Total research and development costs 21,779 18,908

of which capitalized development costs 11,142 9,723
Capitalization ratio in % 51.2 51.4
Amortization of capitalized development costs 5,187 5,144
Research and development costs recognized in profit or loss 15,824 14,329
Sales revenue! 268,156 232,392
Total research and development costs 21,779 18,908
R&D ratio 8.1 8.1

1 Prior-year figure adjusted (see disclosures on IFRS 17).
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PROCUREMENT

The main task for Procurement is to help steer the Company's success in the areas of efficiency, sustainability
and resilience. 2023 was mainly devoted to safeguarding the supply of vehicle parts and optimizing costs in
order to make a contribution to the Group's result. The previous year's rising energy prices again resulted in
catch-up effects at our suppliers in the reporting year. Dealing with supplier requirements so as to safeguard the
supply of our components was therefore a key task for Group Procurement.

Procurement strategy

The procurement organizations at the VVolkswagen Group are an integral part of the NEW AUTO Group strategy. A
key task is to strengthen the procurement network and intensify cooperation across brands and regions. Making
use of global synergies also creates potential for a long-term reduction in costs for raw materials, components
and services.

The frequency, duration and intensity of crises and the supply chain disruption they entail have risen signifi-
cantly since the beginning of the 2020s. As a consequence, the procurement organizations intend to work
together with internal interface partners and suppliers to strengthen supply resilience. By establishing strategies
and tools and providing additional capacity for strategic and risk analyses, the aim is to enable forward-looking
and comprehensive monitoring of supply chains in line with defined criteria, such as political influencing factors,
economic developments, or environmental risks.

The transformation of the automotive industry toward e-mobility means that the procurement organizations
must adapt their supplier network. The way in which the Volkswagen Group works with these suppliers will be
shaped on an individual basis through strategic partnerships, treating the transformation as a joint undertaking.
Expansion of partnerships is generally another area of focus in Procurement, both internally in the form of collab-
oration across brands and departments and externally with the VVolkswagen Group's suppliers. Digitalization and
efficient processes are the foundation for all such strategic measures. The roll-out of a new digital supplier plat-
form for interaction and the successful connection of the cross-sectoral data network Catena-X in 2022 were
particularly noteworthy in this regard.

E-mobility

As technology advances, the automotive industry is rapidly forging ahead with its transformation toward
e-mobility. A key task for Procurement is to safeguard supplies in order to meet the constantly growing require-
ments brought about by this change in a way that is sustainable and cost-efficient. Sustainable actions, trans-
parent supply streams, and energy- and carbon-optimized supply chains are important elements of our contract
awards. We support our partners with active management of the supplier transformation, as the industry moves
from combustion-engine to all-electric vehicles, and with a lasting reduction in CO- emissions along the entire
supply chain. To put our Company in a leading cost position, we award Group contracts that pool global demand
from the markets of Europe, North and South America, and Asia-Pacific. To reduce economic and geopolitical
risks, we use diversified supply chains in conjunction with a dual-supplier strategy as well as localization of the
supplier portfolio for all core components of our all-electric vehicle fleet.

Digitalization of supply

We are working to implement a completely digitalized supply chain. This is intended to help us to safeguard
supply and leverage synergies throughout the Group. We are therefore creating a shared database and using
innovative technologies to enable efficient, networked collaboration in real time - both within the Group and
with our partners. The Procurement division aims to standardize transactions with our suppliers in the future and
automate them where possible. This will not only reduce transaction costs but will also accelerate business
processes. The integration of Catena-X, the data network for the automotive industry, is one important part of
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this. It will allow possible supply risks to be identified at an earlier stage and appropriate measures and alterna-
tives to be jointly developed faster. We are following the implementation of Procurement'’s digitalization strategy
with the specific aim of not only eliminating the weaknesses of Procurement’s IT system environment but also
increasing the organization's effectiveness, efficiency and future viability. The initial systems or modules such as
a cloud-based module for automating procurement activities in the vehicle project phase and an acclaimed
online negotiation tool have already been implemented and integrated into the existing system environment.

Structure of key purchasing markets

Procurement at the Volkswagen Group is responsible for ensuring cost-efficient, resilient and sustainable supply
chains. Procurement is organized at a global level, with a presence in the most important purchasing markets
around the world. Alongside local bodies and decision-making structures, Group Procurement manages the
brands and regions. This helps us to jointly implement potential cost savings and to control risks. Organized net-
working of the procurement organization in the brands will enable us to leverage Group-wide synergies and
purchase production materials, investments in property, plant and equipment, and services worldwide at the
quality required and on the best possible terms. In addition to the brands’ procurement units, Procurement
operates regional offices in strategic purchasing markets. Working together in the procurement organization,
these constantly identify and qualify new local suppliers.

Supply chain management in Procurement

Supply chain management activities at Procurement are focused on safeguarding supplies during start-up
phases and for series production. This entails providing support in our suppliers' industrialization processes,
monitoring series production and managing supply crises, which may arise, for example, as a result of geo-
political crises such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict or natural disasters such as the flooding in Slovenia. By intro-
ducing strategic semiconductor purchasing, the Volkswagen Group is realigning the procurement of these
electronic components for the future. The procurement organization therefore intends to assume direct negoti-
ating responsibility for strategically important semiconductor volumes so as to safeguard long-term supply and
ensure competitiveness.

Even in the early stages of new projects, we conduct audits to ensure that our suppliers will be able to deliver.
Furthermore, we provide support for purchased parts along the individual project milestones up to the start of
production. Complex components in particular frequently require onsite support from our supplier management
team. Finally, an acceptance test of production capacities is carried out to facilitate the timely start of series
production of the vehicles at our plants.

In addition, regular checks are carried out during series production, for example related to the continuous
matching of demand and capacity or possible capacity adjustments at suppliers. This also safeguards the capac-
ity at suppliers when using existing components in new projects.

Thanks to our established crisis management structure and global supplier network, we are able to overcome
complex challenges along the supply chain and have access to a wide range of locations and technologies.
Cross-divisional work among Procurement, Quality Assurance, Development, Production and Logistics largely
prevented looming losses due to supply risks and, in cases where a reaction was required, maintained pro-
duction capability. Nevertheless, the precarious situation in global supply chains resulted in limited vehicle avail-
ability for customers, albeit to a lesser degree than in the prior year.

Sustainability in supplier relationships

Successful relationships with our business partners are based on respecting human rights, compliance with
occupational health and safety standards, active environmental protection and combating corruption. These
sustainability standards are defined in the contractually binding Volkswagen Group Requirements for
Sustainability in Relations with Business Partners (Code of Conduct for Business Partners), updated in 2023. The
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Code of Conduct for Business Partners also sets out the expectation that business partners will pass on the
requirements formulated therein along the supply chain. We review compliance with the requirements, which
has been an explicit condition for the award of contracts since 2019, using sustainability ratings (S-rating) for
relevant companies and suppliers. The relevance of a business partner for this rating depends, among other
things, on the size of the company or the risk exposure arising from the type of service provided.

In our sustainability rating, we determine the sustainability performance of our suppliers by means of self-
disclosures and in a risk-based evaluation process involving audits. In the reporting year, we received 10,912
S-ratings for suppliers. The proportion of revenue contributed by suppliers with a positive S-rating amounts to
79% of the total procurement volume. Both the validation of the questionnaire and the performance of the audits
are carried out by selected service providers. As a rule, contracts are not awarded to suppliers who fail to meet
our requirements concerning compliance with sustainability standards. Tying award decisions to sustainability
criteria is one of the strongest levers for enforcing these. We address existing sustainability risks and violations
of sustainability principles by systematically defining and implementing measures to correct these; this also
includes the upstream supply chain. To enable continuous supplier development, we invite our suppliers to
attend sustainability training courses and workshops on specific topics at selected sites or online and also offer
web-based training. In the reporting year, over 7,700 suppliers received such training.

With regard to decarbonization, the Volkswagen Group is striving to continuously reduce greenhouse gas
emissions or avoid them altogether over the entire life cycle of a vehicle. The Group's transformation into a
provider of sustainable mobility solutions and in particular the trend towards e-mobility are shifting the action
required from the service life of the vehicle to supply chains and the manufacture of vehicles and components as
well as the disposal thereof following the vehicle's use phase. We are aware of our social responsibility and are
committed to the Paris Climate Agreement. In the Modular Electric Drive Toolkit (MEB), we have incorporated the
use of renewable energy, among other things, into the contracts with cell manufacturers. For new vehicle
projects, CO. emissions will be a technical feature for relevant components for the Volkswagen Group in the
future. This means our suppliers will be given binding CO- targets, with which they must be able to demonstrate
compliance at any time. One example is the Scalable Systems Platform (SSP), the new mechatronics platform on
which the batteries have a CO: limit. To be able to achieve these limits, suppliers need to implement measures in
their own production processes and upstream chains - for example, the use of renewable electricity. Measures
like these are designed to reduce the carbon footprint of many electric vehicle models. For the ID. models, the
Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand uses additional sustainable components, including battery cases and wheel
rims made of COz-reduced aluminum. In this way, the ID. family's carbon footprint is to be improved by around
two tonnes per vehicle by 2025.

In our sustainable supply management, we are also involved in protecting groups of people who may be
subject to a high risk of potential human rights violations at any point in our supply chain. We implemented a
Human Rights Focus System in 2022 to achieve greater impact in this context. Our aim here is to identify and
work on issues that can be associated with human rights and environmental risks and that require more in-depth
analysis. The aim is to implement suitable prevention and remedial measures that take into account the diverse
and often structural causes of human rights violations. We continued to implement our activities as part of the
raw materials due diligence management system in 2023 to manage the sometimes extensive risks in the
upstream raw material supply chains. The management system currently comprises 18 high-risk raw materials,
for which we use risk-based specific measures to identify, measure and, in particular, reduce sustainability risks.
For our battery suppliers, transparency requirements constitute an important basis for responsible raw material
purchasing. Within the framework of these contractual requirements, we ask, for example, that our battery sup-
pliers disclose their entire upstream supply chain before we award new contracts.
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For more information on human rights, please see the section on Supply Chain and Human Rights in our 2023
Group Sustainability Report.

TECHNOLOGY

The “Technology” Board function is divided into four pillars, the so-called tech stacks. These encompass all
activities related to the development, manufacture and procurement of battery cells and systems as part of the
“Cell and Battery Strategy” tech initiative, all Group-wide topics in the “Charging and Energy Services" tech
initiative, the activities of Volkswagen Group Components and the marketing of Volkswagen platforms and com-
ponents to third parties (Platform Business).

Cross-brand management of technology activities and a value creation strategy coordinated throughout the
Group are designed to improve the Group's future viability and competitiveness. Synergies are to be leveraged
across both traditional technologies and future areas to advance the transition to e-mobility.

The Volkswagen Group formalized its objectives for “Battery, Charging & Energy” by 2030 in its technology
roadmap. With the battery roadmap, we aim to substantially reduce the complexity and cost of this key technol-
ogy so as to make electric vehicles attractive and affordable for as many people as possible.

Battery

Our battery activities pillar is divided into two areas: the Center of Excellence and PowerCo. The responsibilities
of the Center of Excellence include Group-wide product management, procurement and quality assurance for the
battery cell and battery system, and closed-loop recycling. PowerCo will be an important cell supplier for the
Group in the future.

In 2022, VVolkswagen founded PowerCo SE, its own battery company, which will bundle the Group's global
cell production activities. From the new European battery hub in Salzgitter, this company will manage the devel-
opment of international factory operations, continuous development of cell technology, vertical integration of the
value chain and supplies of machinery and equipment to factories. PowerCo's approach is based on two key
concepts with which it aims to set future industry standards: a unified cell enables flexible use of different
battery chemicals and is intended to be used in up to 80% of all Group models in future. The second key concept
is the standard factory, which aims to enable the rapid rollout of in-house production with standardized build-
ings, equipment, IT and infrastructure and will thus be quickly and flexibly adaptable to future innovations.

The Group's first own cell factory based on this model is being built in Salzgitter and is due to open in 2025.
The first machinery for cell production was delivered and installed in 2023. Alongside Salzgitter, a second cell
factory is being built in Valencia, Spain. In 2023, PowerCo also took the decision to build another cell factory in
St. Thomas, Canada. Each factory is to operate on renewable power and be designed for future closed-loop
recycling.

Vertical integration of value creation is a major component of the battery strategy. By building up its own cell
production, Volkswagen will progressively take charge of further stages of the value chain so that it can exercise
greater influence over the availability, cost and sustainability of key raw materials and other items. The supply of
raw materials is being safeguarded using a three-part strategy: long-term supply contracts, investment with
partners, and procurement on the commodity spot market, backed up by financial hedging.

Cathode materials have a key role to play in the transformation to e-mobility as a driving cost factor and main
component in batteries. PowerCo and the Belgian materials technology group Umicore have formed the joint
venture IONWAY, which aims to supply cathode and primary materials to the European cell factories starting in
2025. The partners aim to be producing materials for 160 GWh of cell capacity per year by the end of the decade.
The planned cathode factory will be built in Nysa/Poland.
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Charging and Energy
Since 2021, the Charging and Energy area has played a key role in the VVolkswagen Group's e-mobility strategy
with the aim of becoming a leading provider of a smart charging and energy ecosystem.

As part of the strategic alignment, the Group is focusing on two key areas. Firstly, sales of electric vehicles are
being underpinned by the development of a global fast-charging infrastructure. In Europe, the Group and its
brands are involved in the pan-European joint venture IONITY, the Ewiva joint venture in Italy and other
partnerships. By 2025, the number of public fast-charging points in Europe is to increase to 18,000. At the same
time, both the North American charging network Electrify America - already one of the largest public charging
networks in the USA - is to be expanded to 8,000 fast-charging points and CAMS in China is to be enlarged to
17,000 fast-charging points. Secondly, the Group is opening up new business models involving smart charging
and energy solutions. The Group operates as one of the largest vehicle-charging subscription providers in Europe
with its charging and energy brand Elli. Its charging network offers access to over 600,000 charging points
Europe-wide with approximately 35,000 fast-charging points in 27 countries. In addition, Elli's product portfolio
also includes the full range of charging solutions for private customers and companies, from the Company's own
wall box to the flexible fast-charging station Flexpole and smart charging solutions. As part of a pilot project
involving the smart control of stationary batteries, Elli also began trading electricity in 2023. This makes
Volkswagen the first automotive group to trade on the EPEX Spot power exchange.

Volkswagen Group Components

The independent corporate entity Volkswagen Group Components, under the umbrella of Volkswagen AG, forms
the third pillar of the “Technology” Board function. Some 70,000 staff with expertise in developing and manufac-
turing vehicle components work worldwide in more than 60 plants at 45 sites.

The product portfolio is focused on technical components such as chassis, axle systems, steering, transmis-
sion, electric drives, thermal management systems in the electric drivetrain and battery systems.

With its entry into e-mobility, Volkswagen Group Components were able to work systematically on optimizing
the electric drivetrain thanks to close cooperation between product management and development. In 2023, it
debuted the new, highly efficient APP550 electric drive, which features both higher performance and improved
efficiency. The new powertrain was developed by Volkswagen Group Components together with Technical
Development at Volkswagen Passenger Cars and is being used for the first time in the Volkswagen ID.7. It is
produced at Volkswagen'’s site in Kassel.

Platform Business

The fourth pillar of the "Technology” Board function is Platform Business (third-party business), which pools
Group-wide responsibility for the sale of platforms and components to external companies. This organizational
unit is responsible for the successful initiation, acquisition (including contract design) and support of customer
projects including the related order processing (logistics, billing). In the cooperation project with Ford, the
necessary cross-brand structures and processes have been created within the Volkswagen organization so that
other external customers can also be efficiently served in the future. Ford plans to produce approximately
1.2 million MEB-based vehicles for the European market by the end of the decade. In 2023, the automaker
presented the Ford Explorer, the first model based on the MEB. Volkswagen is also continuing to explore a supply
agreement with Indian automaker Mahindra for MEB components such as electric motors and battery cells.
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PRODUCTION
Our international cross-brand production network covers all stages in the process from the supplier to the fac-
tory and assembly line, and from the factory to dealers and customers. Its enduring efficiency is a prerequisite for
our competitiveness. To be able to meet the challenges of the future, we rely on holistic optimizations, forward-
looking innovations, robust supply streams and structures, and flexibility in the production network. At 9.31
million vehicles, the Volkswagen Group's global vehicle production in fiscal year 2023, including the Chinese
joint ventures, was 6.8% up on the prior-year figure. Productivity, including the Chinese joint ventures, increased
by 2.5% compared with the previous year.

Both the parts shortages and the disruption of supply chains, most recently caused by the flooding in
Slovenia, restricted production in the Volkswagen Group in 2023. The supply and production situation eased
toward the end of the reporting year.

one.PRODUCTION production strategy

Production is supporting the NEW AUTO Group strategy with its one.PRODUCTION functional area strategy. We
are sharpening our focus in the transformation of our production and logistics, whereby our aim is to minimize
expenditure, streamline processes and strengthen the team.

The overarching aim is to increase productivity and profitability. This will enable us to manufacture high-
quality products at our sites that give customers maximum benefit at competitive prices. We are adopting a
cross-brand approach for the thematic focus of our activities in order to pool the strengths and potential of our
global production and logistics across brands and take advantage of the resulting synergies.

Our strategy process is based on a scenario methodology. As part of this, the strategic orientation of pro-
duction is checked at regular intervals to verify that it is up to date. This provides the thematic framework for the
topics being focused on in the year in question. These range from people-related subjects such as skills fore-
casts, to efficient and resilient processes, safeguarding the achievement of cost targets, digitalization and the
environment, and the production and logistics network.

Global production network

The Group's production network encompasses 115 production sites, including our Chinese joint ventures. 70 of
these sites are vehicle production plants. Standardizing production with uniform product concepts, plants,
operating equipment and production processes within a product family is a key factor in our forward-looking
production. We are constantly enhancing our production concepts and aligning them with new technologies to
achieve ambitious targets in the individual projects. In a challenging environment, the Volkswagen Group
succeeded in starting up 44 vehicle projects in 2023, 16 of which were new products or successor products and
28 were product upgrades and derivatives.

The flexible production capacities provided by our platforms allow us to respond to changing market require-
ments, make needs-based use of the production network, and leverage synergies across brands through multi-
brand sites. Of the 45 vehicle production plants for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, almost half are
already multibrand sites. Models for this approach within the Group are the Bratislava and Zwickau sites. In
Bratislava, vehicles of the Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Skoda, Audi and Porsche brands are produced on the
joint Modular Longitudinal Toolkit (MLB) and Modular Transversal Toolkit (MQB) platforms. At present, we are
manufacturing vehicles of the Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Audi and CUPRA brands on the joint Modular Electric
Drive Toolkit (MEB) platforms in Zwickau.
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VEHICLE PRODUCTION SITES OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP
Share of total production 2023 in percent
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With its NEW AUTO Group strategy, the Volkswagen Group is pursuing the goal of becoming one of the world'’s
leading providers of sustainable mobility. The focus here is on mobility solutions that are innovative, efficient,
sustainable and customer-oriented, as well as geared towards profitable growth. The introduction of the MEB
served as a basis for this, and complements our portfolio with additional battery-electric vehicles. We have been
manufacturing battery-electric vehicles based on the MEB in Zwickau, the Volkswagen Group's first fully
electrified car factory, since 2019. One example is the ID.3 from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand. From
2021, the portfolio of the MEB platform in Zwickau was expanded through the addition of the CUPRA Born, the
Audi Q4 e-tron and the ID.5 from Volkswagen Passenger Cars. Since 2023, Volkswagen has also been manu-
facturing the ID.7 on the MEB platform in Emden. Furthermore, we use the all-electric platform for premium and
sports brands - the Premium Platform Electric (PPE) - to leverage synergies in production across the brands.
This meant that electric vehicles were manufactured at 18 sites across the global production network as of year-
end 2023.

New technologies and digitalization
As part of the one.PRODUCTION strategy, the Group has developed the "Operating System 2030+" approach - a
cross-brand vision for the factory of the future. An important dimension of this, and a prerequisite for achieving it,
is digitalization towards autonomous factories. The digital transformation is thus shaping the future devel-
opment of our process landscape and data ecosystem. The corresponding switch to value stream- and product-
oriented software development within the Group is bringing greater focus and speed to the implementation of
solutions. Overall, more than 69 new applications are already available for use in the production and logistics
processes. Examples range from virtual training courses for new vehicle start-ups to the identification and
implementation of potential energy savings and the use of artificial intelligence for parts supply by the Sched-
uling departments. The applications are now being rolled out to over 40 plants via the Digital Production
Platform (DPP) jointly developed with our strategic partner Amazon Web Services (AWS).

In 2023, Volkswagen continued its commitment to Catena-X, the first open and collaborative data space for
the automotive industry. With Catena-X, Volkswagen is shaping the future of the automotive supply chain in
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conjunction with other manufacturers and suppliers worldwide. The aim is to build a global data ecosystem for
the automotive industry with shared values regarding collaboration, data sovereignty, trust and cooperation.
Material traceability along with overarching demand and capacity management and comprehensive bottleneck
management are some examples of how we intend to increase the efficiency of our plants and meet future
supply chain requirements at the same time. We began using the first applications for partner data management
in the supply chain in 2023. Further solutions, for instance for quality cycles and managing shortages of
materials, are to follow in 2024.

In the Volkswagen Group, digital and innovative technologies are systematically validated and their use for
production and logistics is piloted and rolled out. This is to enable the Group to exploit potential for cost savings
in the value chain and realize more flexible implementation options, as well as quality improvements. The goal of
the digital transformation in production and logistics is to simplify the entire process chain, make the best
possible use of new technologies and establish autonomous processes. Fields of innovation in 2023 included
computer vision, augmented reality, process mining, Al robotics and what is known as generative artificial intel-
ligence (GenAl). For example, artificial intelligence is being used on Volkswagen's proprietary computer vision
platform to perform tasks such as complex image evaluations within the operational production process, and is
continuously transferred to other sites across the brands. Opportunities to use GenAl are also being evaluated
and tested across departments and brands.

Zero Impact Factory

We are planning the production of tomorrow with our one.PRODUCTION functional area strategy. The use of
resources and emission levels at Volkswagen Group sites require particular attention. In the Zero Impact Factory
program, we are developing specific steps towards more sustainable production, guided by the vision of a
factory that has no adverse environmental impact. The brands have been using the measurement methods and
management tools developed for this since 2022. These enable us to record and reduce the quantitative
environmental impact of our production sites, particularly in the areas requiring action of climate protection and
energy, emissions, water and waste. We are also focusing on qualitative aspects such as the appearance of our
factories, our commitment to biodiversity, protection of the soil, a functioning environmental compliance man-
agement system, improvement of our resource efficiency, and environmentally friendly mobility management for
employee and goods transport. A further important milestone was reached in 2023. As part of an internal test
phase, we are now measuring 22 quantitative environmental indicators - including CO2 emissions, solvent
emissions, freshwater requirements, wastewater loads and different types of waste - at all sites where we
produce passenger cars and light commercial vehicles and are converting these into impact points on the basis
of their environmental relevance. This makes it possible to compare the environmental impacts with one another
and means we can implement reduction measures targeted at precisely those areas in which the greatest
positive impact for the environment can be achieved. We use a site checklist to continuously review the status of
implementation of a further 143 environmental criteria. Examples of these include projects and measures geared
towards maintaining biodiversity, establishing environmentally friendly employee mobility, and promoting the
circular economy.

From 2025, the Zero Impact Factory method is to replace the existing KPI system, which measures the reduc-
tion of the environmental impact of production (UEP). This represents a shift away from steering based on indi-
cators that are purely performance-based and vehicle-specific to a reduction in the environmental impact of our
production in absolute terms. Our goal is to achieve Zero Impact status for all of our manufacturing plants for
passenger cars and light commercial vehicles by 2050.

To support programs such as these, a management system developed in-house started being introduced at
all production sites worldwide in mid-2019, linking the main compliance issues with key environmental
management issues. This environmental compliance management system (ECMS) provides the foundation for
compliance with all external and internal rules and regulations relating to the environment.

ECMS implementation was initially concentrated on the major production and development locations, and
was extended in a second step to include Group companies whose business activities entail a lower environ-
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mental risk. We continued to actively support, monitor and track the rollout and advisory process in the reporting
year.

We are encouraging networking and communication between the brands worldwide in order to leverage
synergies. Our environmental experts meet regularly in working groups. In addition, we provide our managers
and employees with specific training on the topic of environmental protection.

We record and catalog measures in an IT system and make these available for a Group-wide exchange of best
practices. In the reporting year, approximately 1,540 implemented measures in the area of environment and
energy were tracked and documented via the MalBBhahmen@Web system. They serve to improve infrastructure
and production processes for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles and are incorporated into the
decarbonization index (DKI), for example. These activities may have a positive effect on the Group's environ-
mental indicators and are often beneficial from an economic perspective.

Zero Impact Logistics

In the joint Zero Impact Logistics initiative, the Group and brand logistics departments work together to achieve
the goals of the goTOzero environmental mission statement. By continuously optimizing the transport network
and logistics processes - for example by means of digitalization - we can avoid unnecessary shipments and
reduce emissions. In addition, the use of new low-emission technologies for transporting production materials
and vehicles is examined, piloted and accelerated.

The measures the Volkswagen Group is taking to achieve carbon-neutral logistics in the future also include,
for example, moving shipments from road to rail and almost complete avoidance of CO: through the use of green
electricity in rail transport in Germany and other countries in collaboration with railway companies. Volkswagen
also transports high-voltage batteries for electric vehicles in an environmentally conscious and efficient manner,
for example at the Volkswagen component site in Braunschweig. Here, the batteries are loaded fully auto-
matically onto trains that run on renewable power, which then take them to the Volkswagen plant in Zwickau.

Group Logistics uses two roll-on/roll-off charter ships powered by low-pollution liquefied natural gas (LNG)
to transport vehicles across the North Atlantic. At the end of 2023, it started the gradual introduction of four
more LNG-powered car freighters, and is thus progressively replacing conventionally operated ships. Compared
to other LNG-fueled marine engines, Group Logistics' charter ships are more climate-friendly because the high-
pressure technology of the two-stroke engines from MAN Energy Solutions allows almost no methane to escape.
In principle, the dual-fuel engines will also enable non-fossil fuels - such as biogas (bio-LNG), e-gas (synthetic
gas) from renewables and biofuel - to be used in future. This will allow carbon emissions to be reduced even
further. In the long term, Group Logistics also sees further potential to reduce the level of CO:. with other
alternative fuels.

Group Logistics permanently operates two charter ships powered by biofuel on European sea routes. This fuel
produces less CO2 than conventional fossil fuels, it is made from used cooking oils and fats. These waste and
residual materials that stem, for example, from the catering and food industries, cannot be used for further
processing into food or animal feed.
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SALES AND MARKETING
We regard ourselves as an innovative and sustainable mobility provider for all commercial and private customers
worldwide - with a product portfolio encompassing our successful brands and innovative financial services.

Together with their sales partners and importers, our passenger car brands agreed on a procedure for
integrating state-of-the-art products and services into the sales network. The priority thereby is the safe and
legally compliant handling of customer data and the way in which this is processed for digital products and
services or in connection with the vehicle purchase. The legal requirements for handling customer data have
been tightened in many countries. At the same time, the Group is launching a growing number of vehicles that
are connected to the internet where available and depending on a vehicle's features. We are increasingly
investing in distribution systems and processes with the goal of further digitalizing and improving the individual
customer experience in all distribution channels. The Volkswagen Group's financial strength and profitability is
attributable to an extensive portfolio of strong brands. We want to continuously sharpen the brand profiles and
to distinguish as clearly as possible between the customer segments served by the brands, supplementing them
as required with tailored solutions. Our aim is to achieve high market saturation with great efficiency and a low
level of brand cannibalization. To this end, we have established automobile-specific customer segmentation to
steer and improve the positioning of our brands, which we consistently apply throughout the strategy and
product process.

As part of our NEW AUTO strategy, we have introduced strategic base initiatives for China as the largest
single market and North America as the market with the greatest growth potential due to their considerable
strategic importance for the Volkswagen Group. We have used the Group strategy as the foundation for our new
functional area strategy called NEW SALES 2030, which forms the basis for transforming our sales activities in
the direction of a mobility provider. The aim of NEW SALES 2030 is to enable us to provide an even more flexible
and targeted response to our customers' wishes and leverage additional revenue potential, for example through
digital business models.

With regard to its NEW AUTO strategy, Volkswagen hit another milestone as part of the “Volkswagen Group
Mobility” tech initiative in July 2022 with the closing of the transaction with Europcar. This successful joint
acquisition with two consortium partners is important in helping to drive the growth of the Volkswagen Group in
vehicle-on-demand (VoD) services. Europcar is to become a cornerstone of a product portfolio that will cover
customers’ mobility needs from vehicle sharing for a few hours to subscription for multiple months. Our
expectation is that most people will still prefer individual mobility by 2030 but the focus will be more on using
and less on owning vehicles. The Volkswagen Group is aiming to participate in the global market for mobility
services, which is expected to grow rapidly.

Also in the area of sales and marketing, we are aware of our responsibility towards the climate and the
environment. In addition to the broad range of all-electric vehicles and hybrid models, we kicked off the
goTOzero retail project that is focused on decarbonizing our entire sales network and increasing its ESG
performance, helping our sales partners to move over to a climate-neutral business model. As a result, the
carbon footprint of our sales network is to be reduced by at least 30% by 2030 compared with 2020. In order to
identify and successfully implement the right measures, we have produced manuals, training courses and
marketing materials for our partners. In addition, a certification model has been established for the entire sales
network in response to both regulatory requirements and customer expectations.

Customer satisfaction, customer loyalty and customer conquest

The Volkswagen Group aims its sales activities at exciting its customers. This is our top priority, as satisfied
customers remain loyal to our brands and recommend our products and services to others. For this we measure
customer satisfaction with our brands at different customer contact points and make it a subject of discussion at
Board committee meetings. In addition to satisfaction with our products and services, we value our customers'
emotional connection to our brands. It is important for us to retain customers and win new ones. To measure our
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success in this area, we compile and analyze strategic indicators for the passenger car-producing brands: the
loyalty rate represents the proportion of customers of our passenger car brands who have bought another Group
model. Thanks to their faithful customers, the Volkswagen Passenger Cars and Porsche brands have remained in
the upper loyalty rankings of the core European markets in comparison with their competitors for a number of
years. Audi and Skoda also have above-average customer loyalty ratings. Compared to other manufacturer
groups, the Volkswagen Group continues to hold a top spot in the core European markets in terms of loyalty. The
conquest rate shows the share of newly acquired passenger car customers as a proportion of a brand-specific
selection of competitors. The Volkswagen Passenger Cars and Audi brands improved their conquest rates in
2023, while the figures for Skoda and Porsche were on a level with the previous year.

In the core European markets, brand image and confidence in the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand
stabilized above the level for the market as a whole in 2023. Audi and Porsche continue to occupy top places in
the image ranking.

E-mobility and digitalization in Group Sales

As part of our electrification campaign, we aim to offer our customers worldwide around 50 completely battery-
electric vehicles by 2030. This campaign will be complemented by vehicle-related, customer-focused offerings,
such as customized charging infrastructure solutions and mobile online services. The Volkswagen Group is thus
transforming from an automotive manufacturer into a mobility service provider. This poses new challenges for
Sales.

Digitalization provides many opportunities for Sales, including improved customer contact. Our actions are
guided by a clearly defined strategy that requires extensive cooperation between the brands and markets to
achieve the greatest possible synergies. Our aim here is to create a completely new product experience for the
customers of our brands - one which impresses with a seamless communication process, from the initial interest
in purchasing a vehicle, to servicing and ultimately to the sale of the used car. In doing so, we are opening up
new business models relating to the connected vehicle - in particular with regard to mobility and other services.
Vehicles are becoming an integral part of the customer’s digital world of experience.

We also align our internal processes and structures to the methods and new forms of working created by
digital innovation. This results in project teams operating across different business areas, new forms of cooper-
ation, a more intensive relationship with the international start-up scene, a consolidation of venture capital
expertise - as a form of supporting innovative ideas and business models - and new lean systems and cloud-
based IT solutions.

Car subscription

Volkswagen Financial Services AG expanded the portfolio of mobility services offered by the VVolkswagen Group
and its brands in 2023. Progress has been made particularly in the collaboration with the Europcar Mobility
Group (EMG). Numerous joint projects worldwide are currently being worked on, from mobility services for fleet
customers to cooperation on the marketing of used vehicles.

The Volkswagen Financial Services AG mobility platform is continuously enlarging its portfolio of mobility
services for the Group brands. Its solutions offer the use of vehicles for anything from minutes to years.
Particularly noteworthy is the expansion of flexible subscription products, which progressed as planned in 2023.
In Germany, the portfolio was expanded to include the Skoda brand. September 2023 saw the launch of the
Volkswagen Abonnement, a subscription service also offered through EMG for the Volkswagen Passenger Cars
brand in France.

Fleet customer business

Business relationships with fleet customers are often long-term partnerships. In a volatile environment, this
customer group provides greater stability for sales of well-equipped, profitable vehicle models than the private
customer segment.
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The Volkswagen Group has an established base of business fleet customers, especially in Germany and the rest
of Europe. Our extensive product range enables us to satisfy their individual mobility needs from a single source.

In an overall passenger car market in Germany that grew by 7.3% in the reporting year, business fleet
customers accounted for 21.4 (18.8)% of total registrations. The Volkswagen Group's share of this customer
segment increased to 47.0 (43.5)%. Outside Germany, the Group's share of registrations by fleet customers in
Europe was 27.6 (25.7)%. This shows that fleet customers’ confidence in the Group remains at a high level. We
were able to consolidate our strong market position in the fleet customer business in Europe.

After Sales and Service

In the after-sales business, we regard ourselves as a complete provider of all products and services relevant to
customers. Together with our partners, our mission is to ensure lifelong mobility for our customers and vehicles.
We are therefore continuously expanding our portfolio of tailor-made offers and services with the aim of
improving customer experience and the satisfaction of our customers. The partner businesses also offer a com-
prehensive portfolio of services in all vehicle classes.

In After Sales, we are supporting the changing world of mobility and our systematic focus on e-mobility by
developing new services and innovative concepts. As the Group transforms from vehicle manufacturer to a
leading, global provider of sustainable mobility, our software company CARIAD is working on the development of
the future software architecture for our vehicles. With the resulting connectivity services, we will also be able to
generate synergies in After Sales across all the Volkswagen Group's brands and take advantage of new
opportunities to boost customer loyalty.

In addition to individual service, the timely provision of genuine parts is essential to assure passenger car
customer satisfaction in After Sales. The genuine parts supplied by our passenger car brands and the expertise of
the service centers stand for the quality, safety and value retention of our customers’ vehicles. With our global
after sales network including more than 130 of our own warehouses, we are creating the prerequisites to supply
almost all our authorized service facilities around the world within 24 hours. Owing to disruptions in supply
chains we were unable to fully guarantee in-time delivery of replacement parts in certain cases during the
reporting year.

In the Digital After Sales project, we are modernizing processes and IT systems in After Sales. By adopting an
approach that focuses product and service development on the individual needs of both dealers and customers,
we aim to reduce the time needed for administrative tasks at the dealers through automated, interrelated ser-
vices and also to stabilize existing IT systems and boost efficiency. In addition, innovative digital after-sales
services will improve the customer experience.

Around the world, our commercial vehicles business also prides itself on products of quality and on customer
focus. Our range of trucks, buses and engines is complemented by services that aim to guarantee fuel efficiency,
reliability and wide vehicle availability. By offering vehicles equipped with an all-electric or hybrid drive system,
we take into account both customers’ wishes and our responsibility to contribute to emission-free transport-
tation. Workshop service and service contracts are intended to offer customers a high degree of certainty, in
addition to a high level of quality. We are reducing servicing times and costs with a view to the vehicles' total
operating costs.

In the Power Engineering segment, we help our customers to secure the availability of machinery with MAN
PrimeServ. The global network of more than 100 PrimeServ locations stands for excellent customer focus and
offers, among other things, replacement parts of genuine-part quality, qualified technical service and long-term
maintenance contracts.
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QUALITY

The quality of our products and services plays a key role in maintaining customer satisfaction. Customers are
satisfied and loyal particularly when their expectations of a product or service are met or even exceeded. Appeal,
reliability and service determine quality as it is perceived by the customer throughout the entire product expe-
rience. Our objective is to positively surprise our customers and inspire enthusiasm in all areas, and thus to win
them over with our quality.

Digitalization was once again the beating heart of our work in the past fiscal year: we are continuously
sharpening our focus on software-based system development, which is a critical factor for success in respect of
customer satisfaction. Consistent application of the "Automotive SPICE" process assessment model that we use
to improve our processes is particularly important in our activities. It is a key building block for meeting the
requirements of our customers, as well as those of the regulatory and legislative bodies.

Volkswagen has been implementing cybersecurity measures across the Company for some time now. For
example, we have an independent cybersecurity network in place across all regions and Group brands and
monitor potential cyber risks. This enables us to act fast when potential threats arise. Since June 2022, the
UNECE (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe) has provided for corresponding certification and
homologation to ensure that companies can guarantee that these aspects are dealt with properly so as to
protect the users of our vehicles from potential attacks. Our Group pursues the goal of implementing standards
in the areas of both accident prevention and security. We are continuously refining the established processes
within the framework of an Automotive Cyber Security Management System in keeping with the requirements of
the UNECE regulation. In this context, Volkswagen is implementing comprehensive measures across depart-
ments throughout the Group.

Strategy of Group Quality

We review our functional area strategy New Quality periodically and coordinate it with the brands. We align our
activities with our goal expressed in the new motto: “"We strive for outstanding products, services and customer
satisfaction.” The NEW AUTO Group strategy sets new parameters for transforming the Group into a software-
oriented mobility provider. Based on this, our quality strategy focuses primarily on achieving maximum levels of
customer satisfaction throughout the entire customer experience - from ordering through to the digital eco-
system and up to the product as well as aftersales and customer service. Group Quality and the brands’ quality
organizations play an active role at all stages of product emergence and testing, making an important contri-
bution to successful product launches, high customer satisfaction and low warranty and ex gratia repair costs.
We have defined "warranty and ex gratia repair payments per vehicle after 12 months in service" as a strategic
indicator at the top level of consideration for the major passenger car-producing brands. This shows all warranty
and ex gratia repair payments for the vehicles produced worldwide in each production year, expressed in euros
per vehicle. All vehicles from the Volkswagen Passenger Cars, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Skoda,
SEAT/CUPRA, Audi and Porsche brands are included in this figure. Extraordinary items resulting from initiatives
such as recalls to assure product safety or comply with laws are not taken into account. While the figures
starting from the 2017 production year remained at a constant low level, they have increased since the 2020
production year due to the growing use of new technologies in the vehicle and rising complexity. Actions were
taken to reduce these figures and have proven effective.
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Legal and regulatory compliance

The legal and regulatory compliance of our products is paramount in our work. In our processes we employ the
principle of multiple-party verification, which involves mutual support and control between the business units.
Among other things, software development is accompanied by quality milestones at all brands. This principle
applies to all systems, components and parts that directly influence a vehicle's safety, type approval and func-
tioning and therefore require particular vigilance. At the series production stage, we see to it that the conformity
checks on our products are carried out and assessed with the participation of all business units involved. This
applies particularly to checks related to emissions and fuel consumption.

We are also dedicating attention to our quality management system, reinforcing the interdisciplinary, pro-
cess-driven approach throughout the Group. The quality management system in the Volkswagen Group is based
on the ISO 9001 standard and the official type approval requirements. These standards and requirements must
be complied with for us to obtain type approval for the manufacture and sale of our vehicles. We conducted
numerous system audits in the reporting year to verify that our sites and brands continue to comply with these
requirements. Particular focus was placed on assessing the risk of non-compliance with defined processes. Our
quality management consultants pay attention to ensuring that these and other new requirements, as well as
official regulations, are implemented and complied with; they are coordinated and supported in this endeavor by
a central office in Group Quality.

Observing regional requirements

We use a variety of feedback instruments, such as specific customer surveys, to collect information on region-
specific customer requirements. In addition, we monitor relevant internet forums and social media postings
worldwide to obtain direct customer feedback and identify sentiment and trends at an early stage.

In order to be able to make the perceived quality of our vehicles commensurate with that of our competitors,
we take the needs of our regional customers into account in our vehicle audits. Every brand works together with
the individual regions to decide how its product is to be positioned there. In this way, we strengthen the brands’
responsibility. Consistent quality benchmarks apply across all brands and regions to ensure that we obtain
comparable results from the vehicle audit. We are continually adapting these in line with changing requirements.
For more than 40 years now, we have been deploying auditors around the world to assess, from the customer’s
perspective, the vehicles that are ready for delivery and to ensure that these vehicles comply with the
benchmarks defined.
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EMPLOYEES

The Volkswagen Group is one of the world's largest private employers. On December 31, 2023, we employed a
total of 684,025 people, which includes the Chinese joint ventures. This figure represents a 1.2% increase com-
pared with the end of 2022. The ratio of Group employees in Germany to those abroad remained largely stable
over the past year; at the end of 2023, 298,687 (293,862) employees worked in Germany.

EMPLOYEES BY MARKET

W Europe (excluding Germany)/

Other Markets 29%

B Germany 44%

North America 7%

® South America 5%

' Asia-Pacific 16%

Human resources strategy and principles of the human resources policy

For the VVolkswagen Group the transformation of the workforce is defined as a focus topic in the Group’s NEW
AUTO strategy. We have also embedded the topic in our Group-wide “People & Transformation” initiative. The
Group People Strategy Transform to Tech will play a key role in this context for our three brand groups - Core,
Progressive and Sport Luxury. This strategy also enables the VVolkswagen Group to continue with key, successful
approaches in human resources policy. These include the pronounced stakeholder focus in corporate gover-
nance, comprehensive participation rights for employees, forward-looking training opportunities, the principle of
long-term service through systematic employee retention and remuneration that is fair and transparent.

At the same time, the Group People Strategy is setting innovative trends. Employee experience is to be
improved systematically, the teams strengthened as the most important units in the company’s organization, and
modern forms of working, such as agile methods, are to be developed. Our aim is to become more attractive as
an employer and take the performance of our organization to the next level.

In our Group People Strategy we have identified different dimensions with which we aim to address employ-
ees' needs and expectations in a holistic manner. Together, these four dimensions make up the work experience,
job satisfaction and, ultimately, the success of the work and the Group's integration into society.

1) "Me" (Me@Volkswagen): We strive to systematically improve the employee experience and ensure that all
employees have the best possible conditions in which to do their job. Starting with availability of contem-
porary, task-specific work equipment and tools, this also entails avoidance of red tape and overly complex
process steps and includes state-of-the-art workspaces, opportunities for 360-degree feedback, individual
health coaching, and training opportunities tailored to the individual.

2) .My team" (Teams@Volkswagen): As our transformation takes shape, the way in which teams in the Volks-
wagen Group collaborate changes fundamentally. Hybrid, digital and agile forms of collaboration become more
important. They require office environments and working methods to adapt and facilitate collaborative, flexible
work. The same applies to opportunities for digital collaboration.

186



Group Management Report Sustainable Value Enhancement

3) "All of us at Volkswagen"” (All of us@Volkswagen): The seven Volkswagen Group Essentials define the shared
underlying values across all of the Group's brands and companies: We take on responsibility for the environ-
ment and society, We are honest and speak up when something is wrong, We break new ground, We live
diversity, We are proud of the work we do, We not me, We keep our word. Our corporate culture aims to create
a sense of belonging for our workforce - an important aspect that is gaining in significance particularly in
times of change and in an increasingly diverse environment. We believe in the importance of fair remuneration,
which underscores our image of ourselves as an attractive employer. It is designed to motivate and to express
our appreciation for the performance of each individual. In addition, we need to empower our leaders to
support the transformation in a goal-oriented way and act as role models. Group-wide activities such as team
dialogue and the role model program are designed to encourage employees to discuss the Group Essentials
and incorporate them into all work processes. In the role model program, managers from all brands strive to
improve the corporate culture together with their staff.
4) "\Jolkswagen in society” (We@Volkswagen and the world around us): We are aware that without long-term
social legitimacy at our locations and in our markets, we will not be able to carry forward our business model in
times of accelerated changes in values - this applies from an economic, environmental and social perspective.
We see our employees as representatives of the Volkswagen Group who communicate our values to society.
Together with them, we also assume responsibility above and beyond our core business - such as through
foundation work and corporate volunteering (employee engagement). The topics of our social commitment
range from education to culture, diversity, a culture of remembrance, climate action and environmental protec-
tion, and various local commitments.

The transformation has put us on a long-term path of change and renewal. It is important for us to regularly

review whether we are maintaining the course we have set and achieving our objectives. The following strategic

key performance indicators help us measure our progress and take remedial action if necessary:

> Internal employer attractiveness: This indicator is determined by asking respondents, as part of the Stim-
mungsbarometer (opinion survey), whether they perceive the respective company as an attractive employer.
The opinion survey is conducted for the majority of our Group workforce. The target for 2025 is 89.1 out of a
possible total of 100 index points. A score of 86.0 index points was achieved in the reporting year, meaning
that the target for 2023 of 88.8 index points was missed. 86.6 points were achieved in the previous year. For
Volkswagen AG, the score for 2023 was 84.7 (87.1) index points.

> Diversity index: As part of our Group-wide diversity management system, we report in this strategic indicator
on trends in the proportion of women in management and the internationalization of top management as a
percentage of the global active workforce (total workforce excluding vocational trainees and employees in the
passive phase of their partial retirement), excluding employees in the withdrawal phase of their time asset
bonds. In particular, this indicator underpins the objective of the Group People Strategy, which is aimed at
contributing to an exemplary leadership and corporate culture. The proportion of women in management,
comprised of management, senior management and top management (including Group Board of Management
members), amounted to 19.2% in 2023 and was 1.9 percentage points up on the prior-year level. We aim to
raise this figure to 20.2% by 2025. Our goal is to increase the level of internationalization in top management,
the uppermost of our three management tiers, to 25.0% by 2025; in the past fiscal year this was 25.6 (23.4)%.
The figures for the proportion of women in management and the internationalization of top management are
placed equally weighted in the diversity index and the figures for the year 2016 set to an index value of 100.
For 2023 we had planned to increase this index to 142. This target was exceeded with a score of 154 (140).
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> Implementation status of strategic HR planning: Strategic HR planning supplements operational HR planning
by adding a qualitative, long-term and strategic planning perspective. It allows business units to identify
qualitative and quantitative surpluses and shortfalls at an early stage and develop necessary qualification,
training and restructuring requirements designed to help support the transformation. To map progress in
strategic HR planning, we measure the percentage of the active workforce considered in the strategic HR
planning from 2023. The data collected showed a coverage of 34.3%, which was just under the target of 35%.

> Number of training hours per employee: Due to the transformation in the automotive industry, we are facing the
biggest process of expertise and cultural change in the history of the Group. As a result, individual oppor-
tunities for change for employees are becoming an increasingly important success factor. Through economies
of scale in connection with digitalization and through use of the learning platform Degreed, which is to be
gradually rolled out across the Group, Volkswagen is improving the access to training opportunities. The goal
is to increase the average number of training hours per employee in the Volkswagen Group - based on the
active workforce (excluding employees in the withdrawal phase of their time asset bonds) - by 35% by 2030 to
30 hours per year. The baseline value is 22.3 hours and represents the average for the base years 2015 to
2019. These years were chosen as the baseline due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, which tempo-
rarily curtailed training activities in 2020 and 2021. The target figure for the reporting year was 24.0 hours.
With an average of 22.1 hours per employee, the target has not been met.

Training and professional development
At Volkswagen, our capacity for innovation and our competitive position largely depend on the commitment and
knowledge of our employees, particularly during the transformation.

Volkswagen Group employees have access to a wide range of training measures organized according to
vocational groups. These comprise all employees whose tasks are based on similar technical skills and who
require related expertise in order to perform their jobs. A skills profile lays down the specialist and interdisci-
plinary skills for each job and serves as a guide for training measures. Formats range from further training in
general Company-related topics to specific training or personal development programs. Thanks to these oppor-
tunities, Volkswagen employees are able to further develop and steadily deepen their knowledge throughout
their working lives. The range of learning opportunities is being expanded continuously.

Degreed, the innovative learning platform that we have implemented, opens up diverse training opportunities
for our employees. The platform creates a simple, customized learning experience and is aimed at supporting the
results of strategic HR planning with appropriate training programs. Another focus is developing important and
specific skills, for example in areas such as data analytics, software development, leadership, machine learning
and artificial intelligence. In addition, Volkswagen's Faculty 73 program is providing in-house training for the
software developers who are needed for the digital transformation. The graduates from this program largely
work in departments at Group IT, brand IT, Technical Development and CARIAD. The fifth year of this innovative
transformation program started in November 2023. The program is designed for employees and also external
applicants with an affinity for IT and an interest in software development.

Volkswagen AG, CARIAD and Skoda are also supporting the innovative programming schools in Wolfsburg,
Berlin and Prague in cooperation with the non-profit Ecole 42. In 2023, an average of 882 students in Berlin,
Wolfsburg and Prague were learning from and with each other in this innovative training approach.

188



Group Management Report Sustainable Value Enhancement

AGE STRUCTURE IN YEARS OF EMPLOYEES

m <20 2%

m 20-29 15%

I 30-39 31%
m 40-49 26%

50-59 21%

m 60+ 6%

Vocational training and cooperative education

The core components of training at Volkswagen are vocational training and cooperative education (dual study
programs combining university studies with on-the-job training). As of the end of 2023, the Volkswagen Group
trained 17,081 young people. We have introduced the principle of dual vocational training at many of the Group's
international locations over the past few years and are continuously working on improvements. Once a year,
Volkswagen honors its highest-achieving vocational trainees in the Group with the Best Apprentice Award. Even
after their vocational training has been completed, young people at the start of their careers are encouraged to
continue their professional development in our Company.

Development of university graduates

Volkswagen offers two structured entry and development programs for university graduates and young profess-
sionals. In the StartUp Direct trainee program, graduate trainees gain an overview of the Company while working
in their own department and also take part in supplementary training measures. University graduates interested
in working internationally can participate in the StartUp Cross program. The aim here is to get to know the Com-
pany in all its diversity and to build up a broad network. During their participation in the program, young pro-
fessionals become familiarized with several locations in Germany and other countries by working in various
departments. Both programs also include several weeks' experience working in production.

Increasing attractiveness as an employer and development programs for specific target groups

A human resources policy that promotes a work-life balance is a major component of VVolkswagen's attract-
tiveness as an employer; in particular, it contributes to greater gender equality. We are working continuously to
develop family-friendly working time models and to increase the number of women in management positions.
For Volkswagen AG, we have also set targets for the proportion of women in management in accordance with
German legislation. In line with the Gesetz zur gleichberechtigten Teilhabe von Frauen und Mannern an Fih-
rungspositionen (German Act on the Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions) and section
76(4) of the Aktiengesetz (AktG - German Stock Corporation Act), Volkswagen AG set targets for the period until
the end of 2025 of 16.5% for the proportion of women in the active workforce at the first level of management
(senior management, top management and brand Board of Management) and 23.4% for the second level (man-
agement). As of December 31, 2023, the proportion of women in the active workforce (excluding employees in
the withdrawal phase of their time asset bonds) at the first level of management was 15.3% and at the second
level of management it was 21.5%. The Group Board of Management and Supervisory Board are regularly informed
of the figures achieved and the current target paths.
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PROPORTION OF WOMEN IN THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

as of December 31

% 2023 2022
Employees 18.7 18.1
Vocational trainees* 20.6 20.3
Total management 18.7 16.8
Management 21.0 18.8
Senior management 14.5 13.5
Top management 11.1 9.8

1 Excluding Scania and Navistar

In order to encourage women with great potential to advance within the Company, we have set targets relating
to the development of the proportion of women in management for every Board of Management business area at
Volkswagen AG. This approach is supported by many different measures ranging from cross-brand mentoring
programs to agreement on target quotas for the management selection procedure and targets for the share of
women among external hires.

The Group also has a large number of collective regulations in place to make it easier for employees to
balance the demands and needs of work and home life and allow staff to arrange their own individual working
model. In addition to flexible working hours and the use of working time accounts and flextime, these include
variable part-time work and shift models, leave of absence enabling employees to care for family members, the
possibility to convert salary components into paid leave, childcare services that are associated with the com-
pany or are company-owned, and remote working. “"Meine AusZeit" is a program offered by Volkswagen AG that
allows employees to take a self-financed leave of absence with an upfront payment from the Company.

Hybrid working - a combination of remote working and working onsite - gives employees greater flexibility in
terms of when and where they work and is increasingly becoming the norm for the Volkswagen Group. To
strengthen collaboration between teams in this changed environment, we offer accompanying knowledge trans-
fer and training formats on the topic of virtual and hybrid collaboration.

The use of hybrid collaboration also poses new requirements for the design of office spaces. Against this
backdrop, we are currently testing desk-sharing models in various office environments (for example at
Volkswagen AG, Audi and Porsche) with the aim of designing more modern workplaces at Volkswagen. At
production sites, too, we are investing in contemporary working environments. At our Wolfsburg site, for
example, we are gradually modernizing several hundred social spaces, including with financial support from the
modernization fund. Plants and departments can apply to the modernization fund, which distributes an average
of €25 million each year. The fund has a total volume of €125 million, spread over five years.

The Volkswagen Group attaches particular importance to its employees being able to act with agility and
entrepreneurial drive. Together with 30 publicly traded large companies from Germany, Austria and Switzerland,
we developed a skills matrix for training and professional development in the area of agile business processes
under the umbrella of the DACH30 initiative. As part of these endeavors, the Volkswagen Group Academy set up
an agility training portfolio.

Preventive healthcare and occupational safety

In addition to complying with legal requirements, we aim to protect and promote physical and mental health,
taking into account psychosocial risks and their effects. We believe in providing employees with health care that
is above the standard set by law in the country in question.

190



Group Management Report Sustainable Value Enhancement

Employee participation

Codetermination and employee participation are important pillars of our human resources strategy. Volkswagen
aims to promote high levels of expertise and a strong sense of team spirit. This includes employees' opinions,
assessments and criticism being heard.

We brief our employees extensively on upcoming changes so as to involve them in strategic decision-making
as early as possible. When shaping labor relations to embody cooperation and social peace, we are guided by
universal human rights and the standards of the International Labour Organization (ILO). Building on these prin-
ciples, we have agreed various charters and declarations with the European and Global Group Works Council
which set out the principles of labor policy in the Volkswagen Group as well as employee rights.

Employee participation in the Company's success through the issuance of treasury shares in the form of an
employee share program is not currently offered.

By means of the opinion survey (Stimmungsbarometer), the Company regularly gathers information regarding
employee satisfaction and also surveys employees on our corporate culture. Based on the results, follow-up
processes are implemented in which measures are developed and executed. The 2023 opinion survey covered
129 companies in 48 countries. Of the 588,072 employees in the companies surveyed, 464,749 participated.
This was a participation rate of 79%. The sentiment rating calculated from 22 questions is the main parameter of
the opinion survey and is used to help determine Board of Management remuneration, among other things. It is
calculated from the total of all the related answers in the survey and, in 2023, stood at 82.5 out of a possible
total of 100 index points. The score achieved in 2023 was thus just above the previous year's figure, which
amounted to 82.4 points.

In addition, we also encourage employee involvement by means of Idea Management. Employees have the
opportunity to put their creativity and knowledge to use by contributing their ideas for making improvements,
thus contributing to streamlining workflows, further enhancing ergonomics in the workplace, reducing costs and
continuously increasing efficiency. The system also provides monetary incentives by offering set rewards.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT)
The Volkswagen Group is continuing to drive its transformation into a provider of sustainable mobility. IT is playing
an ever more important role in this - used in our vehicles, across the Company and in opening up new business
models.
Digitalized supply chains, automated and Al-optimized production processes, data-driven management of
the sustainability targets and a seamless integration of analogue and digital customer experience are elements
of this transformation.
Based on an in-depth review of the situation, the “IT" Board function has developed the NEW IT functional
area strategy - a vision focused on the following topics:
> Updating, delivering and constantly improving highly automated enterprise processes and systems by means
of a high-performance IT infrastructure with a cost-effective cloud-first approach that is resilient to cyber
threats and designed to ensure data protection.

> Through agile development, the customer-centric development of IT products and digital services will facili-
tate continuous improvement and refinement and lead more swiftly to measurable business benefit.

> The systematic use and provision of data across the entire organization to optimize products, processes and
corporate governance. Data is set to become a value driver for innovations, new business models, personalized
customer contact and better corporate management across all brands and companies, whilst adhering to the
relevant and applicable data protection requirements.

With the NEW IT strategy, the IT and data organization have been geared to the requirements of the coming

years. Sprints focused on business impact and speed will drive the IT strategy in a consistent direction. The

introduction of a new agile product organization will significantly accelerate the development and provision of

digital products. IT and the Board functions will work together on new digital products in cross-functional teams,

taking an agile and customer-centric approach with short development cycles. Systematically modularizing

large IT programs using such sprints will significantly reduce the complexity of these projects. This will not only

make the projects more efficient and faster to implement but deliver results and business benefits sooner.

By forging ties between the "IT" Board function and the chief information officers (ClOs) of the Core, Pro-
gressive and Sport Luxury brand groups and of Volkswagen Financial Services AG, we aim to ensure a uniform,
strategic focus and to help promote the leveraging of synergies and the use of economies of scale. The system-
atic identification and Group-wide sharing of best practices - projects that have already been successfully
implemented at individual brands or companies - provides for effective knowledge transfer within the Company,
conserves resources and generates greater speed and efficiency. Creating transparency around IT costs across
the brands and therefore throughout the Group is an essential factor in making strategic decisions for the future.
A 50% reduction in the IT committee landscape also serves to accelerate this decision-making.

The availability of the IT infrastructure for all brands and companies is a high priority. The provision of state-
of-the-art IT applications for digital collaboration and the expansion of options for conducting business on
mobile devices are designed to improve productivity in the long term. Building on the rollout of Microsoft 365,
even more functions for simple, digital collaboration throughout the Group were implemented in the reporting
year. Furthermore, the implementation of a comprehensive Group-wide data strategy enables the generation of
overarching benefits through data-based solutions and artificial intelligence. The expansion of strategic IT
partnerships and cross-brand partner and resource management also secures external capacity.
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Software development

The “IT" Board function is responsible for swiftly developing software and IT solutions for the Group based on the
Group's needs. Part of this development work takes place in the Software Development Centers (SDCs) around
the world. The strategic goal is to safeguard and successively increase the proportion of in-house services relating
to software products for critical business processes.

The optimization of processes and the definition of standards for software development remain at the
forefront of our activities. Among other things, this entails international, data-driven management of activities in
the SDCs, strategic alignment of the business-critical enterprise systems in accordance with the NEW IT strategy
and safeguarding intellectual property in the form of software product source codes.

Use of digitalization and IT solutions

The Board of Management continuously monitors and supports the digital transformation. The Group Board of
Management Committee for Digital Transformation addresses the digital transformation of business processes
across brands and business units. It manages the IT project portfolio and fosters the digital cultural change as
well as innovations and synergies between the Group and the brands.

Volkswagen embraces digitalization in the Company; its in-house Software Innovation Centers (SICs) are just
one example of this. They act as centers of innovation and expertise, piloting new technologies with their know-
how to fulfill the requirements of the different business areas in the Group, developing applications relevant for
the Company and making these available for productive use within the organization. Here, Group IT, research
institutes, educational institutions (such as universities), technology partners and policymakers work closely
together on future trends in information technology. The SICs also use their network with start-ups to adapt
innovative solutions to Volkswagen's needs. This allows the experience and strategic expertise of a large com-
pany like Volkswagen to be combined with the pragmatism, the innovative ideas for new areas of business and
the speed of young start-ups.

Highly specialized experts at the Data:Lab in Munich and Wolfsburg are involved in machine learning and Al
solutions that have great potential, for example in production, logistics and quality assurance. The objective is
improved human-machine collaboration to optimize processes, minimize errors and automate possible repetitive
tasks, freeing up capacity for more valuable work. In the medium and long term, the aim is to enable cost
savings, increased product quality and improved competitiveness.

The focus is on innovation projects such as Smart Quality Analytics (SQA) - an IT system used among other
things to digitalize the analysis of field data. For quality assurance purposes, SQA records and analyzes the data
from connected customer vehicles. This includes data from control units as well as error messages from
workshops. Other projects are working on optimizing the order of individual working steps in vehicle
manufacture (for example a painting sequence) to reduce production times and improve the use of resources.

In the field of machine learning, work is being carried out on smart management of energy use to generate
sustainable energy savings and CO. reductions, for example in compressed air control systems. In addition, the
SDCs are used to transfer knowledge throughout the entire Company on topics such as advanced data analytics
(process for the systematic analysis of data in electronic form) and block chain (distributed ledger technologies)
to make these new technologies available to the Group. Advanced data analytics are helping to optimize the
storage of replacement parts in the after-sales business, for example. Likewise, numerous bot projects are being
implemented to automate business processes (robotic process automation).
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Production processes are also safeguarded by artificial intelligence and camera systems (computer vision). The
systems and equipment in the factories are linked together in an integrated overall system. In conjunction with
the different departments, Group IT is also contributing its expertise to the field of research and development,
one example being EU projects. Digitalized work tools such as the "virtual concept vehicle” make the product
development process faster, more efficient and more cost-effective, for example by replacing physical compo-
nents with virtual components generated on the computer.

IT security

Safeguarding data and information throughout the VVolkswagen Group worldwide is one of the main tasks of IT
and was continued in fiscal year 2023 with the Group Information Security Program. The objective of the pro-
gram is to create uniform processes and solutions across the Group to further enhance information security. The
findings and solutions are being implemented within the Group successively. The main focus is on topics that
could one day pose information security risks for the Group and that need to be specially safeguarded as part of
the Group's digital transformation strategy. The program’'s content and orientation are reviewed annually and
updated if necessary.

We are one of the first vehicle manufacturers to require our suppliers to have passed TISAX (Trusted Infor-
mation Security Assessment Exchange) certification. This sends out a signal regarding the security of cross-
company information and data. TISAX certification is an assessment method developed by the German Associ-
ation of the Automotive Industry and is based on the international industry standard and the requirements of the
automotive world. The aim is for sensitive data and information to be dealt with securely by our suppliers.

The task of automotive cybersecurity is to avert cyberattacks on our vehicles throughout the entire product
life cycle, as well as on the digital vehicle ecosystem. The Group policies in the Volkswagen Group based on the
legal requirements of the UNECE (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe) regulation have been imple-
mented. Brand-specific organizational guidelines are being specified and implemented on this basis, taking the
organizational circumstances into account.

To protect our customers against cyberattacks, and to implement our solutions in conformity with national
and international legislation, we have established integrated, cross-brand, cross-regional security management
systems for information and cybersecurity. The cybersecurity management system required by UNECE Regula-
tion 155 received UNECE CSMS certification in 2021 and undergoes annual monitoring audits (most recently in
mid-2023). Safeguarding the complete life cycle of our vehicles and digital mobility services has been part of
standard operations since 2022.

Key central information security processes have been audited and certified in line with the international ISO
27001 framework. This is the most important cross-sectoral standard for information security and is our basis for
building an appropriate information security management system for handling all sensitive information in the
Group. This information security management system is being gradually expanded. It is audited annually and
recertified at required intervals.

In recent years, the introduction of the data protection management system and the data protection manage-
ment organization has thus established the infrastructure for implementing and complying with data protection
requirements at Volkswagen AG in the long term. Increasing digitalization and interconnectedness of business
processes, new legislative initiatives with data protection relevance, and the sharp rise in the extent of inter-
national data protection legislation continue to require a high level of attention to ensure ongoing compliance
with data protection requirements. Continuously raising awareness among the workforce and further standard-
izing and automating processes remain the focus of activities. Compliance requirements are already being
integrated into the design of IT solutions and infrastructure decisions.
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SEPARATE NONFINANCIAL GROUP REPORT

The combined separate nonfinancial report of Volkswagen AG and the Volkswagen Group in accordance with
sections 289b and 315b of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB - German Commercial Code) for fiscal year 2023
will be available on the website www.volkswagen-group.com/nichtfinanzieller-bericht-2023 in German and at
www.volkswagen-group.com/nonfinancial-report-2023 in English by no later than April 30, 2024.

REPORT ON POST BALANCE SHEET DATE EVENTS
There were no significant events after the end of fiscal year 2023.
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EU Taxonomy

Doing business in an environmentally sustainable way is one of the central challenges
of our time. The EU has defined criteria for determining the degree of a company's
environmental sustainability. With our taxonomy-aligned investments in development
activities and in property, plant and equipment, we are today already shaping the future
in an environmentally sustainable way as envisaged by the EU Taxonomy.

BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES

As part of the European Green Deal, the European Union (EU) has placed the topics of climate protection, the

environment and sustainability at the heart of its political agenda in order to achieve climate neutrality by the

year 2050. The finance sector is expected to make an important contribution to realizing this objective. In this

context, the EU published the “Strategy for Financing the Transition to a Sustainable Economy” in 2021. Aimed at

supporting the financing of the transition to a sustainable economy, the published strategy contains proposals

relating to transition finance, inclusiveness, resilience and contribution of the financial system, and global ambi-

tion. It is based on the EU's action plan on Financing Sustainable Growth of 2018. In addition to “Disclosures”

and “Tools", another key module is the EU Taxonomy (Regulation (EU) 2020/852 and associated delegated acts).
The EU Taxonomy is a classification system for sustainable economic activities. An economic activity is con-

sidered taxonomy-eligible if it is listed in the EU Taxonomy and can therefore potentially contribute to realizing at

least one of the following six environmental objectives:

> Climate change mitigation

> Climate change adaptation

Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources

v

v

Transition to a circular economy
Pollution prevention and control
> Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems.

\

An activity is only considered environmentally sustainable, i.e. taxonomy-aligned, if it meets all three of the fol-

lowing conditions:

> The activity makes a substantial contribution to one of the environmental objectives by meeting the screening
criteria defined for this economic activity, e.g. level of CO2 emissions for the climate change mitigation environ-
mental objective.

> The activity meets the Do-No-Significant-Harm (DNSH) criteria defined for this economic activity. These are
designed to prevent significant harm to one or more of the other environmental objectives, e.g. from the pro-
duction process or by the product.

> The activity is carried out in compliance with the minimum safeguards, which apply to all economic activities
and relate primarily to human rights and social and labor standards.
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The Volkswagen Group supports the EU's overarching goal. We are committed to the Paris Climate Agreement
and align our own activities with the 1.5 degree goal. We aim to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2050.

REPORTING FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023

The Volkswagen Group is required by the EU Taxonomy to report on all of the environmental objectives for the
first time in fiscal year 2023. Following climate change mitigation and climate change adaptation, definitions
have now been assigned to the four remaining environmental objectives, these being sustainable use and pro-
tection of water and marine resources, transition to a circular economy, pollution prevention and control, and
protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems. The figures reported on sales revenue, capital expen-
diture and operating expenditure relate to the companies consolidated in the Volkswagen Group's financial
statements. Volumes and financial data for our Chinese joint ventures are therefore excluded.

The wording and terminology used in the EU Taxonomy are still subject to some uncertainty in interpretation,
which could lead to changes in the reporting when it is subsequently clarified by the EU. Ultimately, there is a
risk that the key performance indicators presented as taxonomy-aligned would need to be assessed differently.
Our interpretation is set out below.

ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES OF THE VOLKSWAGEN GROUP

With the Group strategy "NEW AUTO - Mobility for generations to come”, we are preparing ourselves for the
global changes in mobility and thus playing a substantial role in driving Volkswagen's transformation into a
provider of sustainable mobility. In this context, we pay particular attention to the use of resources and the emis-
sions of our product portfolio, as well as those of our sites.

The Volkswagen Group's activities in its vehicle-related business with passenger cars, light commercial
vehicles, trucks, buses and motorcycles cover the development, produ